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A SHORT HISTORY OF
AURANGZIE

BOOK L
CHAPTER 1.

EARLY LIFE, 1618—1652.

§1. Significance of fis reign,

The history of Aurangzib is practically the history of India
for sixty years. His own reign (1658—1707) covers the second
half of the seventeenth century and stands forth as a most
important epoch in the annals of our country. Under him the
Mughal empire reached its greatest extent and the largest
single State ever known in India from the dawn of history to
the rise of the Dritish power was formed. From Ghazni to
Chatgaon, from Kashmir to lhe Karnatak, the confinent of India
obeyed one sceptre. Islam made its last onward movement
in India in this reign. The empire thus formed, while un-
precedented in size, was also one political unit. Hs provinces
were governed not by the mediation of sub-kings, but directly
by servants of (he Crown. llerein Awangzib's Indian empire
was vasler than that of Asoka, or Samudra-gupta or Harsha-
Vardhm\]f\

But the reiyn that saw the formation of the ereatest Indian
empire of pre-British  days, wilnessed also unmistakable signs
of ils commencing decline and disruption. Long before Nadie
Shah the Persian or Ahmad Shah the Afghan proved the
dadishah to be an impotent shadow  of royallty and Delhi the
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mere memory of past greatness, long before the Maratha con-
federacy hid beneath its super-imposed sway the regular
monarchy of the land—even before Aurangzib closed his cyes
the Mughal empire had turned bankrupt in finance and prestige,
the administraion had broken down, the imperial power had
confessed ifs  failure to maintain order and hold this vast
realm together.

The reign of Aurangzib is also marked by the upspringing
of the Maratha nationality out of the ashes of their short-lived
kingship, and by the appearance of the Sikh sect in the role
of warriors and armed opponents of the ruling power. Thus
the supreme factors of Indian history in the [8th and early
10th centuries owe their origin to Aurangzib’s reign and policy.

In the very reign in which the Mughal crescent rounded to
fulness and then began to wane visibly, the first glow of a
new dawn was distinctly secn in our political sky. The fulure
lords of our country’s destiny gained a firm and safe fooling
on its soil. Madras and Bombay became presidencies of the
English East India -Company in 1653 and 1687 respeclively ;
Calcutta was founded in  1690. The places of shelter thus
gained by the Europeans soon formed a dominion within a
¢ominion. )

The end of the seventeenth century reveals the Mughal empire
as roften at the core. The treasury was empty. The imperial
army knew itself beaten and recoiled from its foes. The
centrifugal forces were asserting themselves successfully, and
the empire was ready for disruption. The moral weakness of
the empire was even greater than the material : the Govern-
ment no longer commanded the awe of ils subjecls ; the public
servants had lost honesty and efficiency ; ministers and princes
alike lacked statesmanship and ability ; the army broke down
as an instrument of force.

Why was it so? The ruler was free from vice, stupidity, and
sloth. His intellectual keenness was proverbial, and at the same
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lime he took to the business of governing with all the ardour
which men wsually display in the pursuit of pleasure  in
industry and attention to  public affaits he could not be
surpassed by any clerk. His patience and perseverance were as
remarkable as his love of discipline and order. In private
life he was simple and abstemious like a hermit. He faced the
privations of a campaign or a forced march as uncomplainingly
as the most seasoned private. No terror could daunt his heatt,
no weakness or pity melt it. Of the wisdom of the ancients
which can be gathered from ethical books, he was a master,
He had, besides, undergone a long and successtul probation in
war and diplomacy in his father's reigmn.

And vyet the result of fifty vears’ rule by such a sovereign
was failure and chaos! This political paradox makes his reign
an object of supreme inferest to the sthudent of political
philosophy no less than to the student of Indian history.

§ 2. The tragedy of Aurangzib's life, fiow developed.

The life of Aurangzib was one long tragedy,~a story of
man batlling in vain against an invisible but inexorable Fate, a
fale of how the strongest human endeavour was bafiled by the
forces of the age. A strenuous reign of fiity vears ends in
colossal faflure. And yet this king was one of the greafest,
rulers of Asia in intelligence, character, and enferprise. This .
tragedy In history was developed with all the regularity of a
perfect drama.

The first forty vears of his life were spent in steady and
© atduous self-training and preﬁraﬁon for the supreme office in
the realm (Book ). This seed-time was followed by a year of
sharp contest for the throne (Book II), which put all his powerf;.j
to the test and rewarded his energy, courage and sagacity withi
the golden crown of Delhi. Then came twenty-three yeatrs off
peaceful and prosperous reign and settled residence in the great
capitals of Northern India (Book ). With every enemy



4 SHORT HISTORY OF AURAINGZIB [cm |

removed from his path, the whole empire of India obeying his
command, and wealth and cullure increasing from the peace
aad order that his firm and vigilant rule had ensured to the
country,—Aurangzib seemed now to have attained to the
summit ot human happiness and glory. This was the third Act
of his life, and after it began his decline. A pitiles Nemesis,
like that of the Greek tragedy, raised against him an enemy in
the very bosom of his family The rebel son of Shah Jahan
cannot long enjoy his triumph because he is confronied by the
rebellion ot his own son Muhammad Akbar (1681).
. The flight of the deteated rebel to the Maratha king drew
Aurangzib to Southern India, where he was destined {o spend
the last 26 years of his life i tents and wear oul the empire’s
revenue, army, and organized administration as well as his own
health in an unending and fruifless struggle. But the irony of
Fate at first veiled from his eves and from the cyes of his
contemporaries the futility of his efforts and the impencling tragic
close of his career. In the fourth Act of his life, which fTs
comprehended in the tourth Book of this [istory, all seemed
to go well with him ;—Bijapur and Golkonda were annexed,
the Berad chieftain of Sagar was forced o submit, and lhe
troublesome Maratha king was brought to the block and his
capital and entire tamily captured (1689). In this resull nothing
seemed o be wanting to complete the triumph of Aurangzib.
Put a few thoughttul observers could already discern ominous
signs of the coming doom, peeping oul here and there, while
others were sfill blinded as to the future by the brilliancy of
the empire. The seeds that had been sown in the third stage
of his life, unnoticed and in ignorance of their fruits, began to
sprowt up in the fourth and he had {o gather their baneful
harvest in the fifth and closing period of his life. 4
Therefore, the tragedy of Aurangzib is concentrated in the
last cighteen vears of his life (1689-1707), which form the theme
of Book V. Slowly but with increasing clearness does the
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tragic plot unfold itself, till Aurangzib realizes the true nature of
the forces arrayed against him and the real ftrend of affairs.
But he does not abandon the struggle; even when the hopeless-
ness of the contest forces itself on him and his Court, his
endeavour is as strenuous as before. He tries new remedies :
he changes his tactics with changes in the political situation and
in the distribution of the enemy forces. At first he sends out
his generals, while himself occupying a central position for their
control and guidance. His generals fail to achieve a decision ;
very well, then this old man of eighty-two must go out to
conduct the war in person for six vears (1699-1705); and he
retires to Ahmadnagar only when the first summons of death
reaches him. Then, and then only does he mourniully
recognize Ahmadnagar as destined to be his “journey’s end”
(£Batam-us~safar).

§ 5. Matecials for fis fifstoey.

Happily, the materials for a study of his life are abundant
in Persian, the literary languase of Mughal India. First, we
have the ofticial annals,—the Padisfiafnainafi (in three sections
by three writers) and the Alamgirnamafi~which cover the
41 years lying between the accession of Shah lahan and the
eleventh year of Aurangzib’s reign. These works were vwtitten
by order, on the basis of the State papers preserved in the
imperial archives, such as official cotrespondence, despatches,
news-lefters, ireaties and revenue returns. They are rich in
dates and topographical details of the utmost value and accuracy.
For the last forty vyears of Aurangzib's reign we have the
concise Masiv~-i-Alamgir, compiled from the same class of
official records, but after his death.

Next come a class of private histories, like those of Masum,
Aqil Khan, a Rozbhani soldier in Bengal (metrical) and Khafi
Khan. These were written by officials, but, not having been
meant for the Emperor’s eyes, they supply us with many of the
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facts suppressed in the Courl annals, though their dates and
names are somefimes inaccurate and their  descriptions
meagre,

There are even two histories of Aurangzib's reign vritten
by Hindus in the Persian tongue. One is the Nuskha-i-
Diltasha by Bhimsen Burhanpuri, the business man of Aurangzib’s
general Dalpat Rao DBundela. This author was an active
traveller, with a good eye for topographical details, and a
careful recorder of all he saw from Mathura to Malabar. His
work is of special value for Deccan affairs, because he was
brought up and spent nearly all his life there. The other s
the Fafufiai-i-dlamgici of Ishwardas Nagar, who long served
ihe Shaikh-ul-lslam and lived at Pattan in Gujrat. This work is
of great importance for Rajput affairs.

Besides these general histories of the reign, we have mono-
graphs in Persian touching only particular episodes or personages
of the time,~—such as Niamal Khan Al’s account of the siege of
Golkonda. Shihab-ud-din Talish’s diary of the conquesl of Kuch
Bihar, Assam, and Chatgaon, the memoirs of Iradal Khan and
of some other sarvants of Bahadur Shah | which start from
the closing yvears of Aurangzib’s reign. Of the two Degccani
kingdoms, Golkonda and Bijapur, we have sepacate histories,
which throw [ight on the dealings of the Mughal Government
with them. For Assam affairs we have the extremely valuable
indigenous annals called Buranjis.

Most fortunately, for several portions of Aurangzib’s reign
1 have been able to secure the very raw materials of history,—a
source of information even more valuable than contemporary official
annals described above. These are the manuscript news-lelters
of the imperial Court (qf&bbarat-i-darbar-i-muala) preserved at
Jalpur and in the Royal Asiatic Society's library (London) and
the tETTERS of the acfors in tHe political drama of the 17th
century, of which nearly six thousand, including more than a

P thousand from Aurangszib himself, are in’ my possession, In
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them we see events as they happened day by day, and not as
they were dressed up afterwards by writers with a purpose.
In them we see the actual hopes and fears, plans and opinions
of those who made Indian history.

The European fravellers, Tavernier, Bernier, Careri, and
Manucci, who visited India in this reign, have left long accounts
of the couniry. Their works are of undoubted walue as
throwing light on the condition of the people, the state of
frade and industry, and the history of the Christian churches
in India. Moreover, the eriticism of Indian manners and
institutions by foreign observers has' a freshness and weight all
its own. But of the polilical history of India, apart from the
few events in which they took part or which they personally
witnessed, their report merely reproduced the bazar rumours
and the stories current among the populace, and cannot be
set against the evidence of contemporary histories and letters
in Persian.

8.4 Childfood and education.

Muhi-ud-din Muhammad Aurangzib, who ascended the throne
of Delhi as Alamgir L, was the sixth child of Shah Jahan and
Mumiaz Mahal. He was born at Dofiad" in ihe night of 15th
Zigada, 1027 aai. (24th October, 1618 ap., Old Style).

From 1629 fill the end of his father's reign, Shah Jahan
was under the old Emperor's disfavour and was driven into
rebellion in self-defence. But  the prince’s efforts  were
unsuccessful, and he had at last to submit {o his father and give
up his young sons, Dara and Aurangzsib, as hostages. These
two reached Jahangir's Cowrt at Lahor in June 1626. Shortly
afferwards Jahangir died, Shah Jahan ascended the throne, and
the two boys were brought lo him at Agra by Asaf Khan (26
February, 1623).

¥ Diohac (22,50 N, 74.20 E.) 15 a sub-chvision of the Panch Mahal district in the

Bombay Presidency, and the iown slands just south of the Dohad Station op the
B. B. & C. 1. Railway,
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Thus, at the age of ten he came to a scitled life; and
arrancements were evidently now made for his regular educa-
tion. Mir Muhammad Hashim of Gilan is recorded as his
teacher. Bernier spcaks of Mulla Salih as his old teacher, but
the Persian histories do not bear this statement out.

That Aurangzib had a natural keenness of mind and quickly
learnt what he read, we can readily believe. His correspondence
proves that he had thoroughly mastered the Quran and the
Traditional Sayings of Mufiammad (Hadis), and was ever
ready with apt quotations from them. He spoke and wrote
Arabic and Persian like a scholar. Hinduslani was his mother
tongue, the language used by the Mughal Court in private life.
He had some knowledge of Hindi, too, and could talk and
recite popular sayings in that language,

Aurangzib wrote Arabic in a vigorous and masterly naskf
hand, In this he used to copy the Quran. Two such
manuscripts of his transcription he presented to Mecca and
Medina, after richly binding and iluminating them. “His
nastaliy  and  shikasta  styles of  writing were also excellent,”
says Sagi Mustad Khan, and this we can readily believe, for
Aurangzsib was the author of a vast number of letters, and
made it a point to write orders across all pelitions in  his own
hand. He did not like to hear useless poetry, still less lauda-
fory verses. But he made an exception in favour of poems
containing good counsels. “His favourite sludy was theological
works,—~Commentaries on the Quean, the Traditions of
Muhammad, Canon Law, the works of Imam Muhammad Ghazzali,
selections from the letters of Shaikh Sharf Yahia of Munir, and
Shaikh  Zain-ud-dip  Qutb Muhi Shirazi, and other works of
that class.”

Painting he never appreciated. Music he banished from
his Court, in the outburst of devotion which marked the
completion of the tenth year of his reign. PFine china-ware
he liked. But he had none of his father’s passion for
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building. No masterpiece of architecture, no superb or
exquisite mosque,’ hall, or tomb marks his refer. All that he
built were commonplace necessary things, such as the mosques
which marked the scenes of his victories, and the numberless
" sarais which he built along the imperial highways running to the
south and the wesl,

§ 5. Fights an elepfant.

One in&clent of his boyhood made his fame ring through-
out India. On 28th May, 1633, Shah Jahan set two huge
elephants, Sudhakar and Surat-sundar by name, to fight a
combat on the level bank of the Jamuna at Agra, They ran for
some distance and then grappled together just below the balcony
of the morning salute in the fort. The Emperor hastened there
fo see the fight, his éldest three sons riding a few paces before
him. Aurangzib, intent on seeing the fight, edged his way very
close to the elephants,

The brutes after a while let go their grip and each stepped
back a little. Sudhakar's spirit was fully roused. Losing sight
of his opponent he turned and charged Aurangzib who was
standing by. The prince, then only fourteen years old, calmly
stood his ground, hkept his horse from turning back, and fhung
his spear at the elephant’s head. All was now confusion and alacm.
The nobles and the servants ran about shouting, fireworks were
let off to scare away the elephant, but all to no eflect. The
animal came on and felled Aurangzib’s horse with a sweep
of his long tusk. But the prince jumped up from the ground
drew his sword, and faced the raging beast. Just then his
elder brother Shuja forced his way through the crowd and

* Bxcept one, the Pearl Mosque in the Delhi palace, which was begun on 10 Dec,
1659 and completed in 5 years at a cost of onc [faff and sixty thousand Rupeas,
(A.N., 468}, Iiis mosque at Lahor is not the best one in that city, The tomb 'of his
wife Dilras Banu at Aurangabad was his grandest building.
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smoke, galloped up to the elephani, and wounded it with his
spear.  Rajah Jai Singh, too, came up and attacked the elephant.
And now an unlooked for diversion came to the princes’ aid.
The other elephant, Surat-sundar, ran up to renew the combat,
and Sudhakar, daunted by the spear-thrusts and fireworks
discharged at him, fled from the field with his rival thundering
at his heels. The princes were saved. Shah Jahan clasped
Aurangzib to his bosom, praised his courage, and gave him the
fille of Bahadur or ‘hero.” The courfiers cried out that the
boy had inherited his father’s reckless courage, and reminded
each other how Shah Jahan in  his youth had attacked a wild
figer sword in hand before the eves of Jahangir.

On this occasion Awurangzib gave a foretaste of his lofty
spirit.  When his father lovingly chid him for his rash courage,
he replied, “If the fight had ended fatally for me it would not
have been a matter of shame. Death drops the curfain even
on Emperors ; it is no dishonour.”

On 15th December, 1634, he got  his first posl in  the
Mughal peerage, with the rank of a Commander of Ten
Thousand Horse. Next September he was sent to the Bundela
expedition in order to learn the art of war and the control of
men by actual experience.

& 6, 7hHe Bundela War, 1635. ;

Bir Singh Dev, the Bundela Rajah of Urclgha, had risen {o
great wealth and power through the favour of Jahangir, at whose
bidding he had murdered Abul Fazl. His son Jhujhar Singh,
who succeeded him in 1627, proved refractory in Shah Jahan's
refgn. He sefeed the old Gond capilal of Chauragarh, slew ifs
Rajah  Prem Narayan, and seized his treasure amournling lo ten
lakhs of Rupees. The victim’s son appealed to Shah Jahan (1635.)

The Emperor sentf three armies to converge upon and invade
Bundelkhand, with the help of Devi Singh, a descendant of
another branch of the Bundela royal family, o whom the throne
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was now offered. But a supreme commander w&w é&"ged’( .

whosc high position would enforce discipline and ensur iw
of plan and co-operation among the three Mughal Genetjh‘gf?
who were of equal rank. For this purpose Aurangzib was

appointed as the nominal head of the expedition. He was fo
slay in the rear, but the generals were not 1o act without
consulting him.

On 2nd October, 1633 a hiliock near Urchha was stormed
by Devi Singh’s men, and on the 4th the Mughals took Urchha
itself. Jhujhar had lost heart and fled to Dhamuni and thence,
across lhe Narmada, to Chauragarh. The Mughals, after captur-
ing Dhamuni (18th Oct), took up the chase of Jhujhar, who
was hunted through the Gond countrics of Deogarh and Chanda,
undergoing ferrible privations and fatigue and abandoning his
men and property at every step. At last, when sleeping in the
heart of the jungle, the fugifive princes were surprised by the
Gonds and done 1o death (Dec) Such of their wives and
daughters as had survived the joufiar rite (seli-immolation)
were dragged into the Mughal harem. Two sons and one
grandson of Jhujhar, being of tender age, were made
Musalmans ; another son and the minister of the late Rajah refused
fo apostatize and were executed in cold blood. The lofty temple
of Bir Singh at Urchha was demolished and a mosque was
erected on its site. The fort of Jhansi was taken (end of
October) and the spoils of war, including the buried treasure
of Bir Singh, amounted to one &rore of Rupees,

§ 7 Auvangzib's first viceroyalty of the Deccan, 1636~1644.

Towards the close of Akbar's reign, the Mughal empire began
to expand southwards heyond the Narmada river. Khandesh
was annexed in 1599, then Berar and finally in 1600 the city
of Ahmadnagar. lts boy Sultan Nizam Shah was deposed and
his kingdom annexed to the Mughal empire. But the annexation

nlv
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was in name only, as the Mughals could not eftectively occupy
the new conquest. During Jahangit’s feeble reign there was a
revival of the Nizam-shahi dynasty and power under the wise
and vigorous regency of Malik Ambar, an Abyssinian slave of
rare genius  and capacity, His wise revenue system made the
peasantry happy, while enriching the Slate. A born leader of
men, he conciliated all parfies, maintained orvder, and left a
name for justice, vigour and public benefit which has not been
yet forgotten. Building up a grand alliance of the Deccani
Powers and fully using the Maratha light cavalry, he drove the
Mushals back.

Shah Jahan, on his accession in 1627, which just followed
Malik Ambar's death, began a vigorous policy in the Deccan.
The new Nizam-shahi capital Daulatabad was captured with
Husain Shah, the last king of the dynasty (1633) But a fresh
complication now arose. The Sultans of Bijapur (Adil Shah)
and Golkonda (Qutb Shah) tried to seize the adjoining parts
of the fallen kingdom of Ahmadnagar. Shahji the father
of the famous Shivaji, with Bijapuri help, set up a puppel Nizam
Shah and ruled a portion of the country in his name.

Shah Jahan made heroic exertions to establish his rights. For
more  efficient administration, Daulalabad and Ahmadnagar were
now separated from the province of Khandesh and placed
under another viceroy (Nov. 1634). In February 1636 the
Emperor himself arrived in the Deccan lo direct the operalions,
Three Mughal armies, totalling 50,000 men, were held ready
to be launched upon Bijapur and Golkonda, while a fourth
(8000 strong) invaded Maharashira. Qutb Shah immediately
submitted in terror, promised an annual tribute of two lakhs
of Aun, and proclaimed the Mughal Empetor as his suzerain.

The king of Bijapur made a stand for his Independence,
But the three Mughal armies at once entered his kingdom,
utterly desolating the fields and villages and enslaving  the
population. At last in May 1636 a compromise was made. By this
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treaty, the late Nizam-shahi kingdom was divided between the
two Powers, the Bijapur Sultan getting Sholapur and Wangi
(between the Bhima and the Sina rivers), Bhalki and Chidgupa
(in the north-east), the Puna district and North Konkan,—in all
yielding a revenue of 20 lakhs of Aun (or 80 lakhs of Rupees).
The rest of the Ahmadnagar State was annexed to the Mughal
empire. In addition, Adil Shah recognized the overlordship of
the Mughal Emperor, promised to be friendly to his fellow-
vassal the Sultan of Golkonda (whose boundary was fixed at
the Manjera river), and bound himself to pay an indemnity of 20
lakhs of Rupees, but no annual tribute. A

The affairs of the Deccan having been at last settled and the
Mughal boundary clearly marked and publicly recognized by
the local princes, Shah Jahan returned to Northern India, leaving
Aurangzib (14th July, 1636) as viceroy of the Deccan, with his
scat al Aurangabad. This town, founded by Malik Ambar, al
the village of Khirki, was allowed by Shah Jahan to be named
Aurangabad after his third son.

The Mughal conquests in the Deccan were completed by the
capture of the forls of Udgir (28th Sep.) and Ausa {19th Oct),
and the crushing defeat of Shahji Bhonsle, who, after a long
chase by the Mughal general Khan-i-Zaman and his Bijapuri
auxiliary Randaula Khan, had to make a complete surrender
at Mahuli {in North Konkan) at the end of October. He gave
up to the Mughals his puppet Nizam Shah with his royal
property, seven forts, and all his territories i Maharashtra
except his  small jagirs inn the Puna district, which were to be
held as a vassal of Bijapur.

Another Mughal general, Khan-i-Dauran, levied heavy
comftribulions  from  the Gond Rajah of Deogarh and other
chiefs. In January 1638, Aurangzib sent an armv to conquer
Baglana, a small hingdom north of the Chandor range lying on
the main route from the Deccan to Gujrat and containing the
famous hill-forts of Salhir and Muthir. Mulhir and Pipla were
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gained and the entire kingdom annexed by the end of June,
Next year (1639), in October, Aurangzib caused the Maratha
freebooter Kheloji Bhonsle, a son of Shahji's paternal uncle, to
be seized and put to death.

e § 8. durangzib’s Famils.

Aurangzib had four wives, namely :

1. Dilras Banu Begam, a daughter of Shah Nawaz Khan
(whose great-grandlather was a vyounger son of the Persian
king Shah Ismail | Safavi). She was married to Aurangzib at
Agra on 8th May 1637 with the most gorgeous ceremonies.
She died at Aurangabad on  8th October 1657 from illness
following the birth of her son Muhammad Akbar, and was
buried outsicle that city, with the fitle of Rabig~ud-daurani or
the modern Saint Rabia. Her tomb, popularly called the
Deccani Taj Mahal, was repaired by het son A=zam under
order of Aurangzib. She seems to have been an imperious
lady, proud of bearing the ‘Royal blood of Persia,’ and her
husband stood in awe of her. [dnecdotes of Aurangzib,

No. 27

2. Rahmat-un-nisa, surnamed Nawab Bai, was the daughter
of Rajah Raju of the Rajauri State in Kashmir, and came of
the hill-Rajput blood. But  on her son Bahadur Shal’s
accession to the throne of Dethi, a false pedigree was
invented for her in order to give that Emperor the right to
call himself a Sayyid. She built a sarai at Fardapur, at the
foot of the pass, and also founded Baijipura, a suburb of
Aurangabad. The misconduct of her sons, Muhammad  Sultan
and Muazzam, who disobeyed the Emperor under the influence
of evil counsellors, embittercd her latter life. Her advice and
even personal enfrealy had no effect on Muazzam, who was
at last placed under arrest. Nawab Bai seems to have lost
her charms and with them her husband’s  favour rather early
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in life, and ended her days in (691 at Delhi, after many
vears of separation from her husband and sons.

3. durangabadi Mabal, so named because she entered
the prince’s harem in the city of Aurangabad. The bubonic
plague carried her off at the city of Bijapur in October or
November 1688.

4. .. Udipuri  Mafial, the mother of Kam Dakhsh., The
cdﬁ{emporaw Venelian traveller Manucei speaks of her as a
Georgian slave-girl of Dara Shukoh’s harem, who, on the
downfall of her first master, became the concubine of his
victorious rival. She secms to have been a very voung
woman at the lime, as she first beccame a mother in 1667.
She retained her charms and influence over the Emperor
till his death, and was the darling of his old age. Under
lhe spell of her beauty he pardoned the many faults of Kam
Bahhsh% and overlooked her frealks of drunkenness which
must have shocked so pious a Muslim.

Besides the above four there was another woman whose
supple grace, musical shill, and mastery of blandishments,
made her the heroine of the only romance n the puritan
Emperor’s life. Hira Bai surnamed Zainabadi was a young
slave~girl in the keeping of Mir Khalil, who had married a
sister of Aurangzib's mpther. Dwing his vicerovalty of the
Deccan, the prince paid a visit to his aunt at Burhanpur.
There, while strolling in the park of Zainabad on the other
side of the Tapti, he beheld Hira Bai unvelled among his
aunt's train. The artful beauty “on seeing a mango-tree laden
with fruits, advanced in mirth and amorous play, jumped
up, and plucked a mango, as if unconscious of the prince's
presence” The vision of her mailchless charms stormed
Aurang=ib’s heart in a moment; “with shameless importunity
he took her away from his auni's house and became utterly
infatuated wilh her.” So much sE), that one day she offered
him a cup of wine and pressed him to drink it. All his
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entreaties and  excuses were disregarded, and the helpless
lover was about to taste the forbidden drink when the sly
enchantress snaifched away the cup from his lips and said,
“My object was only fo fest your Jove for me, and not to
make you fall inlo the sin of drinking " Death cut the story
short when she was still in the bloom of vouth, Aurangzib
bitterly grieved at her loss and buried her close to the big
lank at Aurangabad. '

Aurangzib had a numerous progeny. His principal wife,
Dilras Banu Begam, bore him five children :

{ 1. .7Hi -ux-nisa, a  daughter, born at Daulatabad, on 15th
I‘ebluaxy, 1638 dxed at Delhi on  96th May, 1709, ‘buried in
the oarden of ‘ I‘hnty Thousand Trees”  outside the Kabul
gatg. Her fomb was demolished to make rodm for a “railway.
“She seems.. to. have ..inherited Cher' " father’s . keenness of
fntellect . and . literary taqt Her [ibrary surpassed all other
private collections, and sh<_‘ emploved many scholats on liberal
salaries 10 produce literary works at  her bidding or to copy
- manuseripts  for her. As Aurangzib  disliked poetry, her
liberality compensated ~for the lack of Court patronage, and
most of the poets of the age sought refuge with het. She
wrote Dersian’ Qdeb _under the “pen-name  of- Makbfi or thL
(,onceah;d On WB ﬂk. L\(taﬂt Dum‘uz»«z~Makl‘ i was L_ﬁl tamly
: ngjwb_gr,‘\vorh.

~ 2 ZINAT-UN-MSA,  afterwards - surpamed © Padishah Bwam ‘
o probablv at Auranoabad on 5th Odobc,r 16-13 bhe.
loobed after, her old father's 'muschold “““““““ in {he Deccan, for a‘

quarter of w.mmry till-  his vleaih, and smvwed him manv ‘
years, enjoying fhe I‘espééf of his' successors 'as the hvmg

. memorial of a great age: Hlstouans speak’ of her ptctv and

L extensive chaut\z She died at. Delhi’

‘on. 1th Ma\g, 17‘7[ aricd’
was. biwieclin the 7111&%»111 masapd A wpltnd1dm mosquc bmlt"'"'"
(i?GD) at hu vcpens«. n Delhl ; :
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3. ZusDAT-un-nisa, born at Multan, 2nd September, 1651,
married to her first cousin, Sipihr Shukoh (the second son of
the ill-fated Dara Shukoh) on 30th January, 1673, died in
February, 1707,

4. MunamMap Azawm, born at Burhanpur on  28th June,
1653, slain at Jajaw, in the war of succession following his
father's death, 8th June, 1707,

5. MunamMmab AxBAR, born at Aurangabad, on 1ith
September, 1657, died an exile in Dersia about November,
1704. Buried at Mashhad.

By Nawab Bai the Emperor had three children :

6. Munammap SuLtaN, born near Mathura, [9th December,
1639, died in prison, 3rd December, 1676, Burfed in the
enclosure of Khwajah Quib-ud-din's tomb.

7. Munammap MuazzaM, surnamed Shah  Alam, who
succeeded his father as Bahadur Shah I, born at Burhanpur
on 4th October, 1643, died at Lahot on 18th February, 1712

8. Pabp-uN-Nisa, born 17th November, 1647, died 9th
April, 1670.

Aurangabadi Mahal bore to Aurangzib only one child :

9. Mimp-UuN-Nisa, born 18th September, 1661, martied fo
her first cousin Izid Bakhsh (a son of the murdered Murad
Bakhsh) on 27th November, 1672, died in June, 1706.

Udipuri Mahal was the mother of

10. Munammap Kam Baxwse, born at Delhi, 24th February,
1667, slain in the war of succession, near Haidarabad on 3rd
January, 1709.

§ 9. Aurangzib in disgrace.
Aurangzib's first viceroyalty of the Deccan ended strangely
in his disgrace and dismissal, in 1644.
On the night of 26th March, 1644, the princess jahanara
was coming from her father's chambers to her own in Agra
fort, when her skirt brushed against one of the candleg lighting

2
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the passage, and she was so severely burnt that for four
months she hovered between life and death.

The Physician Royal of Delhi laboured in vain to heal
her burns, but a slave named Arif prepared an ointtnent which
entirely  healed her sores. On 25th November began a most
splendid and costly  festivity in celebration of her complete
recovery. At her rvequest Aurangzib was restored to his
father's favour and his former rank and office, which he had
lost in the meantime.

Aurangzib had arrived at Agra on 9nd May to sce his
sister. Here three weeks afterwards he had been suddenly
dismissed from his post, and deprived of his rank and allowance,
From one of his letters we gather that he resigned his post as
a protest against Dara’s persistent hostilily and Shah Jahan's
partiality to his eldest son which robbed Auwangzib of the
Emperor’s confidence and support. He fell that his prestige
was lowered i the public eye and he could not govern the
Deccan consistently with  self-respect  or with any chance of
dping asood service.*

At jahanara’s intercession the Emperor restored Aurangzib
to his favour, and on 16th Pebruary, 1645, senl him off io
Gujrat as Governor. His viceroyalty of this province ended
in  January, 1647, when he was appoinled to  Balkh.
But even in this brief period of less than fwo years he showed
his administrative capacity and firmness. '

Aurangzib followed an active and firm policy towards the
roober tribes and rebels of Guirat. In  order lo check them
effectually he engaged soldiers in excess of the men whom he

7 & hieral interprefation of a Dersian phrase (mansart) has wiven rise in English”
hislories to the mylh thal youny sdurangzib turned hermd in a it of religious devo;
fion. The fact js ihai at this time he [kt na religious call at all ; his .motive was
palilical, not spiritual : he merely resigned  his office, but did not actually take to a
hermif’s life. How Jurangzib "made a public display of his jealousty towards Dara
and was punished by Shak Jshan in comsequence, Is described in {he Anecidotes of
Aurangzib, No. 2. )
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was bound by his present rank as a mansabdar to keep.
He thus established in his father's eyes a repulation for capa-
city and courage, and #f wasnot long before he was called
away to a far off scene where 1there was supreme need of
these qualifies, by being created Governor and Commander-in~
Chief of Balkh and Badakhshan (21 Jan. 1647)

810. Aurangzid’s campaigns in Balkf, 1647.

The provinces of Balkh and Badakhshan, lying immediately
beyond the lindu Kush range north of Kabul, were dependencies
of the kRingdom of Bubkhara. Their king, Nazar Muhammad
Khan, was a weak and incompetent ruler, who alienated all
classes of his subjects. Within three years of his accession fo
the throne, rebellions broke out in many parts of his vast
hingdom (1645). Shah Jahan seized the opportanity by sending
an expedition to conquer Balkh and Badakhshan, “because these
two provinces were the heritage of Babar and also lay in the
way to Samargand, the capital of Timur, who had founded the
Mughal dynasty.”

In 1646, Drince Murad DBakhsh with a vast army casily
occupied Badakhshan and Balkly, in the month of June. But the
prince and his officers alike detested service in the poor, dull
and uncongenial land of Cenfral Asia and dreaded any contest
with the fierce Usbaks from beyond the Oxus. Soon (August)
Murad returned from DBalkh, against the Emperor’s wishes,
leaving his army without a leader ! Aurangzib was then sent
to relrieve the situation. Leaving Kabul on 7th April 1647,
with Ali Mardan Khan as his right-hand man, he fought his
way through the Uzbak hordes step by slep and reached the
city of Balkh on 25th May.

Al the head of the Bukhara nafional defence slood Abdul
Aziz Khan, the able and and heroic eldest son of Nazar
Muhammad., Under his directions the Uzbak hordes assembled
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at different places in Balkh and threatened to isolate and invest
the Mughal troops. When Aurangzib marched out of the city
of Balkh to break up the enemy gathering at Aqcha (40 miles
to the north-west), he was daily opposed by the Uszbaks on
the way, while another body of them arrived from Bukhara to
attack the city of Balkh. The news of it forced Aurangzib to
fall back on his capital, fishting every inch of the ground.
This march and retreat took up ten days during which the
Mughal army was a stranger to repose. Day after day a
strenuous fight had to be mainfained against the fireless and
mobile enemy, while hunger raged in the imperial ranks. The
soldiers were ever on the move, and food could be cooked
only on the backs of the marching elephants | Bread sold at
one Rupee or even two Rupees a piece and waler was equally
dear, and there was not cnough for all. But in the midst of
all this hardship and danger, Aurangzib’s firmness and control
prevented any slackness or disorder ; his watchful eye and
active body hastened to the succour of every weak spot, and
his wisdom and courage brought the army back to safety.
Aurangzsib’s grim tenacity had gained its object, Abdul Aziz
now desired to make peace. His hope of crushing Aurangzib
had failed. He had personally wilnessed a striking proof of
the prince’s cool courage ; for, one day the hour of eyening
prayer arrived when the baltle was at its hottest ; Aurangzib
spread his carpet oh the field, knelt down and calmly said  his
prayers, regardless of the strife and din around him. He was
then, as during the rest of the campaign, without armour and
shield. The Bukhara army gazed on the scene with wonder,
and Abdul Aziz, in generous admiration, stopped the fight,
crying : “To fight with such man is to cowt one’s own ruin.”
Abdul Asziz proposed that Balkh should be delivered to his
younger brother Suban Quii, as Shah Jahan had publicly
offered to restore the country to their father. Aurangzib
referred the question to the Emperor, who decided to restore
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the couniry to Nazar Muhammad, if the latter saved imperial
prestige by begging the Emperot’s pardon !

This was done. On 1st October the fort of Balkh was
delivered to Nazar Muhammad's agents, and the Mughal army
began its retreat to Kabul, undergoing terrible privations and
loss of life and treasure in crossing the Hindu Kush passes, in
the teeth of aftacks from the rear and front by Uzbaks and
Hazaras. The imperialists lost 5,000 men in this region,
besides an equally large number of ftransport animals. The
grain and other provisions and military stores which the
Mughals had to abandon were worth several lakhs of Rupees.
The war cost the Indian treasury four frores of Rupees, while
not an inch of tertitory was gained as the resulf of it

After the Balkh expedition, Aurangzib acted as governor
of Multan and Sindh from March 1648 to July 1652. During
this period he was twice called away from his province to
lay siege to Qandahar and fo try to wrest that fort from the
Persians, (January to December 1649 and March to July 1659),
His new province contained the wildest and most untractable
Afghan and Baluch clans. What Aurangzib could do in that
short time was to strike down the most notorious brigand
chieftains and secure a nominal profession of allegiance to the
EBmperor from the border clans.

He also set himself to revive the commerce of the province
by affording facilies to the maritime irade. Taita having
ceased to be a port by the accumulation of sand af the river
mouth, Aurangzib opened a new port further down the Indus
and built there a fort and a dock.

§ 11. Aurangzib besieges Qandafiar, 1649-1652.

The fort of Qandahar guards the road to India from the
west and to Kabul from the south. Hs sirategic importance
lies in the fact that only 360 miles of level couniry separate
il from Herat, near which the lofly Hindu Kush range sinks
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Jdown to afford an easy passage to an invadmng host from
Central Asia or Persia. Such an army must pass through
Qandahar  and wmust be turned back there, it ever at all. In
an age when Kabul was a part of the Delhi empire, Qandahar
was our indispensable firsl line of defence.

[n the seventeenth century, when the DPortuguese navy
dominated the Indian Qcean and nearly closed the sea-route
from India to the Persian Guli, the comumercial importance of
Qandahar was no less than its strategic. All westward-bound
merchandise from India and even the Spice Islands had to
follow the land route through Multan, Pishin and Qandahar
o Persia and thence to Europe. In 1615 fourteen thousand
loaded camels annually passed into Persia by this route, and
the city of Qandahar grew rapidly in wealth and size as a
most convenient centre for the exchange of commuodities.

From its posiion Qandahar was naturally a bone of
contention between the rulers of Persia and India. In 1592
Babar gained it trom its Arghun ruler, but the Persian king
conguered it in 1558, Then Akbar bought it from ils Persian
prince-governor 1 1594 ; but in Jahangit's old age, Shah
Abbas the Great took it afller a siege of 45 days (1693) In
1638 ils Persian governor Al Mardan Khan, afraid of his
master's  wrath, delivered the fort to Shah lahan. But the
Persians were not to be Jenied : in February 1649 they fnally
wrested it from the Mughals, after a siege of 37 days, while
Shah Jahan delayed sending a relieving force.

Imperial prestige required thal Qandahar should be won
back from the Persians, and three costly sieges were under-
faken by Shah Jahaw's sons, but all to no avail. The first
expedition, under Aurangzib and the wazir Sadullah Khan,
50,000 strong, arrived before Qandahar on 14th May [649
and completely invested the fort: but their lack of large
cannon made it impossible for them fo assault the fort, which
was far superior in the calibre and range of its arlillery. As
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the Delhi  Court historian frankly admits, “The Persians had
grown expert in the capture and defence of forts, by their
long wars with the Turhs, They were masters of fire-arms
and artilfery. They held such a strong and well-provisioned
fort, with big guns and  shilful gunners . . .. So the imperialists
failed with all their efforts” On  5th September, Auranszib
began his relreat from Qandahar, after having  wasted
3 months and 20 days before it, though in a pitched battle
on the bank of the Arghandab, some 924 miles south-west of
Qandahat, his generals Qalich Khan and Rustam Khaa
Deccani signally defeated a large DPersian army and pursued
it beyond Kushhk-i-Nakhud.

Preparations were made on a grandet scale for a second
attempt {0 recover Qandahar. Again Aurangzib and  Sadullab
Khan appeared before the fort and laid siege to it (2nd May
1659). DBatteries were raised for breaching the walls, and
lrenches were run  towards the diich of the fort ; an attempt
was made to drain the ditch dry, and a night attack on the
peak of the ridge behind the Forly Steps (Chisil Zina) towers
was clelivered. Bul all the efforls of the Mughals failed. “The
trenches could not be carried any nearer in face of the severe
fire showered from the fort walls... The enemy issted on
three sides, and from sunset to dawn fired their mushets
incessantly from loopholes in the fort-walls, so as to give no
opportunity to  Awangzib’s workmen to make progress.” In
fact, the Persian artillery was as excellent as the Mughal was
inefficient. The Indian gunners were proverbially bad marks-
men and their fire produced no effect on the fort-walls.

Within a month of opening the siege, the work of draining
the ditch and running mines had to be suspended for lack
of materials, The Dersians made repeated sorties killing and
wounding the Mughals in the trenches and damaging their
guns. Even after two months of bombardment the fort-walls
were unbreached, and it would have been madness to deliver
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an assault on such a fort. Finally, by Shah Jahan's order
the Mughal army raised the siege and began ils retreat from
Qandahar on 9th July.

Shah Jahan was very angry with Aurangzib for this ill-
success, which he wrongly ascribed to the prince’s incapacity.
But in truth it is unjust to blame Aurangzib for the failure to
take Qandahar. Throughout the siege he was really second
in command. The Emperor from Kabul directed every move-
ment through Sadullah Khan. His sanction had to be taken
for every important step.

Aurangzib's best justification was afforded next year, when
a still vaster and costlier expedition against Qandahar led by
Dara Shukoh met with an even more humiliating defeal.
These three futile sieges cost the Indian treasury over ten
&rores of Rupees, and  ruined Mughal prestige in the eyes of
all Asia. The Persian king could rightly boast that the rulers of
Delhi knew how to steal a fort by means of gold, but not
how to conquer it by strength of arm. Naturally the military
fame of Persia rose very high. Throughout the rest of the
century the rumour of a projected invasion from PDersia used
to throw the Court of Delhi into the greatest alarm. For
years afterwards the Dersian peril hung like a dark cloud on
the western fronfier of India, and the Emperor Aurangzib and
his ministers drew their breath more easily when any warlike
Shah of Dersia died.



CHAPTER II

SECOND VICEROYALTY OF THE DECCAN
1652—1658.

§ 1. Decay and misery of Mugfal Deccan ;
financial difficulties.

On his return from Qandahar to Kabul, Aurangzib was
appointed subahdar of the Deccan for the second time (1659).
After nine months’ halt at Burhanpur on the way, he arrived
at his capital, Aurangabad in November 1653 and there spent
the next four vears, leaving it only to invade Golkonda and
Bijapur and finally departing on 5th February 1658 to contest
the throne of Delhi.

Since Aurangzib had laid down the viceroyalty of the
Deccan in May 1644, the Mughal administration there had not
prospered, True, the country enjoyed unwonted repose, but
much cullivaled soil had lapsed into jungle, the cullivators
had declined in number and resources, and the revenue had
{allen off greatly, This wretched stafe of things was the natural
result of a succession of short vicerovalties and incompetent
viceroys. N

The Deccan had long caused a heavy drain on the
imperial treasury. The province was large, the country broken,
with plenty of jungles, and imperfectly setfled and organized,
and there were iwo powerful States across the fronier.
Therefore, a very large force had to be stationed there, But
as the soil was sterile, bad harvests and scarcities were too
frequent, and the standard revenue was never collected. For
the four provinces which then constiluted Mughal Deccan, it
stood at three Arores and 69 lakfis of Rupees a year ; but the
actual collection in 1652 was only one £rore, or less than
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one-third. llence, the public income of the Deccan did not
balance the expenditure, and the deficit had to be made
good by sending money from the older and richer provinces
of the empire to support the administration of the South.

On his arrival in the Deccan, Aurangzib was faced with a
serious financial difticulty. The actual vield of the jagirs was
only a fraction of their nominal revenue. The Mughal officers
posted in the Deccan would have starved if they had to
depend solely on their jagirs in that province. Everywhere
Aurangzib found signs of maladministration, the work of his
predecessors. The  actual  collection was sometimes only
one-tenth of the normal assessment. The new viceroy found
it impossible to make both ends meet At this time the civil
and military expenditure of the Deccan, exclusive of the salary
derived by the officers from their jagirs, produced an annual
deficit of Rs. 20,36,000, which was made good by drawing on
the reserve stored in the treasuries of the Deccan,

Aurangzib shared the difficully of other jagirdars in the
Deccan in having to keep up his normal confingent of troops
on an income reduced t© a fraction of his normal pay. The
financial wrangle between father and son dragged on for years.
Shah Jahan wished to put a stop to the drain of money to
the Deccan, and here was Aurangzib ashing for cash from
other provinces in the place of jagirs in the Deccan !

When appoiniing fiim to the Deccan, Shah Jahan had urged
Aurangzib to pay special attention {o the improvemenl of the
peasantry and the extension of culfivation. Awrangzib had
promised to do his best for these objects. He only pleaded
for a sufficiently long tenure and the men and money necessaty
for his purpose, as the depopulation and ravage caused by
a generation of warfare, followed by ten years of maladminis-
tration, could not be undone in two or three years,
Very soon his viceroyalty was destined to become memorable
for ever in the history of land-settlement in the Deccan.
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§ o Muwshid Quit Kfian : fis character and revenue system,

Mursuip Quit Knan was a native of Khurasan who had
migrated to India in the train of All Mardan Khan, the
fugitive Persian gowvernor of Qandahar. He “combined the
valour of a soldier with the administrative capacity of a civil
servant”  As  diwan ot Aurangsib in  the Deccan, Murshid
Quli  effected revenue refoims and first achieved success for
his new system.

The Deccan hitherto had no revenue system at all
Here the marking out of plots, the measurement of
land by chain survey, the assessment of revenue at so much
per bigfia, or the sharing of the actual produce between the
State landlord and the cultivator, were unknown. The peasant
in the Deccan cultivated as much land as he could with a
plough and a pair of oxen, grew whaltever crop he liked,
and paid to the State a small amount per plough,—the rate of
revenue varying In different places and being fixed arbitrarily.
Thus the peasantry lay open to the caprice and extortion of
the pelty collectors. The long wars of Mughal aggression and
a succession of rainless years completed their ruin. The
oppressed ryofs fled from their homes, the deserted fields
lapsed into jungle ; many once flourishing villages became
manless wildernesses.

The new diwen's reform  consisted in extending Todar Mal's
system  to the Deccan. First, he worked hard to gather the
scattered ryofs together and restore the normal life of the
villages by giving them their full population and proper chain
of oflicers. Dverywhere wise amins and honest swrveyors
were deputed to measure the land, fo prepare the record of
well marked out holdings (ragba), and to distinguish arable
Jand from rocky soils and water-courses, Where a village had
lost is headman (mugaddam) he took care to appoint a new
headman from the persons whose character gave the best
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promise of their readiness to promote cultivation and take
sympathelic care of the peasantry. The poorer ryofs were
granted loans (fagavvi) from the public treasury, for the pur-
chase of cattle, seeds and other needful materials of agriculture,
and the advance was recovered at harvest by instalments.

He had the wisdom fo modify his system according to
differences of local conditions. Where {he peasaniry were
backward and the population scanty, or where the villages

situated in  obscure nooks, he left the old usage of a

Were
In many other

fixed lump pavmeni per plough undisturbed.
places he introduced the system of metayership or sharing of
the actual produce.

His third method of revenue setlement was the elaborate
and complex one of Northern India. Here the standard or
maximum Governmeni share was one-fourth of the fotal pro-
duce, whether grain or pot-herb, fruit or seed. The revenue at
the fixed rate of so manvy Rupees per bigha was assessed and
collected after considering the quantity and quality of ihe crop
from seed-ime to harvest and its market-price, and actually
measuring the sown area, This became the prevalent
system  in the subgfis of Mughal Deccan and was known for
centuries  afterwards as  “the dAara of Murshid Quli Khan.”
His excellent system, backed by his constant vigilance and
personal supervision, led to the improvement of agriculture
and increase of the revenue in a few years.

§ 5. Improvemenis made in the Deccan administralion by
Aurangzib.

Immediately on assuming the viceroyalty, Aurangzib tried
his best {o make the administration efficient. Old and incom-
pelent men were dismissed or removed to minor posts ; a
number of officers of proved ability were selected by the
prince, and to them all situations of trust and importance were
given. Keen on securing military efficiency, Aurangzib first of



1654) DIFFICULTIES DURING VICEROYALTY OF DECCAN 20

all assured that financial support without which an army cannot
be hept up to the mark.

A wvery able and energetic Inspector-General  of
Ordnance soon made a clean sweep of the old abuses. He
visited every forl, inspected everything, great and small, and
supplied every place with the requisite store of food and
munitions, Old and useless men who were being borne on
the establishment of the artillery were made to undergo an
examination in musketry, Those who could not hit the mark
even once were dismissed. Old and disabled soldiers were
put on pension in  considerafion of their past services. Thus
this officer cffected a saving of Rs, 50,000 a vyear, while
actually improving the efficiency of the arm.

8§ 4. Causes of Aurangzib's differences witf the Emperot.

Aurangzib's second viceroyalty of the Deccan was marked
by a series of wrangles with his father. Either Aurangzib’s enemies
had got hold of the Emperor’s ears, ot the latter failed to
appreciate the prince’s difficulties in the South. Aurangzib was
misunderstood, suspected, and unjustly reprimanded from the very
beginning of his term of office. And the bitterness of feeling
thus aroused was one of the reasons why the War of Succession
was conducted so heartlessly and unscrupulously.

At the very time of his appointment to the Deccan Aurangzib
objected to it as his jagirs there would vield 17 lakhs of
Rupees less thanthe fertile flefs he was ‘holding in  Sindh.

His proposal to be given more productive jogirs in exchange
for the existing ones, was the cause of prolonged and acrimonious
correspondence with the Emperor,

In some cases the viceroy's recommendations for postings
and promotions among his subordinates were not accepled by
the Emperor, and the prince wrote indignantly to his father,
“I have l:{een a subahdar since the age of 18 vears, and I have
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never recommended a single man who has proved unfit for
his post” On many other minor poinis there were differences
between father and sor.

Another cause of fricion was the charge of diplomatic
relations  with  Bijapur and  Golkonda. Aurangzib  justly
contended that the Mughal cnvoys at these Courts  should
take their orders from the viceroy of the Deccan and imperial
correspondence with them should pass through his hands.  But
this power was conceded to him only towards the close of
his administration, and even then not fully.

At one time Aurangzib was so disgusted with being con-
stantly misunderstood, censured, and hampered by the Emperor,
that he refused 1o take a most necessary step on his own
iniflative, but justiied his inaction with the bitter remark, “No
wonder that [ did not take the responsibility of doing it, seeing
that | have been taken to task for acts which I never did. |
have now grown more cautious !”

In 1637 Khan-i-Dauran had invaded Deogarh and forced the
Rajah fo promise an annual tribute of {5 lakhs of Rupees
to the Emperor. But the lribute fell into arrears, and repeated
demands for it produced no effect. So, in 1655, Shah Jahan
ordered the country to be invaded. The Gond Rajah, Kesari
Singh, made a prompt submission and promised to pay up his
ArTears.

The little Stale of Jawhar, lying on a plateau north of
Konkan and soulth~west of Baglana, was ruled by a petly
Rajah who did not own the overlordship of Dehli, Shah
Jahan, at Autangzib's suggestion, sanctioned an invasion of his
country, which frightened the Rajah into making his submission
and promising an annual tribute {(January 1656).

8 5. Minor expeditions.

In the 16th and {7th centurfes much of the modern Central
Provinces owned the sway of aboriginal Gond chiefs and was
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known under the name of Gondwana. The great Gond
kingdom of Garh-Mandla had becn crippled by a Mughal
invasion and sack of the capital in Akbar's reign, and, later
by Dundela encroachments from the north. Bul about the
middle of the 17th century another Gond hkinedom, with ils
capital at Deogarh, rose to greatness, and extended its sway
over the districts of Betul, Chindwara and Nagpur, and portions
of Seoni, Bhandara and Balaghat In the southern part of
Gondwana stood the town of Chanda, the seat of a third
Gond dynasty, the hereditary foe and rival of the Rajah of
Deogarh.

§ 6. Goikonda : weallfi of {fic fingdom ; causes of quarrel
with the DMughials.

GoLkonpa was a very fettile and  carefully firigated
country, with a large and industrious population. The capital,
Haidarabad, was at this time the centre of the diamond trade,
not of Asia alone, but of the whole world, Numbers of
{oreign traders assembled here and transacted business. The
kingdom was famous for several industries and also possessed
in Masufipatam the best anchorage in the Bay of Bengal. The
forests of the kingdom sheltered large herds of highly prized
clephants, which added to the wealth of the king. Tobacco
and the palin flourished exceedingly, and the excise on tobacco
and toddy juice vielded a large revenue.

Aurangzib had frequent cause fo quarrel with the Ring of
Golkonda. The annual tribute of two lakhs of Aun was
always in arrears, and frequent dunning on the part of the
Mughal viceroy only met with excuses and pefitions for delay.

Next, the exchange value of the #fun rose from Rs. 4 in
1636 to Rs. 4!2 and finally in 1654 to Rs. 5 each. Quib
Shah had been paying his tribute af the old rate of eight
lakhs of Rupees a year. The Mughals now demanded thal
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the difference duc to exchange for all lhe past years
should be paid at once, this forming a new burden of 20
lakhs of Rupees.

Then he was rebuked for not having taken his overlord’s
sanction before conquering the Karnatak., Lastly there was
the affair of Mir Jumla which precipitated war.

8§ 7. Mir Jumla : fis Bistory and position.

The treaties of 1636 had clearly marked out the boundary
between the Mughal empire and the two Deccani monarchies.
Batred in the north by the strong' arm of the Mughals, these
two States began to give employment to their troops and a
free vent to thelr ambition by engaging in a career of conquest
in other directions. The whole of the Karnatak, from the
river Krishna fo Tanjore beyond the Xaveri was covered
with a number of petty Hindu principalities, the jarting frag-
menfs of the ruined empite of Vijaynagar. These now rapidly
fell a prey to Muslim arms. The Golkonda troops advanced
conquering to the Bav of Bengal, and occupied the couniry
from the Chilka lake to the Penner river.

Bijapur advanced conguering southwards and then turned
east till it occupied the coast between finji and  Tanjore.
Hemmed in in the north and south by the conquests of the two
Sultans, as between the iwo Jaws of a monster, lay the hing-
dom of Chandragiri, the last remnant of the Vijaynagar
empire, with ils territory confracted to the region from Nellore
fo Pondicherry on the east and the Mysore fronfier on the
west. There was now a race behween the Golkonda and
Bijapur kings for the absorption of this kingdom ; the two
jaws began rapidly to close from the north and the souih
upon the doomed Karnatak. In this work of conquest a
most conspicious part was played by Mir Jumla, the waszir
of Golkonda.
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Muhammad Said, known to history as Mir JumLa, was a
Sayvid of Ardistan in Persta, and the son of an oil~-merchant
of Isfahan. Leaving his nalive counlty in vouth, he like
other Shia adventurers, sought his fortune at the Courts of
the Deccani Sultans who belonged fo his sect, (1630), A.
a diamond merchant he rose to great wealth by his shrewd-
ness and business capacity. His wonderful talents gained him
the favour of Abdullah Qutb Shah, who made him his
prime minister. Mir Jumla's industry, rapid despatch of business,
administralive capacity, military genius, and inborn power of
leadership ensured his success in all that he undertook. Great
alike in civil government and in war, he soon became the
virtual ruler of Golkonda: nothing could reach the Suitan
save with his approval. Sent by his master to the Karnatah,
he soon effected a complete transformation there. Mir Jumla
strengthened himself by securing a number of European
gunners and cannon-founders, raised his army to a high state
of discipline and efficiency, and soon wrested the Cuddapa
district. His crowning feat was the capture of the rochk-fortress
of Gandikota, hitherto deemed impregnable. Sidhout,” east
of Cuddapa, was also conquered, and his captains penetrated
as far as Chandragivi and Titupatl in the North Arcot district.
By looting the rich old temples of the South and hunting out
buried treasure, Mir Jumla amassed a vast fortune, till he
came to be known as the richest private man in the South
and the owner of iwenty maunds of diamonds. By his
conquests he raised his jogir in the Karnatak into a kingdom
300 miles long and 50 miles broad, vielding a revenue of 40
lakhs a year, and possessing several diamond mines. Thus
he had made himself fully independent of his master and the
virtual king of the Karnatak. Envious courtiers were nol
wanting to whisper to the, Sultan of Golkonda that the absent

* Sidhout s nine miles due cast and Gandikota 12 miles n. w. ot Cuddapa towit,
Both are situated on the Penner rivet.

3
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wazir's armed sirength was a menace to his own security,
and that the servant's wealth overshadowed the grandeur of
the master's Court. Qutb Shal, too, naturally wished to have
a share of his wazit’s gains in the Karnatak. Mir Jumla, on
the other hand, knowing how weak and worthless his master
was, regarded the conquest as entirely his own work and
was loth to return to the life of a courtier. Quib Shah at
last openly undertook to crush his disobedient servant.

§ 8. Quib Shaf’s rupture wiifi tfe Mughals, 1655.

Mir Jumla now looked around for a protector. In addition
to making offers of his services to Bijapur, he began to
coquet with the Mughal power. Aurangzib secretly nursing
his passionate  ambition of conquering the rich State of
Golkonda, was eager fo secure such an  able helper and
counsellor as the prime minister of that kingdom. Through
the Mughal cnvoy at Golkonda the prince opened a sccret
corresponcence  with Mir Jumla, promising him boundless
favours from the Emperor, if he joined the Mughal service.
But Mir Jumla was in no haste lo accept the ofler ; he asked
for a vear's time, and Aurangzib was disgusted with his
duplicity.

Before Qutb Shah  could muster either his courage or his
forces for the purpose of chastising Mir Jumla, a crisis was
precipitated by the conduct of Muhammad Amin, the wazir's
son. This young man, haughty and reckless, was acting all
these vears as Mir Jumla’s deputy at the Court of Golkonda,
and used to  ireat the Sulfan with scant courtesy in open
Court. Al last, one day Muhammad Amin came to Court
reeling with drunkenness, fell asleep on the Ring's own carpel,
and sailed it in crop sickness. The long-suffering king’s anger
boiled over, and he threw Mubammad Amin and his family
info prison and atfached their property (21st November 1655).
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This was the opportunity for which Aurangzib had so long
been waiting,

Aurangzib had received on 18th December the Emperot's
letters appointing Mir Jumla and his son to the Mughal service
and bidding Qutb Shah not to hinder them in coming to the
imperial Cowrt nor to defain their property. Ile immediately
sent the order to Quib Shah threatening him with war if he
delayed or disobeyed. In the meantime he mobilized his troops
on the Golkonda frontier. Quib Shah seemed to have been
blind fo ihe coming storm, he disregarded these Mughal letters.

On hearing (24th Decembet) of Muhammad Amin’s caplivity,
Shah Jahan wrote a lefter to Quib Shah to release Mir Jumla’s
family. He felt sure thal his lelter alone would effect the
purpose. But “in order to grafify Auranezib” he rather
reluctantly sanctioned (20th Dec.) the invasion of Golkonda, in
case Muhammad Amin was sill detained. Both these lefers
reached Aurangzib on 7th January, 1656, He now employed
finesse to ruin Golkonda. Without giving Qutb  Shah time to
receive and follow Shah Jahan's letter of 24th December, which
explicitly ordered the release of the captives, he declared that
the king's refusal to set them free in spite of the Emperor's
letter of 3rd December amounted to that flat disobeclience of
imperial orders which had been laid down as a necessary
condition for the invasion of Golkonda,

§ D, Aitrangzib invades Golfonda Kingdom, 1656,

Al once, by order ol Aurangzib, his eldest son Muhammad
'Sultan crossed the frontier at Nander (10th January, 1656) and
made a dash on Haidarabad with his cavalry. On the 20th
of the month, Aurangzib himself staried from Aurangabad and
hastened to join his sorm.

Meantime, after Muhammad Sultan had entered his territory,
Abdullah got Shah Jahan's stern letter of 24th December and
at once sent Muhammad Amin with his family and servants
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to that prince, together with a humble letter of submission to
the Emperor. But Aurangzib had so contrived it that his sub-
mission should come loo late to save him. Muhammad Amin
waited on the prince, 24 miles from Haidarabad (probably on
21st Jan), but the prince refused to stop hostilities and pressed
on to the capital on the plea that Abduflah had not yet
restored the property of the captives. Qutb Shah's last hope
was gone ; the Mughal cavalry had arrived so fast that he
had been completely taken by surprise. Confronted wilh utter
ruin, he fled from Haidarabad to the forl of Golkonda in the
night of 22nd January, abandoning his capital.

This Hight saved his life because Aurangzib’s secret insiruc-
fions to M. Sultan breathed deadly animosity :

“Qutb-ul-mulk is a coward and will probably offer no resistance Immediately on
delivering this message, attack him impetuously and, it you can manage i, Iligfiten
fils neck of tfie burden of fis Fead, The best means of achieving this plan are
cleverness, promptitude, and lishtness of hand.”

On 25rd January the invaders arrived at the Husain Sagar
tank, two miles north of Haidarabad. Confusion reigned in
the counsels of Golkonda, Next day the voung prince entered
Haidarabad. A strong party was posted in the city uncler
Muhammad Beg to prevent plunder and violence. *Haidarabad
was one of the richest cities of India. This looting of Haidara-
bad by the Mughal army was the talk of all India in that age.
As Aurangeib's equerry, Agil Khan Razl, wrote in his history,
“Most of the stores and property of Qutb-ubmulk, such as
precious books and other costly things beyond computation,
were plundered by Prince M. Sultan...Much of Qutb-ul-mulk’s
property,—among the rarities of the age,—was confiscated by
Burangzsib.”

Aurangzib arrived on the scene on Gth February with the
bulk of his army. With the vigour and promptitude 1{hat
marked all his actions, he first made a reconnaissance
of the fort of Golkonda and its environs.
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Next day the siege of Golkonda began. The west side
was unoccupied, but Mughal officers entrenched on the other
{hree sides. The leaguer of Golkonda lasted from 7th
February fo 30th March, and was conducted very languidly,
because, with the materials at his disposal, he could do no
injury o such an impregnable foriress. Battles took place
with the Golkonda troops hovering round. These skirmishes
were varied by the almost daily arrival of presents and offers
of peace from the beleaguered hing to the invader’s camp !
Put Aurangzib steadily refused to make terms. He coveted
the whole kingdom and nothing less. He plied his father
with all sorts of arguments to secure his consent to its
annexatior. But Shah Jahan was loth to ruin a brother Ring
for merely trying to bring his disloval wasir under discipline.
Dara, who had been bribed and implored by the Golkonda
envoy at Delhi/~to the intense disgust and anger of Aurangzib,—
pleaded hard for Qutbaul-mulk, and secured peace for him
on the payment of an indemnity. The Emperor’s letter accept-
ing this setflement reached Aurangszib on 24th  February.
Aurangzib suppressed the Emperor’s letter of pardon fo
Quib-ul-mulk (dated &th February), lest il should embolden the
latter and make him abate his terms,

In the meantime, Abdullah’s ageni at the Courl of Delhi
had bought the intercession of Dara Shukoh and of the
Princess Imperial Jahanara, [Guidasfital. Through them he
unfolded to the Emperor the true story of Aurangzib’s
manceuvring,—how Abdullah had been fricked and almost
slain by treachery, how he had not been given a fair chance
of carrying out the Emperor’s orders, how the impetial
farmans had been withheld from him, how Shah Jahan’s
hind infentions towards the suppliant ruler had been thwarted.
At this Shah Jahan's righteous indignation boiled over. He
wrote a sharp letter of censure to Aurangzib, with orders fo
raise the siege and guit Golkonda terrifory af once.
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So, on 30th March, in obedience to the Emperot's  peremp-
tory orders, Aurangzib raised the siege and withdrew from
the environs of Golkonda. Four days afterwards Muhammad
Sultan was married by proxy to the second daughter of
Abdullah Quib Shah. The king of Golkonda, Dbesides paying
a war indemnity and arrears of tribute amounting to one
frore of Rupees, had to cede the district of Ramgir (modern
Manikdrug and Chinoor). The Mughal army set out on its
refreat on 21st April.

Mir Jumla had come to Aurangzib’s camp at Golkonda
on 20th March more as a prince than as a noble. Six thou-
sand cavalry, 15,000 infantry, 130 elephants, and a very good
train of artillery . accompanied him. Summoned immediately
to the impetial Courf, he arrived  at Delhi on 7th July and
presented the Emperor with articles worth 15 /akss, including
a big diamond weighing 216 ratis. He was at once created
a Commander of Six Thousand and appointed” ptime minister
in the place of Sadullah Khan lately deceased.

g 10. /—Iumngxzbs wrangles with Shafi Jafian about
e’ Qolkonda booz‘&

This: expedition renewed - Aurangzib’s wrangles with the
Emperor.  An exaggerated account of the looting of Haidarabad
~had reached Delhi. It was also represented - to Shah - Jahan
probably by the: Golkonda envoy, that Aurangsib and his
sons: - had taken - costly presents  from Qutb Shah, -without
mentioning the * fact in his _despatches = of sefting - their price
off:from. the ribute .- due: Auramg‘zib, . on “his. bart, coniplaihed
that Shah Jahan had not hept “his momiaé as o sharing the ‘
- Gol tzonda indemnity with him; the entire Golkonda indemnity
has been mhen b\g “the Emperm and’ placed ‘in Daulatabad -
treasury. " How . can I repay . my -debt “fbr the “war ‘and. the

" arrears of “my. army, about 90" lakhs of Ripees?” The -



1656] MUGHAL RELATIONS WITH BIADUR 39

presents received from Golkonda had, he said, been
exageeraled into “chestloads of jewels” by malicious reporters
at the imperial Court.

Deace had been made with Golkonda, but one subject of
discord remained open. Qutb Shah wanted to heep the
Karnatal;, and with justice : it had been won by his servant
and formed part of his Ringdom. But Aurangzib objected,
saying that it was Mir Jumla’s personal jagic and referred
the matter to the Emperotr, who decided to hold the Karnatak
in his own hands as Mir Jumla's jagir, and Qutb Shah was
ordered to recall his officers from that province. But the
Golkonda officers were loth to vyield the rich prey. They
lingered there and threw every (difficulty in the path of the
Mughals in occupying and seftling the country,

L & 1. . Autangzib invades Bijapur, 1657,

In the &'Teign of Mubammad Adil Shah (1696—56) the
kingdom of Bijapur attained to its highest exient, power, and
magnificence. His dominion stretched from the Arabian Sea
to the Bay of Bengal, across the entite Indian Peninsula.
Ever since 1636, Muhammad Adil Shah had lived af peace
with the Emperor of Delhi, and we read of friendly exchanges
of presents between- the two Courls. This Sultan's good
name for piety, love of justice, and care for his subjects,—
which was heightened by a certain  simplicity of understanding
and ignorance of the world,—greatly pleased Shah Jahan.
Mir Jumla’s arrival at Delhi (7th Jaly, 1656) secured the
triumph of Aurangzib’s policy of aggression in the Emperor’s
council. With Mir Jumla dominating the Emperor's counsels
Butangzib confidently mafured the plan of invading Bijapur
on the expecied death of its reigning king.

On 4th November, 1656, Muhammad Adil Shah, the
seventh of the roval line of Bijapur, died. Through the efforts of
his chief minister Khan Muhammad and the Queen Bari Sahiba,
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the crown was placed on the head of Ali Adil Shah II, a
youth of 18 years, and the only son of the late king.
Anrangzib immediately wrote to Shah Jahan, urging an invasion
on the plea that Ali was not really a son of ithe deceased
Sulan, but a boy of obscure parentage whom Muhammad
Adil Shah had brought up in the harem. The death of
Mubhammad Adil Shah was followed by disorder in the
Karnatak ; the zamindars recovered much t{o their former
lands. At the capital things were even worse. The Bijapuri
nobles quarrelled with one another and wilh the prime
minister Khan Muhammad for the division of power. To
aggravate the evil, Aurangzib intrigued with them, and
succeeded in  corrupling several leading men of the Court
who promised their adhesion and prepared to desert to the
Mughal terrifory with  their tfroops. Aurangzib hoped to
seduce the olhers with the aid of Mir Jumla.

On 26th November, Shah Jahan sanctioned the invasion
and gave Aurangzib a free hand to “settle the affair of
Bapur in any way he thought fit” A force of 20,000
froopers, partly from the Court and parlly from the jagivs,
with a large staff of officers and Mir Jumla himself was
despatched to reinforce the army of Aurangzib. The war
thus sanctioned was wholly unrighteous, DBijapur was not a
vassal State, but an independent and equal ally of the
Mughal Emperor, and the latler had no lawful right to confirm
or question the succession at Bijapur. Mir Jumla arrived at
Aurangabad on 18th January, and that very day at the
auspicious hour chosen by the astrologers, the prince sel out
with him to invade Bijapur., On 928th February, he reached
the environs of Bidar, and laid siege to the fort on 9nd
March. Siddi Marjan offered a stout defence: he made
several sorties, and falling on the {renches tried {o arrest the
progress of the siede. But- the superior numbers of the
Mughals told in the end, and Mir Jumla’s fine train of ariillery
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did great damage to the fort walls ; two towers were demo-
lished and the batltlemenis of the lower-most wall as well as
ihe outer breast-works were levelled to the ground.

The dilch having been filled up, the assault was delivered
on 99th March. A spark from a rocket fired by the
Mughals fell into a chamber of gunpowder and grenades
behind the tower. There was a terrific explosion. Marjan
was mortally wounded with iwo of his sons and many of
his followers ; the exulling Mughals swarmed out of their
irenches and rushed into the city, driving the remnant of the
defenders back with fearful slaughter. Siddi Marjan from his
death-bed sent his seven sons to Aurangzib with the heys of
the fort..Thus, the stronghold of Bidar fell after a siege of 97
days only. Among the spoils of victory were 12 laghs of
Rupees in  cash, 8 lakfis worth of powder, shot, grain and
other stores, besides 230 pieces of cannon,

Aurangzib next sent a force of 15000 well mounted and
experienced froopers under Mahabat Khan, 1o punish the
assembled enemy and ravage the Bifapur territory up to
Kaliani in the west and Kulbarga in the south. This Mughal
detachment  encountered the enemy on 12th April. The
Bijapuris, numbering some 20,000, under their famous chiefs
Khan Muhammad, Afzal Khan, and the sons of Randaulah
and Raihan, began the aftack. Mahabat Khan Jike a good
general hept his men well in hand, amidst the ring of his
enemies and their distracting mode of altack; finally he
charged and the Bijapuris fled.

Forty miles west of Bidar, on the old road from the holy
shrine of Tuljapur fo Golkonda, stands the city of Kauiany,
the ancient capital of the Chalukya hkings and of the Kanarese
country. Aurangzib on 27th  April sel out with light kit and
arrived before Kaliani in a week’s fime. The place was
immediately invested. Day and night the gartison kept up a
ceaseless fire from ihe walls ; they made fierce onslaughts on
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Mir Jumla's trenches, but to no purpose. Once  Mahabat
Khan himself on escort duty was hemmed round by the
enemy at a place |0 miles north-east of Kaliani. The baltle
raged long and fiercely. The brunt of the baltle fell on the
Rajputs. The horsemen of Khan Muhammad burst in vain upon
the granite wall of Rao Chhatra Sal and his Hada clansmen.
Rajah Rai Singh Sisodia, assaulted by the sons of Bahlod
Khan of Bijapur, was wounded and unhorsed in the press
of the enemy. Just then relief arrived: a charge by
Mahabat Khan broke the enemy’s ranks and they fled..

While Aurangzib concentrated his efforts on pressing the
siege hard, a Bijapuri army 30000 strong assembled only
four miles from his camp. On 28th May, leaving a screen
of tents round the fort, the prince marched with the main
body of his troops upon the enemy's position. All divisions
of the two armics were endaged with their respective opponents,
The fight raged for six hours. The Deccanis kept up a
running fight; four tHmes in succession were they broken
and as often did they form again and face the advancing
Mughals. But at last the repeated charges of the heavily
armed northern horsemen prevailed in  the close fight ; the
Mughal army  crowded wupon the enemy from left and right
and scattered them finally ; the imperialists pursued them pell-
mell to thelr camp, slaving and capturing all that they could.
Everything found in the Bijapuri camp,—arms, slave-gitls,
horses, transport-catfle, and all kinds of property,—was
plundered. The siege was pressed with vigour, but the
defence by the Abyssinian Dilawwar was equally heroic. The
Bifiapuris bedan to assemble again in order to oppose the
Mughals. So, on 22nd July, Aurangzib sent a large division
under his eldest son and Mir Jumla to break up theit forces. This
Mughal corps advanced forty-eight miles, charged and broke
theit formation, and pursued them for four miles. The victors
proceeded, laying the Bijapuri villages waste, tp to Kulbarga,
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On 29th July, the imperialists scaled a tower on the other
side of the moat of Kaliani. The struggle here was most
obstinate.  But  the assailants swarmed inio the foit and held
this portion of the defences. On 1st August the keys of the
fort were delivered wp by Dilawwar, who was diven a
robe of honour with permission to go to Bijapur.

After the fall of Kaliani, the king of Bijapur opened
negotiations for peace. Bijapuri agents intrigued at Delhi and
secured the intercession of Dara with the Emperor. [t was
agreed that Adil Shah would cede to the Mughals the forls
of Bidar, Kaliani and Parenda with their dependent territories,
as well as a war-indemnity of one frote of Rupess. On
these terms Shah Jahan ordered Aurangzib to make peace
and to return with his army to Bidar, while the reinforcements
sent to the Deccan from Malwa and Northern India were
recalled {o their former posts. Thus Aurangzib received a
sharp check in the hour of his triumph ; he had gained only
the northern fringe of the wvast Bifapur kingdom when his
father cried halt o him. The Bijapuris profited by his distrac-
tion and weakened power and delayed and finally refused
to surrender Parenda.

To complete the misfortunes of the Mughal cause in the
Deccan, Shali Jahan fell il on 6th September and rumours
of his death spread through the empire. Aurangzib, harassed
by anxiety and distracted by conflicling plans, began his
retreat from Kaliani on 4th Oclober, 1657.



CHAPTER 1I

ILLNESS QF SHAH JAHAN AND REBELLION
QOF HIS S0NS.

§ 1. Spaf Jaban's eldest son Dara Sfukof,

+ On 7th March, 1657, Shah Jahan completed three decades
of Tis reign and began the 31ist year. The reign had been
as prosperous as it had been Jong. The ‘wealth of Ind’
under this Great Mughal dazszled the eves of foreign visitors,
and on gala davs ambassadors from DBukhara and Persia,
Turkey and Arabia, as well as travellers from France and
Haly, gazed with wonder at the Peacock Throne and the
Kohinur and other iewe]é.,;v The white marble edifices which
he loved to build were as costly as they were chaste in
design. The ncbles of the empire eclipsed the hkings of
other lands in wealth and pomp. The bounds - of the “pro-
fected empire” had been  stretched farther than in any
preceding reign. Within the couniry itsclf a profound peace
reigned. The peasantry were carefully cherished ; harsh and
exacting governoss were in many cases dismissed on the
complaint of the people. Wealth and prosperily increased
on all hands. A kind and vet wise master, Shah Jahan had
gathered round himself a band of very able officers, and
made his Court the cenire of the wit and wisdom of the
land. But one by one the great ministers and generals who
had contributed {o the glory of the reign were being removed
by the pitiless hand of Death. And, as the gianfs of old
passed away, the Emperor found no worlhy successors to
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them among the new faces and vyounger men about him.
He had already completed 67 lunar years (24 Jan. 1657).
What would happen after him ¢

Shah Jahan had four sons. All of them were past youth,
and all had gained experience as governors of provinces and
commanders of armies. But there was no brotherly love
among them. The ill-feeling between Dara and Aurangzib
in particular was so bitter and had continued growing bitlerer
for so many vyears past, that it was the talk of the whole
empgre, and peace had been maintained between them only
by keeping Aurangzib far away from the Court and his
cldest brother. Shah Jahan had given clear indications that
he wished to leave the crown to Dara, the eldest of his four
sons by ihe same mother. In order to lrain him in the
adminisiration of the empire and fo smooth the transfer of
the supreme authority to him, the Emperor had kept Dara
by his side for many years pasi, and allowed him to
govern his vicerovalties by deputies. At the same time the
Emperor bestowed on him rank and privileges which raised him
to an almost royal position. All had to buy or beg Dara's
mediation before they could approach the Emperot.

Dara was just turned of forty-two vears. He had taken
after his great-grandfather Akbar. In his thirst for pantheistic
philosophy he had studied the Talmud and the New Testament,
the wrritings of the Muslim Sufis, and the Hindu Vedanta.
Iis aim was to find a meeting-point for Hinduism and Islam
in those universal truths swhich form the common basis of all
trie religions and which fanatics are tov apt fo ignore in
their zeal for the mere externals of faith. Alike from the
Hinda yogi Lal-dds and the Muslim fogir Sarmad, he had im-
bibed his eclectic philosophy, and at the feet of both he had
sal as an atfentive pupil. But he was no apostaie irom
Islam. He had compiled a biography of Muslim saints, and
he had been initiated as a disciple of the Muslim saint Mian
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Mir, which no #afir could have been. The saintly Jahanara
also speaks of Dara as her opiritual preceptor. Dara’s own
words in  infroducing to the reader his theological works
clearly prove that he never discarded the essential dogmas of
Islam; he only displayed the eclecticism of the Sufis, a
recognized school of Islamic believers. [lowever, his coquetry
with Hindu philosophy made it impossible for him, even if he
had the inclination, to pose as the champic:n of orthodox and
exclusive  [slam, or o summon all Muslims to his banners
by proclaiming a holy war against the people beyond the
fold of the faith.

His father's excessive love did him a dislinct harm. He
was always kept al Court and never, except at the third
siece  of Qandahar, sent to conducl campaigns or administer
provinces. Thus, he never acquired experience in the arts of
war and government ; , he never learnt to judge men by the
crugial test of dangder and difficully ; and he lost touch with
the actve army. Hence, he was rendered unfit for that war of
uceession  which among the Mughals served as a practical test
tor the survival of the fittest. [lis unrivalled wealth and
influence were not likely to develop moderation, self-restraint,
or foresight in him, while the fulsome {fattery which he
received irom all must have agaravated the natural pride and
arrogance of an hew 1{o the throne of Delhi. Evidently he
was 1o judge of character. Men of ability and self-respect
must have kept away from such a vain and injudicious master,
Dara was a loving husband, a doting father, and a devoted
son ; but as a ruler of men in troubled fimes he must have
been a failure, Long continued prosperity had unnerved his
character and made him incapable of planning wisely, daring
boldly, and achieving strenuously,—or, if need be, of wrest-
ing viclory from the jaws of defeat by desperate eflort or
heroic endurance, Military organization and tactical combina-~
fion were beyond his power. And he had never learnt by

71
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practice how to guide the vaiying tides of a battle with the
coolness and judgment of a frue general. This novice in  the
ait of war was destined to meet a practised veleran as his
rival for the throne.

8 Q. llness cf Shab Jafan, 1657, and consequent
disorder in tfe empire,

On 6th September, Shah Jahan suddenly fell ill of strangury
and constipation at Delhi. For one week the royal physicians
toiled in vain. The malady wenl on increasing, The daily
darbar was stopped ; the Emperor even ceased to show his
face to the public from the balcony. Affery a week the
doctors  al last dot control over the malady. But the improve-
ment in the Emperor’s condition was slight, and so he decided
io go to Agra and die there quietly in sight of the tomb of
the wife he had loved so well. He entered Agra city on
96lh October.

During Shah Jahan's illness Dara conslantly watched by his
bed-side, and tended and nursed him most carefully, and
showed no indecent haste to secure the crown for himsell.
Early in the course of his illness, when Shah Jahan despaired
of recovery, he set himsell {o prepare for the next world.
Calling to his presence some confidenfial ‘courtiers and the
chief officers of the State, he made his last will before them
and ordered them to obey Dara henceforth as their sovereign,
Dara, however, did not assume the crown, but continued to
issie orders in his father’s name, while attempting to strengthen
his own position. lle removed Mir Jumla, the confidant and
parfisan of Aurangzib, from the wazir-ship (end of September)
and  sent ordgrs to Mir Jumla, Mahabat Khan and other
imperial officers to return fram the Deccan fo the Court with
iheir contingents.
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By the middle of November Shah Jahan had recovered
sufficiently to be told of important matters which had hitherto
been kept from him. One was that Shuja had crowned
himseli and was advancing from Bengal. With Shah Jahan's
consent an army, 22000 strong, was sent against him {(30th
November) under Sulaiman Shukoh (the eldest son of Dara)
and Mirza Rajah Jai Singh. Soon afterwards equally alarming
news arrived from Gujrat.  There Murad had crowned
himself on 5th December, and formed an alliance with
Aurangzib. So, about the end of this month two imperial
armies were despaiched from Agra into Malwa—one to
oppose the advance of Auwrangzib from the South and the
other to march into Gujrat and oust Murad from the province.
The first of these armies was placed under Maharajah Jaswant
Singh (of Marwar), who was appointed governor of Malwa
vice Shaista Khan recalled to Court. Qasim Khan was induced
to accept the command of the second army by being created
governor of Gujrat. Shah Jahan besought these generals to
spare the lives of his younger sons, to try at first to send
them back to their provinces by fair words if possible, other-
wise by a demonstration of force, and not, except in exireme
need, to resort fo a deadly batile.

During Shah Jahan's iliness Dara at first allowed none but one
or two ministers in his confilence to have access to the
Emperor. He also waiched the ferries and stopped all letters
and messengers going  to his brothers in Bengal, Gujrat  and
the Deccan, and kept their agenls at the imperial Court
under watch lest they should send any report to their masters,
Bul these precautions only wrought greater mischief, The
) princes and people in the dislant provinces nalurally concluded

from this stoppage of news that Shah Jahan was dead,
and all the confusion and disorder of a Mughal succession
broke out. Everywhere lawless men began to cause turnults,
the peasants refused 1o pay the revenue, the zamindars tried
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to rob or conquer their rivals, and the fronticrs were violated.
The local authorities were paralysed by uncerfainty and anxiety
about the future, and law and order suddenly disappeared in
many places.

No doubt, letters in Shah Jahan's hand and seal
rcached the princes assuring them of his recovery, but they
maintained that these were really written by Dara, an expert
imitator of Shah Jahan's handwriting, and that the late Emperor's
seal was necessarily in the po$session of the usurper!
The three younger brothers, therefore, very plausibly asserted
in tlheir letters to the Emperor that their loving minds had
been unsettled by these alarming rumours, and they were
marching on Agra to see their father with their own eyes and
satisly themselves as to his real condition.

§ 3. Murad Bakfisfi ctowns fiimself in Guyrat

Muhammad Murad Bakhsh, the youngdest son of Shah Jahan,
was the black sheep of the imperial family. He had been
tried in  Balkh, the Deccan, and Gujrat, and he had failed
everywhere. A foolish, pleasure-loving and impetdous prince,
his characler had not improved with age ; he had nol learnt
to apply himself to business or to bridle his passions. Worse
stil], he had not the gift of choosing capable agents. But
Murad possessed the rechless valour of a soldjer. Place him
in the feld of combat, and the martial spirit of Timur would
fire his blood, he would resistlessly force his way to close
grips with the enemy, and, amidsi the carnage raging round
him, forget every other feeling save the flerce delight of
slaughter, But his personal valour was a poor compensation
for his lack of generalship.

Knowing the prince’s incapacity, Shah Jahan had tried
to remedy the mischief by sending to him a very capable
and honest officer named Ali Nagi as his revenue minister

4
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and chief counsellor. Ali Nagis pure and vigilant
administration raised against him a host of enemies among
the flatterers and boon companions of the prince. A
conspiracy was soon formed by Murad’s favourite eunuch against
the hated minister. A letter in Ali Nagi’s hand and seal,
professing  adhesion io the cause of Dara, was forged and
given to a courier, who contrived to get himself arrested
by Muarad's road patrol, without betraying its real authorship.
Murad was revelling in his pleasure~garcden when the intercept-
ed lefter was brought to him a litle before dawn. The prince,
who had not slept off his night's debauch, burst into wrath
and ordered Ali Nagi to be dragged to his presence. Quiver-~
ing with pent-up wrath, he ran Ali Nagi through with his
spear, shouting, “Wretch | in spite of all my favours you have
turned such a traitor !”

Murad was enlisting troops in large numbers and needed
money badly. So he sent an eunuch named Shahbaz Khan
with 6,000 troopers and war material to levy contribution from
the rich port of Surat. The unwalled city was easily occupied
and looted, Under the guidance of some Duich artificers
Shahbaz Khan ran mines under the wall of the fort of Surat,
and by exploding one 'of them forced the place to surrender
(o0th December). Murad thus gained all the guns and accu-
mulated {reasures of Surat, besides {aking a forced loan of
five lakfs of Rupees from two of the richest merchants.

[n the meantime, soon after receiving the news of Shah
Jahan's serious illness, Murad and Aurangzib had opened a
confidential correspondence with each other by means of trusty
messengers. They also wrofe to Shuja inviting his co-operation
against Dara, but the long distance prevented their forming
any deflnite or working agreement. Belween Murad and
Aurangzib, however, a plan of concerted aclion was soon
matured, From the very beginning Murad placed himself undet
Aurangzib’s guidance, But he was too impetuous. After his
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success at Sural, he publicly crowned himself as Emperor under
the title of Maruwwaj-ud-din (3th December). In letter after
letter we find Murad all fire and haste, while Aurangzib is
cold and hesilating.

Murad proposed that the brothers should march at once
from the South and aftack Dara before he had time fo con-
solidale his power and to win over the captains of the imperial
army posted far and near. Aurangzib pressed him not to take
any compromising step or sef up the banner of revolt openly,
but to wait, to dissimulate, and to send hollow {riendly letters
fo Dara, till they should know for cerfain that Shah Jahan was
dead. Burangzib had suggested to Murad that a diversion
should be made against Dara by instigating the Petsians and
Uszbaks to invade Afghanistan, which was then a province of
the Mughal empire. Murad, thetefore, wrole to the king of
Dersia reporting the rumour of Shah Jahan's death and begging
armed aid from him. The latler wanted fo wait and wverify the
news,

A solemn treaty for the parfiion of the empire on the
following terms was drawn up by Aurangzib, sworn to
on the Quran, and sent to Murad :

() Murad was to hold the Papjab, Afghanistan, Kashmir
and Sindh and reign over them as an independent king. The
rest of the Mughal dominions was to belong to Aurangzib.

(i) One-third ot the prize of war was to belong to Murad
and two-thirds to Aurangzib.”

His preparations being now complete, Murad set out from
Ahmadabad on 25th February 1658 and effected a junction
with Aurangzib’s forces at Dipalpur in Malwa on 14th April

* These terms are cleaily given in Aurangzib's own letter (Adab-i-Alamaid, p, 78,
his officer Aqil Khan Rasi's history (p. 29), and the Taskivat-us-salatin-us~cliaghlaia,
{hus refuting Bernier’s absurd story that Aurangzib promised to give the entirg empire
to Murad while he himself would go lo Mecea  as a darvisfi (Haeralii) after overs
throwing the infidel Dara,
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8 1. Aurangzil’s anxieties and policy on the eve of the
War of Succession.

From 4th October 1657, when Aurangsib refired from
the war with Bijapur, to 25th January 1658, when hc began
his march towards Hindustan as a claimant to the throne, he
passed through a most anxious and critical time. Events
which he could not possibly control were moving fast.®

His present position was daily growing more untenable,
while the future was ominous. But the difficulties, great and
complex, which he overcame raise to the highest pitch our
admiration {or his coolness, sagacity, power of managing men,
and diplomatic skill.

The news had got out that the Emperor had ordered peace to
be made and recalled the additional froops sent to the Deccaﬁ'j\
Thus a cruel fate threatened to snateh away from*Aurangzib’s
grasp the fruits of his long and costly war with Bijapur, just
when he was about to taste them. Aurangzib, therefore, deter-
mined lo play a game of boldness in order to realize the terms
of the treaty before the DBijapuris could recover from their
recent defeats or learn of the full extent of the weakness and
distraction of the imperial Government.

But this policy of facing round to Bijapur and making
military demonstrations in the South had its drawbacks too. The
longer Aurangzib delayed in maturing his plans for confesting
the throne, proclaiming himself a claimant, and marching on
Hindustan, the greater was the fime that Dara would gain for
recalling the chiet captains from the Deccard, winning over
officers and men far and near, consolidaling his own power,
and coffectually counteracting Aurangzib’'s possible designs., [f,
on the other I1a13d, Aurangzib concentrated his forces, made a
public claim to the thrope, marched northwards and openly -
bx:oi:ze with the imperial Government by enlisting troops,—then
be would, no doubt, check Dara in time, he would secure U}%%
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adhesion of ambitious adventurers. But at the same tinv  all
hope of getting Parenda or the promised indemnity would be
gone, and his other enemies in the South would raise their
heads ; the fruits of the last iwo vears’ warfare in the Deccan
wotld be totally lost to him.

Aurangzil's letters, preserved in the Adab-i-Alamgiri, tell
the story of how the hope of a speedy setllement with
Bijapur daily grew fainter and fainter, how he tried diverse
means to get the promised territory and money, how he
conceded to Bijapur one by one the hard terms wrung out of
it by the tireaty,—till at last, in despair of geting anvthing
from Bijapur, he gave up all thought of the South, and turned
his undivided attention and resources to the pursuit of his
schemes in Northern India.

Leaving Kaliani on 4th October 1657, Aurangsib reached
Bidar in five days, This fort was repaired and propetly
garrisoned and provisioned. On the 18th of the month he
resumed his refreat march and acrived at Aurangabad on  the
11th November. As soon as he left Bidar, there was the greatest
rejoicing in the Deccani kingdoms; here were the Mughals
abandoning their late conquests as untenable { He had sent
Mir Jumla to the Darenda district (28th Sept) to get delivery
of that fort in terms of the treaty. Bul the hope of getting
Parenda and the Bijapur indemnity grew fainter and fainter,
in spite of all the efforts of Mir Jumla, and at last that general
refurned baffled to Aurangabad (Ist January 1658).

As early as 28th October Aurangzib had taken a wvery
necessary precaution by sending a force to seize all the ferries
of the Narmada and prevent correspondence between Dara
and the imperial officers in the Deccan. But what line of
action was he to adopt now ¢ His followers were looking up
to him to declare his policy, but a decision at this stage was
most difficult to make and beset with daggers. The news from
the imperial Court was conflicting, Shah Jahan's exact condition
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could not be known with certainty, and for many weeks
Aurangzib lived in the greatest distraction ; and so did his
followers.

Aurangzib had from the first decided not to raise the
banner of rebellion before knowing for certain that Shah Jahan
was dead. But the quick march of events forced his hand.
Dara’s plan with regard to the South’was now fully unfolded :
he had induced the helpless Shah Jahan to remove Murad from
the viceroyalty of Gujrat and to transfer the subaf of Berar
from Aurangzib to Murad, so as to mahke the two brothers
quarrel. Further, Dara had sent (wo armies against his two
brothers in the South (close of December) and recalled Shaista
Khan (a strong supporter of Aurangzib) from his province of
Malwa to the Court, while Mir Jumla now received an
imperial letter of recall from Aurangzib's side which it would
bave been flat rebellion tfo disregard. Similar letters reached
Aurangzib’s officers

§ 5. Aurangaib’s preparations for contesting tfhe Ifirone.

The time for action had at last arrived, if Aurangzib hoped
ever to be hing or even lo live in freedom. His mind was
made up early in January 1658, and he took rapid and
decisive steps. First, Mir Jumla was arrested by collusion with
him, lodged in mock caplivity in Daulatabad fort, and all his
property and excellent artillery sefzed by Aurangzib in the
name of the State. The prince gave out as the ostensible
reason for this acl, that Mir Jumla was in secret infrigue with

the two Deccani Sultans against the Emperor | He next wrote |

to Shah Jahan and the new waszir Jafar Khan to the effect
i}la‘c his loving heart had been dislracted ' by hearing sad
rumours about Shah fahan, and that like a dufiful son he was

going to Agra to see his father in his ﬂlnegls,(release him from.

Dara’s control, and v;cﬁhereby save the empire from alarm,
confusion and tumult.

w

-
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Letters were written to Qutb Shah pressing him to pay up
the balance of his war indemnity, and the Mughal envoy at
the Golkonda Court was ordered to behave gently to that
king, and to induce him to do nothing unfriendly to
the Mughal interests during Aurangzib's proposed absence
from the Deccan. Friendly epistles and presents were sent
to the Queen Mother (Bari Sahiba) of Bijapur, urging
her to expedite the payment of the promised money and
to keep the Bffapuris quiet during his absence. Still later,
a very tempting offer was made to Adil Shah by Aurangzib,
as the price of his friendliness : “Remain loyal and keep
your promises . . . I agree that (1) the fort of Darenda and
its dependent territory, the Konkan, and the mafial of Wangi,
which have been annexed to the empire, together with
that portion of the Karnatak which had been granted to the late
Adil Shah,—should be left to you as before, and (2) out of
your promised indemnity of one #£rore of Rupees, thirty lakhs
are remitted. Protect this country ; improve its  adminisiration.
Expel Shiva who has sneaked into the possession of some forls
of the land. Do you send me at least 10,000 cavalry. [ shall
grant you all the terrilorry up to the bank of the Banganga.”

All this ime Aurangzib was intriguing actively but in secret
with the courtiers of the capital and the high officers in the
provinces (especially Malwa). Of all the four sons of Shah
Jahan he had the best reputation for capacity and experience.
All  seli-seeking nobles and officers recognized him as the
coming man, and hastened to secure their future by doing him
friendly turns, or at least by sending him secret assurances of
their supporl. 1

The enlisting of new soldiers had been going on  apace.
Large quanlities of salipetre, sulphur and lead were bought
for making munitions, while the gunpowder and fuses in the
Deccan forts were taken away for the advance on Delhi In
this way Aurangsit's army was swollen fo 30,000 picked



56 SHORT HISTORY OF AURANGZIB [en. 10T

{roopers, besides Mir Jumla's excellent Irain of cannon served
by English and French guaners.

Aurangzsib was even stronger in officers than in men and
material. During his rule of the Deccan he had gathered
round himself a band of very able servants, all attached 1o him
by gratifude and some by personal affection. They did him
signal service during the contest tor the throne. Such were
Murshid Quli Khan, the diwan, Shaikh Mir, the warrior and
confidential adviser, Agil Khan Razi, the equerry and personal
attendant, Qabil Khan, the facile and trusty secretary, Khan~
i-Zaman, the energetic Inspector of Ordnance, Muhammad Tahir,
a veteran caplain raised to tHe peerage as Wazir Khan, the
faithful envoy Isa Beg (created Mukhlis Khan), the highborn and
experienced Shams-ud-din Mukhtar Khan, and above all that
jewel of a servant, Mir Jumla, great in war, grealer still in
counsel. Among his most devoted Hindu followers were Rao
Karan of Bikanir, Subh-Karan the Bundela (of Datia), and Rajah
Indramani of Dhamdhera.

Before leaving the Deccan Aurangzib took steps to maintain
his hold on the country during his absence. DPrince Muazzam
was left at Aurangabad with two high officers and a strong
force to carry on the government,_ while Aurangzib’s harem
was placed in the neighbouring fort of Daulatabad.

At last, on 5th February 1658, Aurangzib slarted from
Aurangabad to contest the throne. Burhanpur was reached on
the 18, and here a month’s halt was made in order to
complete the organizalion of his army and other preparations.
Leaving Burhanpur on 90th March, he arrested and put in
prison his father-in-law Shah Nawaz Khan, who persisted in his
loyalty to Shah Jahan (96th March). The Narmada was
crossed at Akbarpur, without the least opposition (Brd April),
and then while marching northwards to Ujjain, he learnt on the
15th, near Dipalpur (some 26 miles south of Ujjain), that
Murad bhad arrived a few miles west of him. Next day the
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two brothers joined their forces near the lake of Dipalpur.
laswant was only one day’s march in front of him. In the
evening the princes encamped at the village of Dharmat (14
miles s. 5. w. of Ujjain), on the western bank of the Gambhira,
an affluent of the Chambal river, Next day the great war of
Mughal Suceession began.
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CHAPTER IV
WAR OF SUCCESSION ¢ AURANGZIB TRIUMDPHS.
§ 1. Jaswant at Dfarmat ; fis difficulties.

Reaching Ujjain with his army at the end of February
1658, Jaswant was quite in the dark about Aurangzib’s inten-
tions and movements, so strictly did that prince watch the
roads and ferties of the Narmada river. The first news
that he oot of Aurangzib was that the prince was already in
Malwa and rapidly marching on Ujjain,

In utter perplexity Jaswant advanced fourteen miles south~west
of Ujiain and encamped opposite Dharmat, fo block the path of
the enemy coming up from the south. Here another startling
news reached him : Murad had joined Aurangzib (14th April)
and the two were within a day’s march of him.

Jaswant had come to Malwa in the hope that the mere
prestige of the imperial banners would send the rebellious
princes back lo their provinces, and that all that he would
have to undertabe was a mere demonsiration of force. Now,
when toc lale, he realized that his adversaries were in deadly
earnest and ready to fight to the bitter end.

Jaswant was severely handicapped by Shah Jahan’s instruc-
tions to send the iwo rebellious princes back to their own
provinces with as liftle injury to them as possible, and to fight
them only as a last resource. While Aurangzib followed his
own judgment only, knew his own mind, Jaswant was hesitat-
ing, distracted by the conflict between the instructions from
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Agra and the exigencies of the actual military situation in
Malwa, and entirely dependent for his own line of action on
what his opponents would do.

His army, too, was an ill-knit eroup of discordant elements.
The various Rajput clans were often divided from each other
by hereditary feuds and quarrcls about dignity and precedence.
Then, again, there was the standing aloofness between Hindus
and Muhammadans. 1t had been found next to impossible to
brigade these creeds together for a campaign under one general,
There was no unity of command in the imperial army
assembled at Dharmat, because Qasim Khan's orders were to
co-operate with Jaswant and not to act as his subordinate.
Several of the Muslim officers, moreover, were secretly friendly
to Aurangzib ; for we find thatin the ensuing battle twenty-four
Rajput chiefs and only one Muhammadan general were killed
on the Emperot's side. Qasim Khan and his men hkept
themselves out of harm’s way in the battle and the full brunt
of it fell on the Rajputs,

Finally, jaswant as a general was no mafch for Aurangzib ;
his faulty plan and conduct of the battle proves his inexpe-
rience and hot-headedness. He chose his ground badly and
so cramped his men that the hotsemen could not mancauvre
freelv mor gather momentum for a charge ; he failed to send
timely succour 1o the divisions that needed it most, and, the
batle once begun, he lost control over his forces as if he
were a mete divisional leader and not the supreme commander
of all. Lastly, he made the fatal mistake of despising artillery,

Evidently Jaswant's plan was to skirt the enemy's artillery
and come to close quarters with their lroops, disregatding the
gun-fire’ during the first few minutes of the wild gaflop. Buat
when the baftle began, the Rajputs were penned within a
narrow space with ditches and entrenchments “on  their flanks,
and subjected to a deadly fire before they could spread out
for a charge. Secondly, after they had passed by the enemy’s
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artillery and engaged Aurangzib's froops, the French and
English gunners of the prince quickly turned their guns sideways
and began to mow down the Rajputs in their new position.
It was fruly a contest between swords and gunpowder, and
artillery triumphed over cavalry.

§ 2. Battle of Dfiarmal.

The two armies were almost equally matched and numbered
a little over 35,000 men each, though Aurangzib’s force was
immensely superior in cohesion and artillery.

Two hours after sunrise on the 15th of April, the rival hosts
sighted each other. Aurangzib’s army advanced slowly upon
the imperialist  position, hkeeping its regular formation, and
began fo shoot down the Rajputs densely packed in columns
without space to manceuvre freely. The Rajput losses began
to mount up every minute. Then their vanguard, led by
Mubkund Singh Hada, Ratan Singh Rathor, Dayal Singh Jhala,
Arjun Singh Gaur, Sujan Singh Sisodia and others, with their
choicest clansmen, galloped forward., Shouting their war-cry
of Ram ! Ram ! “they fell on the enemy like tigers, casting
away all plan” The flood of Rajput charge first burst on
Aurangzib’s artilery. The guns and muskets fired at point-
blank range, woefully thinned their ranks, but so impetucus
was their onset that it bore down all opposilion. Murshid Quli
Khan, the Chief of Artillery, was slain after a heroic resistance
and his division was shaken ; but the guns were not damaged,
The artillerymen probably fled before the storm, and returned as
soon as it passed away. Victorious over the arlillery guard,
the assailants fell on the front part of Aurangzib’s vanguard;
Here an obstinate hand4o-hand combat raged for some time.
The Rajputs, flushed with success, swept onward and pierced
into the heart of Aurangzib’s vanguard, This was the most
critical moment of the day ; if the Rajput charge were not
checked, all would be over with Aurangzib,
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But this front division of the prince’s army was composed
of his most picked troops, 8000 mail-clad warriors, and their
gencrals were reliable men, who, secated on their elephants,
kept their ground firmly like hills while the flood of Rajput
charge raged round and round them in eddies. Here the most
stubborn and decisive fighting of the day tooh place, and “the
ground was dyed crimson with blood like a tulip bed” The
force of Rajpul impact was divided and weakencd when it
struck the dense mass of Aurangzib’s vanguard.

Only a few men from Jaswant's cenire and advanced
reserve had moved up to support their brethren thus struggling
in front ; the Mughal troops under Qasim Khan rendered no
assistance. Thus, the charge of Jaswant's vanguard was not
followed up ; Aurangzil’s troops, who had parted before the
rushing tide, closed again behind them, and cut off their retreat.
By this time the watchful eve of Aurangzib had taken the
situation in, his advanced reserve had been pushed up to
reinforce the wvan, and he himself moved forward with the
centre to form a wall of support and refuge close behind
them. Above all, Shaikh Mir and Saf Shikan Khan with the
right and left wings of the centre slruck the Rajputs in the wraist
from the lwo flanks, while they were engaged with Aurangzib’s
van in front. All the six Rajput chieftains engaged in the charge
were slain.  Hopelessly outnumbered now, assailed in front, right,
and left, and cut off from their rear, the Rajputs were slaughtered
after performing frantic deeds of valour.

Meantime, the action had become general. Recovering from”
the shock of Mukund Singh's charge as soon as the Rajput
cavalcade swept on lo another point, Aurangsib's gunners, with
their pieces mounted on high ground, concentrated their fire
on the enemy's centre under Jaswant himself,

The imperialists, crowded together on a natrow ground
flanked with impassable ditches and swamps, could not
manceuvre freely, and “sacrificed their lives like moths in the



o2 SHORT HISTORY OF AURANGZIB e IV

e

flame of war. At the sight of the annihilation of their brave
vanguard and a triumphant forward movement on the part of
Aurangzib, Rai Singh Sisodia from the right flank of Jaswant’s
centre, and Sujan Singh Bundela and Amar Singh  Chandrawat
from his van, left the field with their clansmen and returned
home.

Meantime, Murad Bakhsh with his division had {allen on
Jaswant’s camp, close to the field, secured the submission of one
of its defenders, Devi Singh Bundela, and driven off the rest.
Then advancing into the field itself, Murad fell on the Ileft
wing of the imperial army, and it soon ceased to exist, after
losing its commander Iftikhar Khan.

§ 3. Flighit of Jaswant and fis lroops.

Rai Singh's flight had already uncovered Jaswant's right
flank ; the fall of Iftikhar Khan exposed his left. Meanfime his
van had almost entirely melted away ; the Musalmans, under
Qasim Khan, who had kept aloof from the fighting, prepared
to run away as they saw Aurangzib’s host advancing on them.
And now Aurangzib from the {ront, Murad from the left, and
Saf Shikan Khan from the right, were converging on Jaswanl
fike a tumultuous flood, to envelop his small remnant of
clansmen. The Mabarajah, who had received two wounds,
wanted to drive his horse into the advancing enemy’s
ranks and get slain. But his generals and ministers seized
his bridle and dragged his horse out of the fleld, and
iook the road to Jodhpur, The battle had been already lost,
and after the flight of the Rathors there was a general rout.
But there was no pursult ; victor and vanquished alike were
worn out by the strife, and there was a rich prize at hand.
The entite camp of the two impetial generals,~—with all their
artillery, tents, elephants and treasure, became the victorious
princes’ spoil, while their soldiers looted the baggage and
equipment of the vanquished army.
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But far greater than all these material gains was the moral
prestige secured by Aurangzib. Dharmat became the omen
of his future success. Al one blow he had brought Dara
down from a position of immense superiority fo one of
equality with his own, or even lower. Waverers hesitated no
longer ; they now knew beyond a moment's doubt which of
the four brothers was the chosen favourite of Victory.

No sooner had Jaswant and Qasim Khan turned their backs
than Aurangzib’s band struck up the notes of victory -
Aurangzib knelt down on the field and with folded arms
rendered thanks to the Giver of Victory.

On the imperial side nearly six thousand men fell in this battle,
and the main porlion of the loss was borne by the Rajputs.
Every clan of Rajasthan contributed its share to the band of
heroes who sacrificed their lives in their master's service
(swami-dfiarma). To Ratan Singh Rathor (the prodenitor of the
houses of Rutlam, Sailana and Sitamau) a noble stone monu~
ment was raised by his descendants on the spot where his
corpse was burnt.

§ 4. Auwrangzib advances to Agea.

The day after the victory the two princes reached Ujjain
and marching thence arrived at Gwalior on 21st May. [t was
here learnt that Dara had come to Dholpwr with a vast army
and seized all the well-hhown and frequented fords over the
Chambal river. His enfrenchments frowned on the crossing
places ; his artillery crowned lhe opposite bank ; and every-
where strong parties of his troops were on the alert for the
enemy’s arrival. To cross the river with its steep rocky banks
and wide ravine-intersected approaches, in  the face of
such oppositon, would have led to a heavy loss of life,
So Aurangzib secured the help of a logal zamindar and learnt
Thét:m ‘at Bixadaoli, 40 miles east of Dholpur, there was an
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obscure ford with only knee-deep water, which Dara had
omitted to guard.

No time was to be lost. In the very evening after their arrival
near Gwalior (@1st May), while the main army halted, a strong
division under three generals and some artillery made a forced
match all night, reached the lord next morning, and crossed
safely to the other bank. That day Aurangzib himself set out
from Gwalior, covered the interval in two long marches and
crossed the river al the same place with the rest of his army
(25rd Mav). “The path was rough, the soldiers underwent much
hardship before arriving at the ford ; and on the way nearly
5000 men died of thirst” The military advantage of the
movement was immense. By one stroke he had turned the
enemy’s position and rendered Dara’s elaborate trenches and
batteries useless. The road to Agra now lay open before him.
It is now Dara’s turn to abandon the line of the Chambal and
fall back on the capital. He had to leave many of his
heavier guns on the river bank, and thus weakened himself in
artilery in the next baflle. From the Chambal the victors
marched north and in three days came in louch with the
enemy near Samugarh, about ten miles east of Agra.

§ 5. Dara’s movements after Dharmat

The news of the defeat at Dharmat reached the imperial
Court, then at Baluchpur, ten days after the baffle. Dara

in appearance only, being 60,000 troopers in number. But
it was composed of a miscellaneous host of diverse clasjs‘es
and localities, hastily got together, and not properly co~
~ordinaled nor Irained in concerted acton. Moreover, many
of its commanders were carpel-knights of the Court, having
neither the courage nor the cxperience of the veterans from
the Deccan. Dara had made the fatal mistake of sending
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away his trustiest adherents and ablest lieutenants voith
Sulaiman Shukoh to oppose Shuja and now felt sore need
of such efficient instruments. The foreign Muslim soldiers in
the imperfal service resented Dara’s reliance on the Rajpuis
and left him to his fate. And he was also hampered by
Shah Jahan. Even now the Emperor wurged him to avoid
war ; he slill fondly hoped that the quarrel among his sons
could be peacefully ended by diplomatic messages.

On 18th May, Dara left with his troops for the bank ot
the Chambal, after a most pathetic leave-taking from his aged
father in the Diwan-i-am of Agra fort. He reached Dholpur
on the 29nd of the month, and seized all the fords over the
Chambal in the neighbourhood. His aim was to retard
Aurangzib's  advance without precipitating a battle and thus
gain time for Sulaiman Shukol's atmy to  join  him, But he
soon learnt to his consternation that Aurangzib had crossed
the river forly imiles east of Dholpur, on the 23rd.  So, he fell
back towards Agra and encamped oulside that city near
Samugarh, where Aurangsib artived on the 28th.

That day, Dara on hearing of Aurangzib’s approach, drew
up his troops and rode ouf as if to fight. But after sighting
the enemy he halted, walting to see what his rivals would
do. At sunset he returned to his camp. T was a most
unwise step; Awangzib was numerically inferfor and his
froops were worn out by a ten mile march in the sun over
a waterless dusty  plain, while Dara’s army was fresh. Dara’s
soldiers and iheir horses and elephants were prostrated by
the exireme heat in which they stood hour after hour doing
nothing, while the prudent Aurangzib tested his men all thal
evening and night for the morrow’s contest,

8 6. Bultle of Samugart, 204 May, 1658

Next morning,. 29th. May, Dara marshalled his ranks op, a
wide plain two miles in front of his camp. His forces

3
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numbered about 30,000. Its backbone was composed of the
Liajput confingent and Dara’s own refainers, all devoted to
his interests. But nearly half of his army belonged to the
Emperor's service, and these men could not be rclied on ;
sevetal of their chiefs, notably Khafilullah Khan had been
corrupted by Aurangszib. All the artillery of Dara was drawn
up in one row along his entire front ; behind it stood his
foot musheteers, next the elephants, and last of all dense
masses of cavalry. Dara’s arfillery was less mobile and more
inefficiently served than Aurangzib’s, Ind his horses and
transport animals were out of condition.

In opposition to this host stood Aurangzib’s hard-bitten
troops, seasoned veterans on seasoned horses, and his
excellent frain of field-pieces handled by the FEuropean
gunners of Mir Jumla and well supplied with munitions. There
was absolute unity of command in his army, and all the
officers had been taught to obey without hesitation or question
that master will.

The batfle joined about noon. Dara al once took up the
offensive and discharged all his artillery, making a fearful
noise but doing litle damage to the enemy at thal long range ;
Aurangzib wiselv reserved his powder ancd shot

An hour passed in this kind of cannonade, and then
Dara ordered a charge. His left wing was led by Rustam Khan.
Filing out through the spawcme;sw between his quns, it formed a
mass and attacked the opposing arfillery with flashing blades
and wild baftle-cries. Aurangzib’s chief of artillery, Saf Shikan
Khan, and the musketeers behind his guns stood their ground
well and received the charge with one deadly volley from
the guns and a shower of bullets, arrows, and javefins. The
flood of onset could not reach and overwhelm the guns ;
its speed slackened as the cannon balls ploughed up ils
ranks. So Rustam Khan swerved to his right hand in search
of an easier prey, and galloped towards Aurangzib's van,
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leaving a cloud of dust behind. But Bahadur Khan with the
right flank of Aurangsib’s cenfre had hwried up to the front
into the gap belween the van and the aillery, and barred
the path of Rustam Khan. A close hand to hand combat
now ensued; Bahadur Khan fell down wounded, and his
division seemed at the point of being 1touted, when Islam
Khan came to its aid from the richt wing and Shaikh Mir
with the advanced reserve. It was now the turn of Rustam
Khan to be outnumbered and borne down. Mortally wound-
ed in his arm, with a dozen other desperate men he
hewed his way to the cenire of the enemy’s ranks and there
fell amidst a heap of the slain. The small remnant of Dara’s
left wing now tled back under Sipihr Shukoh.

At the same time a more terrible fight was being waged
on Aurangzit’s left. There the Rajpuls of the imperial van-
guard under Chhaira Sal Hada slipped through the interval
between Zulfigar's arfillery and Murad’s division and fell
upon thal prince with flerce vigour, thus driving a wedge
which separated Murad from  Aurangzib's army. Rajah
Ram Singh Rathor, wearing the gay vyellow robe of Holi
and with a string of priceless pearls tied to his turban, fell
on Murad’s elephant, crying out in derision, “You wani to
wrest the throne from Dara 1”7 Shouting to the driver to make
the elephant kneel down if he valued his life, the Rajah flung
his spear at Murad, but it missed the aim, and the prince shot
him dead with an arrow. Other Rajputs fell as they swarmed
round Murad’s elephant, and with their robes “made the
ground look vyellow like a field of saffron!” The Rajput
horsemen could not reach the prince on his lofty elephant ;
but Murad received three wounds in his face ; his driver was
hilled, and the Aawda of his elephant bristled with arrows like
ihe back of a porcupine ; he was borne backwards by this
onslaught.

The victorious Rajputs pressed on to the cenire and fell on
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Auranszib, who was hastening to the aid of Murad on hearing
of the disaster on his left. The clash between these two
powerful forces was terrible. The Rajputs forced their way
to Aurangzib himself, but that prince’s guards offered an oppo-
sition equally heroic, and being themselves fresh they prevaited
over the Rajputs who were worn out and thinned in number
by the struggle with Murad. Vet lhe Rajpuls fought on against
overwhelming odds “in utter contempt of fife” But one by
one all their leaders fell—Chhatra Sal Hada, Ram Singh
Rathor, Bhim Singh Gaur and Shivatam Gaur. But the
remnant only made a more frantic struggle, “like 1avening dogs,”
as a FEuropean eve-witness describes the scene. Rajah Rup
Singh Rathor in reckless audacity jumped down from his horse,
with his drawn blade heweda way to the elephant of Aurangszib,
and fried to cut the girths of the fawde in the hope of
hurling the prince down fo the ground. [le slashed the beast's
leg, but was himself cul to pieces by the ‘body-guard. The rest
of the Rajputs perished. Thus both the lefl and right wines
of Dara had been annihilated by this time.

§ 7. Dwd’s own movements at Samugarf ; lhe end,

th the very beginning of the balle, as soon as Rustam
Khan and Chhatra Sal had charged with his left wing and van,
Dara quitted his position in the centre, rode through his
Tartllery, and wenl towards Aurangsib’s right wing in order fo
support Rustam  Khan, No more fatal mistake could have
been committed. Dara could no longer survey the whole field
and control his {roops as their supreme leader ; and at once
evervthing fcll into confusion. Secondly, by advancing in
front of his artillery he obstructed ifs fire, while Aurangzib’s
guns continued to mow down his ranks without any chance of
reply, This mistake ruined Dara more than all other causes put
Jogether. Dara now  turned to the right in order to avoid the
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enemy’s arfillery in front of him, and fell upon Shaikh Mitr's
clivision.

Just then Aurangzib was left without any guards. [f Dara
could now have forced his way to his rival’s side, the victory
would have been his. “But he made a short hall, owing to
the difficulties of the ground and to the fatigue that overcame
him.” His force lost its growing momentum, and the vigour
of its onslaught greatly slackened, and the golden chance was
lost for ever. For, in the meantime Aurangzib had dressed his
ranks and made new dispositions, and Dara was soon after-
wards called upon to abandon his forward movement siraight
on his rival's clephant and to turn aside towards his own right
wing in order to back the troops of Chhatra Sal. Thus Dara
made a long movement across his entire front from the
exireme left fo near the extreme right. The frightfu}l heal struchk
down his men and horses during this unprofitable manceuvre,
while the artillery stationed in the enemy’s front fired volleys
straight into his left flank. The men with him were exhausted
by this long and toilsome march over loose burning sand,
amidst suffocaling dust, and under a blazing sun which made
their armour blisler the skin, while not a drop of water could
be had 1o quench their thirst.

Meantime, Aurangzib's vanguard, ipn obedience to his rigid
digcipline, had kept its proper position. But now seeing Dara’s
two wings and van overthrown and his centre in disorder and
out of its proper place, Prince Muhammad Sultan, at the head
of hls father's van, sprang forward to attack Dara. At the
same fime Aurangeit’s victorious right wing wheeled round to
envelop Dara’s division, while the batterfes from the right
and left alike assailed it. This was really the end of the fight.
Dara had learnt of the dealth of his best generals, and now
Aurangzib's troops, “like the waves of the sea, approached
him with countless guns in front of them,” Their heavy and
well-directed fire mowed down the froops still around him every
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minute. Dara’s own elephant now became “a target for the
enemv's  balls”  which began to carty off his personal
attendants. The wretched prince had no  help but to get down
from this elephant and take horse. Af once all was over
with  him. His remaining troops all over the field, find
ing his nawdo emply, concluded that their master had fallen,
Already they were half dead with fatigue and thirsl, and now
a desolating hot wind sprane up and shruck Dara’s fainting
troops in the face. Manv of them died of thirst, without
strength to use their arms. What still remained of the imperial
army had been only waiting for a decent pretext for flight,
and the sudden disappearance of Dara from the back of his
elephant gave them the wished for opportunity. At once (he
whole army broke and fled in the utmost disorder. Dara
stood almost alone, deserted by all save a few hereditary
followers. They took him out of the field to Agra.

The last frace of resistance now vanished ; bul there was
no pursuit. Nor was any pursuit needed, for no victory could
be more complele. On the side of the vanquished ren thou-
sand men had fallen, besides horses and transport  animals
beyond count.  Among the slain impetial commanders of high
rank, nine Rajputs and nineteen Muslims are mentioned by
name.

Bravest among so many brave men was Rao Chhalra Sal
Hada, the chieftain of Bundi and the hero of fifty<two  fights,
“With his Hadas clad in their saffron robes, the ensigns of
aeath or viclory, the Bundi prince formed the vanguard of
Dara. Cheering on his men, he mounted his elephant, but

¥ That Dara dismounted fiom his elephant at a time of extreme danger, when
he had lost all hope of victary, is assecled by 4. N (108, Aqil (48), Masum (638), and
Kambu (15a), These contemporary and fiest-rate anthoritivs refute the bazar dossip
teproduced by Manucei and Bernler that Dara changed his eluphant for a horse at
the freacherous advice of Khalilullah Khan at time when he bhad almost compleiely
defealed Aurangzib, and that this acl on the patt of Dara  turned his assmed victory
into a rout. (Sforiz, 1 981-982; Bernter, 53-84, also Ishwardas, 245.95a,)
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whilst encouraging them by his voice and example, a cannon-
ball hitting his elephant, the animal turned and fled. Chhatra
Sal leaped from his back and called for his steed, exclaiming
“My elephant may turn his back on the encmy, but pever
shall his master.”” Mounting his horse, and forming his men
into a dense mass, he led them tothe charge against Prince Murad
whom he singled out, and had his lance balanced for the
issue, when a ball plerced his forehead.” In the two battles
of Dharmat and Samugarh no less than twelve princes of the
blood, together with the head of every Hada clan, gave up
their lives.

The most renowned viciim of the day, however, was
Rustam Khan, surnamed Firuz Jang, the hero of the Usbak
and Persian wars.

The army of Aurangzib lost only one chief of the first rank,
Azam Khan, who died of the excessive heat,

§ 8. Events at Agra and captivity of Shal Jafian, junc [658.

From the fatal field of Samugarh, Dara reached Agra with
a few attendants at about 9 o'clock at night, and shut himself
up in his house in the city. There was universal alarm amd
lamentation in the royal family, . Shah Jahan sent word to Data
to come to the fort and see hlm; but Dara was utterly broken
down in body and spitit, and declined saying, “I cannot show
my face to your Majesty in my present wretched plight.
Permit me to go away with vyour farewell blessing on the
long journey that is before me”

The miserable prince, with his wile children and a dozen
servants, set off from Agra towards  Delhi af 3, o'clock in.tha
morning. Mules laden with gold coins from the palace treasury
wete sent with him by order of Shah Jahan, and he took away as
much of his own jewels and cash as he could transport in that
huery. For the next two days small groups of his followers
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began to join him on the way, so that his force was raised to
5,000 men by the time he reached Delhi.

After the battle of Samugarh, Aurangzib went to Murad,
and congratulated him, saying that the victory was due entirely
fo his vounger brother’s heroism and that Murad’s reign
would date from that day. He even nursed the wounded
Murad affectionately.

In two marches from the battle-field the victors arrived
in the garden of Nur Manzil or Dhara outside Agra (st
fune). Here they stayed for ten days. Every day large
numbers of courliers, nobles and officers deserted the imperial
side and joined them, and so did the former officers of Dara.

The day after Samugarh, Aurangzib  wrote to Shah Jahan
directly, excusing his late actions as forced upornt him by his
enemies, On reaching MNur Manzil he received a reply in
Shah Jahan's own hand, inviting him fo an interview. Tl}is,
afler some hesitation, Aurangzib declined to do, at the advice
of some of his friends (especially Shaista Khan and Khalilullal)
who told him that Shah Jahan had formed a plot to gel
Auwrangzib murdered by his Tartar guard-women as soon as
he would enter Agra fort.

The mask was at last thrown away, and on the 5th of June
the prince began the siege of Agra fort, after seqding his
eldest son Mubammad Sultan to occupy Agra city (3rd June)
and maintain order there. Shah Jahan had  shut the dates of
Agra fort, prepared to stand a siege there. It was one of
the strongest forts of that age, and Aurangzib’s artillery was
quite ineffective on its defences. Success by breaching and
assault was therefore otit of the question. A regular investment
would have detfained the victorious broffiers there for months
and even yvears and thus given Dara time to raise a new army.

So, Aurangzib sent his men to make a sudden rush and
seize the outside of the water gate (Kfizird) of the fort which
opens on the Jamuna. Thus the water-supply of the garrison
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was cut off and they began to suffer the horrors of thirst in
midsummer. The few old and long disused wells within the
forl yielded only a bitter water unfit for drinking. At this,
many of the Emperor’s officers, pampered idlers of the Court,
slipped out of the fort

For three days Shah Jahan held out under these conditions.
He had made a pathetic personal appeal to Aurangzib entreating
him not to kil a living father by thirtst, but to thal
letter Aurangzib had replied, “It is your own doing.” Then,
amidst raging thirst, with only despair and treason around
him, the aged Emperor decided to vield. On 8th June he
opened the gates of the fort to Aurangzib’s officers and
became a prisoner within the harem of the palace, being
confined to the quarters behind the Hall of Public Audience.
He was deprived of all power; a sitong force was posted
in and around the fort to prevent rescue, and careful
watch was kept on his eunuchs lest they should carry letters
from him oulside. The wvast treasures of Agra fort—the
accumulalions of three denerations of prosperous rulers of
India, passed into Aurangzib’s possession.

On 10th June Princess Jahanara visited Aurangzib fo iry
the effect of her personal influence and sisterly persuasion.
She proposed, in Shah Jahan’s name, a partiion of the
empire among the four brothers. Aurangzib naturally declined.

i
8§ 9. Murad Baffish's captivity and deatf.

-On [3th June Aurangzib set out  from.Agra city towards
Dejhi in  pursuit of Dara. But on the way, at Mathura, he
had to halt because an alarming situation had arisen on
account of Murad's jealous and wilful conduct. This prince’s
courtiers were felling him how power was daily slipping out
of his grasp and Aurangszib was becoming all in all. He
was keen on reigning as king, but Aurangzib seemed to be
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putting off the fulfilment of that desire to a more and more
distant future. Therefore, Murad must assert himself, if he
was not to be made a cats paw and then thrown away by
Aurangzib.

Led on by such counsellors, Murad began to act openly
i1 opposition to  Aurangzib : he increased his army, seduced
from Aurangzib's side many of the recently joined impetial
troops by the promise of higher pay and grealer licence,
and conferred titles. Lastly he gave up visiting Aurangzib as
beneath his  dignity. Thus, an open opposition to Aurangzib
was set up in the allied camp.

The situation was very critical. But  Aurangzib's
plan was quickly formed and skilfully carried out.  He first
lulled Murad's suspicion to sleep by  presenting  him
with 20 lakhs of Rupees and 233 horses, and invited him to
a feast for celebrating his complete recovery from his wounds
and for maturing a plan of campaign against the fugitive
Dara. Lastly, Auwrangzib heavily bribed and won over to his
side Murad's favourite body-servant Nur-ud-din Khawas, who
induced Murad to accept his brother’s invitalion and enter
Aurangzib’s camp when retarning from a hunt (25th June).

Murad was cordially received by Aurangzib, well fed, plied
with wine, and when asleep deprived of his arms and made
a prisoner. Al midnight the captive was sent in a covered
ladies’ Aawda, under a strong cavalry escort to Salimgarh and
thence to the State-prison of Gwalior. This “excellent sitatagem”
had been carried out so smoothly that Murad’s followers did
not hear of his fate tll it was too late. Next morning his
leaderless soldiery were taken into Aurangzib’s service, and
even his devoted officers had no course left open to them
but o submit fo this new master. The entire establishment
and property of Murad passed into Aurangsib’s possession,

Murad lived for three vyears in the fortress of Gwaliot,
but an attempt at escape which his friends oulside had planned
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and which narrowly missed success through Murad's own
thoughtlessness, detetmined  Aurangzib to get rid of him. At
the Emperor’s instigation, the second son of Ali Nagi demanded
retaliation in blood from Murad for the murder of his father
at Ahmadabad in 1657, This, under the Istamic law, the
judges were bound to granl. So, on 4ih December, 166!, the
luckless aspirant to the throne of Delhi was behecaded by two
slaves in the prison cell of Gwalior and his cotpse was buried
within thal fori.



CHAPTER \
WAR OF SUCCESSION ; END OF DARA AND SHUJA

§ 1. Pursuit of Dara after Samugarfi.

]
Dara reached Delhi on 5th June 1658 and tried to raise

and equip a new army by appropriating the Government
property in the capital. But a week afterwards he left Delhi
for Lahor, on learning that the fall of Agra fort had set
Aurangzib free to pursue him. The Panjab was strongly
attached to Dara ; the province had long been his vicerovalty
and was now held by his faithful deputy Sayyid Ghairat
Khan, Leaving Delhi at the head of 10,000 men, Dara
reached Lahor on 3rd July, and spent a month and a half
there in completing his war preparations. Seizing the imperial
freasure there, he assembled an army of 20,000 men and
sent off strong detachments to guard the ferries over the
Satlej at Talwan and Rupar,

In the meantime, Aurangzib had deputed Khan-i-Dauran
to wrest Allahabad from Data’s men and Bahadur Khan to
take up the pursuit of Dara, and then pushed on to Delhi
Gth July. At this capital he stayed three weeks, constructing
a new administration in the place of the old one, and finally
he crowned himself Emperor under the fitle of dlamgir
Ghazi on 21st July. Khalilullah Khan was appointed governor
of the Panjab and sent to reinforce the pursuit of Dara.

In the night of 5th August, Bahadur Khan crossed the
Satie] by surprise at Rupar, and Dara’s generals fell back
from that river to Govindwal on the Bias. But when
Aurangzib from Delli reached the Satlej, Data fled from
Lahor (18th August) fo Multan, with his family and treasure,
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by boat. Once more Dara’s denius quailed before that of
Aurangzib ; he despaired of success, and his despair infected
his troops.

Aurangzib’s forces set off from Lahor on 30th August at
the heels of Dara, and that Emperor himself joined the
pursuers on  17th  September. But Dara again fed, from
Multan (15th September) to Sakkar (15th October). From
the environs of Multan, Aurangzib turned back (30th Sept)
for Delhi to meet Shuja’s invasion, but the chase of Dara
was relentlessly continued by Saf Shikan Khan and Shaikh
Mir at the head of two sirong columns, totalling 15,000 men,
following the two banks of the Indus.

At Sakkar the imperialists learnt (23rd October) that Dara
had left much of his property and his big guns in the fort
of Bhakkar in charge of his eunuch Basant, with many
European gunners under Nicholas Manucci, and himself fled
towards Schwan, deserled by all his troops except 3,000 men.
Even the trusty Daud Khan was at last driven to leave his
unjustly suspicious master. At Sehwan the imperialists came
up with Dara by forced marches (31st Oct) and occupied
both banks of the Indus, hoping fo intercept him. But they
were very weak in boats, and Dara who was stronger in that
arm dashed through the broad river (20d Nov) in safety and
reached Tafta (13th Nov.). The imperialists made forced
marches after him to Tatta (18th), but learnt that Dara had
fied further south to Badin (24th) and was marching over
the gulf of Cutch towards Gujrat.

The pursuers were now recalled to Couwrt; the pursuit
which they had carried on with such unflagging vigour and
amazing endurance for three months since Data leff Lahor, had
missed success, when almost within their grasp, solely through
their lach of boals. '
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§ 2. Dara in Rajputana ; battle of Deoral.

After leavine Badin, 55 miles east of Tatta, Dara crossed
the Rann or salt lagoon {end of November), suffering
unspeakable hardship through lack of water. Arrived at Bhuj,
the capital of the island of Cutch, he was welcomed and
piven every help by the Rajah, as also by the Jam of
Nawanagar in Kathiawad. Thus he arrived at Ahmadabad
at the head of 3000 men. Here Shah Nawaz Khan, the new
governor of the province, joined him and opened the royal
reasury to  him (9th January, 1659). Dara now raised his
army o 92,000 men, brought away the arlillery of Surat, and
learning that Shuja had advanced beyond Allahabad to atlack
Aurangzib, he made a dash towards Agra at the same time.
On the way he received an invitation to Ajmir from Jaswant
Singh, who promised to join him with the Rathors and other
Rajputs.

But, in the meantime, Aurangzib afler crushing Shuja al
Khajwa (5th Jan), had won over Jaswant with the help
of Mirza Rajah Jai Singh by means of mingled threats
of invasion and hopes of promotion. Dara had no help
but to fight, for Aurangzib had atrived near him. He
wisely  changed his plan. Instead of fighting a pilched
battle in an open plain, he decided to hold the pass of Deorai,
four miles south of Ajmir, in the narrow breadith of which a
small host can keep a superior force of assailants back. His
two flanks were protected by the hills of Bithi and Gokla;
while behind him lay the rich city of Ajmir, whence he could
cagily draw his supplies. He ran a low wall south of his
position, from hill to hill across the valley, with trenches in
front and redoubts at different points.

Aurangzib approached this position from the south, and
began a bombardment of it from the sunset of 19th March,
1659, to the night following the 13th. Dara’s arfillery and
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muskels trom their high and shellered position showerad death
on Aurangzib’'s unprotected gunners and infaniry, while the latter
could not fire back with effect. The enemy's trenches were impreg-
nable. 5o, on the 14th Aurangzib held a council of war and
adopted a new plan of attack, viz, to make a concentrated
attack in overwhelming strength on the enemy's {eft wing under
Shah Nawas Khan, while their right wing was to be kept in
play by the imperial division opposite i ; but the success of
the scheme was to depend not on this frontal attack but on
a secret movement to turn the enemy’s left rear (the Gokla hill),
which was to be scaled from behind by Rajah Rajrup of the
Jamnw hills and his clansmen expert in  mountaineering, who
had discovered a path to its top.

Towards the evening of the I4th, the imperfal army massed
in front of the cnemy’s left delivered their assault upon
Shah Nawaz Khan's trenches. Their arfillery reopened fice
with great rapidity and prevented the other divisions of Dara's
army from leaving their {renches and marching across the
front to aid their hard-pressed brethren on the left. The hardest
ficht raged in this part of the fleld. Dara’s men obstinately
defended their lines. Wave after wave of the imperialists swarmed
up lo the charge ; and at last they pushed back all the enemy
out of the plain and won the ground to the edge of the trenclies.

By this time Rajrup’s men had toiled up the back of the
Gokla hill, while the enemy wete absorbed in the severe
contest in their front. They planted their banners on the top
and raised a shout Dara’s left wing was seized with despair
at their rear being, thus turned, buf many of the men sl
fought with courage. To overcome this last opposition, Shaikh
Mir drove his elephant forward, but was killed by a bullet
At last, these trenches were stormed. Shah Nawaz Khan, while
cheering his men even after all was over, was blown away by
a cannon-ball. The rank and file broke and fled away under
the cover of darkness.
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True, only one of the four entrenchments had so far been
carried ; but it was enough : Dara’s lines had been fatally
pierced and réndered untenable by the turning of the Gokla
hill. Accompanied by his son Sipihr Shukoh and only a dozen
of his men, Dara fled from the field in headlong haste towards
Gujrat. The country round Ajmir became a wild scene of
plunder ; thousands of Rajputs had assembled in the neigh-
bourhood at the call of Jaswant and were hovering round like
vuitures for their expected prey. They now looted the property
and transport animals of the vanguished army.

§ 3. Flight and capture of Dara.

During the batfle of Deorai, Dara’s harem and treasurc had
been left on the bank of the Anasagar lake (at Ajmir), on
elephants, camels and mules, in charge of the faithful eunuch
Khwajah Maqul and an escort of {roops, ready for {lighi.
These fled from the place in the night of the 14th and joined
Dara near Mairta in the afternoon of the 15th. But Aurangzib
had already detached a strong force under Jai Singh and Bahadur
Khan in pursuit of them, and therefore Dara could not resi
anywhere bul had to resume his march with the same haste
as before. Only 2,000 troopers accompanied him when he left
Mairta. Covering thirty miles or even more a day in their
rush to Guijral, they underwent extreme misery from heat and
dust and want of fents and transporl animals. Their few
horses and camels perished from heat and overwork.

Everywhere Dara found Aurangzib’s lefters had  preceded
him and the local officers  were ready to seize him. His last
hope was gone when his messenger returned from Ahmadabac
with the dismal news that he would be resisted if he tried to
enter that city, At this destruction of their last hope of refuge
the party was “overwhelmed with confusion and dismay, .. .
andt the shrieks of the females drew tears from every eve
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Dr. Bernier who was attending on Dara's sick wife, gives a heart-
rending picture of their misery and suffering at this time,
“Reduced to the poorest and sorriest dress, ... accompanied
by one horse, one bullock-cart, five camels for his ladies, and
a few other camels for fransport, his retinte shrunk to a few
men,” the chosen heir to the richest throne in Asia  crossed
the terrible Rann once again, and reached the southern coast
of Sindh (beginning of May).

Here, oo, he found his path fo lower Sindh closed by the
forethought of Aurangzib, who had sent down Khalilullah Khan
from Lahor to Bhakkar. Aurangzib's local officers and Jai
Singh's advanced detachments were converging on their prey
from north, east and south-east. Only one path of escape
remained open: Data turned to the north-west, crossed the
Indus and entered Siwistan, intending to flee fo Persia by way
of Qandahar.

In the meantime Jai Singh from Ajmir had been pushing
on behind Dara, covering [6 to 20 miles a day, in spite of
scarcity of water, want of fodder, and exhaustion of his horses
and transport animals. Following Dara’s fracks he crossed the
lesser and the greater Rann and the island of Cuich, suffering
frightful privations on the way. “At places grain sold at a seer
per Rupee, at others no {ood at all could be procured.” But
he pursued his course with grim tenacity and reached the Indus
on the border of Siwistan on [1th June [659, though iore
than three-fourths of his troop horses perished during the
journey. Then, learning that Dara had gone out of Mughal
India, he began his refurn march to Hindustan up the Indus.

But Dara’s family were uafterly opposed fo the idea of
migrating to Persia. His beloved wife, Nadira Banu, was
serfously il  and the privations of a journey through the
desolate Bolan Pass and the inhospitable region of Qandahar
would have killed het. Dara, therefore, changed his -mind and
fooked about for a chieftain in that neighbourhod who would

£
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give im a safe shelter and the services of his clansmen. Such
a friend he hoped fo find in Malik Jiwan, the zamindar of
Dadar, a place nine miles east of the Indian end of the Bolan
Pass. VYears ago this Afghan chief had been sentenced by
Shah lahan to be trampled to death by an elephant. Dara,
then at the height of his father's favour, had successfully begged
the condemned man’s life and liberty from the Emperor. lle
now looked tor Jiwan’s gratitude, and reached Dadar, where the
chief took him to his house, showing him every respect and
care (probably &th June).

On the way to Dadar, Nadira Banu succumbed to hard-
ship and want of medicine and rest. Dara was frantic with
grief al losing his life’s companion. “The world grew dark
in his eyes. He was ubterly bewildered. [His judgment and
prudence were enfircly gone,” He sent her corpse to Lahor
for burial in the graveyard of the saint Mian Mir (his own
spiritual guide), under escort of all the 70 troopers siill left
at his side and his most devoted officer, Gul Muhammad,
He offered his companions a frec choice Dbelween relurning
to their homes and accompanying him to Persia, Thus it
happened that not a single devoted [ollower now remained
with Dara, and he became utterly helpless and dependent
upon his host's fidelity.

LC}upiditY overcame the Afghan’s gratitude and fidelity to
plighted word. He treacherously arrested Dara and his
younger son and iwo daughters (B9th June) and delivered
them to Bahadur Khan.}

§ 4. Humiliation and murder of Dava.

When the prisoners arrived af Delhi they were paraded
through the streels of the capital with dlsgrace (29th August),
Dara was sealed in an uncovered fBawde on the back of a

small female elephant covered with dirt. By his side was
k0
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his second son, Sipihr Shukoh, a lad of tourteen ; and
behind them with a naked oword sat their ferocious gaoler,
the slave Nazar Beg. The heir to the richest throne in the
world was now clad in a travel-tainted dress of the coarsest
cloth, with a dark dingy-coloured turban, such as only the
poorest wear, on his head, and no necklace or jewel adorning
his peison. His feet were chained, though his hands were
free. EFxposed to the full blaze of an August sun, he was
taken in this guise through the scenes of his former glory
and splendour. In the bitterness of disgrace he did not raise
his head, nor cast his glance on any side, but sat “like a
crushed twig.”

The pity of the citizens swept every other feeling away,
The crowd assembled was immense, and everywhere, Beinier
observed, the people were -weeping and lamenting the fate
of Dara.

That evening Aurangzib held a private consultation with
his ministers about Dara's fate. Danishmand Khan (Bernier’s
patron) pleaded for his life, but Shaista Khan, Muhammad
Amin Khan, Bahadur Khan, and the Princess Raushanara from
the harem demanded his death [or the good of Church and
State. The pliant theologians in the Emperor's pay signed a
decree stating that Dara deserved death on ihe ground of
his deviation from Islam.

A riot by the citizens of Delhi against the traitor Malik
liwan {recently created a hazari with the litle of Bakhtivar
Khan), when on his way to the Cowrt, on the 30th, precipitated
the end of Dara. That very night Nazar Beg and some
other slaves visited Dara’s prison in Khawaspura, tore away
Sipihr Shukoh from his father’s arms and hacked Dara to |
pieces. By Aurangzib’s order the corpse was placed on ap
elephant, paraded through the sireets of {he city a second
fime, and then buried in a vault under the dome of the tomb
of Humayun.
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§ 5. End of Sulaiman Shukoh.

We shall now trace the fate of Dara’s eldest son, Sulaiman
Shukoh. Afier his victory over Shuja near Benares, he had
pursied his defeated wuncle through Bihar to Mungir, when
carly in May 1638, he received asummons from his father
1o return quickly to his side as Aurangzib had triumphed at
Dharmat. So, he hurriedly patched up a peace with Shuja
and set out on his retwrn. On 2nd June, when (05 miles
west of Allahahad, he received news of his father's ruin at
Samugarh. His soldiers were disiracted ; Jai Singh and Dilir
Khan, his goreatest generals, as well as all the other imperial
officers left him for Aurangzib. Only 6,000 men, less than
one~third of Sulaiman’s army, accompanied hitn in his retreat
to Allahabad (4th June), where he wasted a precious week
in distraction not knowing what {o do with his cumbrous and
costly furniture and plate and vast harem of women. At
last, at the advice of his chief followers the Sayyids of Barha,
he decided to make a wide loop round Delhi, march by the
northern side of the Ganges, through their home the Middle
Doab, and then cross the rivers at the foot of the hills, in
order to reach his father in the DPanjab withoul f[ear of
interceplion.

Sulaiman rapidly moved by way of Nagina to Chandi, on the
bank of the Ganges opposite to Hardwar., Numbers of soldiers
deserted him daily, and strong enemy forces pushed up from
Delhi batred his path everywhere in the south, east and west.
So, Sulaiman fled to the Srinagar hills for an asylum, his Sayyid
followers of Barha refusing fo accompany him there. DPrithwi
Singh, the Rajah of Srinagar (in Garhwal) admitted him on
condition of his being accompanied by his family and seventeen
servants only but none of his soldiers. The Rajah was all kind-
ness and aftention to his princely guest in distress, and Sulaiman
enjoyed peace in his rude but safe refuge for a vear,
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But when Aurangzib was at last tiumphant over all s
brothers, he turned against Sulaiman. On 27th July 1659 be
sent Rajah Rajrup fo secure the surrender of Sulaiman from
the Rajah of Srinagar ; but for a year and a half his efforts
were futile. Aurangzib next employed Jai Singh, who wrote to
Drithwi Singh not to destroy his kingdom by disobeving the
Emperot’s order. The Garhwal Rajah was old and refused to
undertake the sin and shame of betraying an accepted refugee.
But his son and heir, Medini Singh, was more worldly-minded ;
the hope of rewards from Delhi conquered his scruples. There
was also the fear of losing his kingdom, as Aurangzib was
ingtigating the neighbouring and rival hill-Rajahs to invade and
annex Garhwal. On hearing of this decision of his host, Sulaiman
tricd to escape over the snow fo Ladak, but was pursued, captured
wounded, delivered to Aurangzib’s agent, and brought to Delhi
on @nd January, 1661,

On 5th January the prisoner was placed before his dread uncle
in the Hall of Private Audience of the Delhi palace. His youth,
extreme beauly, martial fame, and present misery deeply interested
the courtiers and even the ladies of the imperial harem in his fate.
Aurangzib spoke to him with apparent kindness, “Be comforted ;
no harm shall befall you. You shall be treated with tenderness.”
The prince made the salam or sign of grateful acknowledgment....
He then told the Emperor, with much self-possession, that if it were
intended to give him the pousta® to diink, he begged that he might
be immediately put to death, Aurangzib promised in a solemn
manner, and in a loud voice, that this drink should most
cerfainly not be administered.

* The poustq is a drink made of poppy-heads crushed-and soaked in water for
a night. This was the polion generally given to princes confined in thg forlress of
Gwalior, whose heads the Emperor was deterred by public shame from taking
ofl. A large cup of this beverage was brought fo them early in the morning, and
they were not given anything to eat until # was swallowed, This drink emaciated
the wretched victims, who lost their strength and Inteflect by slow degrees, beecame
{orpid and senseless, and at lengih died. "
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u( The captive was sent to Gwalior and in that dismal state-prison
Aurangzib in violation of his ‘solemn promise’ caused the death ot
the unhappy Sulaiman Shukoh (May 1662} by overdoses of opium.

§ 6. Shuja’s first advance to contest the succession
battle of Bahadutpur.

Prince Mubammad Shuja, the second son of Shah Jahan and
governor of Bengal, was a man of great intellivgence, clegant
taste, and amiable disposition. But his constant devotion to
pleasure, the easy administration of Bengal, and his 17 years’
residence in that enervating country, had made him weak,
indolent and negligent, incapable of arduous toil, sustained effort,
vigilant caution, or profound combination. Ile had allowed
his administration to dvift, his army to grow inefficient, and all
his departments to fall into a slack and sleepy condition. His
mental powers were as heen as before: but they required great
emergencies to call them forth, and shone only by flashes ; he
was still capable of vigorous action, but only fitfully.

The story of Shah Jahan's illness, with the usual exaggeration,
reached Shuja at Rajmahal, then the capital of Bengal, and he
immediately crowned himself Emperor with the fitle of Abul
Fauz Nasirwud-din Muhammad, Timur Ml Alexander I, Shah
Shuja Ghaszi. -

Statting with a large army, an excellent park of artillery, and
the highly useful war-boats (nawwara) of Bengal, he reached
Benares about 24th Januaty, 1658, Meantime Dara had despatched
against him an . my of 22,000 men under his eldest son
SU1_gi1nan Shukoh, assisted by the able and experienced Mirza
Rajah Jai Singh and Difir Khan Ruhela.

Early in the morning of 14th Pebruary, Sulaiman
suddenly  attacked  Shuja’s  camp, at Bahadurpur, 3
miles north-east of Benares. The surprise  was so complete
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that the sleeping Bengal soldiers and their leader had
no time to put on their {tunics, but fled away leaving
everything behind. With great difficulty Shuja, mounted
on an elephant, forced his way out of the ring of his enemies
and found safety in his war-boats, whose gun-fire hkept the
enemy away from the bank. His enfire camp and property,
estimated at fifty lakhs of Rupees, were seized by the victors ;
even the humblest soldier had to abandon his all.

The panic-stricken army fled by the land roufe through
Saseram to Patna, robbed by the villagers on the way. But
hearing of the approach of the pursuing imperialists, Shuja
fled to Mungitr and blocked the road with his trenches and
batteries. This brought Sulaiman sharply to a halt at  Suraj-
garh, 15 miles south-west of Mungir, and he wasted precious
months here without being able to advance. But the news
of Dharmat forced him to make a hurried peace with Shuja,
leaving  Béngal Fastern  Bihar and Orissa to that
prince (7th May), and set out on his return to Agra.

¢ Aurangsib, after crowning himself at Dethi (21 July),- wrote
a friendly lefter to Shuja, adding the enfire province of Bihar
io his viceroyalty and promising him other favours.

" The news of Aurangzib’s absence in the far off Panjab at the
heels of Dara revived Shuja’s ambition. Now was the time to
conquer the undefended counlry up to Agra and release Shah
Jahan., So, at the end of Oclober, 1658, Shuja started from
Patna with 25,000 cavalty and attillery and boals, and reached
Khajwa, three days march beyond Allahabad on 30th
December. Here he found Sultan Muhammad barring his path.
In the meantime, Aurangzib after abandoning the pursuit of
Dara at Multan (30th Septembet), had hastened back to Delhi
by forced matches (20th November), and strongly teinforced
his army near Allahabad with menh and money. Shuja’s open
road to Agra was now blocked, and on 9nd January 1659 the
Emperor himself joined his son near Kora, eight miles west of
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Shuja’s position. Mir Jumla, too, arrived there from the Deccan

on the same day.

§ 7. Khajwa : Jaswant's freactiery and firmness of Aurangzib.

On 4th ]anu'ary, Aurangzib marched his army in  perfect
order Hill he arrived one mile in front of the enemy’s carip,
Here he halled, his soldiers maintained their exact positions,
each man sleeping on the ground with his armour on and
his saddied horse standing at his head. That night Mir Jumla,
with a born general's instinct, seized a mound midway between
the two armies and by hard labour dragged 40 guns to i,
which commanded the enemy’s camp. Careful vigil was kept
by his officers throughout the night.

A few hours before the dawn of the 5th of January, the day
fixed for the battle, a confused noise arose in the vanguard of
Aurangzib’s army ; the alarm and disorder rapidly spread
through the enfire camp. The air was filed with the yells of
the assailants, the cries of the fugitives, and the tramp of
horsemen rechlessly galloping av&ay. The darkness heightened
the confusion. The root of all this trouble was Maharajah
Jaswant Singh, the commander of the imperfal right wing, who
had brooded over some fancied slight or neglecl and matured
a deep plan of vengeance. He had, it was said, sent a secret
message fo Shuja saying that he would attack the imperial
camp behind the field at the close of the night, and that while
the Emperor would hasten fo the rear to tepel him
Shuja  should swiffly fall on the disordered army and
crush it between two adversaries. So, shorfly after midnight
he got his 14000 Rajputs ready, lurned his Dback
fo the field, rushed the camp of Prince Md, Sullan which lay
in the path of his flight, and there carried off everything that
the Rajputs could lay their hands on. Much of the Emperor's
own camp suffered the same fate. The Rajpuis ook the road
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to Agra, but in the darkness and surprise the confusion spread
to the army at the front b

But the situation was saved by Aurangzib's wonderfut
coolness and Shuja’s hesitaion. Shuja received Jaswant's
messagde, heard of the tumult, but did not leave his own camp
at night, fearing it might be a mere ruse confrived between
Aurangzib and Jaswant to lure him on to his destruction |

The Emperor was at his fangjjud prayer in his field-tent,
when the news of Jaswant's aftack and deserfion reached him.
Without uttering a word, he merely waved his hand as if to say,
“If he is gone, let him go!” After deliberately finishing the
prayer, he issued from the tent, mounted a fakfit-i~rawan
(portable chair), and addressed his officers, “This incident is a
mercy vouchsated to us by God. If the infidel had played the
traitor in the midst of the battle, all would have been lost. His
flight (now) is good for us.”

So Auwrangzib firmly hept his own posilion, and prevented
the confusion from spreading to his division. Orderlies were
sent off fo urge the leaders of the various corps not to stir
from their own places, but to rally the fugitives. With the return
of daylight many faithful officers who had been swept far away
by the tide of flight hastened to rejoin the imperial banners,
round which more than 50,000 soldiers were now assembled
as against Shuja’s 23,000.

§ 8. Batlle of Kbajwa.

Shuja knew that he could not adopt the customary plan
of battle, making his force correspond, division for division, to
the enemy’s dispositions. IHis small force would then have been
overlapped and swallowed up by the vastly extended front of
an enemy who outnumbered him as three fo one, So, with
great judgment he made a new formation today : all his army
was drawn up in one long line, behind the artillery. With true
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generalship Shuja decided to assume the offensive, and make up
for the smallness of his number by the moral superiority which
the attacking party always has.

The battle began at 8 A M. with a furious discharge of
cannon, rockets and muskets ; then the two vans closed
together and plied their bows, Sayyid Alam, at the head of
Shuja’s right wing, charged the imperial left wing, driving in
front three infuriated elephants, each brandishing a two-maund
iron chain in its trunk. Neither man nor beast could
stand their impetuous onset. The imperial left,  which
had no prince or great general to command i, broke and
fled. The panic spread even to the cenire; the soldiers
ran abouf in confusion. To make matters worse, a false
veport of the Emperotr’s death suddenly spread through the
ranks and many fled away. The enemy, alter clearing
the left wing, pushed on towards the centre, where
only 2,000 troopers now remained to guard the Emperor.
But his two reserves flung themselves forward and barred
the enemy's path. The Emperor with the centre turned his
elephant's head to the left, in order to support that wing.
Sayyid Alam was repelled and fled back by the same path
that he had come.

But the three elephants continued to advance wildly, their
wounds having made them flercer than before. One of
them came up to Aurangzib’s elephant. Tt was the critical
moment of the battle. If the Emperor had given ground or
turned back, his whole army would have fled. But he stood
like a rock, chaining the legs of his elephant to prevent its
flight. At his order one of his matchlockmen, Jalal Khan,
shot down the mafiut of the attacking elephant, a brave roval
mafiut nimbly leaped on #s back and brought the riderless
beast under his control. The Emperor now got breathing
fime, and turned to succour his right, which had been
hard-pressed by a charge of the enemy's vanguard and left
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wing under Prince DBuland Akhtar. In spite of their small
number, their gallant charge dislodged their opponents ; many
of the imperialists fled away. Freed from the danger on his
left, Aurangzib now looked at his right and found there signs
of confusion and fight. But even in the greatest difficulty and
danger, his coolness and presence of mind did not desert
him, It at once struck him that, as his own front had hitherto
been turned towards the left, if he were now to face suddenly
round and march to the right, the rest of the army would
inferpret this volfe face as ftlighl. So, he first sent ordetlies
4o the van to tell the generals of his real object and to urge
them to fight on without fear.

Then he wheeled the cenfre round and joined his hard-
pressed right wing. The succour came not a minute too soon.
This was the decisive move of the day. The tide of battle
now rolled resistflessly against Shuja. The imperial right,
newly strengthened, made a counter-charge and swept away
the enemy from before them, with great carnage.

Meantime the imperial van, under Zulfgar Khan and
Sultan Muhammad, had beaten back the aftack on it, advanced,
and shaken the enemy's front line. So thick was the shower
of cannon-~balls, rockets and bullets from Aurangzib’s army
that no man could stand il. There was now a general
advance of the whole imperial army, right centre, and left
“Like masses of dark clouds, they ‘surrounded Shuja’s own
division (the cenlre), his two flanks having been scaltered
already. The cannon-balls flew about his own head and
killed many of his personal aftendanfs.” Therefore, he left the
dangerous prominence of the elephant’s back and took
horse.”

A El
*  {Bernier’s sfatemeot, copied by Stewart, thal Shuja was on -the point ol
gaining the victory when he lost all by dsmounting *fiom his clet‘zhfmt, merely gives
the bazar gossip. None of the contemporary authorities on whom my account of
the baitle fs based, supports such an ides, which is alsg nafurally “improbable.
Indeed, the batlie had been alreagly losl and Shuja was i imminent risk of being
captured, when he fook humc.k}
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This was the end of the struggle. All was now lost, as
his soldiers believed that their master was dead. In a moment
all that still remained of the Bengal army broke and fled.
Shuja galloped away irom the field with his sons, his general
Sayyid Alam and a small body of troops. His enfire camp
and baggage were plundered by the imperialists. 114 pieces
of cannon and 11 of the celebrated elephants of DBengal

became the victor’s prize.

§ 9. The pursuit of Shuja and the war in Bifiar.

In the afternoon following the victory of Khajwa, Aurangzib
sent a pursuing column under Muhammad Sultan after Shuja.
Reinforcements under Mir Jumla soon raised this force to
30000 men. Shuja fled through Benares and Patna
to  Mungir, where he made a fortoighl's stand,
{19th Feb.~—6th March). The city of Mungir stands in a
narrow plain, two and a half miles broad, between the
Ganges river and the Khargpur hills, Along this plain runs
the most convenient road from Patna o DBengal. Shuja had
blocked the road by means of a wall and a dilch running
from the river to the hill, with raised bastions at every thirty
vards’ distance, defended with large guns landed from his
boats and manned by his soldiers.

Barly in March Mir Jumla arrived before Mungir, and
finding the main road barred, bribed Rajah Bahror of
Khargpur and under his guidance carried the imperial army
through the hills and jungles south-east of Mungir fort, thus
turning Shuja’s rear. Thal prince now fled from Mungir (6th
March) to  Sahibganj, where he blocked the narrow pass
with a wall (10th—24th March). But the impetialists won
over Khwajah Kamal Afghan, the zamindar of Birbhum and
Chatnagar, and with his help and guidance made a detour
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round the south-east of the Mungir district and reached Suri
on the 28th.

But a false rumour that Dara had triumphed near Ajmir
and was wreaking vengeance on the Rajput States now
induced the Rajput confingent under Mir Jumla (especialty
the troops of Ram Singh, [he eldest son of Jai Singh) to
desert and push on to their distant homes. Thus the pursuing
force lost 4,000 men (30th March), but was still twice as
strong as Shuja’s army.

In the meantime, Shuja had evacuated Sahibganj (27th March)
for Rajmahal ; but finding even Rajmahal wunsafe, he retreated
(4th April) to the Malda district. His chief noble Alawardi
Khan, who had planned to deserl to Mir Jumla with many
other officers, was beheaded (@nd April), on the detection of his
plot.  The imperialists occupied Rajmahal on 13th April and
thus the whole counltry west of the Ganges passed out of
Shuja’s hands.

The war that now ensued between the two sides was a
curious conlest like (hat between a tiger and a  crocodile.
Shuja’s regular troops had by now been reduced fo five thousand
men, while Mir jumla’s army was five times as large and, man
for man, superior in fighting capacity. Shuja was, therefore,
hopelessly inferior on land, Bat Mir Jumla's army was a
purely land force. He had not, at first, a single boat of his
own for campaigning in this land of walet-ways, and his guns
were fewer and smaller than his enemy’s, On the other hand,
Shuja had an actillery of big pieces admirably served by
Buropean and half~breed gunners. He had the entire flofilla
{nawwara) of Bengal at his disposal for crossing rivers,
fransporting his troops, or cannonading the imperial defences
and camp on ihe river<bank wherever he liked. This arm
gave Shuja wonderful mobility and multiplied the effective
strength of his small army, while the lack of boats paralysed
Mir Jumla’s efforts and neutralized his superiority on land,

¢
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Shuja, making Tanda (four miles west of the fort of Gaur)
his base, entrenched various places on the eastern bank of the
Ganges to prevemi Mir Jumla from crossing over, Bul his
plans were foiled by Mir Jumla’s wonderful aclivity in procuring
boats from remote places and Aurangzib's clever strategical
move in sending another army, under the governor of Patna,
to make a diversion on the left bank of the Ganges and turn
Shuja’s right flank.

From his headquarters at Dogachi, thirteen miles south of
Rajmahal, Mir Jumla struck two successful blows at Shuja. [le
wrested from the cnemy, by a night surprise, an island in
midstream, opposite Dogachi, where a detachment of Shuja's
men was posted, and he held it against repeated atfempls to
recover it. Later, the imperialists surprised and destroyed a
battery of eight guns which the enemy had erected on the
eastern bank facing Suli.

The imperial army was distributed along the enlire weslern
bank : Muhammad Murad Beg was left in command at
Rajmahal in the extreme north ; the prince with Zulfigar Khan,
Istam Khan, and the bulk of the army, remained at Dogachi
13 miles southwards, facing Shuja. At Dunapur, some 8 miles
further south, Al Quli Khan was posted, while Mir Jumla
himself with six or seven thousand ftroops occupied Sufi, the
southernmaost point of the Mughal lines, 28 miles south of Rajmahal,

But a third coup planned by Mir Jumla failed with heavy loss,
because this time Shuja was on the alert and had prepared an
ambush. On 3rd May 1659, when only the first part of the
expedition sent by the Mughal general had landed, the men and
their boats were attacked by a superior enemy force which
had been waiting for them in hiding. The imperial detachinent
sacrificed in this vain afttempt four high officers and many
hundred soldiers, besides 500 left as prisoners, No succour
could be sent by Mir Jumla from the western bank, as his
boats were afraid to face the Bengal flotilla,
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Late in the night of 8th June, Prince Muhammad Sultan
fled from his post at Dogachi to Shuja. He had fong been
chafing under the tutelage of Mir Jumla, and aspired to reign
independently ! Shuja secretly offered him the hand of his
daughter Gulrukh Danu, and his help in gaining the throne, and
thus won the thoughtless prince over. On hearing the news,
Mir Jumla at Suti firmly kept his own men quiel, and the
morning after the flight rode to the prince’s camp at Dogachi,
harangued the leaderless troops, put heart and hope into
them, and restored order and discipline. A council of war
was held ; all the other generals agreed to obey him as their
sole head. Thus the army weathered the storm; “it lost
only one man—the prince.”

Soon alterwards, the torrential rains of Bengal suspended
military  operations, Mir Jumla, with about 15,000 men, toch
post at Masuma-bazar, while the rest of the umperial army,
under Zulfigar Khan, stayed at Rajmahal, the two divisions
being separated by 60 miles of road impassable in that season.

The rains converted the neighbourhood of Rajmahal inlo
one marshy lake. The city’'s food supply from the Majwa
hills (in the north-west) was cut off by reason of Shuja
bribing its Rajah ; the water-route was commanded by Shuja’s
flotilla ; and so scarcity of grain reached ils extreme amonyg
the Mughal garrison in Rajmahal. In this situation, Shuja
made a sudden attack with his flofilla and captured the cily
on 29nd Augusl, with all the%propert\z of the Mughals.

§ 10. Tfe war in Bengal.

At the beginning of December 1639 Shuja marched from
Rajmahal with 8000 men, against Mir Jumla who was
encamped near Belghata, (42 miles southwards, and opposite
Jangipur in the Murshidabad district). Here he iwice attacked
the imperialists and did them such damage, on account of
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their marked inferiority in attillery, that Mir jumla fell back on
Murshidabad, while Shuja marched parailel to him to Nashipur.
But in the meantime, Daud Khan the governor of Bihar, with a
second army had forced a passage across the Kushi river,
swept away {he Shujaite forces on the north bank of the
Ganges and was in full march on Tanda, On hearing this
news Shuja left Nashipur (26 Dec.) and hastened towards Tanda
pig Suli., Mir Jumla immediately gave him chase, Shuja
crossed the Ganges at Rajmahal and the imperialists recovered
that city on 1ith January 1660. Thus, the whole country
west of the Ganges was finally lost to Shuja.

This year Mir Jumla’s plan of campaign was brillianfly
novel : he would attack the enemy from an unexpected
guarter, the north-east. Shuja’s position now was a long line,
strefching  north-west o south-east from  Samda island
(opposite Rajmahal) to Tanda, with his headquarters about
the middle of the line at Chauki Mirdadpur. Mir Jumla’s plan
was to make a wide detour in a semi-circle north of this
position, by way of Rajmahal, Akbarpur and Malda, then
turn sharply south and swoop down upon Tanda from the
east. With the help of the 160 boats brought from Patna, he
carried his army over the Ganges, (0 miles north of Rajmahal,
and joined Daud Khan,

Shuja was hopelessly outnumbered from the first, and now
(February 1680) found his only line of retreat, in  the south,
threatened. At this time, Drinccﬁ& Muhammad Sultan  deserted
him and sneaked back to the Mughal camp at Dogachi (3th
Feb). . He was doomed to pass the rest of his life in prison.

On 6th March Mir Jumla reached Malda and worked hard
for @ month to complete his preparations for his crowning
‘stroke which would crush Shuja in one move, From his
headquarters at Mahmudabad (@ fow miles below Malda
town), he started on 5th April, and afler a march of 10 miles
surprised {he small enemy patrol at an obscure ford of the
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Mahananda river.  Without a moment's delay, the imperialists
planged into the water; all order was gone and in the
confusion the * shallow ford was missed; vast numbers went
below their depth on both sides of the track, and more than a
thousand soldiers were drowned, including a son of Dilir Khan.

But it was the decisive move of the campaign. All was
now over with Shuja. Ile must immediately flee to Dacca,
before the enemys net could completely close round him.
He hastened to Tanda at dawn of G6th April and ordered his
Begams to come away at once “without waiting even to change
their dress.” His treasure and a selection from his other property
were loaded in four large boats and sent down the stream.
In the afternoon he himself embarked. His two younger sons,
(Buland Akhtar and Zain-ul-abidin), his chiefs, Mirza Jan Beg,
Sayyid Alam of Barha, Sayyid Quli Usbak, and Mirza Beg, a
few soldiers, servants, and euntichs ~—-300 men in all,—accompanied
him in 60 boats (#osas). This was the sole remnant of the
splendid Court amidst which he had ruled three provinces, and
the vast army with which he had twice contested the throne
of Delhi !

Wild terror and confusion now reigned in his camp at
Tanda. His unguarded property was plundered. Next day (7th
April} Mir Jumla occupied the city and restored order. He
seized for the Government all the property he found ot could
recover from the plunderers; the women left behind by Shuja
were properly guarded and taken care of. At Tarfipur 400
loaded boats of Shuja’s flotilla were seized, besides the two
treasure-laden gfurabs. His army now came ovet to Mir
fumla (9th April). Then the general set off from Tanda (19th
April) for Dacca.

8§ 11. Shuja abandons Bengal; fis end,

Ohn 12th April, Shuja reached Dacca, the second ‘capital of
Bengal, a bankrupt in fame and fortune. But it was to be no

7
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asylum to him. The zamindars were all up against him and
he was too weak either to subdue them or io face Mir Iumla
who was hastening behind him. So, on 6th May' he left Dacca
and glided down the river towards the sea. At every slage
soldiers and boatmen deserted him in large numbers. He had
already begged help from the king of Arracan, and two days
after leaving Dacca he was met by 51 ships sent by that king’s
governor of Chatgaon. All hope of maintaining a hold on
Bengal was given up and he steeled his heart to banish himself
to the land of the savage Maghs.

The news spread consternation among his family and
followers. The piracy of the Arracanese of Chatgaon in the
rivers of Bast Bengal had made them too well known to the
people. Whole districts in Noakhali and Bagarganj had been
depopulated through their ravages. Their daring attacks,
feracious cruelty, uncouth appearance, barbarous manners, lack
of religion and caste, and practice of ealing unclean animals,—
all caused them to be regarded by the people of East Bengal,
Hindus and Muslims alike, with a mixture of terror and
toathing.

But there was no help for il, if Shuja wanted to avoid the
fate of Dara Shukoh and Murad DBakhsh at the hands of
Burangzib. So, on 12th May 1660, he finally left the home
of his ancestors and the province which he had ruled for
twenly years, and sailed for Arracan with his family and less
than forty [ollowers; ten of these were Sayyids of Barha,
famous throughout India for their wvalour and devotion to their
master, . )

Shuja was not happy in his new home. His unquiet ambition
brought down a f{ragic end upon him. “Many dwellers in
Arracan, Mughal and DPathan,..showed themselves inclined
towards him. He planned an outbreak intending to slay
the Ring and take his kingdom,  and then advance once more
to fest his fortune in Bengal” @e king of Arracan heard of
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the plot and “planned the assassination of Shah Shuja. Shah
Shuja with a few men fled into the jungle. The Maghs...pursued
the poor prince,...cutting his body into pieces.” (Dutch report,

Feb. 1661). )
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CHAPTER VI
THE FIRSI' HALF OF THE REIGN : A GENERAL SKETCH

8§ 1. The confrast between ifhe two fialves of Aurangzib’s
refgn ; his personal movements.

The reign of Aurangzib is naturally divided o two equal
parts of about 95 years each, the first of which he passed in
Northern India and the second in the Deccan. During the
earlier of these two periods the cenire of inferest lies unmis-
takably in the North, not because the Emperor lived lhere, but
because the most important developments, civil and military,
concerned this region, while the South figured as a far off and
negligible factor. In the second half of the reign the situation
is reversed : all the resources of the empire are concenirated
in the Deccan ; the Emperor, his Court and family, the bulk
of the army, and all his best oflicers live there for a quarter
century, and Hindustan sinks back to a place of secondary
importance. The generals and soldiers in their enforced exile
in the Deccan sigh for a return lo theit northern homes ; one
homesick noble offers the Emperor a lakh of Rupees for leave
to spend only one year at Delhi; the Rajput soldiei‘y complain
that their breed is dying out by reason of their lifelong stay
in the Deccan away from home and family. During this period,
praclically extending over one human generation, the administra-
fion in Northern India naturally falls into decay at the with-
drawal of the master’s eye and the ablest officers ; the people
grow poorer ; the upper classes decline in morals, intelligence
and useful activity : finally lawlessness breaks ouf in most parts.
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During the first half of the reign the centre of inferes! in
Northern India shifts with startling rapidity and range. The
imperial banners march from Kabul in the extreme west to
the Namrup hills in the exireme east of India, from Tibet
beyond our norihern limits to Bijapur across the southern
boundary of the empire. Many operations on a smaller scale
are carried out against Jawless peasants and chiefs in several
widely separated districts. We see the Emperot’s religious
intolerance fully unmasked during this period.

After his grand coronation at the commencement of the
second veat of his reign (13 May, 1659), Aurangzib mostly
lived at Delhi, gquiding the State from the capital. At the
capital he received (1661-67) the grand embassies sent {rom ali
parts of the outer Muslim world to wish him well on his
accession. For the benefit of these foreign guests he made
that lavish display of his wealth and power which “dazzled
even eyes which were accustomed to the pomp of Versailles.”
In the 5th vear of his reign, Aurangzib made a trip to Kashmir,
leaving Delhi on 8th Dec, 1662 and refurning to that city on 18th
Jan. 1664, In Pebruary 1666 his father's death took him to
Agra. So long as Shah Jahan lived in caplivily, Aurangzib
had naturally avoided Agra and held his Courf at Dethi.

In 1674 the seriousness of the Aftidi rising féreed the
Emperor to go to Hasan Abdal, to be near enough to Peshawar
to direct the operations of his armies. Here he lived from
96th June, 1674 to 23rd December, 1675, returning fo Delhi on
97th March, 1676. Early in 1679, the death of Maharajah
Jaswant Singh and the opporfunity it presented of annexing the
Jodhpur State drew him to Ajmir, In Rajpulana he spent the
next two years and then, eatly in the 25th year of his reign,
he started for the Deccan where he finally exhausted his life
and empire after 25 years of sttenuous but unavailing loil

Aurangzib  first sat on e {hrone on 1st Zigada, vear 1068
of the Hifera era (21 July, 1658} ; but his second or grand
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coronation took place on 24th Ramzan, 1069 (5 June, 1639).
In the second year it was ordered that in official documents
every year of tfe reign should be calculated from 1st Ramzan.

But it was found inconvenient o feast and rejoice in a
season  of religious fasting and prayer, and so, from the 4th
year onwards the Emperor sat on the throne immediately at
the end of the month of Ramzan, i e, on the day of the
[d-ul-fitr, (sometimes a day later), and the celebrations ran on for
10 days from that date. In the 21st year (1677) he abolished -
the celebrations, the making of presents to him by the nobles,
and all Rinds of display at Court on the ocecasion of the
coronation anniversary.

S 9  Aurangzibs illness, 1662.

Early in the 5th year of his reign, Autangzib had a severe
illness, which was aggravated by his obstinate devotion to work
and religious austerities. The days of Ramzan (10 April—
9 May, 1662) were extremely hot and long, and overwork
and lack of sleep and proper nourishment during this entire
month of fasting in the daytime in the frightful heat of a
Delhi summer, greatly weakened him, At last on [9th
May, a fever seized him; the doctots bled him so much that
he became extremely weak ; ,at times he fell into fits of
insensibility and a deadly pallor spread over his face. The
greatest amxlety and distraction reighed in the palace and the
capital, and tie evil was aggravated by the rival movements of
his sons o gain adherents and secure theit own succession.

Up to the 5th day, his fever and weakness continued
without abatemenl. But such was Aurangzib's strength of mind
that he showed his face in the Audience Hall for a moment
that evening and the next leaning on a mace and receiving the ,
presentation of the roxzal standards. The illness continued for
a month more, but there was no longer any cause for
public alarm or disorder. On Friday the 95rd and 30th
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he went to the Jama Mosque in a litter to pray in public.
His complete recovery was celebrated on 24th June. The
absolute peace that was maintained throughout the empire duting
this critical month and a half is the highest tribute to the
strength  of Aurangzib’s character® and the stability of the
rule he had founded,

On his recovery, Aurangzib was advised to regain his strength
and refresh his spirifs by a visit fo the pleasant valley of
Kashmir, then known as the “Earthly Paradise.” Early in May
1663 he started from Lahor for Kashmir, entering the valley
through the Pir Panjal Pass at Bhimbar. The Court passed
two and a half months most happily at Srinagar. On the
return journey Lahor was reached on 20th Sep. 1663, and
Delhi on 18th January next.

During these early years passed at Delhi, when there was
no cloud on the horizon of the frontiers, Aurangzib often
devoted himself to the pleasures of the chase in the neigh-
bourhood of the capital or in the Doab, though in old age
he condemned shikar as the business of the idle (befar).

§ 3. Lawless tisings in tfie provinces.

Many minor conquests took place in the ouiskirts of the
empire during the first quarter-century of Aurangzit's reign ;
such as Palamau (south of Bihar), Assam and Kuch Bihar
(both abandoned), Idar, Chatgaon, and Tibet {in 1665, amoun-
fing only to the acknowledgment of the Emperor’s suserainty
by the: Buddhist ruler of that country. This country was
evidently Ladak ot Litle Tibet).

The disturbances of internal peace in Aurangzib's reign
were of three classes: (¢) The outbreaks inevitable during a

» Bernier's dgfia (Danishmand Khan) on hearing of Aurang=ib’s fortitude during
illness, exclaimed, “What strength of mind ! What Invincible courage ! Heaven
preserve thee, Aurangztb, for greater achievemenis ! Thou art not yet destined o
die I (D, 125),
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succession dispute among the princes, when the collapse of
civil authority tempts plunderers and ambitious chiefs to
enrich themselves by lawless acts withoul fear of punishment.
(7 Hindu risings against the policy of temple destruction
which began to be enforced throughout the empire in the
12th year. (c) Revolls of vassal princess We have also a
few sporadic cases of defiance of imperial authority by petty
chieftains in out-of-the-way or jungly places.

The Hindu revolts provoked by Aurangzib’s bigotry,
as well his dealings with the Sikhs, will be freated in defail in a
subsequent chapter.

Some local disturbances were also caused by pretenders
setting up for his dead brothers or nephews. A false Dara
Shukol appeared in  Gujrat in Augusl 1663, a false Shuja in
the Morang hills (west of Kuch Bihar) in May 1669, a second
in the Yusufzai country in 1674, and a third in Kamraj (Kashmir)
as late as 1707 ; a bogus Buland Alkhtar (second son of Shuja)
in the Allahabad province in July 1699, and a countetfeit of the
rebel prince Akbar in the Deccan in March of the same year,

Rao Karan of the Bhurtiva clan, the chieffain of DBikanir,
had served in the Mughal army of the Deccan in the last year
of Shah Jahan's reign, but had come back to Northern India
at Dara’s insligation without taking Aurangzib’s leave. Afterwards
he had put off paying the customary visit of respect lo the new
Emperor. So, in August, 1660, an army, 9,000 strong, was sent
under Amir Khan to bring him to reason. Rao Karan was cowed
into submission, waited on the Emperor (27 Nov.) and received
his pardon.

The next lawless Rajah to feel Aurangzib's heavy hand was
Champat Rai Bundela. After the war of 1635 the family of
Bir Singh Dev was dispossessed and the throne of Urchha
given fo Devi Singh, a descendant of his eldest brother. Bul
a family sprung from a younger brother of Bir Singh's father
ruled as the lords of Mahewa in Eastern Bundelkhand, Their
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leader was Champat Rai. When Aurangsib reached Ujjain
after his viclory over Jaswant, Champat Rai joined him.
But when Shuja was advancing to  Khajwa and the wildest
rumours spread through the empire, Champat deserted, and
returning  home took to his old game of robbery. The
Emperor sent an army under Subhkaran Bundela and other
Rajput officers against the rebel (10 Feb., 1659). A contingent
under Rajah Devi Singh Bundela and the jagirdars and local
troops of Malwa were ordered to assist him. Everybody's
hands were now turned against Champat, who fled from place
to place closely followed by the imperialists.

At last about the middle of October 1661, Champat Rai
finding caplure by his false friends imminent, and unable to
defend himself in the extreme agony of fever and weahness,
stabbed himself to death, and so also did his constant
companion in life, Rani Kali Kumari. DBut his son Chhatira Sal
lived fo be long a thorn in the sides of the Mughals and finally.
to found a new kingdom, Panna, in Eastern Bundelkhand.

8 4. Conquest of Palamau, efc.

Beyond the southern limils of Bihar lies the district of
Palamau as a sort of rugged step leading to the plaleau of
Chota Nagpur on the south-east and the Ceniral Provinces on
the south-west. It is a wild country, broken up by spurs and
peaks, with many rainy-weather rivers unfil for navigation
and vyielding no assured supply of waler for irrigation. The
southern part of the district is exiremely rocky barren and
jungly ; in the northern part the valleys are a little wider and
more fertile ; but “nowhere in the disttict is it possible to get
more than six or seven miles from a well-defined hill. There
are no level plains, and the general appearance of the district
is that of a confused mass of rocky hills, mostly covered by
a dense growth of jungle. From the summit of a ridge or hill,
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the counitry appears covered by a waving sheet of low forest,
with all signs of human habitation concealed from view, except
perhaps a glimpse here and there of a low red tiled roof, a
distant grove of trees, or an occasional herd of cattle.” The
population is scanty, living in small and scattered villages
embosomed in the hollows among the hills.

The dominant clan of the district in the [7th and 18th
centuries were the Cheros, a Dravidian people, said to have
branched off from the Rajbhant tribe. In 1643, the Mughals
taking advantage of family disputes, reduced Rajah Pratap
Chero to the status of a Mughal mansabdar, and turned his
ancestral kingdom into a fief, subject to an annual payment
of one lakh of Rupees. The fribute was exorbitant in amount,
and beyond the power of the Rajah to pay regularly. [t
naturally fell info arrears, whilc additional provocation was
given by the catileraids of the Cheros across the Bihar
frontier every year,

By order of the Bmperor, Daud Khan the governor of
Bihar invaded Palamau in April 1661. He easily ocecupied the
forts of Kuthi, Kunda, and Deogan which guarded the northern
frontier of that kingdom, and advanced cuffing the jungle and
making a road towards the capital. On 7th December he
attacked the enemy’s trenches two miles before Palamau, and
after a severe fight for three days put the Chero army to flight.
Then a path was cleared with great labour through the remain-
ing two miles of jungle, and the Mughals attacked the Rajal’s
trenches before his capital on the 13th. Affer a stubborn fight
for six hours, the enemy fled into the city, which was immediately
stormed by the exultant Mughals, At night the Rajah
escaped from his fort, which was seized by the Mughals next
day. Palamau was annexed fo the subafi of Bihar,

In 1662, a disputed succession in Nawanagar, the capital of
the State of Halar in north-western Kathiawad, led to the
Mughal suserain’s intervention. The faujdar of Junagarh, after
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a stubborn fight with the usurper in which the imperialists lost
611 men in killed and wounded (13 Feb. 1663), slew the
usurper and restored the rightful heir to the throne. But the
peninsula long continued unsettled,

In 1664 two forces were sent from Darbhanga and Gorakh-
pur to co-operate in chastising the rebel Rajah of Morang (a
hill country  west of Kuch Bihar and north of the Purnea
disirict).  Early in 1676 we read of Morang being conquered
anew.

A punitive expedition visited the Kumatn hills, the dominion
ot Rajah Bahadur Chand, in 1665, After a long contest the
Rajah secured his pardon in 1673,

‘,;:f" § 5. . Abolition of duties on grain ; Emperor’s
. -
. L,f‘” Istamic ordinances.

Immediately affer his second enthronement, Aurangsib fook
two measures which had become presssing necessities, During
the War of Succession the economic ruin of many parts of
Northern India was complete, and grain was selling at famine
prices. The ovil was aggravated by the inland transit dufies;
at every ford, ferry, hill pass or provincial boundary, rafhdari
or toll of one-tenth of the value of the goods was taken on
{he passing merchandise as wages for guarding the roads. In
the larger towns, like Agra, Delhi, Lahor, and Buthanpur, a duty
{called pandari) was levied on all articles of food and drink
brought from outside for sale, Aurangzib abolished both
the rcafidari and the pandaei in the Crownlands and
requested the jagirdars and zamindars to do the same in
their estates, This was done, and there was a free flow of
corn to every place affected by scarcity, and the price of grain
fell appreciably. A large number of cesses (abwabs), many of
them frivial and vexatious, were abolished by Aurangzib in
1673, [See my Mughal Administration, Ch. 5.1 The ocfroi
duty on tobacco was abolished in 1666.
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Aurangzib had claimed the throne as the champion of pure
Islam against the heretical practices and principles of Dara
Shukoh. Soon after his second coronation (June, 1639) he
issued the following ordinances to restore the rules of orthodox
Islam and to bring the lives of the people into closer accord
with the teaching of the Quran.

(1) The Mughal emperors before him used to stamp the
Muhammadan confession of faith (fa/ima) on their coins.
Aurangzib forbade it.

(9) The ancient kings of DPersia, and following them the
Muslim rulers of that country as well as the Mughal sovereigns
of India, used to observe the day when the Sun enters the
Aries as an occasion of general rejoicing and carnival al
Court because it was the New Year's Day (nauroz) of the
Zoroastrian calendar (ist of Farwardin). Aurangzib forbade
the keeping of the day and transferred the customary Nauroz
rejoicings of the Court to the coronation festivity following the
month of Ramzan.

(3) A Censor of Morals {(mufitasib) was appointed to enforce
the Prophet’s laws and putdown the practices forbidden by him,
such as drinking distilled spitits or fermented beer, bhang and
other liquid intoxicants, gambling, and the illicit commerce of
the sexes. Opium and ganja, however, were not interdicted.
The punishment of heretical opinions, blasphemy and omission
of prayer and fast by Muslims also lay within the province
of this Inquisiion. A party of mansabdars and afiadis was
posted under him to enforce his orders.

4y An imperial circular, dated 13th May 1659, was
sent to all the provinees, forbidding the culfivation of
bbang. ,

(5) All the old mosques and monasteries, many of which had
become mere ruins, wete repaired, and imams, muazzins, £fatibs
and atfendants were appointed in them with regular salaties,

His puritanical rigour grew with age. We may conveniently
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study here his measures for enforcing his own ideas of the
morose scriousness of life :

(6) At the commencement of the 11th year of his reign,
he forbade the Court musicians fo perform before him.
“Gradually music was tofally forbidden at Courl”

The sons of the Muses took their revenge by turning the
public laughter against their crowned foe.  About one thousand
of the musicians of Delhi assembled on a TFriday when
Aurangzib was going to the mosque. They came out with over
. twenty highly ornamented biers, as is the customof the country,
crying aloud with great grief. From afar Aurangzib saw this
multitude and heard their great weeping and lamentation, and
wondering, sent to know the cause of so much sorrow. The
musicians replied with sobs that the king’s orders had killed
Music, therefore they were bearing her to the grave. The king
calmly remarked that they should see that she was thoroughly
well buried !

(7) The ceremony of weighing the Emperor against gold
and silver on his two birthdays (according to the lunar and
solar calendars) was stopped.

(8) In 1668, the two stone elephants placed by Jahangit on
the two side-pillars of the Hatipul gale of Agra fort, were
removed by the Emperor.

(9 In April 1670, the courliers were ordered to give up
the Hindu practice of saluting» each other by raising the hand
to the head and to confine themselves to the cry ‘Peace be on
you ! (salam alefum.)

(10) In March 1670 he forbade the festivities which used io
be held on his birthday; henceforth the royal band was fo
play for three hours only instead of the whole day. Early in
the 91st year of his reign (November, 1677) the customary
rejoicings on the anniversary of his coronation were abolished.

(11) It had formerly been the practice of the emperors to
apply a spol of paint (tika) with their own fingers to the

1
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forehead of great Rajahs when investing them. In May (679
{he ceremony was altogether abolished as savouring of
Hinduism.

(12) Aurangzib gave up the ceremony of darsfan or
appearing every morning at a balcony on the wall of the
palace to receive the salute of the people assembled on the
ground outside,—which Akbar had introduced and his successors
had hitherfo practised. It was akin to the Hindu practice of
having a look at one’s tutelary idol before beginning the
day’s work.

(15) The roofing over of buildings containing tombs, the
lime-washing of sepulchres, and the pilgrimage of women lo
the graveyards of saints, were forbidden, as opposed to
the Quranic law.

But his attempt to elevate mankind by one leap failed, and
the administration made itself ridiculous by violenily enforcing
for a ftime, then relaxing, and finally abandoning a code of
puritanical morals opposed to the feelings of the entire popula-
fion, without first trying to educate them to a higher level of
thought. As Manucci noticed, “It was so common to drink
spirits when Aurangzib ascended the throne, that one day he
said in a passion thaf in all Hindustan no more than two men
could be found who did net drink, namely himself and the
Chief Qazi. The regulations were siict at first, but litle by
litle they were relaxed,..there being few who do not drink
sccrefly..The ministers themselves drank and loved to get
drunk.” So, too, inn the case of the order against music.

Notorious instances of gambling were punished by the
Emperor. Manucei mentions that he ordered all the public
women and dancing-girls to marry or leave the realm; but
the same writer’s narrative shows that fthis rule was a dead
letter. His prohibition of the Aol celebration in the streets,
when obscene songs were sung and faggot was extorted
from all people for bonfires, was clearly a police regulation.
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So, also, was the order putting a stop to Muharram processions
in future, after a deadly fight between rival processionists at
Burhanpur in 1669,

In 1664 Aurangsib issued an order forbidding the burning
of Hindu widows with their husbands’ corpses. But
Government was powerless -fo  enforce the prohibition
everywhere. The inhuman practice of castrating children with
a view to selling them as slaves, was ordered to be suppressed
(1668) throughout the empire.

§ 6. Persecution of Dara’s favourite theologians
and of Reretics.

The enforcement of Islamic orthodoxy gave Aurangzib
an opporfunity for punishing those Iiberal holy men of his
creed whom Dara had favoured. One such was Shah
Muhammad Badakhshi, a disciple of Mian Mir and a facile
composer of mystic poetry. Dara had greatly honoured and
cherished him, and, therefore, after Aurangzib's accession he
was summoned to the imperial presence. But on the way
he died at Lahor in 1661,

But the most nofable victin of this class was Sarmad, a
Sufi of the highest celebrity in Indja. This man was born of
Jewish parents at Kashan in Persia and made himself a
rabbi (theological scholar) by his mastery of the Hebrew
Seriptures. Then he embraced Islam under the name of
Muhammad Said, and afler coming to India as a trader, met
at Tafta a Hindu lad named Abhay Chand, with whom he
was so infatuated {hat he became a naked fagir and induced
Abhay Chand to be his disciple. At Dethi, he was made
much of by Dara Shukoh and even introduced to Shah Jahan.

Sarmad was a pantheist, and his smooth flowing verses
breathe not only the mystic fervour of the Sufi, but also a
lofty spirit of catholicity which rises above the wrangle
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of sects and adores the truth inherent in all creeds, His
attitude to Muhammad was one of deep respect; but on
several points of Muslim theology and fradition his opinions
were unorthodox. “God,” he held, “is a maferial substance . ..
and His materiality is symbolized by a human figure and
body...The reward of good deeds and the punishment of
sins take place in this world, A man’s soul is born again
after a period of sleep exactly as long as his last life.”

Sarmad used lo go about stark naked. As an
uncompromising Monist, he denied the existence of Matter
and felt no shame about anything pertaining to his body.

A bench of Muslim theologians sat in  judgment over
Sarmad and sentenced him to death on account of heresy.
The real reason was polifical, as he is said to have assured
Dara of success in contesting the throne.

In 1672, a Shia officer (diwan) named Muhammad Tahir
was beheaded for cursing the first three Khalifs. In 1667, a
Portuguese friar who had embraced Islam and then reverted
to his former faith, was hkilled at Aurangabad for apostacy.
The spiritual guide of the Bohra sect, Sayyid Qutb-ud-din of
Ahmadabad, is said to have been put to death with 700
of his followers, by order of Aurangsib.

§7. Aurangzib's velations with the outer Muslim world.

After he was firmly seated on the throne, Aurangzib
received a succession of embassies from all the Muhammadan
States which had trade relations with India, to congrahilate
him on his accession.

After the War of Succession, he planned to drown in a
shower of gold any scruples which the headmen and
theologians of the Holy City might have felt in acknowledging
as lawful sovereign the usurper of a loving father’s throne.
In November, 1659, shortly after his grand coronation, he
despatched Sayyid Mir Ibrahim, with six lakhs and sixty
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thousand Rupces for distribution among the Sayyids, recluses,
servitors of the mosques and shrines, and devolees at Mecca
and Medina.  Thereafter agents of the Sharif used to  visit
the Delhi Cowrt every vyear and levy contributions in the
name of the Prophet. But at last the Sharif's greed made
Aurangzib turn against him. In the last decade of his reign
he wrole to his wazir, “The Sharif of Mecca, having heard of
the greal wealth of India, sends an envoy every vear for
makine his own gain. The money that | send there is meant
for the poor and nol for fiim.”

Atter  Aurangzib had made himself undisputed master of
the throne, Shah Abbas II. sent a grand embassy under Budag
Beg, the caplain of his muskeleers, to congratulate him (1661),

The Dersians have been rightly called the Frenchmen of
Asia. Their country has been the spring-head of the culture
thought and fashion of the entire I[slamic world. Persian
influence has moulded the poelry of all Muslim lands, and
Persian manners and laste have been laboriously, if sometimes
clumsily, imitaled by all Muhammadan Coutts from Cordova
and Constantinople to Dethi and  Seringapafam. Kings
have dreaded the sharpness of a Dersian safirist's pen
more than their enemies’ swords The news that a
Dersian mission was coming caused a flutter in  the
Mughal Court. Bvery one from the Emperor down to
the meanest guardsman felt that he and his country
were on iheir brial. His manners and conduct would be
judged by the masters of social decorum in all Asia, and if
he was found wanfing ih corcectness of faste and proper dignity
in the least parlicular, he would be made the laughing-siock
of the enlire Muslim world,

The presents from the Shah were wotth Rs. 4,22,000. On
g7 July 1661 the envoy was given leave to depart On  him
and his enfourage the Emperor conferred giffs  worth
Rs 535000. A return embassy charged with a reply to  Shah

8
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Abbas's letter, was sent under Tarbivat Khan, the governor ot
Multan, on 2nd  November 1663, with presents worth  more
than seven lakhs of Rupees, and a letter in which Aurangzib
thanked the Shah for his [Iriendly views, but declared i a
lofty fone that he needed no man's help as  he depended
solely on  God's favour; his astonishing victories were a
proof of God’s abounding grace on him. Then  he naturally
glided into a long and exultant narrative of his triumphs  over
his brothers. The Mughal envoy had audience of the Shah
al Isfahan, but he was very rudely ureated and subjected lo
much humiliation and suffering. The Persian king  often
uttered threals of invading India in his presence, It was
probably at this time that he sent Aurangzib a long letter
composed by Mirza Tahir Wahid, vigorously defending the
Shia religion, glorifying the Persian roval house, sneering at
Aurangzib, and bragging of his own success as a ruler and
defender of the true faith !

At last after a year's stay in Persia, Tarbiyat Khan was
given conge (1666) and entrusted with a taunting letter for
Aurangzib. In it Shah Abbas writes, “I learn that most of lhe
zamindars of India are in rebellion because their ruler is
weak, incompetent and withowt  resources. The chiel of
them is the impious Kafir Shiva, who had long lived in such
obscurity that none knew of his namme ; but now, taking
advantage of vour lack of means and the refreat of your
iroops, he has made himself visible like the peak of a mountain,
seized many forls, slain  or captured many of vour
soldiers, occupled much of that country, plundered and wasted
many of vyour ports, cities and villages, and finally wants to
come fo grips with vou. You style yourself a World-congueror
(dlamgir} while you have only conquered your father and
have gained composure of mind by the murder of your
brothers. It is beyond your power to repress lawless men.
My ancestors have been the refuge of the kings of the world,—



SHAM JAHAN'S CAPTIVE 10T It

[#1]

siness how we restored o their thrones Humayun and Nazar
Muhammad Khan. Now that you, the successor of lumayun,
are in distress, it is iy roval aim to go personally to India
wilh my multitudinous artay, meet you (which has long been
my Jesire), g¢ive you every help and extinguish the fire of
disorder.”  Aurangzib vented his impotent rage on the innocent
envoy, accused him of having failed in his duty, denied him
audience, and degraded him in rank.

This Shah died in August 1667, and the threatened DPersian
invasion of India ended in words, though Aurangzib kept a
vigilant eye on his DPersian frontier to the end of his life.
Other embassies to Aurangzib came from Balkh and Bukhara
(1661 and again in 1667), Kashghar (1664), Ureanj (Khiva),
Constantinople (1690), and Abyssinia (1663 and again in 1671).
The Delhi Government had also  friendly intercourse with
several petty chiefs of Arabia and Central Asia, as well as the
Turkish governors of Basra.

In the space of less than seven years (1661-67), Aurangzib
spent over 21 lakhs of Rupees in receiving and sending out
these embassies, besides 11 lakhs given to Abdullah Khan, the
ex-King of Kashghar, who took refuge in India in 1668,

88, Sfah Jaban's captive lite in Agra fort and wrangles

witlr Aucangsib,

When Shah Jahan opened the gates of Agra fort to his
victorious son, he became a prisoner for the rest of his life.
To e “King of Kings” the change was very bitfer indeesd, agyl
it was only after any a slruggle that he accepted it
The letters that he wrote fo Dara and Shuja were intercepted
by _ Aurangzib’s men and the eunuchs who tried lo smuggle

them  out of Agra, fort were severely punished. The result of
thebe fullle attempts was to fighten the bonds of his caplivity.
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Shah lahan was now complelely ringed round by enemics. No
one could interview him. Every remark made by the caplive
was prompily reported to Aurangzib by official spies. Even
writing materfals were withheld from the ex-Emperor,

The fall of the most magnificent of the Great Mughals was
robbed of dignily by Aurangzib’s insatiable cupidity, which led to
many sordid wrangles between father and son lor the possession
of the crown jewels worn by Shah Jahan or hept in Agra fort.
The captive Emperor could never forget that he was their
lawful owner and that his son was an  usurper without any
moral right to State property. To this argument Aurangszib
replied, “The royal property and treasures exist for the good
of the community, because these pay no fithe...The king is only
God’s chosen custodian and the trustee of God's money for
the benefit of the people.” Al the crown property in Agra
forf, therefore, belonged to him as the reigning sovereign.

Dara al the time of his flight had deposited 97 lakhs of
Rupess worth of jewels, belonging fo  his wives and daughters,
in Agra fort. Aurangzib demanded their surrender. Shal
Jahan long resisted, but at last he vielded them wup. Again,
Agrangzib demanded that Dara’s women sinders should be sent
to him. Immediately after the capitulation of Agra fort (8th June
1658}, Aurangzib had sealed up all the rooms of royal apparel,
furniture, plate, jewels and treasure. All the property was
ordered o be “altached siriclly and with gvery possible care”

On the departure of Muhammad Sultan, the eunuch Mutamad
became all in all and treated Shah Jahan with great harshness
and neglect. “He somefimes allowed it to be seen that he
treated Shah Jahan as a miserable slave.”

During the first year of his captivity a very acrimonious
correspondence passed  between father and son. Throughout
the confroversy Auranggib poses as the champion of Islam and
good government, as the humble instrument of God in the work
of reform and popular beneficence ; he condemins his father's
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incompetence and unjust rule, and  defends his own conduct
with all the mingled self-rightecusness and affected humility of
a Pharisee. To the charge of being an  unnatural son and a
a rebel, he replies thus :

“So long as you held the reins of government, I never did
anything without your permission, nor did I ever step beyond my
jurisdicion. Duting your illness Dara usurped all power, girt
up his loins to promote [linduism and destroy Islam, and
acled as king, totally sefting you aside. The govetnment fell
into disorder....My march on Agra was not due to a rebel-
Hous spirit, but to a dJesire to put an end to Dara's usurpation,
his lapse from Islam and his exaltation of idolatry throughout
the empire....I was compelled, out of regard for (he next world,
to take up the perilous load of the crown, out of sheer necessity
and not from free choice,—for restoring peace and the rules
of Islam in the realm.”

His own idea of the Ring’s posilion and duty is high, even
stoical :  “Kingship means the profection of the realm and the
guardianship (of the peaple), and not the enjoyment of bodily
repose or the lusts of the flesh.”

Ile points exultantly to his own success against heavy odds,
as a proof of God’s favour to him and of the righteousness
of his cause. Shah Jahan, thereforc, as a wise man must
submit to the divine dispensation and accept Aurangzib's friumph
as the best thing that could have happened to him |

In utter scorn for such hypocrisy, Shah Jahan faunted
Aurangzib wilh being a robber of other peaple’s property, while
professing to be a frae Musalman. The prince defended his
conduct in a lofty strain of idealism: “You have written that
it 5 confrary to the Muslim faith to seize another's property.
Know that the royal property and ireasures exist for the good
of the people....A kingdom is not bereditary private properly.
The king is merely God's elected custodian and trustee of His
money for the good of the subjects.”
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Nest, Shah Jahan  warned his cruel son to remember that
fis sons might treat him as he had trealed his own  father,
Aurangzib's reply breathes the confident self-righteousness of
the Pharisee : “Well, nothing happens without God's will.
The fate that you have mentioned overtook (my) elders also.
How can I escape from the dispensations of Providence ? Every
one wets from God a return  according to his own intentions,
and as my intenfions are good, | believe that | shall not et
anything but good f[from mvy sons).”

But Shah Jahan was a truer prophel than his boaslful son.
The Nemesis of Auranqzib came in the person of his fourth son
Mubammad Akbar. When that prince rebelled in 1681, he
addressed a bitter and faunting letter to his father, which bears
a shiking similarity to Aurangzib's present letters to Shah
Jahan. In it Aurangsib s taxed with adminisirative failure
and advised to pass his old age in relisious meditation as an
atonement for the sin  of having deposed his father
and murdered two of his brothers. And finally, Aurangzib
Is asled, with what propriety he could {ax Akbar with being
an unpatiral son  when he himself had rebelled against
his own father !

The correspondence between Shah Jahan and hkis son became
infolerably bitter. At last the old monarch bowed io the
inevitable and like a child that cries itself to sleep, he ceased
to complain.

Blow  aiter blow fell on his stricken heart First Dara
Shukoh, then Murad Bakhsh, then  Sulaiman Shukoh,
were  done to death by Aurangzib. Shdja  and all
his children were driven to destruction among the unknown
horrors of the land of the Maghs. “But in spite of these
calamities, he never lost patience or thankfulness to God ; to the
last day his heart was the home of endurance and steadiness.”

Religion gave him solace. His constant companion now
was Sayyid Mubammad of Qanauj, This pious man officiated
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as his chaplain, leclor and almoner. “All the ex-Emperor's
fime was divided between ({professing) obedience to God,
prayer, performance of the oblicatory relicious services with
all the sunun, reading the Quran, or listening to the histories
of the great men of the past”

Another no less sainily bul more tender comforter he had
in his daughter Jahanara, whose loving care atoned for the
cruclty of all his other offspring. This princess, a disciple of
the saint Mian Mir, now practically led the life of a nun in the
harem of Agra fort, nursing her aged and forlorn father with
the devotion of a mother and daughter in one, while she
also Jooked after the orphan daughters of Dara and Murad
whom she had gathered under her profecting wings. In such
spirilual company, Shah Jahan prepared himself for the befter
land. Dealh lost its terrors in his eyes, and even appeared
as a welcome release from misery.

8 9. Snras Jaban's last iliness and death.

That deliverance, so wistfully desired but so calmly waited
for, came in January 1666, On the 7lh of that month, Shah
Jahan was seized with a fever. Soon other complications
appeared. He had now completed 74 years of age and had
gone through much hardship before his accession to the (hrone.
The intense cold of midwinter lowered his vitality,

Early in the night of Monday, 22ad January, his condition
was declared hopeless and the end was epected any moment.
At the news that death was near, Shah Jahari thanked God for
all the gifls and favours received in life and proclaimed his
resignation to the will of his Maker. With perfect compostire,
e gave directions for his funeral, offered consolation to his
surviving  wives, Akbarabadi Mahal and Fathpuri Mahal, his
eldest daughter Jahanara, and the other ladies of the harem,
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who were weeping around his bed, and charged Jahanara fo
look after her hali-sister Purhunar Banu and other women
whom his death would leave heipless. Next, he made his will,
took leave of his tamily and servants, giving them his last
presents and keepsakes, and ordered the Quean to  be read-
Finally, while the sacred verses were being solemuly intoned,
amidst the wail of the women and the sobs of his aftendants,
Shah Jahan, rvetaining full consciousness to the last and gazing
on the resting-place of his beloved and long-lost Mumtaz
Mahal, repeated the Muslim confession of faith, and murmured
the praver,

“O God ! make niy condition good in this world and the

next, and save me from the torments of hell-fire I”

A moment later he sank peacefully into eternal rest. It was
a quarter past seven in the evening.

The body lay in the octagonal tower (Musamman Burj)
where life had departed, in full view of the Taj Mahal, where
he wished bhis morfal remains to mingle with those of his
queen.

The officers in the fort broke open the door at the base
of staircase of the tower, which had been walled up during
Shah Jahan's captivity, and took the coffin out.

Then, conveying the roffin over the Jamuna in a boat,
they reached the Taj Mahal, and buried him by the side of all
that remained on earth of his consort Mumiaz Mahal.

The public grief at the death of Shah Jahan was universal
and sincere. All his virtues were lold over again and his few
faults forgotten. .

Nearly a month after the event Awrangzib came fo Agra
and visited Jahanara, whom he showed every courtesy and
favour, During the last days of Shah Jahan, her entreaties hacl
conquered his just resentment and he had at last signed,
after many previous refusals, a pardon to Aurangzib for
the wrongs he had done to his father.
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Aurangzib's {reatment of his father oulraged not only the

moral sensc of his contemporaries
of the age.
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CHAPTER VI
WARS ON THE [RONTIERS :  ASSAM AND AFGHANINTAN

8 [ Mughfial rvelations witfi Kuchi Bifiar and
Assam before 1658,

Barly in the 16th century, a Mongoloid soldier of lortune
named Vishwa Singh (reien 1515-1540) founded a dynasty
which  sfill  rules over Kuach Bihar. e adopted the Hindu
religion and Hindu culture and ably  oreanized his administra-
tion and army. His eldest son and successor Nara Narayan
(r. 1540-1384) was a saintly  recluse ; but  Raghudey, he son
ot this king's younger Dbrother, forced him 1o instal him as
king over Kamrup or the caslern Kuch counlry, lying belween
the rivers Sankosh and Bar Nadi, which the Muslim historians
call the province of Kueh [Hajo and which now forms the
Goalpara and Kamrup districls of Western Assam.  Raghudev's
son  Parikshit attacked Lakshmi Narayan, ihe successot of
Nara Narayan, who sought the aid of the Mughal governor
of Bengal. The Muslim army  conquered  and annexed Kuch
Hajo (1612), and thus the imperial [ronlier was cacried up
o the Bar Nadi on the north-east, and the Mughal Government
came into contacl with the Ahom hkings who ruled over
cenfral and castern Assam across that stream.

The Aboms were a brauch of the Shan race, whose
cradle was the hilly region lying north and east of Upper
Burma. In the 13th century a prince of their ancient kingdom
of DPong eslablished himself in the s~ commer of tlhe
Brahmaputra valley, He then advanced westwards, conquering
the tribes on the way. The Ahoms were a hardy race of
demon-worshippers, eating beef and fowl and drinking
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spirituous  liquor,  with fhe Burmese  experlness  in - building
stockades and  bamboo-bricdyges, plyine  boats and makwg night
altacls,  They were  feudally organized under a number of
noblemen (called Gofains, Batuas, and Phukans). The nobles
cultivaled thelr estales by slave labour, ‘the enlire adult male
populalion was lable to military  service.  Their army consisted
entirely of loot-soldiers, stiffened by elephants.

The king was the patriarch of  the clan, and was venerated
as o semi-divine being and  the  custodian  of the tutelaty god
of the lribe (Somdeo). Ahom punishmenls were draconic,
men being pul lo dealth with toriure for the slightest faull.

Bul in  the course of their stay in Assam, the Ahoms
began 1o change under the influcnce  of Indian civilization and
the ndu religion. Hindu  priests  and  artisans had entered
Assamn in the train of the queens of the Kuch race. Viclory
in wars with the Pathan  Sultans  of Bengal had led to the
Ahoms tearning the use of fite-arms, and o the settlement
ot large numbers of caplive Bengalis  {mosily Muhammadans)
in the country. Lastly, the Vaishnav religion was preached
by Shankardev and olher  saints, and it made great progress
in the land,

The weal point of the Ahom kingdom was ils  divetsity of
population.  The dominanl race was the Ahoms. The middle
stratun of the population  was composed of the Assamese
proper,—plainsmen  wilh  many  Bengal affinities, defective in
physical strength, endurance and martial spiril. At the  bottom
of socicly lay a vast bocy of slaves, some being Mongoloid
sorfs, but most being Bengali prisoners of war, These last
were unwilling dwellers in {he land.

Farly inthe 17th cenfury, the Mughals, after annexing
Kuch Hajo (1612), had a long war with the Ahoms, who had
harboured a prince of the deposed dynasty. Af last in (638
a peace was made, by which the Muhammadans were allowed
to retain the country west of the Bar Nadi in the north
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Brahmapulra valley, and west of the Asuwrar All in the reawon
south of thal great tiver. This peace lasled for 20 years.

§ 2. Apom conquest of Kamrip, 1658,

But when in 1657 Shuja set out with most of lhe  troops
of Dengal to contest the throne, DPran Narayan, the Rajah of
Kuch Bihar, took advantage of the defenceless slale ol the
province, and sent an army under his wuair Bhabanath  fo
arrest an obnoxious vassal who had  fled to Mughal  tecritory
{Hajo). At the same fime the Ahom viceroy of the west was
making preparations for entering Mughal Kamrup.  Mir Lutfullah
Shirasi, the foujdar of Gauhali, fearing an attach from two sides
andd knowing help from Bengal to be impossible, fled by boal
to Dacca. The Assamese occupied Gauhati, the capilal of
Kamrup  without o blow, and  phundered all the movable and
immovable things in il

This happened early in (658, But by June 1660 the
civil war was finally over, and Mir Jumla was appvinted
viceroy of Bengal with orders to “punish (he lawless samindars
of the province, especially those of Assam and Maah (Arracan).”

§ 5. Mir jumla conguers Kuch Bifiar and Assam.

On st November, (661, the viceroy slarfed from Dacea
with an army of (2,000 horsc, and 30,000 {oot. A vast flotilla
of war-vesséls {at least 323 boats of all kinds) accompanied
him,—the mosl powerful of them being gfiurabs ot floating
batteries, each towed by four long row-boats (called Fosas)
and carrying 14 guns and a crew of 60 mwen.

Mir Jumla made his way  info Kuch Bihar by an obscure
and neglected highway. In six days the Mughal army reached
the capital (19th December), which had been deserled by the
Rajah and his people in  lerror. The name of the fown was
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changed o Alamoirnagar ; a mosque was built by demolishing
the principal  lemple, and  the whole kingdom was annexed
to the Mughal empire.

Alter a6 days’ stay the general left Kuch Bihar (dih
January, 1669), and invaded Assam. “On  account of the
jungles and numerous nafus the daily  progress did not exceed
door 5 miles” 1> men had to go  through unspeahable
fatioue.  The Ahom army,  devastated by  cholera, offered a
feeble  rosislance, always  refreating  before  the invaders or
being rouled  with heavy slaughter The Muslims advanced
vicloriously up the Bralmapulta, carrying all the slockades,
frenches and holes full of bamboo spikes on the way. [Fort
alter  tort was  occupied,—Jogigupha at the mouth of the
Mouas river (20th January), Gadhati, Srighat at the mouth
of the Bac Nadi (5th Peb), Pandu, Beltala, Kajali at the
moulh of the Kallang, Samdhara  at the mouth of the Bharali
viver and Simla-garh  opposite to it on the south bank of the
Brahmapulra, (950 February). The Abom  fleet {ried ifs
fortune  against the Mughal navy in the night of 3rd Mareh,
when Mir Jumla  anoihilated  the  enemy's naval power and
seized 300 boats.

The invaders reached Garhgaon on 17th March, lts Rajah
Jayadhwaj had fled away, abandoning his capital and all his
property,  The spoils taken in Assan were enormous :—82
elephants, 3 lakhs of Rupees in cash, 675 pieces of arlillery,
1345 camelswivels, 1200  Ramchangis, 6750 matchlochs,
340 maunds of gunpowder, a thousand and odd boals, and
(75 storehouses of paddy, each containing {rom 10 to 1000
maunds of grain.

Mir Jwmla now made his arrangemecots for going futo
cantonmenis  and  keeping  hold of the conquersd country
during the coming rainy season. Owing to the shallowness
of the river near the capital, the Mughal fleet could nol sail
up  to that town, but had to halt some 18 miles north-west of
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it al Lakhau, The general  with the main army went  into
quarters  al  Mathurapur, a village lying on a high  wround,
oven miles s-0c. of  Carbgaon (Glsl March). The Ahom
capital, containing all the artillery, clephants, stores and property
of the Mughal army, was  held by a slrong carrison  under
Mir Murtaza. Many outposts were set up.

The enemy’s forces were lhus distributed @ the  Bar Gohain
oceupied the mountains south of  Garhgaon, most of the olher
nobles wiih their followers lived in the  huge island of Majuli,
formed by lhe fork of the Brahmapulra and the Dihing, while
the Rajah fled to  Namrup, the easternmost provinee of his

Jominion.

§ 4. Constant fighting withi Ahorms ; Mngfials isolated
dueing Ihe rainy season.

But there was no repose in the Mughal outposts even from
the first. The Ahoms soon resumed the  offensive, maling
night attacks on the outposls. Lven Gathgaon  was assaulted ;
but the abtetnpt  failled.  Barlv  in May, the rains  came Jown
in torrents, the rivers rose in flood, lhe movemenl of  troops
by land became impossible, and  he imperial  outposts were
isolated.  In fact,  during the whole rainy  season, from the
beginning of  May o near the end of October, the Mughal
army in  Assam lived in a stale of siege. llach of its  posls
stood like an island  surrounded by water, and no provision
could come from the fleet at Lakhau because the river ol
Garhgaon was not  decp eunough  for the lage armed  boals,
while the small trading vessels  could nof safely  bly on i so
long as the Ahom entrenchmenls on ils banks were not
carried,

For lack of proper food, cavalty hogses and  dravght
catle perished by the thousand. No supplies of any  kind,
not even news, could come from the outside world,
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O 10lh May the Mushal oupost al Gajpur fell, the Ahoms
thus culling ofl communications between the Mughal army and
navy. Al Garhgaon, (oo, lhe enemy concentrated and kept
the garrison  in perpetual alarm. Mir  Jumla, theretore, with-
drew all his &anas. The Ahom king recovered all his country
cast ol Lakha. The Mughals held only  Garhgaon and
Malhuarapur,

The wvivour ol Ahom attack  was now redoubled The
minor  encounters  that  took place almost daily are beyond
count.  The well-brod cavaliers ot Delhi fought without heeding
how they were  blistered by the sun, or soaked i water and
bespattered  with mud, -but  over  vigilant and ever k?cady to
repel the enemy.

After  amosl  daily altacks and alarms, an assault in focee
was defivered on Garhgaon in the night of 8th July. The
Ahoms  broke  down the bamboo railing on the north side of
the  palace  enclosure, routed the Buxari matehlock-men posted
there, and seized half the enclosure, which was the clfadel of
Garhgaon.  Pinally, by the exerlion ol every man in the
garrison (he fort was completely recovered, and the night of
crisis  passed  away, The  grandest of all  the assaults was
delivered  on (2lh July by ihe enfire Ahom army in tour
divisions from four sides al the same Hime ; but they all faited,
and never again was the enclosure penelraled by the encmy,

I Augusl a  terible  epidemic  broke oul in the Mughal
camp al Mathurapur ; fever and flux cartied off hundreds
daily, Diliv Khan's corps was reduced from {500 troopers o
about 450, The whole of Assam was infecled, and two
hundred and thicly thousaud of its people died of disease that
vear. In the Mughal camp no suitable diet or comfort was
available {or the sick ; all had to live on coatse rice ; no
wheat, no pulse, no gfee, no sugar, and no opium or tobacco
excepl  a litle at fabulous prices. A pipe of lobacco sold at
WRs. 3, a folr ol opium at a gold mofiar, a secr of mung-tal
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al s 10, and salt also al the same rate as the last.  The
Hindustani  and Turki soldiers languished for want of wheaten
bread 5 the horses perished from eating rice.

At lasl life at Mathurapur became unbearable, and on (7th
August the army returncd lo  Garhgaon ; many of the sick
were left behind tor want of lransport.

The exultant Ahoms renewed their  attacks on  Garhgaon
and there was  fighting  cvery night outside the fort.  The
pestifence now reached its  exlreme, as  the relugees from
Mathurapur had infected the garrison ol Garhgaon. Mir Jumla
fived and ate like the common soldiers.

By the third week of Seplember, the worst was vver,
The rain began to  decrease, the ‘'flood went down, the
roads re-appeared,

§ 5. Doings of Mughal navy ; Mir Jumla
resumes the offensive,

Through all these dark months the Mughal navy posted ot
Lakhau under admiral [bn Husain, saved itself and thus  saved
the army. His boats plicd up and down the river and lept
constant touch with Gauhati and through it with Dacca and
Delhi. Then he landed and made reprisals against the Ahom
nobles shellering  in the Majuli island.  And  finally, when lhe
rains began to decrease he co-operaled from the north to
open the road to Garhgaon. From Lakhau large quantitics of
provisions were now sent by land aod water uander escort,
and arrived at  Garhgaon on 24th  and 31st Oclober
respectively.  Dlenty now look the place of famine.

The land having dried, the Mughal cavalry was again
jrresistible, and Jayadhwaj and his nobles fled to the fills of
Namrup a second lime. Mir Jumla now resumed the offensive,
and marched by way of Solaguri to Tipam, (18th December),
This was destined {o be the [arthest point of his advance, On

‘
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90th November he had a fainting fit.  “This was the beginning
of the disease of which he was to die” But he clung
tenaciously to his  purpose. On 30th November the BRaduli
Phukan came over to the Mughal side, and was highly
rewarded and made the Tmperor's viceroy for FEastern Assam.
More Ahom notables followed his profitable example of
desertion, and Jayadhwaj was left helpless and alone in  the
peslilential hills of Namrup.

On 10th  December, Mir Jumla had a severe aftack of
illness; a burning fever seized him, to which pleurisy was
soon added, The entire Mughal army refused to enter Namrup
and plofled to desert their general and return home.

8 6. Treaty of peace with Assam.

Through Dilir Khan's mediation a treaty was signed with
the Ahom king, on the {ollowing terms -

() Jayadhwaj would send his daughter and the sons of
the Tipam Rajah to the Mughal Court

(i) The Ahom king would deliver immediately a war~
indemnity of 90,000 folas of gold, 1,20,000 folas of silver, and
20 elephants to the Emperor (besides 15 and 5 elephants for
Mir Jumla and Dilic Khan respeclively).

(ii) During the next 12 months he would deliver 3 lakhs
of folas of silver and 90 elephants in three equal inslalments,
as lhe balance of the indemnity.

(iv) Thereafter he wotld pay an annual kibute of 20
elephanis.

(v} Pending the full payment of the indemnity, the sons
of the Burha Gohain, the Bar Gohain, the Garhgaonia Phukan,
and the Bar VPatra Phukan, were to be held by the Nawab
as hostages.

(vi) Assam, west of the Bharali river on the north bank
of the Brabhmaputra and west of the Kallang river on the

9
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south bank, was to be annexed to thc empire. Thus the
Mughals were to gel more than half of the province of
Darrang, rich in clephants.

(vi) The captives cartied ofl by the Ahoms from the
Mughal dominions (esp. Kamrup) wete to be  released, as also
the wife and children of the Baduli Phukan whom the king
had thrown into prison.

On 5th  January, 1663, the Ahom king’s daughter, hostages,
and some gold silver and clephants, as part of the indemnity,
reached the Mughal camp, and five days later Mir Jumla began
his return march. At last, yielding to medical advice he
embarked in a boat and glided down the river towards Dacea,
dying on the way on 31st March, 1663.

8 7. Greatness of Mir Jumla's character.,

Judged as a military exploit, Mir Jumla’s invasion of Assam
was a success. e {orced the Rajah to make a humiliating
treaty, realized a large indemnity, and sccured the promise of
a large cession of territory and further payments. If ils
political consequences were not  permaneni, if the ecded
districts  were lost and even Gauhali wrested {rom the Mughal
grasp only four years after his death, lhe faull was not his.

Though Mir Jumla’s expedilion ended n heavy loss of men,
his own death from disease and exhaustion and the speedy
loss of his aecquisitions in Kuch DBihar and Assam, yet his
character shone with supreme radiance in this enterprise. No
other general of that age conducted war wilth so much
humanity and justice, nor kept his soldiers, privates and
captains alike, under such discipline ; no ofhier general could
have refained to the Ilast the confidence and even affection
of his subordinates amidst such appalling sufferings and
dangers. The owner of 920 maunds of diamonds, viceroy of
the rich province of Bengal, he shared with the meanest soldier
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the privations of the march and brought premature death on
himself by scorning delights and living laborious days. He
issued slrict orders forbidding plunder, rape and oppression
on the people, and saw fo it that his orders were obeyed.
The stern  punishment which he meted out to the first few
offenders had a salutary effect. We realize Mir Jumla's peculiar
excellence  more clearly by contrast with others.  With a hero
like Mir Jumla, the rhetoric of the historian Talish ceases to be
extravagance ;  his eulogy of the general is not fulsome flattery
but homage descrvedly paid to a born king of men.

S 8. Muahialy lose Kamrup : fafil for it 1667—1681.

The Mughals continued lo hold Mir Jumla’s gains in Assam
i 1667. The Ahoms paid the war-indemnity in full, but
in five vyears. Their new hing Chakradhwaj (accession in
November 1663) determined on  war and made prepatations
for it. In August 1667 he sent two armies under his nobles
down the two banks of the Brahmaputta. The Mughal forts
on the way fell in rapid succession, and finally Gauhali
itsell was captured early in November. Immense quantities
of arms, horses, and other spoils fell into the hands of the
viclors, and large numbers of Muslims, Including several
officers, were faken prisoners and massacred. At one blow
the Mughal fronfler was pushed back to the Monas river.
Gauhati became the seat of an Ahom viceroy.

The Mughals tried o reconquer the lost territory, but a
long desultory and finally fruiless warfare followed. In
February 1669, Ram Singh (the son and successor of Mirza
Rajah Jai Singh) atrived at Rangamati from the Court to
fahe charge of the war. But from the first his task was
hopcless, He had only 8000 troopers tound his standards
and his losscs were seldom replenished. The Ahoms, being
a nafion i arms, mustered one hundred {housand when
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mobilized. Unlike the time of Mir Jumla's invasion, the
mastery of the water now belonged to the Ahoms, and the
Mughals could do litlle with their 40 war-vessels on the
Brahmapuira. '

Nor had Ram Singh his heart in the work, as he knew
that he had been sent to Assam to dic of fever as a punish-
ment for his having assisted in the cscape of Shivaji from
Agra in 1666. Soon after his arrival on the scene, Ram
Singh laid siege 1o Gauhati, but all his attempts to lake it
failed. In March 1671 he fell back on Rangamati and
stayed there for some years, doing nothing. FPinally in 1676
he was permitted to return to Court.

After the death of Chakradhwaj (1670), the Ahom
monatchy was greally weakencd by inlernal troubles. From
1670 to 1681 “In the shori space of cleven years (here
were no less than seven kings, not one of whom died a
natural death;” ambilious and unscruptlous nobles usurped
the supreme power, fought cach other for selfish gain, made
and unmade kings. In Pebruary, 1679, the Bar Dhukan, in
fear of his tival the Burha Gohain, betraved Gauhati into
the hands of the Mughals.

But in 1681 QGadadhar Singh ascended the Ahom Hhrone
and soon retrieved the glory of his house. He easily captured
Gathafi with a vast amount of booty. Thus, Kamreup was
{inally lost to Bengal.

While Mir Jumla was besicged in Garhgaon (1669), Kuch
Bihar had been recovered by its Rajah and the Mughal garrison
expelled. In March 1664, Shaista Khan, the new wgovernor
of Bengal, reached Rajmahal, and the Kuch Rajah imne-
diately made his submission in fear of the Mughal arms,
and paid an indemnity of five and a half lakhs of Rupees.
This Rajah, Pran Narayan, died in 1666, and thereaiter, for
nearly half a century, the State was paralysed by civil wars,
royal oppression and internal disorder. The Mughals {ook
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advantage of it to extend their swav over the southern and
eastern portions of the kingdom, conquering much of the
present districts of Rangpur  and Western Kamrup, and fotcing
the Rajah in 1711 o confirm these gains by treaty.

§ 9. Pirales of Chatgaon and lheir tarages in Bengal,

The district of Chatgaon was for many centuries a
debatable Jand between the Muslim  rulers of Bengal and the
Mongoloid chiefs of Arrakan. Tarly in the 17th century
the Feni river was fixed as the boundary between the two
Powers, but during the next half century the Magh ascendency
in the rivers and crecks  of East Bengal became complete in
consequence of Jahangir's  supine  administration, the rebellion
of his heir Shah Jahan, and the increase of the Arrakanesc
naval power by the infusion of a foreign element, vi%., the
Feringi or Portuguese adventurers and their half-caste offspring,
who lived in Chatgaon as the obedient instruments of the
local Rajah.

“The Arrakan pirates, both Magh and Feringi, used constantly
to come by the water-route and plunder Bengal, They cartied
off the Hindus and Muslims that they could seize.  On reaching
home the pirales employed some of the hardy men that
had survived the voyage in fillage and other degrading pursuits,
The olhers were sold to the Dutch, English and French
merchants at the porls of the Deccan. As they continually
practised raids for a long time, Bengal daily became more
and more desolale and loss and les§ able to resist them, The
district of Bakla (fe, Bagarganj and part of Dacca), which
formerly abounded in houses and cultivated fields and yielded
a large revenus as daty on  betel-nuts, was swept so clean
with their broom of plunder and abduction that ‘none was
lefl to tenant any house or Rindle a light in that region.”

“The sailors of the Bengal flofilla were inspired with such
fear of the pirates that whenever a hundred war-boats of the
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former sighted only four of the lalter, the Bengal crew
thought themselves lucky if they could save their lives by
flight,”

“The Feringi pirates used to give half their booly to the
Rajah of Arrakan and keep the other hall,  They were
popularly known as the Harmad (a corruption of the Portuguese
word Aemada or flee) and owned a hundred swift galleys
full of war-material.,” Manucei  hnew them as  “mea hacd ot
heart, accustomed 1o kill even little children without a
regret”

A heavy loss was caused to the imperial revenue by the
depopulation of the riverside areas of Easl Bengal. Imperial
prestige was even more gricvously affected. The safely of
the province demanded that the nest of pirates at Chalgaon
should be conguered.

Shaista Khan was ordered to underlake this unfinished work
of Mir Jumla. At first sight his task scemed to be utterly
hopeless. The Mughal flotilla (nawwara) stationed in  Bengal,
for the maintenance of which 14 Jakhs of Rupees a year
was  provided by means of land grant, had greatly
deferiorated owing to DPrince Shuje’s slack administration
and the peculation of the officers, What remaincd of it
was ruined during Mir Jumla's invasion of Assam. In short,
the Bengal navy had now practically ccased to exist
and Shaista Khan's first task was to create one ancw.

This he now did. His spirit and energy overcame every
obslacle, At the dockyards of Dacea, Hughli, Jessore, Dale-
shwar, Karibari ete. new ships were bull, and in a liltle
over a vyear's time a new navy of 300 boals was built and
manned and equipped for war. At Dhapa, six miles south-cas!
of Dacca town, a hundred war-vessels were stationed and 200
more at Sangramgarh 30 miles furlher south, the two posls
being connected by a milifary road raised above the flood
level. The island of Sondip s a very convenient half-way
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house between  Sangramgarh and  Chatgaon, being only six
hours' sail of the latter town. Iis present master was Dilawwat,
a runaway captain of the Mughal navy, but a wartior and
ruler of remarkable ability.

In November 1665, the cruising admiral Abul Hasan attacked
and  caplured Sondip ; Dilawwar who had fousht most
heroically, though he was now an old man of eighty, was
wotinded and taken in chains to Dacca, and a Mughal garrison
was put in the island,

Shaista Khan now won the Feringis over with tempting
offers of service under the Mughals. His work was made
casier by a murderous quarrel between these men and their
Arrahanese masters. The whole TFeringl colony of Chatgaon
hurrfedly fled with their families and property to Maghal
terctlory  (Dec. 16635), Their leaders were enrolled in the
imperial navy on liberal salaries. “The coming over of the
Peringis gave compostire to the hearts of the people of Bengal.”

§ 10, Mugfial conquest of Chatgaon.

On  24th  December, 1665, the expeditionary foree, 6,500
strong, left Dacea under command of Buzurg Ummed Khan, a
son of Shaista Khan. The imperial fleet nunbered 288 vessels
of all kinds ; the Feringis, with about 40 vessels of their own,
acted as audliaties, The plan of campaign was that the fleet
under Tbn Husain should creep along the coast, while the army
should march parallel to it, cutling the jungle along the sea~
shore stage by stage and making a way, cach branch support-
ing the other. Tarhad Khan leading the vanguard crossed
the Peni river on 14fh January, 1666, and entered the
Arrakanese lerritory,

On the 93rd, the Mughal admiral sailed out of the
Kumatia creek and encountered the enemy’s fleet, consisting
of 10 gBurabs and 45 jalias, which had come out of the
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Kathalia creek to give battle, The Feringis led the Mughal
van, and their onset decided the day. The Maghs in the
gfirabs jumped cverboard giving their ships up to caplure,
while the jalias fled away.

But this was only the light squadron of the cnemy's
fleet. Their larger ships, which carried more guns, now camc
out of the Hurla creek into the open sca.

The second and greater victory was won next morning
{24th Januwary), when the Muslims flying their  victorious
banners, advanced wupon the enemy firing their guns. The
Arrakanese fleet retreated into the Karnafuli river, firing on
the advancing Mughals. Entering the mouth of the civer al
3 p. M, they drew up their ships in line of baitle between
Chateaon and an island in midstream. On the opposile bank,
close to the village of Feringi-bandar, they had erccted three
bamboo stockades. But Ibn Husain sent most of his ships up the
river and also made an aftack by land, and took the stockacles.

Then the Mughals, flushed with victory, dashed themsclves
upon the enemy’s ships, A greal ballle was fought.  The fort
of Chatgacn also opened fire on the Mughals. At last the
enemy were vanquished ; many of their sailors jumped
ovorboard and escaped by swimming, a few being  drowned ;
the rest were slain or faken prisoner. One hundred aind
thirty-five vessels became the prize of the victors. Next
day, (25th January) the fort of Chatgaon was besieged,
EBarly in the moring of the 926th the fort capitulated
to Ibn Husain ; but the disorderly followers of the zamindar
Munawwar Khan who entered first with a view to
plunder, set fire fo the houses, and much of the town,
including two State elephants, was burnt. The Arrakanese also
fled from the fort on the other bank of the Karnafuli river, but
the fugitives were attacked and plundered by their f{ormer
slaves, the Ridnapped Muslims of Bengal who had been setiled
here as peasants.
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Meantime, ever since hearing the news of the advance of
the fleet on the 23rd, the army under Farhad Khan had been
making strenuous  efforls to force a way through the dense
jungle lowards Chatgaon, At his approach the Maghs
abandoned their oulposts in the way. The Commander-in-Chief
himself atrived at Chatgaon on  the 26th and made his
iriumphal entry into the fort the next day. The prize taken
was of litle money value. [t consisted of three elephants,
1,026 pieces of cannon made of brass and iron (mostly small
pieces, carrying 1 1b. or smaller shol), many matchlocks and
camel-swivels  {zamburafs), and much ammunition. But the
mosl  glorious  result of lhe victory was the release and
restoration to  home of thousands of Bengal peasants who
had been kidnapped by the pirates and held in  serfdom ;
and ils greatest benefit was the increase of cultivation in deltaic
Bengal. Chatgaon was made the seat of a Mughal faujdar
and the name of the town was changed to Islamabad.

8 11, The Afghans ; ifheir charucler and relations
wilh e Muqbal empire.

In the valleys leading from India to Kashmir and Afghanistan,
and in the enicompassing hills, live numberless Turko-Iranian
clans, called Pathans in the north and Baluches in the south.
Even after conversion to Islam, they have refained their old
speech, lheir old fribal organization, and their immemorial
profession of brigandage.

Brave and hardy as these people are above all the races of
the plains, they are torn by the feud of clan against clan and
often of family against family, In all their history they have
failed to establish any large and compact Stale, or even any
enduring conlederacy of tribes,

They have never formed a nation, but always clans. Within
the clans even, the strict discipline of the Rajput tribal system
is wanting ; the Yusufzal of Afridi follows his chieffain  only
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while it is his interest or pleasure to doso. These ever-forming
ever-dissolving groups of families are the only effective forces
of an Afghan clan for offence or defence ; the nominal chicftain
merely governs on the sufferance of his followers.  The family
and not the clan is the lrue unit of Afghan socicly.

(\@ighway robbery was the hereditary  profession  of these
hardy savages, as cunning as they are bold. Their lands
vielded too scanty a sustenance for their fast-growing numbers ;
and the peaceful gains of agricullure were 1oo  poor and slow
a reward in comparison with the plunder of their more industri-
ous neighbours and of the rich {raders passing wilhin easy
reach of fhc—*m.\) The righl of the hillmen,— Afridis, Shinwaris,
Yusuizais and Khataks,—to levy toll on the lraffic between India
and Kabul, had been practically admiled by lhe Mughal
Governmeni, which had found by lone expericnce that it was
cheaper to bribe the clansmen than to coerce them, as a means
of preserving order in that region and Lkeeping the roads
open. But even political pensions were not always effective in
sccuring their obedience. A leader would spring up among
them, pretending sanclity or princely  descent, organize a band
of young men by fceding them for some time at his own cost,
and then swoop down upon the felds of rival clans or the
imperial terrilory below for plunder, The gang held together so
long as the stream of booly did not fail ; bul when it ran
dry, or the least inequality in its division was suspected, these
natural democrats turned their arms against one another, and
the league broke up."

A strong Mughal emperor would resolye o enforce his
authority and protect his subjects ; armies would be poured
into the valleys of the clansmen, and after licavy losses their
organized resistance would be beaten down, their houses

* A faimous samt among the Yusufzais is sald to have left his hibe a blessing
and a curse, “That they should always be free, but that they should never be
unifed,’ " (Elphinstone, ¥38,)
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demolished, the level country held by means of a chain of
military posts, their crops cut down and the Afghan population
{hinned by the sword. Bul every now and then they would
cul off a weal garrison ; the Mughal oultposts would have to
be withdrawn in winter and the wark of pacification renewed
in spting.

In a few years the growth of populalion would more than
fill the void caused by the Mughal sword; and the hungry
hordes would again begin to swarm into the neighbouring
district or plunder trade~caravans.

The first disaster lo the Mughal arms here toohk place in
Pebruary 1586, when an army of 8,000 men under Rajah
Birbal was cut oft in a Swat defile. (The Emperor had finally
to  patch up a peace by pensioning the iribal leaders and
overlooking their  depredations. Under Jahanglr and Shah
Jahan, the same state of things conﬁnued.“)

§ 12. Yusufzai vising of 1667,

EBarly in 1667 began another movement for expansion
among the Yusufzals, whose home lies in the Swat and Bajaur
valleys and ihe plain of north Peshawar, Omne of their great
men, named DBhagy, drew the heads of other families into
his scheme, crowned a pretended scion of their ancient kings
as Muhammad Shah, and secured religious prestige to his
banners by assoclation with Mulla Chalak, who enjoyed a
great local reputalion for sanclity. Bhagu as woslr and virtual
king, organized an expeditionary force of 5,000 clansmen,
arossecd the Indus above Altoch and invaded Pakhli, a plain
lying east of {hat river in the Hazara district, through which
ran the principal road to Kashmir. Here ihey captured the
fort of Shadman the local chieftain, and levied reat from the
peasants. The numbar of invaders daily increased and more
Mughal outposts were attacked. Other Yusufzal bands began



140 SHORT MISTORY OF AURANGZIR fen. VI

to plunder the impetial territory in the western Peshawar  and
Attock districts.

The Emperor took strong measures of defence, and ordered
the rebel country to be invaded by three columns., The
enemy anticipated the invasion by coming over to the south
side of the ferry of llarun across the Indus and holding it in
force, so as to prevent the Mughals from crossing into their
country. On st Aprit 1667, they were attached here by
Kamil Khan (the faujdar of Altock). After a stubborn fight,
the enemy broke and woere driven into the river; two
thousand of them were slain, many wounded, and many
more drowned. The imperial lerritory on 1ihis side of the
Indus was cleared of the enemy.

In May, Shamshit Khan, at the head of a large detachment
from Alfghanistan, took over the supreme command and
crossed the Incdus into the Yusufzai country.

Shamshir = fought many a battle with them and gained
many a suceess. Lntrenching his camp at Ohind, he occupied
the level country of Mandaur where the Yusufzals used io
agrow thelr food crops, and destroyed all their farms and
homestead in the lowlands. On 4ih  June, he marched out
of Chind 1{o attack DBhagu in his present posiion. Several
yvillages were taken afler hard fighling againsl heavy odds and
with considerable losses; the houses were burnt down, the
property looted and uo vestige of cultivation left. The
enemy's trenches at Mansur on the Panjshir river were carried
(28th June, 1667). At the end of August, Muhammad Amin
Khan, one of the highest grandees of the realm, arrived with
a large force and took over the supreme command from
Shamshir. The villages near Shahbazgarhi and in the valley of
Karahmar were plundered, while in the Swal valley the village
of Hijaz was destroyed (Oclober). The Yusufzais seem to have
been quieted by these hard blows; and there was no general
rising of the fronfier tribes till 1672,
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§ 13. Afridi and Kbatak rising of 1672 ; disasters {0
Mugfial generals.

In 1672, the tfactless action of the fawdar of Jalalabad
bred discontent among the Khaibar clans. The Afridis rose
under their chicftain  Acmal Khan, a born general, who
crowned himsell king, struck coins in his own name, and
proclaiming war aygainst the Mughals, summoned all the Pathan
clans to join the national movement and closed the Khaibar
Pass,

In the spring of 1672, Muhammad Amin Khan, now viceroy
of Afghanistan started from Peshawar for Kabul, with his army
accompanicd by their families and household property. At
Jamrud he learnt that lhe Afghans had blocked the way
ahead. But intoxicated with wealth and power, and despising
the Afghans’ prowess, he rushed blindly on to his doom,
Advancing to Al Masjiid (21sl  April) he entrenched. At
night he Afridis descended from the hillside and eut him
off from the stream whence he drew his water-supply, Next
day men and beasts in the imperial army began to perish of
thist from the heal of the sun. The Afghans assailed the
Mughals wilh a storm of missiles. From the lofty peak of
Tarlara, 3,400 feet overhead, stones were rolled down on
the doomed men crowded in the narrow gorge below. The
leaders were soon killed, and disorder seized the Mughal
army. “Horses, elephants and men were mixed up fin
confusion”” The Afghans now charged down the hillside,
slaying and plundering the entive Mughal camp.’

Muhammad Amin Khan and some of his high officers,
succeeded in  escaping fo Deshawar with their bare fives ;
but everything else was lost. “Ten thousand men felf under
the enemy’s sword in the fleld, and above two krores of
Rupees n cash and hkind was looted by the enemy. They
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captured twenly thousand men and women and sent them fo
Central Asia for sale” The viceroy's family—his mother,
wife and daughter,—had been made caplive, and he
had fo secure their relecase by paying a huge ransom.
This signal  victory increased the fame and resources of
the Afridi leader. The tale of his rich booty went the round
of the hills and lured recruits (o his banners.

The Khalaks are a large and warlike clan occupying the
southern partt of the Peshawar district and much of Kohat
and Banu. They were the hereditary enemies of the Yusufzais,
because the boundarics of these two clans met in the middle
of the Deshawar district. Their chieftain  Khush-hal Khan was
a great poel. Years ago he had inspired deflance of the
imperial Government among his clansmen. Bul he had been
treacherously arrested and kept in Hindustan for three years
as a prisoner. In 1667 he had joined lhe Mughal force
that invaded the Yusufzai country. But now joining Acmal,
he became the Ieading spirit of the national opposition,
inspiring the tribesmen with his pen no less than his  sword,
and winning many a victory over the Mughals,

The danger to the empire was very great : the rising was a
national one, affecling the whole Pathan land “from Qandahar
to Aftock,” and ils leaders were also men who had served in
the Mughal army in Hindustan and the Deccan, and hknew the
organization efficiency andl tactics of (he imperialists. The two
sides had the same arms, and except that the Afghans lacked
heavy artillery, the superiority lay with them, as they were hardy
hillmen fighting in thelr own rugged country, while the Indian
troops have always had a horror of mounlain war and aversion
fo facing privalion and cold,

The Emperor, immedialely on hearing of the disaster, took
strong measures to guard Peshawar against any Afghan incursion |
Muhammad Amin Khan was degraded; Mahabat Khan, who
had governed Afghanistan thrice before, and achieved success
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in Jdealing with thesc people, was recalled from the Deccan and
sent to Kabul as viceroy for the fourth time. But the new
governor shrank {rom risking the fale of his predecessor. He
avoided any energetic action against the exultant Afghans, and
made a sceret arrangement with them, each side promising not
to molesl the other.  Next spring he went to Kabul by the
Karapa Pass afler bribing the Afghans on the way not fo
oppose him, But the Khaibar route remained closed as before,
The Emperor was highly displeased and sent Shujaet Khan in
independent  command of a large force with abundant war-
material and avlillery, to punish the Afghans (14th November,
1673). Jaswaut Singh was to co-operale with him.

Shujaet Khan was a man of humble origin who had risen
to high rank and the Emperor’s favour by his success in quelting
the Salnami rising. He was therefore regarded with jealousy
and contempt by high-born officers like Mahabat Khan and
Maharajah Jaswant Singh. Shujaet, on  his parl, proud of his
master’s favour and of his own past ttiumphs, despised the
advice of Jaswanl, and took his own line of action. This lack
of co-operation  among the Mughal leaders caused  the
disaster of 1674,

Shjaet Khan tried lo push on to Kabul. After crossing the
Gandab, he ascended the saddle (folal) of the Karapa Pass
(21st February), That night there was a heavy fall of rain and
snow ; and every one in the Indian camp was brought to
deatl’s door by the extreme cold and wet. The Afghans from
the heights on the two sides began to harass the suffeting army.
The imperialists were Dbenumbed with cold. Af dawn the
Afghans charged the miserable atmy from all sides.  Shujaet
Khan, forgetful of his duty as a general, sought and found a
soldier’s death in the front rank. His leaderless troops were
hemmed round ; but a band of 500 Rathors, wisely sent by
Jaswant, arrived with guns, broke the enemy’s cordon, and
Brought the remnant of the army back to camp. Three hundred
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of the Rajputs sacrificed themselves in this heroic exploit. Of
Shujaet’s followers thousands had fallen before.

To restore imperial prestige, Aurangzib himself went to
Hasan Abdal, between Rawal Pindi and Peshawar, (26th fune,
1674), and stayed there for a year and a half direcling lhe
operafions. A vasl army accompanied him with a farge park
of artillery. Sttong and well-equipped columns with plenty of
material were sent into the enemy’s country. Aghar Khan, a
Turkish noble, who had often distinguished himself in fighling
the Afghans, was hurriedly recalled from the Deccan and
deputed to clear the way in the Khaibar region, (July).
Mahabat Khan was removed from his post as viceroy, on
suspicion of having connived at the destruction of Shujact
Khan.

With Aurangzib’s arrival on the scene, imperial diplomacy,
no less than impetial arms, began to have effect. Many clans
were won over by the grant of presents, pensions, jagiss, and
posts i the Mughal army to thelr headmen. As for the
jtreconcilables, their valleys were penetrated by detachments
from DPeshawar. Thus, in a short fime, the Ghorai, Ghilzai,
Shirrani and Yusufzai clans were defeated and ousted from
their villages., Dariva Khan Afridi's followers promised to
bring the head of Acmal, the Afridi pretender, if their past
misdeeds were forgiven, (end of August),

" Meanlime, great deeds were being done by Aghar Khan
west of Peshawar, PFirst, he foiled a night attack of the
Mohmands and their allies and retaliated by slaying 300 of them,
ravaging their homes and bringing away 2,000 captives and
much booty. Then he tried to open the Khaibar Pass, but
after a long contest near Ali Masjid in which both sides lost
heavily and Aghar Khan was severcly wounded, the attempt
was abandoned. The jealousy of his colleagues, especlally of
the Hindustani nobles, added to the difficulties of Aghar Khan
and his brother Turks. Next, wilh a force of 5000 Rajputs
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and Afghan friendlies, he occupied Nangrahar and tried to
keep the roads open. The Ghilzais who had seized the
Jagdalal: Pass were repealedly defeated and expelled from
it Of all the Mughal gencrals he alone was uniformly
victorious over the frontier tribes, and Afghen mothers, it
is said, used to hush lheir babies to sleep with his dreaded
name.

In the spring of 1675, when Fidai Khan set out on his
retrn  from Kabul to Peshawar, the Afghans aftacked him in
the Jagdalak Pass. His van was defeated, its Arab commander
was slain, and many of the elephants, artillery, baggage and
women of this division were carried off by the enemy. But
lhe viceroy's courage and steadiness saved the centre.
Aghar  Ihan, then at the fBone of Gandamak, on hearing of
his erilical sitvation, came to the rescue by rapid marches,
and forced the Jagdalak Pass, rouling the enemy from the
hilltogs.

Eatly in June, however, “a great defeat befell the imperial
army,” Mukarram Khan with a  large force was operating
against the Afghans near the saddle (&ofa)) of Khapush in
the DBajaur counlry, where one day he was lured into an
ambush, hopelessly outnumbered, and lost heavily.

Retributory measures were faken Immediately, and all
the Mughal positions in Afghanistan were strengthened.

At the end of August came the news of two reverses,
though on a small scale; Hizbar Khan, the tfanadar of
Jagdalak, was slain with his son and other Mughal soldiers ;
Abdullah, the tianadar of Barangab and Surkhab, was driven
out of his post, after losing many of his troops. Bul, on the
whole, the imperialisis held their own by means of oulposts
and foits at stralegic points in the DPathan country. By the
end of the year 1675 lhe situation had sufficiently improved
to enable the Bmperor to leave Hasan Abdal and return fo
Delhi.

10
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§ 14. Amir Kfian ably governs Afghanistan, 1678-98.

Mir Khan, the son of Khalilullah, had previously
distinguished himself by punishing {he Yusufzais of Shahbagsyachi
and suppressing two rebellious Afghan chiefs in Bihar, In
1675 he was given the {ille of Amir Khan, and on (9th March
1677 appointed viceroy of Kabul. Ile arrived al his post on
gth June 1678 and continued to govern Afghanistan  with
signal ability till his death twenly years laler. e set himsclf
{o win the hearts of the Afghans and enter into social
relations with them, with such success that the chiefs of the
clans “left their shy and unsocial manners atid began to visit
him without any suspicion.”” They became very friendly to
him, and every one of them looked up to him for advice
in conducting his  domestic affairs, Under his aslule
management, they ceased to frouble the imperial Government
and spent their energies in internecine quarrels. Once he
broke up the confederacy under Acmal by secrelly insligating
that chieftain’s followers to ask him {o divide the conquered
territory among them. Acmal declined the proposal, saying,
“How can a small territory be divided among so many men 97
The disappointed hillmen threw up his service and began to
return home in anger. Acmal had at last to make a division
of the land : but as he naturally showed greater consideration
to his own clansmen and kinsfolly, his other followers wete
disgusted and left his camp, Much of Amir Khan's
administrative success was duc to {he wise dounsel, tact and
energy of his wife, Sahibji, a daughter of Ali Mardan Khan.

The Emperor triumphed in Alghanistan by {following
the policy of paying subsidies” and setting clan against

* In  Kalmat, 165, = Aurangzib  described  the  deccased  Amir  IKhan’s
administrative methods,---how he was a just goveinor, posseased of practieal
shill and fact in dealing with all ¢+ how he wused 10 make savings I (he
budgeled expendifure of the pravinge and heep {he passes open to traffie ;
and how he Rkept many of the hillmen wsefully employed by enlistioy  them
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clan,—or, to use his own metaphor, “breaking fwo
bones by knocking them together.” The imperial dominions
were no longer invaded from beyond lhe border. The
Khaibar routc was kept open by .paying regular pensions to
the billmen.  Amir Khan's diplomacy broke up the following
of Acmal. And when thal sel-styled king died, the Afridis
made terms with the empire.

The slruggle was, however, continued for many vyears
afterwards by the stern and unbending independent Khush-hal
Khan Khatak, The Bangashes and Yusufzais,—his very son
Ashraf,—~were fighting  against him in the Mughal ranks ; but
neither age, nor a growing sense of the hopelessness of his
cause, could tame his Dbillerness of feeling and obduracy of
spirit.  Alone he kept the flag of Pathan freedom flying, ilf
his own son betrayed him into the enemy’s hands. (An exile
from his country, a captive in his enemy's fortress, he could
still boast,

“l am he who has sorely wounded Aurang's heart.
Khaibar's pass have I made to the Mughals thei,
dearest purchase’y
C’l‘his Afghan war made the employment of Afghans in the
enswing Rajput war impossible. Moreover, it relieved the
pressure on Shivaji by draining the Deccan of the best Mughal
troops for service on the north-western frontier.\ The Maratha
chiel took advanlage of this diversion of his enenfy’s strength fo
sweep in a dazzling succession of iriumphs through Golkonda
to the Karnatak and back again through Mysore and Bijapur
to Raigarh, during the fifteen months following December
1676, It was the climax of his career; but the Afridis and
Khataks made its unbroken success possible.

in {he fmperial service, and profusely. bribed the clans out of the {mperial
cofiess, his own income and his illegal exachons. Also 116 On 25th Oct. 1681
Awrangzib 1cceived a despatch from Amir Khan slatng, “Six lakhs of Rupces
wae aliotted by Covernmeni to be paid fo the Afghans for guarding the roads,
I bave spent one and half lakhs and saved the 1emainder fo the State



CHAPTER VII

AURANGZIB'S RELIGIOUS POLICY AND HINDU
REACTION TO IT

8 1. 7The Muslim cﬁ'fazfe, its theory and chAaracler,

By the theory of its origin the Muslim State is a theocracy.
Its frue Ring is God, and earthly rulets are merely His agenfs -
bound to enforce His law on all. The civil authoritics exist
solely to spread and enforee the true faith. In such a State
infidelity is logically equivalent o freason, because the infide!
repudiates the authority of the true king and pays homage
to his rivals, the false gods and goddesses. Therefore, the
loleration of any sect outside the fold of orthodox Istam is
no better than compounding with sin. And the worst
form of sin i polytheism, the belief that the one true
God has pariners in the form of other deities. C[slamic
theology, therefore, tells the frue believer lhat his highest
duty is to make “excrlion (fifiad) in the path of God,”™ by
waging war against infidel lands (dar-uiBach) il they
become a part of the realm of Islam (dar-ul-fslam) and
their populalions are converted into true belie:vers‘.f_y  After
congtest the entire infidel population becomes t:heore&ica[l\z
reduced to the slatus of slaves of the conquering arm\zf\

The convetsion of the entire population to Islam and the
extinction of every form of dissent, is the ideal of the

*

* Jilad fi sabil wllad  (Quear, ix. 29). Tor jified see Hughes, 243.048, 710 ;
Encygclopodia of Islam, i. 1041, “fnd  when the sacted months are passed, kill
those who join other ' deitles with God, wherever ye shall find them, . But if they
shall convert,. . dhen let them go  thelr way, (Qureanm, X 8 6) “Sayfo the
infidels, if they desist from their unbelicf, what is now past shall be forgiven them.
But if they return fo Iit,. « o Jfight then against them fll skeffe be at an end, and the
religion be all of it God's" (viil, 59-49),



ZIMMIS IN A MUSLIM STATE 149

Muslim State, If any infidel is suffered to exist in the

community, it is as a necessary evil, and for a transitional
period only, Political and social disabilities musl be imposed

on him, and bribes offered to him from the public funds, to

hasten the day of his sphritual enlightenment and the addition

of his name fo the roll of true believers.”

§ 9. Political disabilities of non-Muslims.

Gf non-Muslim, thetcfore, cannot be a citizen of the State;
he is a member of a depressed class; his slatus is a modified
form of slavery, He lives under a contract (#imma) with
the State : for the fife and property that are grudgingly
spared to him by the Commander of the Faithfu! he must
undergo  political  and social  disabilities, and pay a
commutation-money ( ja&iya).\ .

He must pay a tax for his land (£Aaras), from which the
carly Muslims were exempt; he must pay other exactions
for the maintenance of the army, in which he cannot enlist
even if he offers to render personal service instead of paying
the poll-ax ; and he must show by humility of dress and
behaviour that he belohgs to a subject class. No non-Muslim
(ximmi) can wear fine dresses, ride on horseback or carry
arms ; he must behave respectfully and submissively to every
membet of the dominant sect. T

* Ogith regard  fo the idolafors of a non-Arabic ¢ountry, Shafi maintains thaf
destruction is  incurred by them also ; but other learned doclors agree that it is
lawiu] to reduee them to slavery, thus allowing them, as it were, a respile during
which it may please God to direct  theom into the right path, but making, at ihie
same time, their persons and substance subservient fo the cause of Islam.” (Hlughes,
710).  Encgelo, Islam, {. 917 (dar~wl-fach).

+ For aimmfs or prolected non-Muslims, [ughes 710-743 3 Encyclopeedic of
Jstasm, 1, 98,1051 ; Muir's CalinBate, 3rd ed., 149-158. “Bach adult, male, free, sane
Zimmi must pay a poll-tax, feya, His réal estate efther becomes a waqf for the
whole body of Muslims, but of which he confinues to have the use, or he holds
it slill as his own, In either event he pays on # and Hs crops a land-tax, £82vay,
which an {he owner being a Musiims fails, He is liable also to ofher exaclions for
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As the learned Qazi Mughis-ud-din declared  to Ala-ud-
din  Khalji, in accordance with the teaching of the books
on Canon Law: “By these acts of degradation are shown
the extreme obedience of the &immi, the ¢lorification of the
lrue faith of Islam, and the abasemenl of false laiths. The
Prophet has commanded us to slay them, plunder them, and
make them captlive. . .No other religious authority except the
great Imam [lanifa] whose faith we follow, has sanctioned the
imposition of the jaziya on Hindus. According to all other
theologians, the rule for Hindus is ‘Bither death or lslam.”

The &immi is under cerlain legal disabilities with regard
to testimony in lawcourts, protection under criminal law, and
martiage. The State, as the other parly in lhe contract
(zimma), guarantees to him security of life and properly and
a modified pi’otection in the excrcise of his religion ;—he
cannot etect new temples, and has to avold any offensive
publicity in the exercise of his faith.

The carly Arab conquerors, notably in Sindh, followed the
wise and profifable policy of leaving the shrines and religious
praclices of the non-Muslim populalion praclically undisturbed.
There was at first no wanton or systematic iconoclasi.  With
the growth of the Muslim population, however, the long enjoyment
of unchallenged power bred in them a spirit of intolerance and
a love of perseculion.” [very device shorl of massacre in

the maintenance of the Muslim armies. He must distinguish himself from believers
by dress, not riding on horsebach or careying weapong, and by & gencrally respect-
ful atlitude towards Muslims. [Ie is also under cevlain legal disabititios willh ragard
to testimony in lawcourts, prolection under criminal law and in marelage. . .Nor in
the exercise of lheir worship wmay they (the zimmis) use an offensive publieity.
Thiey ave not cifizens of the Mustim State.’* (Brcyelo.  Islam, 1. 958-959,)

* Blliot, i. 460, The aimumis “may repair and even rebulld existing churches, bul
not erect new ones on new siles.” (Enegelo., . 959), "The construction of places of
worship in the Muslim lerritory is unlawful for them, unless within their own houses,
but if churches and synagogues originally belonging to Chiislians and Jews be
destroyed oy fall to decay, they are af liberty to rebuild agd vepule theni” (Hughes
711.) “It has been scitled according {o Canon Law that no long-slanding temple
should be demolished nor any new onc allowed to be buill'” (Aurangzlb's Benares
tarman, J. 4. § B., 1011, 639).
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cold blood was resorted fo in order fo convert heathen
subjects. In  addifion_ 1o the _poll-tax _and pubhc degladahon

in dress and dum_anout unposcd on thcm the nox{ Mushms

were subjeded to 'vauogaﬂ. hopes and feais Rewaxds in the
formi~"af money andwptfbﬂﬂcﬂ emplo»zment, were offered. o
aposfales  from Ihnqumm The leaders of Hindu religlon and
society wote systemat mallyw repressed, lo deprive the scct of
spiritual  instruction, and their religious gatherings and proces-
sions were forbidden in  order to prevent the growth of
solidarity and a sense of communal strength among them.
No new temple was allowed to be built nor any old one to be
repaired, so that the lofal disappearance of all places of
{lindu worship was lo be mercly a question of lime. But
many of the more flery spirits of Islam fried to anticipate the
destructive hand of Time and forcibly pulled down temples,

In this later age, patticularly among the Turks, the old
Arab toleration of false faiths appeared sinful, Quiside their
own realms, the deshuction of lemples and the slaughter of
Hindus sanclified every war of aggression. Thus a frame of
mind was produced in the Muslim community which habifually
regarded plunder and homicide as the purest of human acts,
as “exettion (jifad) in the path of God” The murder of infidels
{kafiv-£ushi) is counted a merit in a Muslim. It i nol neces-
sary that he should tame his own passions or morlify his
flesh ; it 15 not necessary for him to grow a rich growth of
spirituality. He has only to slay a certain class of his fellow-
beings or plunder their lands and wealth, and this act in Hself

would raise his soul lo heaven.”

w When, in 1910, Boutros Pasha was murdered by an Egyptian Muhammadan for
no personal provocation but for the political reason that he had prestded over the
courl that sentenced the Denshawai villagers, and the guilt of the murderer was
conclusively proved by evidence, the Chief Qazi of Egypt pronounced fhe judgment
that according to Islam it is no crime for a Muslim to slay an unbeliever. This is
the opinjon held by e highest exponent of Islaptic law in a modern civilised
country.
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A creed whose followers are taught to regard
robbery and murder as a religious duty, is incompatible with
the progress of mankind or with the peace of the world.

8 3. Influence of the Quranic political ideals on the
Muslim population and the subject creeds.

Nor has il been conducive to the true inlerests of its
followers. Muslim polity formed “the faithful” into a body
with no other profession than war. As long as there were
any fresh lands to conquer and any rich fafies to plunder,
all went well with the Stale. The dominant body prospered
and multiplied rapidly ; even arts and indusiries, literature and
painting of a certain type were fostered. But when the lide
of Muslim expansion reached its farthest limit and broke in
vain on the hills of Assam and Chatgaon, or the arid rocks
of Maharashira, there was nothing to avert a rapid downfall.
The State had no economic basis, and was not able to stand
a time of peace,

For, the cruel kinduess of the Government had unfilled
the dominant people for avocalions of peace and the silent
but deadly struggle for existence. War is lhe only trade they
have a natural aptitude for, and peace means to them
“unemployment,” vice and downfall,

The seitled principle of Islam ended by making the
Muslims a privileged class, nourished on Slale bounties,.
naturally prone to indolence in peace times and unable to
stand on their own legs in the arena of life. Public office
came to be regarded as the Dbitrthright of the faithiul, and so

* “The Arabs lived on the fat of {he conquered provinces, and subject peoples
served them. Of booty faken in war fourfifths were distribuled lo the army ou
the field, . . And there arose, also, new sources of revenue i the land assessmoent
and poll-tax of conquered countries, the swplus of which, aler defraying civil
and military charges, became equally with spoils of war patrimony of the Arab
nation.” (Muir's Calipfiale, 158), Elliot, 1. 461,
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every inducement to display superior ability or exertion was
faken away from them. The vast sums spent by the State
in maintaining pauper houses and in scaftering alms during
Ramzan and other holy days and joyous ceremonies, were
a ditect premium on laziness. Thus a lazy and pampered
class was created in the empire, who sapped its strength
and was the first to suffer when its prosperity was arrested.
Weallh bred indolence and love of ease; these soon led
to vice; and vice finally brought about poverty and ruin.

At the same time, the treatment of the subject people prevent-
ed the full development of the resources of the State by them,
When a class of men is publicly depressed and harassed by law
and executive caprice alike, it merely contents itself with dragging
on an animal existence. The Hindus could not be expected to
produce the ulmost of which they were capable ; their lot was
to be hewers of wood and drawers of water fo their masters,
to bring grist {o the fiscal mill, to devclop a low cunning and
flaitery as the only means of saving what they could out of
the fruits of their own labour, Amidst such social conditions,
the humtan hand and the human mind cannot achieve their
best ; the human soul cannot soar {o its highest pilch. The
barrenness of the Hindu intellect and the meanness of spirit of
the Hindu wupper classes are the grealest condemnation of
Muhammadan rule in India, The Islamic political tree, judged
by its fruoit, was an ulter failure,

As a widely iravelled and profound modern philosopher
writes, “Islam is a rcligion of absolute surrender and submissive~
ness to God—bul to a God of a certain character—a War-Lord...
The ritwal of this beliel embodies the idea of discipline...This
military basis of Islam explains all the essential virtues of the
Musalman. It also explains his fundamental defects—his
unprogressiveness, his incapacity to adapt himself, his lack of
initiative arid inventlon. The soldier has simply to obey orders.
All the resl is the affair of Allah” (H. Keyserling).



154 SHORT HISTORY OF AURANGZIB [ch, VI

When public offices are  disleibuted in  consideration of race
or creed and not of merif, the non-Muslim populations are
thereby driven to conclude that they have no lot or part in
such a State.  The Islamic theocracy when set up over a
composite population has the worst vices of oligarchy and of
alien rule combined.

In Mughal India it was, in addition, the dominion of a small
minority.  And this minority differed from the polilically
deptessed majority not in racial qualities, physical or mental,
but in creed only. It was rightly felt by all persons oulside
the fold of the dominant creed that the power and resources
of the community, entrusted to the Government [or the public
good, were being misused by being applied io the propaganda
of a Church which aimed at their extinction. Such a State had
no right to be called nafional ; it did not rest on the love and
devotion of the people.

8 4. Toleration under Islam exceptional and
contrary to Quranic law.

Such was the ideal of the State as conceived by orthodox
Islam. No doubt, common sense often triumphed over logic
and statesmanship over theology ; or the weakness of human
nature made it impossible for every king and every officer
to cnforce the intolerant system everywhere or in its enlively.
Thus il happened that under Muslim rule there were poriods
when the Hindus enjoyed toleration and sccurity of property,
ot when an enlightened and liberal Ring encouraged them
to make progress in literalure and art, wealth and public
service, and his State grew in strength and maderial resources.

But such indulgence of infidelity was by ils very nature
precavious and exceptional. The Muslim world vegavded it
as a deplorable falling off from the orthodox ideal, and a
wicked neglect of royal duty, The Muslim soldiery on whose
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sword depends the king's power, would regard the tiberal
Sultan as an apostate, unworthy to rule over them,

Therefore, the growth and progress of non-Muslims, even
theit conlinued existence, is incompatible with the basic principles
ot a Muslim Stale.  The political community is in a condition
of unstable equilibrium, Wl either thc; dissenters are wiped out
or the sceptre passes out of Muslim hands. Thus a chronic
antagonism between the rulers and the tuled is set up, which
has in the end broken up every Islamic State with gmcompggite

population. And the reign of Aurangsib was to illustrate
this trulh.

§ 5. Aurangzib’s bigolry and temple destruction.

Awangzib began his attack on Hinduism in  an  insidious
way. In the first year of his reign, in a charter granted
to a priest of Benares, he avowed thal his religion forbade
him to allow {fe building of new femples, bul did not
enjoin  the destruction of old ones. Duwing his viccroyalty
of Gujrat, 1644, he had desecrated the recently built Hindu
temple of Chintaman in  Ahmadabad by killing a cow in it
and then turned the building info a mosque. He had at that
ime also demolished many other Hindu temples in the
province, An order was Issued early in  his reign in  which
the local officers in every town and village of Qrissa from
Katak to Medinipur were called upon to pull down all temples,
including even clay huts, bult during the last 10 or 12 years,
and fo allow no ofd femple fo be repared.

Next, on 9th April, 1669, he issued a general order ‘“to
demolish all the schools and temples” of the infidels and to
put down therr religlous teaching and practices” His
destroying hand now fell on the great shrines that commanded

% Por a st of the temples destroyed by uim with  quotations from  authorities,
gee Vol I1T, Appendix V.
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the veneration of the Ilindus afl over India,~—such as the
second temple of Somnath, the Vishwanath temple of Benares,
and the Keshav Rai {emple of Mathura.

The holy city of Mathura has always been the special
vicim of Muslim bigotry. 1t stood on the king's highway
between Agra and Delhi. Auwrangsib appointed a  “religious
man,” Abdun Nabi, as Fawjdar of Mathura to repress the
Hindus.

On l4th October, 1666, learning that there was a stone
railing in the lemple of Keshav Rai, which Dara Shukoh had
presented fo i, Aurangzib ordered it o be removed. And
finally in January 1670, he sent forth commands to destroy
this temple altogether and to change the name of lhe clty to
Isiamabad, The destruction of Hindu places of worship was
one of the chief duties of the Mustasibs or Censors of
Morals who were appointed in all the sub-divisions and cities
of the cmpire. In June 1680, the femples of Amber, the
capital of the loyal Stale of Jaipur, were broken down.

In 1674 he confiscated all the lands held by Hindus as
religious grants (wazifa) in Gujrat,

§ 6. Jaziya or poll-tax on non-Muslims.

For permission to live in  an Islamic  Stale the unbeliever
has to pay a lax called JAZIYA, which means subsiitute money,
i. e, the price of indulgence, Ut was first imposed Dby
Muhammad, who bade his followers “fight those who do not
profess the frue faith, fill they pay Jaziya with the hand in
humility.”  (Quran, ix. 29). The last two words of this.
command have been taken by the Muslim cormentators to
mean that the lax should be levied in a manner huniliating
to the faxpayers: the taxed person  musl come  on
foot and make the payment standing, while the receiver
should be seated. Women, children below fourteen, and
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slaves were  exempted {rom lhe tax; blind men, cripples and
lunatics paid only when they were wealthy : monks were
uantaxed il they were poor, but if they belonged to rich
monasteries the heads of these religious houses had to pay.
The impost was not proportioned to a man’s actual income,
but the assessecs were roughly divided into three classes
according as thelr property was estimated at not more than
200 dirfams (“the poor”), between 200 and fen thousand
dirfiams (“the middle class”), and above ten thousand (“the
rich”). Money-changets, cloth-dealers, landowners, merchants,
and physiclans were placed in the highest class, while
artisans,—such as tailors, dyers, cobblers, and shoe-makers
were counted as “poor.””  This last class paid only when
their professional income left a margin above the cost of
maintaining  themselves and their  families. Beggars and
paupers naturally escaped the tax.

The rates of taxation were fixed at 12, 24 and 48 dirfiams
a year for the fthree classes respectivelyy—or Rs. 31,
Rs. 62/r and Rs. 13Ys. On the poor, therefore, the incidence
of the tax was al least 6 per cent of thelr gross income ; on
the middle class it ranged from 6 fo Y p. e, and on the
rich it was always lighter even than 22 per thouwsand. In
violation of modern canons of taxation, the jazigpa hit the
poorest portion of the population hardest, and annually took
away from the poor man the full value of one year’s food
as the price of teligious indulgence, Abbar had abolished {he
fax and removed an invidious badge of degradation from
the majority of his subjects (1564). Aurangzib reversed this
policy.

By imperial orders the jazfya was reimposed on the
“unbelievers” in all parts of the empire from 2ud April,
1679, in order, as the official historian records, to “spread
Islam and put down the practice of infidelity.” The Hindus
.of Delhi and its environs gathered together and » pileously
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cried for the withdrawal of the impost. DBut the Emperor
turned a deaf ear to them. Nexl Friday, the whole road from the
gate of the Fort to the Jama mosque was  blocked by a crowd
of Tlindu supplianis, They did nol disperse in spite of warning ;
and the Emperor after waiting vainly for an hour to go to the
public prayer, ordered elephants to be driven through t(he
mass of men, ftrampling them down and clearing a way for
him. A temperate and reasoned lelter from Shivaji urging
the impolicy of the new imposl and appealing to Aurangzib
to think of the common Father of mankind and the equality
of all sincere beliefs in God’s eyes, met with no belter
success. (Vide Appendix VI of Yol. Ul, or Saivay, ch. 13).

The tax vyielded a very large sum. In the province of
Gujrat, for instance, it was § lakhs of Rupees a year; and
we shall nol be far wtong in holding that the joziva meant
for the Hindus an addition of [ully one-hird to every subjects
direct contribution 1o the State. To be a Muslim was to be
free from this extra taxation.

The officially avowed policy in reimposing the jaziva was
to increase the number of Muslims by putting pressure on
the Hindus.* As the contemporary, observer Manuceci noticed,
“Many Hindus who were unable lo pay lurned Muhammadan,
to oblain relief from the insults of the colleclors......Aurangzib
rejoices,”

* Ag the official hislory written from Stale  papers al {he inslanee of his
favouite secrefary puls it, Al the aims of the religlous Timperor beluy  directed
1o the spread of the law of Islam and the overthrow of infidel practices, he issued
orders that from 1st Rabi-ul-avwwwal (2 Aptil 1679), jaziya should be levied from the
simmis in accordance  wilh the Quuanic injunction ‘tll they pay compensalion out
of their hands in humility’,” (M. 4. 174). The Mieat-i-dfimadi, 313, another history
based upon official papers, ascribes the same motive to the Lmperor. The theory of
some modern  wrilers that the jeaige was only  commutatlon money paid for
exemption from military scrvice is not borne gut by history, for it was as lafe as
10t May, 1855 that “the jazige as a tax onthe fice exercise of religion was replaced
by adax for exemption from militaty service” even in Puropean Turkey., (Encgelo,
Istamn, 1. 1059),
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§ 7. Repressive measures againsi the llindus.

By an ordinance issued on 10th April, 1665, the mafsul
or custom duty on all commodities brought in for sale was
fixed at QY2 p. c of the value in the case of Muslims and
5 p, c. in that of Hindu vendors.

On 9th May, 1667, the Emperor abolished the custom
duty altogelher in the case of Muslim traders, while that on
the Hindus was retained at the old level. The real loss to
the Sfate was likely o be still greater as the Hindu traders
had now a strong temptation fo pass their goods off as the
property of Muslims, in collusion with the latter,

A thitd insttument of the policy of putting economic
pressure on unbelievers, was the granling of rewards to
converls and the offering of posts in the public service,
liberation from ptison, or succession to disputed properly,
on condition of fturning Muslim.

In 1671 anh ordinance was issued that the rent collectors of
the Crownlands must be Muslims, and all viceroys and falugdars
were ordered to dismiss their Hindu head clerks (gesAgars) and
accountants {(diwaniam) and replace them by Muslims. [ was
found impossible to run the administration after dismissing the
Hindu pesfifars of the provincial governors, but in some places
Muslims replaced Hindu £roris (district rent-collectors). Later
on, the Emperor yielded so far fo necessity as to aflow half
{he pesffars ol the revenue minister and paymaster’s
departments o be Hindus and the other half Muhammadans.
Under Aurangzib, “ganungo-ship on condifion of turning Muslim”
became a proverbial expression; and several families in the
Panjab still preserve his letters patentin which this condition
of office is unblushingly laid down.

Some of the converts were, by the Emperor's ordets,
placed on elephants and carried in  procession ihrough the
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city to the accompaniment of a band and flags. Others got
daily stipends, four annas at the lowest. .

Ih March 1695 all Hindus, with the exception of the
Rajputs, were forbidden to ride palfis, elephants or thorough-
bred horses, or to carry arms.

On certain days of the calendar, the Ilindus all over India
hold fairs near their holy places. Men, women and children
in vast numbers gather together ; boolhs are sct up and packs
operied by the traders. Here the village women meet their
distant friends and kinsfolk, and enjoy the show. Aurangzib
in 1668 forbade such fairs throughout his dominions.

The Hindu festival of lamps (diwali) and spring carnival
(foli) were ordered to be held only oulside bazars and under
some restraints,

§ 8. Hindus of Matfura disteict oppressed
peasant risings.

Such open aftacks on Hinduism by all the forces of
Government nalurally produced great discontent among the
persecuted sect. Some frantic  allempts were made on the
Emperor’s life, but they were childish and ended in failure.

FCarly in 1669 a most formidable popular rising took
place in the Mathura district.

Abdun Nabi Khan, who was faujdar of Mathura (rom
August 1660 to May 1669, entered hearlily Into his master's
policy of “rooting out idolatry.”

Soon after joining his post he built a Jama Masjid in the
heart of the city of Mathura (1661-1662) on the ruins of a
Hindu temple. Later, in 1666, he forcibly removed the carved
stone railing presented by Dara Shukoh to Keshav Rais
temple. When in 1669 the Jat peasantty rose wunder the
leadership of Gokla, the zamindar of Tilpat, Abdun Nabi
marched out to attack them in the village of Bashara, but
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was shot dead during the encounter (about 10th May). Gokla,
flushed with victory, looted the pargana of Sadabad, and the
disorder spread to the adjacent Agra district.

At this Aurangzib sent strong {orces under high oflicers o
quell the vebellion. Throughout the year 1669 lawlessness
reigned in the Mathura district.  On  4th December Hasan
Ali Khan attacked some rebel villagers. They fought til
noon, when being unable to resist any longer, many of them
slaughtered their women and rushed upon the swords of the
Mughals, fighting with the recklessness of despair.

Next month Hasan Ali Khan defeated Gokla, The rebels,
who mustered 20,000 slrong, mostly Jat and other stalwart
peasants, encountered the imperial forces at a place 90 miles
from Tilpat. But after a very long and bloody contest they
gave way before the superior discipline and artillery of the
Mughals, and fled to Tilpat, which was besieged for three
days and al last stormed at {he point of the sword. The
havoe was terrible, On the victors' side 4,000 men fell and
on the rebels’ 5000, while 7,000 petsons, including Gokla
and his family, were taken prisoner. The Jat leader’s limbs
were hacked off one by one on the platform of the police
office of Agra, and his family was forcibly converted to Islam.

[lasan Ali's strong measures had the desired effect, and
peace was soon restored to the district, but for a time only.
In 1686 the second Jat rising began, under the leadership of
Rajaram, which will be deseribed latet.

§9. The Satnami sect ; their tising, 1672.

The Safnamis that rose against Aurangzib were really
Sadfs, who employ the name Satnami among themselves.
They are a unitarfan community, founded in 1543 by Birbhan
of Bijesar, near Narnol, and may be looked upon as an
offshoot of the Rai Dasis. The people nicknamed them

11
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Mundiyas or Shavelings from their practice of shaving off all
the hair,—even the eye-brows, from  their heads. Their
sironghold in the 17th century was the district of Narnol,
75 miles south-west of Delhi.

Khafi Khan gives them a good character as an honest and
manly brotherhood, saying, “Though they dress like faqits,
most of them follow agriculture or frade on a small capital,
Following the path of their own faill, they wish to live with
a good name and never aftempt to oblain money by any
dishonest or unlawful means.”

These people came into conflict with the forces of
Government from a purely temporal cause. “One day a
Satnami culfivator near Narnol had a hot dispute with a foot-
soldier (piada) who was walching a field, and the soldicr
broke the peasant’s head with his thick stick. A party of
Satnamis beat the assailant Hll he seemed dead. ‘The sAlgdar
{petty revenue collector), hearing of it, senl a body of piadas
fo arrest the men; but the Satnamis assembled in foree,
beat the piadas, wounded some of them, and snatched
away their arms. Theit number and twwpult increased every
hour.”

The quarrel soon fook on a religious colour and assumed
the form of a war for 1lhe liberation of the llindus by an
attack on Aurangzib himself. An old prophetess appeared
among them and declared that her spells would render the
Satnamis fighting under her banner invulnerable to the enemy’s
weapons, and that if one of them fell ewghty others would
spring up in his place. The movement spread like wildfire
and the Government was completely taken by surprise. Soon
some five thousand Satnamis were up in arms. The local
officers underrated the danger and sent out lroops in small
patties which were successively defeated, These inifial victories
only raised the confidence of the rebels and confirmed the
fale of their magical powers. The faujdar of Narnol was
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routed wilh heavy loss and that town seized by them., The
victorious rebels plundered Narnol, demolished its mosques,
and established their own administration in the distriet, holding
it by means of outposts and collecting the revenue from the
peasants, The noise of their fumult reached Delhi, where the
grain supply became scanly and the citizens were greatly
alarmed and distracted. Superstitious  terror of their magical
powers demoralized the imperial army.

Aurangzib was now fully roused. On 15th March he
sent a large force, 10,000 sirong, under Radandaz Khan and
many other high officers with artillery and a detachment
from the Emperor's body~guard against the rebels. To
counteract the spells of lhe Satnamis, the Emperor, who had
the reputation of being a living saint (dlamgir =zinda pit),
wrole out prayers and magical figures with his own hand
and ordered the papers to be sewed on to the banpers of
his army and displayed before the enemy. The encounter
was lerrible. Afler a most obsiinate battle, two thousand of
the Satnamis fell on the field, while many more wete slain
during the pursuit, “Very few of them escaped ; and that
tract of country was cleared of the infidels.”

§10. The course of ifie Sikfi religion ; change in the
character and aims of its fead.

Towards the close of the 15lh century, there arose in
the Panjab a Hindu reformer named Baba Nanak, who called
upon the people to prefer the essence {o the form of religion,
a living faith to a dead mechanical ritual, and the spiril to the
letter of their scriptures; he ipsisted on the unity of the
Godhead underlying the multitude of the idols of popular
worship, invited earnest believers 1o his fold  without
distinction of caste or creed, and tried to form a brother~
hood: of the elect. The aims of Nanak were abahdotied by

\
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his sect when his  successors in the leadership of the Sikhs
set up a temporal dominion for themselves and made milifary
drill take the place of moral self-reform  and spiritual growlh.
“Ioday there is no  spitit of  progress among he Sikhs.
They have crystallized into a small sect. Centurics have
failed to produce a new spiclual teacher from among  them.”
[R. Tagorel.

Nanak, a Hindu of the Khalvi or trader casle, was born
in 1469 at Talwandi (now, Nanakana), 35 miles s w. of
Lahor. The cssence of his creed was  belief in the one  true
living God, and the shaping of every man's conduel in  such
a way as lo realize that God.

As he said, repealing the words ol Kabir, “God can be
obtained by humility and prayer, self-vestraint, searching of
the heart, and fixed gaze on Him.” Nanak (who lived till
1558) drew round himself a band of carnest worshippers, and
in time they solidified inlo a seet,

The Sikh gurus throughout the 16th  ceotury, from Nanah
to Arjun the 5th guru, won the reverence of the Mughal
emperors by their saintly lives, and they had no  quarrel
either with Islam or the Slate.

Before the relgn of Aurangzib the Sikhs were never
persecuted on religfous grounds, and their collision with the
Mughal Governmen!, which began in Jahangit's fime was due
enfirely to secular causes, and the change in lhe character of
the gurus was solely responsible for it.

Under Arjun, the 5th  guru (1581-1606), the number of
Sikh converls greatly increased, and with them lhe gurus
wealth, He organized a permanent source of income. A
band of agents were stalioned in every city from Kabul to
Dacca where fthere was a Sikh, to collect the tithes and
offerings of the faithful ; and this spiritual tribute, so far as it
escaped peculation by the agenis, reached the central treasury
at Amritsar. The guru was trealed as a temporal king and
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girt round by a body of courliers and ministers called masands,
which is the Iindi corruption of the title masnad-i-ala borne
by nobles under the Pathan Sultans of Delhi. Arjun in
a weak moment blessed the banners of Khusrau, the rival
of Jahangir for the Mughal throne, and even gave money help
to that prince. On the defeat of the prefender, Jahangir fined
the guru lwo lakhs of Rupees for his disloyally to the king
de jure. The guru refused to pay the fine and stoically endured
imprisonment and torture, which were the usual punishments
of revenue defaulters in those days. Worn out by being
forced to sit in the burning sand of Lahor, he died in
June 1606,

With his son Har Govind (1606-1645), a new era began.
“Unlike his father, Har Govind constantly trained himself in
matlial exercises and systematically turned his attention to the
chase” MHe increased his body-guard of 52 warriors fill it
became a small army. As he told a follower, “In the guru's
house religion and worldly enjogment shall be combined.”
Soon after Shal Jahan's accession, when that Emperor was
hawking near Amritsar, the guru entered the same area in
pursuil of game, and his Sikhs quarrelled with the servants of
the imperial hunt about a bird. The two parties came to
blows, and in the end the imperialists were beaten off with
slaughter. An army was sent againsl the audacious rebel, but
it was rodted wilh heavy loss, at Sangrana, near Amilsar,
1698, The victors fame sprecad far and wide. “Many men
came to enlist under the guru's banner. They said that no
one else had power to contend with the Emperor” Such an
open deflance ' of imperial authority could ol be tolerated
near Lahor. Larger and larger armies were sent against the
gury, and though he gained some successes at first, his house
and property at Amritsar were, in the end, sefzed, and he
was forced to take refuge at Kiratpur in the Kashmir hills
beyond the reach of Mughal arms, Here he died in 1645.
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On the death of guru Ilar Kishan in 1664, a scenc of
disorder and rapacity broke out among the Sikhs. “Twenty-
two [men] of Bakala claimed the right to succeed him, These
sclt-made gurus forcibly {ook the offerings of the Sikhs.”
After a time Tegh Bahadur, the youngest son of llar Govind,
succeeded in being recognized as guru by mosl of the Sikhs.

While residing in Anandpur he was roused to action by
the sight of his creed being wantonly attacked and its holy
places desecraled. He  encouraged the resistance of the
Hindus of Kashmir to forcible conversion to Islam and openly
defied the Emperor. Taken to Delhi, he was cast into prison
and called upon to embrace Islam, and on his refusal was
tortured for five days and then beheaded on a warrant from
the Emperor (1676),

Now at last open war broke owl between the Sikhs
and Islam, Soon a lecader appeared atnong the Sikhs who
organized the sect into the most efficieni and implacable
enemy of the Mughal empire and the Muslim faith. Gowvind
Rai, the tenth and last guru (1676—1708) and the only
son of Tegh Bahadur, was a man of whom it had been
prophesied before his birth that “he would convert jackals
into tigers and sparrows into hawhs.”

We may here pause to consider whal causes made the
siccess of Gurd Govind  possible, The first  was the gradual
elevation of the gura to a superhuman position. The Sikhs
were laught to obey their guru with blind unquestioning
devotion. This implicit faith in a common superior knit the
Sikhs logether like the soldiers of a regiment. The Sikhs were
famous in the 17th century for thelr sense o;"‘ brotherhood
ancd love for each other. They felt themselves to be a
chosen people, the Lord's elect. In the language of Bhal
Gurudas : “Where there are two Sikhs, there is a company
of saints ; where there are five Sikhs, there is God I The
unity due to sameness of religion was further cemented by
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the abolition of caste distinctions under orders of Govind.
All reslrictions about food and drink, so prevalent in Hindu
sociely, had already been discarded. If Cromwell's Ironsides
could have been inspired with the Jesuils’ unquestioning
acceptance of their Superior’s decisions on moral and spiritual
questions, the resull would have equalled Guru Govind's
Sikhs as a fighling machine.

§ 1. Guru Govind, Aés ideal and career.

Govind steadily drilled his followers, gave them a distinctive
dress and a new oath of baplism, and began a policy of
open hostility to Islam. He harangued the Hindus to rise
against Muslim persecution, and imposed a fine of Rs. 125
on his followers for salufing any Muhammadan saint's tomb.
His aims were frankly material. “Mother dear, | have been
considering how 1| may confer empire on the Khalsa,” He
lived in princely state.

In the hills of North Panjab, Govind passed most of his
life, constantly fighting with, the hill-Rajahs from Jammu to
Srinagatr in Garhwal, who were disgusted with his followers'
violence and scared by his own ambition. Large imperial
forces were sent from Sarhind to co-operate with the quotas
of the hill-Rajahs and suppress the guru ; but they were
usually worsted, His army went on increasing, as recruifs
from the Panjab doabs flocked to him and received baptism.
Even Muslims ‘were enlisted. Anandpur was five times
invested. After the last atfack, the guru evacuated the fort, and
closely pursued by the Mughals, passed through many adventures
and hairbreadth escapes, changing his place of shelter repeatedly
like a hunied animal. His four sons perished. Then Govind
with his few but faithful guards undertook a journey to South-
ern India. In 1707 the new Emperor Bahadur Shah [ induced
him fo accompany him on the march to Rajputana and the
Deccan, The guru reached Nander on the Godavarti, 150 {nfiﬁﬂﬁ

[
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n, w. of Haidarabad in August 1707 at the head of some
infantry and 2 to 3 hundred cavalry, and there alter a sfay of
more than a year he was stabbed to death by an Afghan
(1708). With him the line of gurus ended.

Thus we see ihal the Mughal Government under Aurangzib
did succeed in breaking up the guru’s power. [ robbed the
Sikhs of a common leader and a rallying centre.  Thercafter
the Sikhs continued o disturb public peace, but only in isolated
bands. They were no longer an army fighting under one chief,
with a definite political aim, but mercly moving bodies of
brigands,—extremely brave, enthusiastic, and hardy, but essentially
plunderers uninspired by any ambition to build up an organized
Government in the land. If Ranjit Singh had not risen, there
would have been no large and uniled State under Sikh dominion,
but a number of petty principalifies in the DPanjab with a
ruling arvistocracy of Sikh soldiers, sending their organized
marauders every year to raid and lay the couniry wasle.

The worst consequence of Aurangzib’s bigotry was the war
that he provoked with the two grealest Rajput clans,



CHAPTER IX
WAR IN RAJPUTANA ; REBELLION OF AKBAR.
81. Aurangsib seizes Marwar, 1679.

(\Marwar is a desert land, but in Mughal times its strategic
importance lay in the fact {hat the shortest and easiest trade-
rotte from the Mughal capital to the rich manufacturing city
of Ahmadabad and the busy port of Cambay lay {hrough
its limits, \From Agra the western road through the loyal
Stale of Jaipur up to the imperial city of Ajmir was safe and
well-frequented. Thereafter it crossed a gap in the Aravali
barrier and ran level through the Marwar cities of Pali and
Jhalor to Ahmadabad. If such a province could be annexed to
the imperial dominions, the proud lord of Udaipur would be taken

in flank, and a long wedge of Muslim territory would be driven /
right across Rajputana, cleaving it into two isolaled halves's

which could be crushed in  detail. Marwar was gl*:_ foremost

Hmdu State. of Notthern India at tlns time. fts clneftam was

Ianant Smgh, who en]oyed The unrivalled rank of a
"Maharajah and whom the death of Jai Singh thirteen years
ago had left as the leading Hindu peer of the Mughal Court.
The success of Aurangzib’s plan of the forcible conversion of
the Hindus required that Jaswanl's State should sink into a
quiescent dependency ‘or a regular province of the empire.
Hindu resistance fo the policy of religious persceution mus
be deprived of a possible efficient head.

On 10th December, 1678, Maharajah Jaswant Singh died
at Jamrud * when commanding ihe Mughal posts in the Khaibar

* 1le was nevet viceroy of Afghanistan or even governor of Kabul cify, but
meaiely tanadgr of Jamrud,

x
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Pass. Immediately on hearing of Jaswant's death Aurangzib
took steps to seize his kingdom and place it under direct
Mughal rule. Cbn oth January, 1679, the Emperor himsell set
out for Ajmir, in order to be close enough to Jodhpur to
overawe opposition.\

The death of Jaswaut had thrown the Rathors into
confusion and dismay. The State was without a head.
Jaswant's highest officers and best lroops were absent in
Afghanistan. At first no resistance could be offered to the
vast and well-directed Mughal armies that poured into the land.

Aurangzib had learnt (on 96th Fcbruary) that two of
Jaswant's widows had given birth to two posthumous sons
at Lahor, But the Emperor was not to be moved from his
policy of annexing Marwar by any regard for the law of
legitimate succession. He returned from  Ajmir to Delhi
(@nd April). On that day the invidious poll-tax on the
Hindus was imposed again after a century of abeyance.

Indra Singh Rathor, the chieftain of Nagor, and grand-
nephew of Jaswant, was invested as Rajah of Jodhpur in
return for a succession fee of 36 lakhs of Rupees (26th May),
and senl to Marwar. But the Mughal administrators and
generals in  occupation of the country were relained there,
evidently to help the new Rajah in taking possession of
his State.

8§ 2. How Durgadas saved djit Singh.

On reaching Lahot two of the widowed Ranis of Jaswant
gave birth to two sons (February, 1679), one of whom ied
in a few weeks, while the other, Ajit Singh, lived to mount
the throne of Jodhpur after a most eventful and romantic
career. At the end of June the Maharajah's family reached
Delhi, and the rights of Ajil were again urged before
Aurangzib ; but he only ordered that the child should be
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brought up in his harem, with a promise to give him a rank
in the Mughal peerage and investiture as Rajah when he
would come of age. One contemporary historian says that
the throne of Jodhpur was offered to Ajit on condition of
his twning Muslim.

The loyal Rathors were seized with consfernation at
Aurangzib’'s proposal. They vowed to die to a man to save
their chieftain’s heir. Their leader and guiding genius was
Durgadas, the flower of Rathor chivalry, and son of Jaswant's
minister Askaran, the baron of Drunera. But for his twenty-
five years' unflagging exerfion and wise contrivance, Ajit Singh
cauld not have secured his father's throne. Fighting against
terrible oclds and a host of enemies on every side, with distrust
and waveting among his own countrymen, he kept the cause
of his chieftain triumphant. Mughal gold could not seduce,
Mughal arms could not daunt that constant heart, Almost
alone among the Rathors he displayed the rare combination of
the dash and reckless valour of a Rajput soldier with the tact,
diplomacy and organizing power of a Mughal minister of State.

On 15th July the Emperor sent a strong force under the
provost of Delhi city and the captain of the imperial guards to
sefze the Ranis and Ajit and lodge them in the prison foriress
of Nurgarh. The Rathor plan was to ensure the escape of Ajit
by offering desperate resistance and sacrificing  their own lives
freely in a series of rear-cuard actions. Raghunath, a Bhatti
noble of Jodhpur, with a hundred devoted troopers made a sortie
from one side of the mansion. Before their wild charge the
imperialists quailed, and seiging ihis momenlaty confusion
Durgadas stipped out with Ajit and the Ranis dressed in male
attire, and rode direct for Marwar. For an hour and a half
Raghunath dyed the streets of Delhl with blood, but at last he
fell. The Mughals now set off in pursulf, but Durgadas
had covered nine miles by the time he was overtaken.
It was now Ranchhordas Jodha's turn to face round with
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a small band and gain precious time by barring the cnemy's
path. This happened thrice ; in the cvening the Mughals,
worn out by the three murderous conflicts, abandoned
the pursuit, and Ajit was safely conducted 1o Marwar (23rd
July). His name became the rallying cry of the Rathor legili-
mists, Aurangzib’'s policy in Marwar scemed to have been
wrecked. DBut his stalecraft struck a shrewd blow fo  counter
the action of Durgadas : he broughl up a milman’s infant in
his harem as the true Ajit Singh and proclaimed Durgadas’s
protege to be a bogus prince. At the same time he dethroned
Indra Singh, the two months' Rajah of Marwar, for his
manifest incapacity to rule,

A strong Mughal force was sent into Marwar for the
reconquest of the State.  Anarchy and slaughler wete el loose
on the doomed province.

The EBmperor took up his headquarters ot Ajmir on 25th
September ; his army advanced fighling under his son Muhammad
Abkbar. The Mughal van was led by Tahawwur Khan, the
faufdar of Ajmir. The Mairtia clan of Ralhors, under one Raj
Singh, barred his palh in front of the temple of the Boar near
the sacred lake of Pushkar, and a three days’ confinuous batile
ended only with the extinclion of the brave defenders. There~
after the Rajputs always carried on a guerilla warfare from
their lurking places in the hills and desert. The Emperor now
divided Marwar into dislricls over cach of which a Mughal
officer was placed as foujdar (end of Qctober). No resistance
could stand against such heavy odds, and the whole couniry
was soon occupicd by the foe. “Jodhpur and all the great
towns in the plain fell and were pillaged ; the temples were
thrown down and mosques erected on their siles.”

§ 3. Mughal war with Mabarana of Udaipur.,

The annexation of Marwar was but the preliminary 1o an easy
conquest of Mewar. On the revival of the jogiva tax, a demand
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for its enforcement throughout his State had been sent fo the
Maharana. If the Sisodias did not stand by the Rathors now,
the two clans would be crushed piecemeal, and the whole of
Rajasthan  would lie helpless under lhe tyrants feet. So
thought Maharana Raj Singh, and so thought his clansmen,
The mother of Ajit Singh was a Mewar princess, and Raj
Singh could not, cither as a kinsman or as a hnight, reject her
appeal to defend the orphan’s rights.

Raj Singh began his preparations for war. Aurangzib with
his usual promptitude struck the first blow. Seven thousand
picked soldiers under Hasan Ali Khan marched in advance
from Pur, ravaging the Rana’s territory and clearing the way
for the main Mughal army. The Rajputs had nolhing that
could make a stand against the excellent Mughal arfillery
served by European gunmers. Hence lhe Rana had prepared
for the invasion by abandoning the low country and retiring
with all his subjecls fo the hills, whither the Mughals durst not
penetrate.  Even  the capital Udaipur was found evacuated.
The Mughals {ook possession of it and destroyed ifs greal
temple, and also three temples on the Udai-sagar lake.

Hasan Ali Khan entered the hills notth-west of
Udaipur in  search of the Rajput army ; on being
reinforced and freshly  provisioned, he inflicted a defeat
on the Maharana (29nd January), capturing his camp
and property and much grain on the way, and destroy-
ing 173 ftemples in the environs of Udaipur. Chitor had
been already occupied by the Mughals, and 63 tfemples of
the place were destroyed when Aurangzib visited it at the end
of February. The Emperor left Udaipur and returned to
Ajmir (on 29nd March), while a strong force under Prince
Akbar held the Chitor district as a base. But the imperial
outposls were too far scattered to be defended easily, while
the whole of the Rajput land was seething with hostility. The
Mughal positions in Mewar and Marwar were isolated from
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each other by the wedge of the Aravali range, whose crest
the Rana held in force, and from which he could make
sudden descents and  deal crushing blows on the cast or
on the west as he pleased, while the Mughals in translerring
froops from Chitor to southern Marwar had to make a long and
toilsome detour through the Bednor, Beawar, and Sojat
districts.

The rough circle formed by the massed hills of Mewar
and stretching from Udaipur westwards fto Kamalmir and
from the Rajsamudra lake southwards lo Salumbra, resembled
a vast impregnable fort with three gates, opening east, north
and west, wiz, Deobari, Rajsamudra, and Deosuri, through
which the garrison could sally out in full force and crush
any isolated Mughal outpost. The Mughals, on the olher hand,
could effect a concentralion only by moving along a long
arc of which the Rana held the short base,

Prince Akbar had been left at Chilor in charge of all the
Mughal posts east of the Aravali and south of Ajmir. But his
force was too smalt for lhe effective defence of this vast region.
The Rajpuls, fighting in their homeland, knew every nook of
the ground and were helped by a friendly peasantry. The
Mughals were strangers in that wild  broken couniry and
marched among a hostile population,

A marked incrcase of Rajput aclivity began with the
Emperor's refirement to Ajmir (in March). They made raids,
cut off supply trains and stragglers, and made the Mughal
outposts extremely unsafe, thus creating a terror of their
prowess. The command of Mughal outposts went abegging,
captain after captain declining the dangerous honour ; the
Mughal troops refused to enter any pass; defachments sat
down only a short distance from the base and refused to
advance further.

About the middle of next May Akbar's camp near
Chitor was surprised at night and some slaughter done by the
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Rajpuls who had entered it by a riise. The Maharana descen-
ded from the hills and roamed the Bednor district, threatening
Akbar's communications with Ajmir. At the end of this month
(May), a terrible reverse befell the Mughal arms : Akbar was
surprised by the Rana and evidently suffered a heavy loss.
A few days later, the Rajputs carried off a convoy of Banjaras
with 10,000 pack-oxen bringing grain to the prince’s army
from Malwa. One of the Rana’s armies under his son Bhim
Singh ranged the couniry, striking swift and sudden blows at
weak points. “Our army is motionless through fear,” so Akbar
complains.

At these signal instances of Akbar’s failure, the Emperor in
high wrath sent him off to Marwar and placed the command
of Chitor in the hands of another son, Prince Azam (26th June),

The imperial plan henceforth was to penetrate the Mewar
hills in three columns,—from the Chitor ot eastern side Prince
Azam would advance by way of the Deobari pass and
Udaipur, from the north Prince Muazzam by way of the lake
Rajsamudra, and from the west Akbar through ,the Deosuri
pass, The first two failed to achieve their tasks.

§ 4. Prince Akbar's campaign in Marwar.

Drince Akbar, on transfer from Chitor, took post at Sojat
in Marwar on 18th July, 1680, But in Marwar he met with
no better success than in Mewar. The Rathor bands spread
over the couniry, closing the trade routes and Reeping the
land in perpetual turmoil. Akbar's insiructions were to make
the central posilion at Sojal secure, then occupy Nadol, the
chief town of the Godwar district, and from this new base fo
send his vanguard under Tahawwur Khan to advance east-
watds into Mewar by the city of Narlai, force the Deosuri
pass and invade ihe Kamalmir region, where the Maharana
and the defeated Rathors had taken refuge. But s¢ great was
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the fterror inspired by the “death-loving” Rajputs  that
Tahawwur's troops sat down in fear and inactivity.

BAbkbar left Sojal on 21st September, and reached Nadol
at the end of the month. Bul Tahawwur Khan refused to
enter the hills, and Akbar had to use compulsion towatds his
fimid lieutenant. On 27th  September the Xhan advanced
towards the mouth of the pass to reconnoitre. When he had
yielded to Rafput seduction and decided to play the traitor,
we do not know. But from September 1680 we notice a
suspicious slackening of his aclivity.

Then the Emperot’s patience was worn out. [le sent to
Akbar the imperial Bakhshi wilh orders to enforce a forward
movement of lhe division. Further delay could not be
excused, So, Akbar advanccd his base from Nadol to
Deosuri  (19th  November), and from the latter village send
Tahawwur Khan on to force the Jhilwara pass; the Mughals
advanced to lhilwara, fighting and carrying lhe Dbarricades
across the path, and the Khan, from his station at Jhilwara,
began to ravage lhe neighbouring country freely.

The advance to Jhilwara was made on 22nd November,
The next step would have been to push on eight miles south
to Kamalmir, the last refuge of lhe Rana. But during the
next five weeks we have again the same suspicious inactivity
on Tahawwut Khan's pact. [n truth,  the prince’s
treasonable plot was fully hatched during this period. On
{st January 1681 he wnited with the Rajput rebels, fssued a
manifesto deposing his father, and crowned himself Emperor;
and the next day he set out for Ajmir to wrest the Mugha!
crown from Aurangzib’s brows.

§ 5. Prince Akbar proclaims fiimsell Emperor, 1681,

Sullan Muhammad Akbar, the foarth son of Aurangzib,
was only 23 vyears of age at this time, In his campaign in
Mewar he had given signal proofs of slackness and incapacity,
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for which the Cmpevor had sharply censured him. In Marwar,
where he was sent next, he failed eilher fo crush the roving
Rathor bands or to penetrate into Mewar by the Deosuri Pass
as planned by his father. Smarting under disgrace for these
repealed failutes, he lent a ready ear to the tempting invitation /"
of the Rajpuls lo scize his father's throne with their help. !

Tahawwur Khan, his chief officer, was the intermediary ol
these {reasonable negotiations, The Maharana Raj Singh and
Durgadas, lhe Rathor leader, told Akbar how his father’s
bigoted attempt o root out the Rajputs was threatening the
stability of the Mugha! empire, and urged him to seize the
throne and restore the wise policy of his forefathers if he
wished to save his heritage from destruction. They promised
to back him with the armed strength of the two greatest Rajput
clans, the Sisodias and the Rathors.

Everything had been arranged for a march  against
Aurangzib at Ajmir, when the Maharana died, (22nd October,
1680), and during the month of mourning that followed, his
successor jai  Singh naturally remained Inactive. Thereafter,
Tahawwur Khan having reached the Jhilwara Pass, not far
from the Rajput headquarters at Kamalmir, the negotiations
were  easily resumed and quickly concluded. The Rana
agreed to send half his army, both foot and horse, under his
son or brother to fisht the prince’s baltles. The 9nd of
January 1681 was fixed as the day when Akbar would begin
his march on Ajmir to contest the imperial throne.

Two days before this date he wrote a false letter to his
father to disarm his suspicion : “The brother and son of the
new Rana, under the guidance of Tahawwur Khan, have
descended from the hills and come to me. The Rathor
leaders also have come here to make terms through the
mediation of the Khan. They urge that unless [ myself conduct
them to your Majesty and personally beg pardon on their
behalf, they cannot compose their minds for coming over o

12
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our side. 1 am, therciore, starting [with them] for your
Presence.”

Then Akbar ihrew off the mask. Four theologians in his
pay issued a decree over their seals, declaring that Aurangzib
had forfeited the throne by his violation of the Islamic Canon
Law. Akbar crowned himself Emperor (ist January), and
created Tahawwur Khan his Premier Noble. Most of the
imperial officers with him were powerless to resist or lo
escape, and feigned adhesion to his cause,

The Emperor’s situation at Ajmir was critical. The two
main divisions of his army which were untainted by treason,
were quartered far away. His immediate retinue consisted
merely of unserviceable soldiers, with his personal attendants,
clerks and eunuchs, while rumour swelled the rebel army to
70,000 men, including the best blades of Rajputana.

Every one expected a rapid advance of Akbar's troops,
the rout of the small imperial body-guard, and a change of
sovereigns. But Akbar began to spend his days and nights
in indolence and pleasure. He took a forinight (2-15 January)
in covering the 120 miles which separated him [rom his
father, when every hour’s delay told in Aurangzib's favour,

For, meantime, courfers had galloped off on all sides to
recall the scaltered Mughal detachments to the DPresence,
Loyal captains were straining every nerve and marching day
and night to join the Emperor in time. Shihab-ud-din Khan,
the father of the first Nizam, reached Ajmir (9th January)
with his troops after a forced march from Sirohi, in which
he covered 120 miles in two days. Some other officers were
equally quick, Thus the acute stage of the crisis was soon
over. The palace at Ajmir was put in a posture of defence ;
entrenchments were dug around the camp: the passes leading
to the ¢ity were held in force ; on 14th Januaty, the Empetor
issued forth into the open, and encamped six miles south
of Ajmir on the historic field of Deorai, But despair and
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defection raged in the camp of Akbar. As he came nearer,
increasing numbers of Mughal officers began to desert him
and escape to the imperial camp. The thirty thousand Rajputs,
however, remained true to him.

The crisis came on the 15th of January. The Emperor
advanced four miles farther south and wailed at Do-rahah.

In the evening, Prince Muazzam after a forced march
through rain and wind and the bitter cold of midwinter, joined
the FEmperor, doubling his strength. On the other side,
Ahbar arrived three miles from his father's camp, halted there
for the night, and fixed the next morning for the decisive
batlle.

§ 6. Murder of Tafiawwur Kban, faiture of Afbar,

Bul during the nigsht Auwrangzib’s cunning  diplomacy
sccured  the completest  victory without resort to  arms.
Tahawwur Khan, the right-hand man of Akbar, had married
a daughter of Inayet Khan, a high officer then in the imperial
camp. Awangzib made Inayet write to Tahawwur Khan
urging him to come to the Emperor, with a promise of
pardon for the past, and a threat that if he declined “his
women would be publicly outraged and his sons sold into
slavery at the price of dogs.”

The letter bewildered Tahawwur Khan, After pulling on a
coat of scale armour under his robe, as a precaution against
treachery, he secretly left his fent without informing Akbar or
Durgadas, arrived at the imperial camp a liftle before mid-
night, and demanded audience, but refused to put up with
the indignity of being wushered into the Dresence unarmed
like a capiive. The dispute became loud. At last the crowd
of royal afttendants aftracted to the spot by the noise rained
down blows on him with thelr maces. The hidden cuirass
saved him for a fime, but at last some one cut his throat and
“silenced his uproar.”
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Meantime, Aurangzib had written a false letter to Akbar. In
it the prince was praised for the success he had hitherto gained
in carrying out his father’s stratagem of luring all the Rajput
fishters into a snare and bringing them within easy reach of
the Emperor ; and he was now instructed to crown his achieve-
ment by placing them in his van in next morning's battle, so
that they might be crushed when altacked by Aurangzib from
the front and Akbar from the rear. As conirived by Aurangzib,
the letter fell into Durgadas's hands, who read #t and went to
Ahkbar's tent for an explanation. The prince was asleep and
his eunuchs had strict orders not to wake him. Durgadas next
sent men to call Tahawwur Khan. Then the Rajputs discovered
that the soul of the whole enterprise had stolen away to the
imperial camp some hours ago ; the intercepted letter was
believed to have been verified by these facts. No time was o
be lost if the Rajputs were to escape from the freacherous plot
they had discovered by good luck. Three hours before dawn
they took horse, robbed what they could of Akbar’s property,
and galloped off to Marwar. Profiting by this chance, the
imperial troopers whom Akbar had forced to march under his
banners and the loyal captains whom he had placed under
arrest, escaped towards the camp of Adarangsb. Tahawwur
Khan had been the connecting link between the Rajputs and
Akbar ; ha had been the new Emperotr's commander-in-chict
and prime minister in ope, and his flight dissolved the
confederacy.

In the morning Akbar woke to find himself deserted by all.
His vast army had melted away in a single night, as by magic,
and only his faithful old retainers, a band of 3550 horse, were
left with him. Mounfing his ladies on horses and loading what
treasure he could on camels, he rode away fOl dear life in the
track of the Rajputs.

The remnant of Akbar’s property which had escaped plunder
was seized, and his deserled f{amily,—consisting of one wife,
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iwo sons, and three daughters—was brought away to the
Emperor’'s camp. Relentless punishment was meted out to his
followers. The Drincess Zeb-un-nisa, whose secret correspond-
ence with Akbar was discovered, was deprived of her allowance
of four lakhs of Rupees and her landed property, and confined
in the Salimgarh fottress.

A well-appointed army under Prince Muazzam was next
sent into Marwar to hunt Akbar down. During the second night
after Ahbar’s flight, Durgadas having discovered the fraud
played by Autangzib, turned back and took Abkbar under his
prolection. Rajput honour demanded that the refugee should be
defended at all costs. Akbar with his prolectors roamed through
Marwar, nevet passing twenty-four hours at the same place ;
but the Mughal ofiicers in Gujrat were on the alert and headed
the rebel off. Then Durgadas most chivalrously undertook
to conduct Akbar to the Maratha Court, the only Power in
India that had successfully defied Mughal arms. Every known
ferry and pass was guarded by imperial pickets; but the
Rathor leader with the greatest skill evaded them and misled
his pursuers as to his real objective, crossed the Narmada
(oth May) near the ferry of Akbarpur, and appeared within
a short distance of Burhanpur on the Tapti (15th May). But
here, foo, his path was barred by imperial officers, and he
marched due west through Khandesh and Baglana, finally
reaching Shambhtfi’s protection in Konkan (1st June).

8§ 7. Peace witfh Mafarana.

Alkbar's rebellion disconcerted the Mughal plan of war at a
fime when their net was being drawn closer round Marwar,
and it gave automatic relief fo this State. It was probably
at this time that the Sisodias seized the opportunity of making
reprisals, under the gallani prince Bhim Singh and the
Maharana's finance minister Davaldas, ravaging Gujrat and
Malwa. .
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LThe Rajput war was a drawn game so lar as the actual
fighting was concerned, but its material consequences were
disastrous {o the Maharana's subjects ; their corn-flelds in
the plains were ravaged by the enemy ; they could stave
off defeat but not starvation. So, both sides desired peace.
Maharana Jai Singh personally visited Prince Muhammad Azam
(14th June, 1681), and made peace with the empire on the
following terms :

1. The Rana ceded to the empire the parganas of
Mandal, Pur and Bednor in lieu of the jaziva demanded
from his kingdom.

9, The Mughals withdrew from Mewar, which was
restored to Jai Singh with the tfitle of Rana and the rank of a
Commander of Pive Thousand.
~ Thus Mewar at last recovered peace and freedom. Not
so Marwar. That unhappy theatre of war was turned into a
wilderness during the fruceless conflict which constitutes
Jodhpur history for the next thirty years. “The sword and
pestilence united fo clear the land.” Akbar's junction with
Shambhuji raised a more formidable danger to the empire
and Aurangsib had fo concentrate all his forces in the
Deccan and even to be present there in  person. The.
Mughal hold on Marwar was consequently relaxed, This
was the salvation of the Rathors. Throughout the succeeding
generation we find the Mughal hold on Marwar pulsating
with the military situation in the Deccan.

The Rathor systern of warfare, under Durgadas’s able

\/

i

guidance, anticipated the Maratha method and its success by °

harassing and exhausting the imperialists and even by
driving the helpless Mughal commanders to buy a secret
forbearance by paying chaulfi to the Rathors. Thus the
war went on with varying fortunes, but without cessation
for 30 wyears, till August 1709, when Ajit Singh entered
Jodhpur in triumph for the last time and his lordship of
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Marwar was formally and finally acknowledged by the
Emperor of Delhi.

dln the height of political unwisdom, Aurangzib wantonly
provoked rebellion in Rajputana, while the Afghans on the
frontier were still far from being pacified. With the two
leading Rajput clans openly hostile to  him, his army lost its
finest and most loyal recruits!’ Nor was the trouble confined
to Marwar and Mewar. It spread by sympathy among the
Hada and Gaur clans. The elements of lawlessness thus
set moving overflowed fitfully into Malwa and endangered
the vitally iImportant Mughal road through Malwa to the
Deccan.



BOOK IV

CHAPTER X
RISE OF THE MARATHA POWER.

§ 1. The gegnote of Deccan fistory in ifie Seventeents
Century.

In the middle of the Fourteenth century the foundalion of
the Bahmani kingdom created an independent cenire of
Muslim  power in Southern India, and Indian Islam started on
a new carcer of expansion in the south and repeated the
work of the Delhi Sultanate in North India by crushing out
the great Hindu kingdoms of the Deccan which had hitherto
refained their independence. This process went on throughout
the Tifteenthh century. Even when, at the end of the first
quarter of the next cenlury, the great house of Bahmani fell,
its heritage passed into the worthy hands of Nizam Shah and
Adil Shah. Ahmadnagar and Bijapur now became cenlres
which fully kept up the traditions of Islamic dominion and
Islamic culture founded by the Sultans of Kulbarga. The first
quarter of the 17th century saw the final extinction of the Nizam
Shahs. Bijapur now rushed in to fill the leadership vacated by
Ahmadnagar.

But with the commencement of the Seventeenth ceniury a
new combatant had enfered the southern arena. The Mughal
Emperor was now free to conquer the Deccan, and this fact
dominated the whole history of Southern India throughout the
17th century. Adil Shah (the ruler of Bijapur) found that he
must give up the dream of winning the hegemony of {he
Deccan, as the heir of the Bahmanis and the Nizam-~Shahs,

i
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and that he must find an outlet for his ambition eastwards
and southwards only, so as not to cross the path of the
dreaded Mughals of the north. By the partition-treaty of
1636, the southern boundary of Mughal Deccan had been
clearly marked out, and during the following twenty vears
Bijapur had risen to the pinnacle of her greatness by stretch-
ing her sway from sea 1o sea across the Indian peninsula,
while fhe capital city had become the mother of arts and
letters, of theology and science. But the warrior-kings of an
earlier, poorer and ruder generation were now followed by
successors who preferred the harem and the darbar to the
iented field and the saddle. The climax of the Adil-Shahi power
was also the beginning of #ls rapid decline and dismemberment,

A feudal State cannot be governed by a faineant king nor
by a constitutional prime minister, When the hing is no longer
a hero, the military viceroys of the provinces will not ohey
him. ~ Therefore, after the death of the last great Adil Shah {in
November 1656), the dissolution of the remaining Muslim
kingdoms of the Deccan and their absorption into the Mughal
empirc would have laken place as an inevitable, speedy
and almost silent operalion of Nature, bul for the entrance of
a new factor into Deccan politics.”

These were the Marathas. They dominated Deccan history
for the century and a half that followed the accession of
Aurangzib, and North Indian history for the last fifty years of
the 18th century, The Maratha people had been there from
fime oul of mind, but since the 13th century they had lived
dispersed through many States, as the subjects of allens in
the land of their birth, without any political organization or
status of their own. A genius was needed to gather these
scattered units {ogether inlo a ration and drive them [ike
a solid wedge into the Mughal empire, shivering it to bits.
That genius was Shivaji, the contemporary and antagonist
of Aurapgzib.
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From the day when the Emperor Akbar launched forth
infto a policy of conquest south of the Vindhyas to the day
94 years later, when Aurangzib rode in triumph into the
fallen capital of the last of the Quib-Shahs, (the Sullans ot
Bijapur and Golkonda could never for a moment forget
that the sleepless aim of the Mughal Emperor was their final
extinction and the annexation of all their territories. They
found in the genius of Shivaji and the reckless audacity of
Shambhuji their only shield in the hour of supreme danger.
A union of hearts between Bijapur or Golkonda and the
Mughal empire against the Marathas was a psychological
impossibility.

European historians maintain that it would have been
wiser for Aurangzib lo have left Bijapur and Golkonda in
independence to serve as the police of the Deccan against
the growing Maratha lawlessness which finally proved too
strong for the Mughals. This view is based upon ignorance
of the true condition of the Deccan. By the time that Shivaji
had succeeded in forming a national State as a nucleus round
which the Maratha chiefs hitherto in Muslim pay might cluster,
the kingdoms of Bijapur and Golkonda had arrived at the
last stage of decline. Their kings were mere puppets sunk in
pleasure, their capitals ran blood during the frequent
faction-fights for the office of wazir, the administration
had utterly broken down, law and order had disappeared,
the provincial governors had become independent, the generals
were selling themselves to the highest bidder. Such Govern-
ments  could not be expected to tame Shambhuji and chastise
Shanta Ghorpare more effectually than Aurangzib himself
could do.

Briefly put the grouping of Powers in the Deccan was
thus: The dread of Mughal aggression drove the Sultan of
Golkonda  whole-heartedly, and that of Bijapur distrustfully
and intermittently, into the arms of Shivaji. Bijaput’s leagues e
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with Shivaji were formed only when Mughal invasion was an
insistent fact and the situation of Adil Shah was desperate ;
and these leagues were soon dissolved by the growing fear
that Shivaji was trying to enrich himself by lreacherously
seizing ils forts and lands. Of the three Deccani Powers, Quib
Shah may be left out of our account, as he never sought a
rupture with the Mughals during this period. The Bijapur
Government fell into a hopeless decline®  after 1666, when Ali
Adil  Shah Il gave himself up entirely to wine, while rival
nobles began to fight for the wagzirship and the control over
the capital and the faineant king. Maters grew worse when
the boy-king Sikandar succeeded in 1672, and the history of
Bijapur became in effect the history of its regents. Great
disorder prevailed in the administration. This was the

opportunity which made Shivaji’s rise to independent power -

possible,

Shivaji could never for a moment be sure of the Delhi
Government's pacific disposition or fidelity to treaty promises.
Hence, he lost no chance of robbing Mughal ferritory in the
Deccan. With Bijapur his relations were somewhat diflerent,
He could raise his head or expand his dominion only at the
cxpense  of Bifapur, But when, about 1662, an understanding
with him was effected by the Adil-Shahi ministers, he gave up
molesting the hearl of the Bijapur kingdom, With the Bijapuri
nobles whose fiefs lay close to his dominions and across the
path of his nalural expansion (e g, Kolhapur, Kanara and
Kopal), he could nol be af peace, though he did not wish
to challenge the central Government of Bijapur.

§ 2. Causes of Mughal weakness in the Deccan.

From January 1658 when Aurangzib left the Deccan to
contest his father's throne, till March 1682 when he returned to

* The downward course had begun much earlier, In 1646, when Mehammad Adit
Shah was prostrated by a severe and lngering illness.
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the South to wear out the last quarter century of his life in
ceaseless warfare, a period of @4 years inlervened, during
which there were five viceroys of the Mughal province of
Deccan, among whom DPrince Shah Alam held the office for
11 vyears, Bahadur Khan for 6 vears, Shaista Khan for 4,
lai Singh for nearly two, and Dilir Khan for one year. Duting
these twenty-four years the Mughals pursued a vigorous forward
policy against Bijapur only under Jai Singh (1666), Bahadur
Khan (1676—77), and Dilir Khan (1679—80). Military operations
against the Marathas were actively carried on by Shaista Khan
{1660—69), Jai Singh (1665), Mahabat Khan (1671—79) Bahadur
Khan (1673—75), and by Dilic Khan for a short while in 1678—
79 A state of war between Shivaji and the Mughals existed
for a much longer period, but during most of it the imperial
generals acted languidly, so as fo hoodwink their distant
master, while maintaining a secret understanding with Shivaji/
(and, later, with Shambhuji) and accepting bribes from’
him, :

Only a few clear successes but no decisive result was
achieved by the Mughal arms in the Deccan during these
924 years. The cause of this failure was partly personal and
partly polilical. Shah Alam was a timid unenterprising prince,
inclined by nature to peace with his neighbours and the!
pleasures of the harem or the chase. Besides, his chief
lieutenant Dilir Khan’s open defiance of his authority often
made the viceregal camp in the Deccan as powerless as a
counky torn by civil war. Shah Alam and Dilir always
worked at cross purposes and thus ensured Mughal failure
in the Deccan.

Secondly, the imperial officers were heartily sick of the
ceaseless war with Shivaji. The Hindu officers in Mughal pay
secrely fraternized with the Deccani champion of Hinduism,
while several of the Muslim generals were glad to bribe him
io let them live in peace. Above all, no Mughal governor



NAIURAL [LATURLS OF MAHARASHIRA 189

of the Deccan was supplied with men and money even half
adequale fo the tash of defeating DBijapur and the Marathas.
The rebellion of Prince Akbar and his tlight to Shambhuit
raised a danger to the throne of Delhi which could be met
only by Aurangzib’s personal appearance in the South, Thus
a complete change was forced on the imperial policy in that
quatter. The first task of Aurangzib now was fo crush the
power of Shambhuji and render Akbar impotent for mischief.

§ 3. Mabarashitra : the land and ils people.

The home of the Maratha people is made up of three
clearly marked regional divisions. DBetween the Western Ghats
and the Indian Ocean lies a long narrow strip of land of
varying breadth, called Konfan (between Bombay and Goa)
and Kanara (south of Goa). It is an atea of certain and
heavy rainfall,—from 100 to 120 inches in the year,——with
rice for the predominant crop, and dense mango-groves,
plantain orchards and coconut-palms. Then, afler crossing
the Ghals easlwards we have a belt of land, some 20 miles
in breadth, called Maval “lt is extremely rugged, a series
of {ableslands cut on every side by deep winding valleys,”

Going further towards the east, the spurs of the Western
Ghats sink, the river valleys widen out and form Desfi or the
vast rolling blaclk-soil plain of the Ceniral Deccan.

This land, almost locked among the hills and open only in
the east, is the cradle of the Maratha kingdom. East of the
Ghats the rainfall decreases rapidly, and is uncertain and
insufficient for agriculture, while the soil is naturally sterile and
broken up by low ranges of bare rocky hill,  “The Dececan,
generally speaking, yields to much labour a bare measure of
subsistence.”

w In such a country, where Nature enforces a Spartan simpli-
city, there can be no luxury, no learned lefsure (except among
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the priests), no aesthetic development, no polished manners
even. But such a country and climate have their compensating
advantages. They develop sell-reliance, courage, perseverance,
a stern simplicity, a rough straightforwardness, a sense of social
equality and consequently pride in the dignity of man as man.
In the 7th century, the Chinese pilgrim Yuan Chwang noted the
Marathas for being “proud-spirifed and warlike, grateful for
favours and revengeful for wrongs.” In the course of the next
ten centuries they became more cunning and less chivalrous
but the basis of thelr character remained the same,—activity,
self-reliance, self-respect and love of equality.

Social distinctions were fewer and much less sharp among
the 16th century Marathas than among richer and more civilized
communilies. The same sense of equality was fostered by
religion. Their popular saints of the 15th and 16th centuries
taught the sanclity of conduct rather than mere birth, and the
oneness of all true believers before God.

The simplicity and uniformity of early Maratha society were
also reflected in their language and [literature, which were poot,
undeveloped, and essentially popular. Nature provided them ’
with many ready-made and easily defensible forts close al hand,
whete they could ‘quickly flee for refuge and whence they
could offer a tenacious resistance. “The whole of the Ghals
often terminate towards the top in a wall of smooth rock, the
highest points of which, as well as detached porfions on
isolated hills, form nalural foriresses,....(with) a level space on the
summit.....In many of them there are springs of the finest water.”
Thus a remarkable community of language, creed and life
was aftained in Maharashira in  the 17th century, even before
political unilty was conferted by Shivaji,

The backbone of Shivaji's army was composed of the
peasantry belonging to the Maratba and Kunbi castes,—a
simple, frank, independent, manly and hardy race. With the
Muslim conquest of the Deccan and the extinction of the last



u

CARLCLR OI SlHAlI BHONSLL . 1ot

Hindu kingdom in Maharashira in the 14th century, the
fighting classes among the natives gathered round their own
leaders in small bands and hired out their swords to the
new rulers of the land. Many Maratha families rose to wealth,
power and distinction as captains of mercenary troops in the
service  of the Muslim States in their neighbourhood.

S 4. Shafiji Bficnsle : Ais career.

One such family, bearing the name of Bhonslé, originally
lived in the Palas sub-division of the DPuna district, as the
headmen (pati) of iwo villages. They followed agriculture
and gained much local credit by their sober honest character
and religious benefaclions. Some buried {reasure that they
discovered in  their fields enabled them to buy arms and
horses and develop into  captains of metrcenaries under the
Nizam-Shahi  dynasly at  the close of the 16th century. Such
was Shahji Bhonsle, the eldest son of Maloji. Born in 1594,
he was married when a child fo Jija Bai, the daughter of
the high-born Lakhji Yadav Rao, baron of Sindhkhed and
one of the greatest [Hindu nobles of Ahmadnagar.  Shahji
first saw service probably as the commander of the small
contingent of his family during the rule of Malik Ambar,
the regent of Nizam Shah. On the death of Malik Ambar
in May 1626, {he Stale fell into rapid decay ; there were
frequent assassinations at Court. During these troubled times,
Shahji first  followed the Nizam-Shahi Government, then
joined the Mughals, deserted them, fought against the
Bijapuris, went over fo their side afterwards, and finally set
up a puppet Nizam Shah (1653) in one of the hill-forts of
the Sahyadri range. He seized all the Nizam-Shahi dominion
from Puna and Chakan to Balaghat and the neighbourhood
of Junnar, Ahmadnagar, Sangamner, Trimbak and Nasik,
and for three years (1633-36) cartied on the government
in the Sultan’s name. He made Junnar his capifal. But in
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1636 a grand campaign was opened by the imperialists
against Shahji, in which he was completely defeated and had
to give up eight of his forls, enter the service of Dijapur,
and leaye Maharashtra.

& 5. Childfiood, education, and character of Shivaji.

Shivaji, the second son of Shahji and Jija Bai, was born
in the hill-fort of Shivner, which overlooks the town of
Junnar, on 10th April 1627. After entering Bijapur service
towards the end of 1636, Shalji was sent away to the
Tungabhadra region and the Mysore plateau, and later on to
the Madras coast to conquer fresh lerritories for his new
master and jagirs {for himself, —But here his favourite wife
Tuka Bai and her son Vyankaji accompanied him, while Jija
Bai and Shivaji were sent to live at Puna, in charge of his
land-steward Dadaji Kond-dev.

Her husband's neglect drove the mind of Jija Bai inwards
and deepened her natural religious spirif, which she imparted
to her son. Shivaji grew up in solitude, a mateless child,
without brother, sister or father. The isolation of their lile
drew mother and son very close together and intensified his
love for her till it became almost an adoration for a deity.
From a very early age, he was thrown on his own resources,
and learni lo carry out his own ideas unaided and to take
the inifiative without referring to any higher authortty. Such
education as he received was eminently praciical; he became
shilled in fighting, riding and other manly accomplishments ;
but he mastered the contents of the great Hindu epies by
listening to recitations and story-teflings and thus learnl their
political lessons and moral * maxims. He loved to distraction
religious readings and songs (&irfan) and sought the society
of Hindu and Muslim sainis wherever he went.

The Mavals or western belt of the Puna district, siretching
along the rugged forest-clad side and foot of the Sahyadri
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range, were the homes of a sturdy, healithy, and brave race
of peasants called Mavies. From them Shivaji drew his earliest
comrades, his most devoted followers, and his best soldiers.
In the company of Mavle chieftains of his own age, young
Shivaji wandered over the hills and forests of the Sahyadri
range, and along the mazes of the river valleys, thus hardening
himself to a life of privation and strenuous exertion. A stoical
earnestness mingled with refigious fervour was very early
imparted to the character of Shivaji. He began to love
independence and loathe a life of servile luxury in the pay of
some Muslim king.

Dadaji Kond-dev died about the middle of 1647, and
Shivaji became his own master at the age of twenty, He
had already been {rained in marial exercises and civil
administration ; he had familiarized himself with the troops of
his father’s weslern jagir, and the people he wotld have to
govern, Initiative and power of command had been

freely
developed in him.

$

& 6. Farly conquests of Shivaji

The year 1646 marks a crisis in the history of Bijapur.
The king fell seriously ill, and lingered on for ten years more,
but during these years no serious business could be attended
to by him. This was Shivaji’s opportunity, He occupied
Torna fort by ftricking its Bijapuri commandant. Here he
seized QGovernment .treasure amounting to 2 lakhs of Aun.
Five miles east of it, on the crest of the same spur of hills, he
built a new fort named Rajgarh. Later he took Kondana
from a Bijapur agent.  Afler the death of Dadaji, Shivaiji
set himself to bring all parts of Shahji’s western jagir under
his own conirol, 50 as to form one compact State ruled by
one authority.

On 25th July 1648 Shahji wag” arrested and all his property

13
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and contingent aitached by the Bijapuri commander-in-~chief,
Mustafa Khan, then investing Jinji in the South Arcot district,

Shahji was broughtin chains to DBijapur, and kept under
guard unfil he submitted to his sovereign.

Shivaji was in a terrible dilemma : he appealed to Prince
Murad Bakhsh, the Mughal viceroy of the Deccan, entreating
him to secure the Emperot's pardon for Shahji's past conduct
and protection for him and his sons in future, and offering
to come and join the Mughal service. Shah lahan, however,
did not put any pressure on Adil Shah lo release Shahji.
Shahji was set at liberty, through the mediation of the
Bijapuri noble Ahmad K¥han and in return for the surrencer
of three forts (Bangalote, Kondana and Kandarpi) to the
Sulian, (at the end of 1649). As the release of Shahji
had been conditional, Shivaji kept comparatively quiet dusing
the six years from 1649 to 1655, instead of giving the Bijapur
Government any new provocation. His chief acquisition at
this time was the hill-fort of DPurandar, gained by treachery
to its Maratha Brahman owners.

At the extreme north-western corner of the Satara disirict
fies the village of Javli, which was then the centre of a fairly
large principalily, including nearly the whole of that disirict,
owned by a Maratha family named More, the head of which
bore the hereditary tille of Chandra Rao. They kept 12,000
infantry, mostly sturdy hillmen of the  same class as
the Mavles.

The ©State of Javli, by ifs situafion, barred the path of
Shivaji’s ambition in the south and south-west. So he sent his
Brahman agent Raghunath Ballal Korde to murder Chandra
Rao, during pretended negotiations for a marriage betwaen
Shivaji and the late Chandra Rao’s daughter, Immediately on
hearing of the wmuarder, Shivaji advanced and assaulled Javli
(15 Jan. 1656). The leaderless garrison defended themselyes
for six hours and were then overcome. The whole kingdom
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of Javli now passed into Shivaji's possession. Two miles
west of Javli he built a new fort named Dratapgarh, and hetre he
set up an image of his pafron goddess Bhavani, In the April

following he captured Raigarh, his fulure capital, from the
Mores.

§ 7. Shivaji’s first war with the Mughals, 1657,

On the death of Muhammad Adil Shah (4 Nov. 1656),
Aurangzib began active preparations for the invasion ot Bijapur,
and ftried to seduce as many Adil-Shahi nobles and vassals
as he could. Shivaji's envoy Sonaji reached the prince's
siege~camp Lefore Ridar (in March 1657) and was assured that
the Mughal Government would grant all the prayers of the
Maratha chief, namely (/) a formal recognition of his right to
all the Bijaputi forts and villages actually in his possession
and (i} the annexation of the port of Dabhol and the territory
apperlaining to it A reply in lhese terms was also written
to Shivaji by Aurangzib on 23rd April, 1657. But Shivaji
had already decided on the different policy of fighting for
his own hand. The vague promises of the Mughal prince
could not safisfy him. He considered it more profitable to
make a diversion in favour of Bijapur by raiding the south-
western corner of Mughal Deccans

Two Maratha captains, Minaji Bhonsle at the head of
3,000 horse and Kashi, crossed the Bhima and plundeted the
Muyghal villages in the Chamargunda and Raisin sub-~divisions
respectively. They catried devastation and alarm to the very
gates of Ahmadnagar, the chief city of Mughal Deccan, {end of
April 1657), A Maratha attempt to loot the city (petfi) which
nestled under shelter of the fort of Ahmadnagar was defeated
by a ftimely sorlie of the garrison. At the same time, Shivaji
was busy loofing the Junnar sub-division in the porth., In the
dark night of 30th April, he silently scaled the wealls of Junnar
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city with rope-ladders and after slaughtering the guards, carried
off 300,000 Aun in cash, 200 horses, and much costly clothing
and jewellery, Aurangzib, on hearing of these disturbances,
poured reinforcements into the Ahmadnagar district. Nasiri
Khan, Iraj Khan, and some other officers at the head of
3,000 cavalry were ordered there. Meantime, Multafat Khan
thad issued from the fort of Ahmadnagar and relieved the
beleaguered outpost at Chamargunda by defeating Minaji,
{98th April)

But when the Mughal pressure in the north Puna region
became great Shivaji slipped away to the Ahmadnagar district
and began to plunder it. By this time (end of May), however,
Nasiri Khan had reached the scene. By a forced march he
surprised Shivaji's army and nearly encircled it. Many of the
Marathas were slain, many wounded, and the rest put to flight,
(4 June). Aurangzib ordered his officers to make reprisals
by entering Shivaji's land from all sides, “wasting the villages,
slaying the people without pity, and plundering them to the
extreme.” His new dispositions for guarding his south-western
fromtier showed excellent combination and judgment The rains
now set in with the full violence of the monsoons, and the
campaignt had fo be suspended during June, July and August.

When in September his liege-lord, the king of Bijapur, made
peace, Shivajl found it useless and even ruinous to himself to
continye the war with the Mughal empire single-handed. He sent
his envoy Raghunath Pant to Aurangszib.  The prince was just
then starting on his march to Notthern India (25 Jan, 1658)
and wrote to Shivaji in reply, “Though your offerices do not
deserve pardon, I forgive you as you have repented,” But
Burangzib’s mind was not really composed; he felt convineed
that the young Maratha chief was a raider whose daring was
only equalled by his cunning, and an ambifious adventurer who
would place self-inferest above fidelity to his plighted word.

In the last quarter of the year 1657, the northward retreat
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of Prince Aurangzib, the likelihood of a civil war for the throne
of Delhi, and the wrangles among the Bijapuri nobles about
responsibility for their ill-success in the recent war with the
Mughals (which culminated in the murder of the waxir Khan
Muhammad),—all combined to remove the only checks on..
Shivaji's ambition. Crossing the Western Ghats he burst into
Konkan. The northern part of this coaststrip formed the
Kalian (modern, Thana) district and was then governed by an
Arab named Mulla Ahmad of the Navaiyat (emigrant) clan, one
of the leading nobles of Bijapur. Shivaji easily seized the rich
towns of Kalian and Bhivandi (24 Oct. 1657), which were then
without walls, and there took much wealth and costly mer-
chandise. The fort of Mahuli, which had once been the last
refuge of Shahji, was next captured (8 Jan. 1658). His progress
southwards into the Kolaba district seems fo have been assisted
by the pelty local chiefs who were eager to throw off Muslim
yoke and wrote inviting him to come. Kalian and DBhivandi
were immedialely turned into naval bases and dochyards by
Shivafi.

, Dy the year 1659 he had extended his dominions in the
uplands or Dest to the southern limit of the Satara district, and
in North Konkan from Mahuli fo near Mahad.

§ 8. Shinaji slays Afsal Kfian of Bijapur, 1659.

In 1659, the Bijapur Government being freed for the time
being from the constant menace of the Mughals on the frontler,
began to call iis refractory vassals to account. The command
of the expedition against Shivaji was given to. Abdullah Bhatari,
surnamed Afzal Khan, a noble of the first rank, who had fought
with conspicuous bravery and skill in the Karnalak expeditions
and the more recenl war with the Mughals. But only 10,000
cavalry could be spated to accompany Afzal, while popular
report had raised the sitength of Shivaji's Mavle infantry to
60,000 men. Afzal Khan was therefore instructed by the
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Dowager Queen to effect the capture or murder of Shivaji by
“pretending friendship” with him and offering to secure his
pardon from Adil Shah.* From his camp at Wai, Afzal sent
his land-steward Krishnaji Bhaskar to Shivaji with a very alluring
message, saying, “Your father has long been a great friend of
mine, and you are, therefore, no stranger lo me. Come and
see me, and I shall use my influence to make Adil Shah
confirm your possession of Konkan and the forts you now
hold.”

Shivaji treated Afzal’'s envoy, Krishnaji Bhaskar with respect,
and at night met him in secrecy and solemnly appealed to him
as a Hindu and a priest to tell him of the Khan's real intentions,
ft was well known that when Afzal was besieging the fori of
Sera, he had put to death Kasturi Ranga, the Rajah of the
place, who had come to his camp to make his submission,
Krishnaji vielded so far as to hint that the Khan seemed to
hatbour some plan of mischief. Shivaji then sent the envoy
back with Pantajl Gopinath, his own agent, who learnt {from
Afzal’s officers by a liberal use of bribes that “the Khan had
so arranged matters that Shivaji would be arrested at the inter-
view, as he was too cunning to be caught by open fight”

The place chosen for the interview was the crest of an
eminence, below the fort of Pratapgarh, and overlooking the
valley of the Koyna, where a richly decorated tent had been
pitched for the purpose. On each side four men wete present
within the tent—the principal, two armed retainers and an
envoy. But Shivaji was seemingly unarmed, like a rebel who
had come to surrender, while the Khan had his sword al his
side. DBut concealed in Shivaji's left hand was a set of sleel

* “Bgainst Shivaji the Queen this vear sent Abdullah Khan with an army ot
10,00 horse and fool, and because she knew with that strength he was not able to
resist Shivaji, she counselled him to prefend friendsfiip with his enemy, wficf fie did,
And ihe other [i. e, Shivajf], whether' through intelligence or suspicion it s not known,
dissembled his love toward him &e.” (Revington at Rajapur to Company, 10 Dee.
1659, F. R. Rajapur.]
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claws (baghnath) fastened to the fingers by a pair of rings,
and up his right sleeve lay hidden a thin sharp dagger called
the scorpion (bichwa).

The attendants stood below. Shivaji mounted the raised
plalform and bowed to Afzal. The Khan rose from his seat,
advanced a few steps, and opened his arms to receive him
in his embrace. The short slim Maratha only came up to
the shoulders of his opponent. Suddenly Afzal tightened his
clasp, and held Shivaji's neck in his left arm with an fron
grip, while with his right hand he drew his long straight-bladed
dagger and struck at the side of Shivaji. The hidden armour
‘beneath Shivaji’s coat rendered the blow harmless, He groaned
in agony as he felt himself being strangled. But in a moment
he recovered from the surprise, passed his left arm round the
Khan's waist and tore his bowels open with a blow of the
steel claws. Then with the right hand he drove the
biciwa into Afzal's side. The wounded man relaxed his hold,
and Shivaji wrested himsell free, jumped down from the
platforni, and ran towards his own men outside.

The Khan cried out, “Treachery ! Murder ! Help ! Help
The attendants ran up from both sides. Sayyid Banda, an
expert swordsman attending on Afzal, faced Shivaji with his
long straight sword and cut his furban in fwain, making a
deep dint in the steel cap beneath. But Jiv Mahala hacked
off the right arm of the Sayyid, and then hilled him. Shambhuii
Kavii cut off Afzal's head, which he cartied in friumph fo Shivafi.

Freed from danger, Shivaji and his two comrades then
made their way to the summit of Pratapgath, and fired a
cannon. This was the signal for which his froops were
waiting in their ambush in the valleys below, At once the
armies of Moro Trimbalk and Nelaji Palkar and the thousands
of Mavles rushed on the Biiapwi camp from four sides.
Afzal's officers and soldiers alike were panic-stricken at the
news of their chief's death and this unexpected attack in that
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unknown region, where every bush seemed fo be alive with
enemies. The carnage in the Bijapuri army was terrible.

The booty taken was immense: all the artillery, waggons,
ammunition, freasure, tents and equipage, fransport caftle and
baggage of an entite army, fell into the victors’ hands. Among
them were 65 elephants. 4,000 horses, 1200 camels, 2000
bundles of clothing, and 0 [akfs of Rupees in cash and
jewellery.

Flushed with their victory over Afzal Khan (10 November,
1659) and the destruction of his army, the Marathas poured
info South Konkan and the Kolhapur district, capturing the fort
of Panhala, defeating another Bijapuri army, and making exten-
sive conquests {(Dec, 1659—Feb., 1660).

§ 9. Shivaji besieged in Panfala.

Early in 1660, Ali Adil Shah II sent his Abyssinian slave
Siddi Javhar (created Salabat Khan) with an army to put down
Shiva. Jauhar drove Shivaji into DPanhala (2nd March, 1660),
which he invested with a force of 15,000 men Bul Shivaji
corrtpted Jauhar, so that the siege was conducted for mere show.
Fazl Khan, the son of the slain Afzal, however aftacked the
Marathas with relentless vigour and by seizing a neighbouring
hillock threatened to make Panhala untenable. So, one datk
night (13th July) Shivaji slipped out of the fort with half his
forces, and though pursued by a Bijapuri army, made his
escape to Vishalgarh, 27 miles {o the west. His success was
due to the desperate resistance of his rear-guard, under Baji
Prabhu (who was slain with most of his men) at the pass of
Gajpur. The men he had left in Panhala surrendered it on
22nd September.

§ 10. Sfaista Kfan occupies Puna and Chakan,

Early in 1660, Shaista Khan, the new Mughal viceroy of
the Deccan, opened the campaign against Shivaji from the north,
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after arranging for an attack upon the Maratha dominions by
the Bijapuris from the south af the same time. Leaving
Ahmadnagar with a vast army on  25th February, the Khan
marched southwards along the eastern side of the Puna district,
methodically capturing and garrisoning all the sirongholds
that guarded the approaches to DPuna on the east and
south, The Marathas al first refreated before him without
risking a batile, {ill near Purandar. The Mughals were victorious
in fight and Shaista Khan entered Puna on 9th May.

Leaving Puna on 19th June, the Khan arrived in the vicinity
of Chakan (18 miles northwards) on the 9ist reconnoifred
the fort and began to run irenches fowards the fort-walls,
After 54 days of hard labour a mine was carried from his
own position in the north to under the fower at the north-
eastern corner, and it was exploded at 3 p. M. on 14th August,
1660. The work and its defenders were blown away; the
Mughals rushed to the assault. Next day the citadel capitulated.
But the imperialists had fo purchase their victory at a
heavy price, losing 268  hilled and 600 wounded.
Shaista Khan, on his refurn to Puna (end of August
1660) after the capture of Chakan, spent the rainy season
there in enforced inactivity. He employed his time mote use-
fully in inducing Ghalib, the Bijaputi commandant of Parenda,
to surrender that fort lo Aurangzib for a high price, (20th
Novembet).

At the beginning of next year (1661), Shaista Khan turned
his attention fo the Kalian district or North Konkan. Here a
small Mughal force, only 3,000 strong, under Ismail, had been
operating since April last and had occupied a part of the
country, though the important cities and forts (like Kalian)
remained unconquered. In January 1661, a sitrong Mughal
force from Puna under Kar Talb Khan descended info Konkan.
At Umbarkhind (about 15 miles due east of Pen), Shivaji by
secret and rapid marches came up with them and cut off theit
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lines of advance and retreat alike. Kar Talb’s army seemed
doomed to perish from thirst, without the power to move. In
despair he gave up all the property in his camp and paid a
large ransom to Shivaji and thus bought a safe retreat for his
army (5rd February, 1661). The Kalian district having been
thus freed from the new enemies, Shivaji left it alone, and
marched southwards, easily capturing city after city, till all the
coast-strip from Danda-Rajpuri to Kharepatan was commanded
by him. But these successes were chequered by a great defeal.
In May 1661 the Mughals wrested Kalian from the Marathas and
kept hold of it for nine years more. The net result of the
operations of these two years was that the Mughals kept their
grip on the extteme north of Konkan, while Shivaji remained
master of the southern part, In March 1663, the Mughals gave
a long and vigorous chase to Netaji, the Master of {he Horse
in Shivajis army. Netaji got away, though not without the loss
of 500 horse and himself wounded.

§ 11. Sbivaji’s night-attack on Shaista Khan.

But within a month of meeling with this reverse to his
arms, Shivaji dealt a masterly blow at the Mughals. He sur-
prised and wounded the Mughal viceroy of the Deccan in the
heart of his camp, in his very bed-chamber, within the inner ring
of his body-guards and slaves.

Shaista Khan was residing at Puna in the Lal Mahal or the
unpretentious home of Shivaji’s childhood. His harem was with
him, and around his mansion lay the quarters of his guards
and aftendarts, the band-room and offices. Further off, across
the road leading southwards to Singh-garh lay the camp of his
lieutenant, Maharajah Jaswant Singh, and his contingent of
10,000 men. To surprise him here was an enferprise that
required no less agilty and cunning than bravery and dash.
Shivaji directed two supporting divisions of one thousand each,
under Netaji Palkar and Moro Pant the Pesfiwa, to take post
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on the two flanks of the vast Mughal encampment, at a mile's
distance from its outer side. After nightfall (Sunday, 5th April,
1663), with 400 picked men he himself entered the limifs of
Puna, replying to the challenge of the Mughal guards that they
were Doccani soldiers of the imperial army going to take up
their appointed posts. After resting for a few hours in some
obscure corner of the camp, the parly arrived near the Khan's
quarters at midnight. Shivaji knew the ins and outs of the city
and every nook and corner of the house where he had passed
his boyhood and youth.

It was the sixth day of Ramzan, the month of fasting for
Muslims. The servanis of the Nawab's household had mostly
fallen asleep after their day's abstinence followed by the heavy
meal at night. Some cooks who had risen from bed fo make
a fire and prepare ihe meal which is taken a liftle before
dawn in the month of Ramzan, were despatched by
the Maralhas without any noise. The wall dividing this oufer
Ritchen from the body-setvants’ yoom within the harem once
had a small door in i, but the opening had been closed with
brick and mud to complete the seclusion of the harem. The
Marathas took the bricks out and made an opening there.
Shivaji, with his trusty lieutenant Chimnaji Bapuji, was the first
to enter the harem, and was followed by 200 of his men,
When he reached the bed-room of the Khan, the frightened
women roused the Nawab, but before he could use his
weapons Shivaji was tpon him and severed his thumb with
one stroke of his sword. It was evidently at this time that
the lamps in the room were put out by some wise woman.
In the darkness two of the Marathas tumbled info a cistern
of water; and the confusion that followed was used by
Shaista Khan's slave-girls to carry him away to a place of
safely. The Marathas continued their work of slaughter in
the darkness for some fime.

Meantime the other half of Shivaji's force, (200 men), who
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had been left outside the harem, had rushed the main guard,
slaying the sleepers and the awake and crying in derision,
“Is it thus that you keep watch ?” They next entered the
band-room and ordered ihe bandsmen, as if from the Khan,
to play. The loud noise of the hettle-drums drowned all
voices, and the yells of the enemy swelled the confusion.

Abul Fath, a son of Shaista Khan, had been the first to
hasten to his father's rescue without waiting for others ; but
the brave vyouth was slain after he had struck down two or
three Marathas.

Shivaji, finding his enemies fully awakened and arming,
delayed no longer, but prompily left the harem, called his
men together, and withdrew from the camp by the direct
rotute, unmolested and unpursued. During the surprise the
Marathas lost only six men killed and forty wounded, while
they slew a son and a captain of Shaista Khan, forty of his
attendants and six of his wives and slave-girls, besides
wounding two other sons, eight other women and Shaista
Khan himself. The public throughout the Deccan ascribed
Shivaji's exploit to the connivance of Jaswant Singh.

The daring and cunning of the Maratha hero were
rewarded by an immense increase of his prestige. He was
taken to be an incarnation of Satan; no place was believed
to be proof against his entrance and no feat impossible for
him. The Emperor heard of the disaster and ascribed it to
the viceroy's negligence and incapacily. As a mark of his
displeasure, he {ransferred Shaista Khan fo the government
of Bengal (1 Dec, 1663), which was then regarded as a penal
province. The Khan left the Deccan about the middle of
January 1664, on being relieved by Prince Muazzam.

§ 19, Shivaji’s first sack of Sutat.

While this change of governots was going on at
Aurangabad, Shivaji performed a feat of even greater audacily
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than he had ever displayed before. From 6th to 10th January
he looted the city of Surat, the richest port of the Mughal
empire. It had, at that time, no wall o protect it. Its wealth
was boundiess. The imperial customs alone yielded a revenue
of 12 lakhis of Rupees a year.

The city of Sutat covered nearly four square miles,
including gardens and open spaces, and had a population
of 200,000 souls. The streets were narrow and crooked ;
but the town was mainly composed of poor men's huts built
of wooden posts and bamboo walls and with floors plastered
with mud. “In the greater part of the town scarcely two ot
three brick-houses were to be seen in a street, and it some
parts.....not one for many streets together.”

Early in lhe morning of Tuesday, 5th January, 1664, Surat
was suddenly alarmed by the news that Shivaji had artived
with an army at Gandavi, 28 miles southwards, and was
advancing to plunder the town. At once the people were
seized with a panie, and began to flee away with their wives
and children, mostly across the river, to save their lives.
Rich men found shelter in the fort by bribing its commandant.
Inayet Khan, the governor of the town—who was quite
distinel from the commandant of the fort—himself fled to
the forl, leaving the town aft the enemy’s mercy. He wused
to draw from the Treasury the pay of 500 soldiers, but had
50 long appropriated the money without maintaining a  proper
force. His cowardice also prevenled him from organizing a defence
or even from dying at his post. The English and Dufch
merchants resolved to defend their own factories at all costs,
though these were open houses, not built to stand an atfack.

At 11 oclock in the morning of Wednesday, 6th January,
1664, Shivaji arrived at Surat and piiched his fent in a garden
a quarter of a mile oulside the Burhanpur or eastern gafe.
The Maratha horsemen immediately afterwards entered the
defenceless and almost desetted city, and after sacking the
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houses began to set fire to them. Throughout Wednesday,
Thursday, Friday, and Saturday, this work of devastation was
continued, every day new fires being raised, so that thousands
of houses were consumed to ashes and two-thirds of the town
destroyed. Near the Dutch factory stood the grand mansion
of Bahatji PBorah, then “reputed the richest merchant in the
world,” his property having been estimated at 80 lakfis of
Rupees. The Marathas plundered it at leisure day and night
till Friday evening, when having ransacked it and dug up its
floor, they set fire to it. Close to the English factory were
the lofty residence and extensive warehouses of another very
rich merchant, Haji Said Beg, who, too, had fled away to the
fort, leaving his property Withqut a defender. All the afternoon
and night of Wednesday and till past the noon of Thursday,
the Marathas continted to break open his doors and chesls and
carry off as much money as they could. But in {he afternoon
of Thursday the brigands left it in a hurry, on being scared
by a sortie which the English had made into the street. The
English merchants next day put a guard of their own in the
house of Said Beg and thus he suffered no further loss. The
plunder of Surat yielded above a £rore of rupees.

The cowardly governor Inayet Khan, who had run into the
fort on Tuesday night, formed an infamous plot from his safe
refuge. On Thursday he sent a young follower of his to
Shivaji with pretended terms of peace but really to murder
him at the interview. A Maratha body~guard 1that stood
before the Rajab with a drawn sword, struck off the assassin’s
hand with one blow. But so great was the force of the
desperado’s rush that he did not stop but drove the bloody
stump of his arm on Shivaji's person and the two rolled
on the ground together. At ten o'clock in the morning of
Sunday the 10th, Shivaji suddenly departed from Surat with
his army, on hearing that a Mughal force was coming to the
relief of the town,k
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The Emperor showed his sympathy with the aftlicted citizens
by excusing the custom duties for one vyear in the case of
all the merchants of Surat, and he rewarded the valour of the
English and the Dutch traders by granting them a reduction
of one per cent from the normal impotrt duties on their
merchandise in {ufure.

The year 1664 that lay between the departure of Shaista
Khan and the arrival of Jai Singh, was not marked by any
Mughal success. The new viceroy, DPrince Muazzam, lived
al Aurangabad, caring only for pleasure and hunting,

§ 13, Jai Singfi against Shivaji, Capture of Purandar.

The faflure of Shaista Khan and the sack of Surat caused
bitter mortification to Aurangzib and his Court, and he decided
to send his ablest Hinds and Muhammadan generals, Jai Singh
and Dilir Kban, to put down Shivaiji.

Jai Singh had fought under the imperial banner in every
part of the empire,—from Balkh in Central Asia to Bijapur in
{he Deccan, from Qandahar in the west to Mungir in the east
Hardly a year had passed during the long reign of Shah
Jaban when this Rajput chieftain had not seen active service
somewhete and received some promotion for conspicuous
merit. In diplomacy he had aftained to a success surpassing
even his vicfories in the field. Wherever there was a difficult
or delicate work to be done, the Emperor had only to turn to
Jai Singh. A man of infinite tact and patience, an adept in the
ceremonious courtesy of the Muslims, a master of Turki and
Persian, besides Urdu and the Rajput dialect, he was an ideal
leader of the composite army of Afghans and Turks, Rajputs
and Hindustanis, that followed the crescent banner of the
sovereign of Delhi, His foresight and political ecunning, his
smoothness of tongue and coql calculating policy, were in
striking contrast with the impulsive generosily, reckless daring



208 SHORT HISTORY OF AURANGZIB [cH. X

blunt straightforwardness, and impolilic chivalry which we are
apt to associate with the Rajput character.

Jai Singh played skilfully upon the hopes and fears of the
Sultan of Bijapur, holding forth the chance of teduction of
tribute and removal of the Emperor's displeasure, if Adil Shah
aided the Mughals and thus clearly proved his want of connec-
tion with Shivaji. He also arranged to combine against Shivaji
all his enemies and distract his attention by attacks from all
possible quarters. Money and promises of high rank in the
Mughal service were lavishly employed on Shivaji’s officers to
corrupt their loyalty, and with some success. Above all, Jai
Singh concentrated all authority in his own bhands, as an
indispensable condition of success in war. He rightly’
insisted that in war there should be only one head, and that
the ‘man on the spot’ should be given full authority, or else
the work would suffer. The Emperor yielded to the argument
and Jai Singh gained absolute civil and military authotity alike.

Jai Singh, with a true general's eye for the ground, made
Saswad his base. Puna was strongly garrisoned. An outpost
was established opposite Lohgarh lo observe and blockade il
and guard the road leading north to the Mughal frontier near
Junnar. A flying column was organized to ravage the Maralha
villages embosomed among the hills to the west and south-west
of Saswad.

On 3lst March, Jai Sihgh look up a permanent base,
between Saswad and Puarandar, only 4 miles from the lafler
place. Then he laid siege fo the fort of Purandar.

Six miles south of Saswad rises the stupendous mountain
mass of Purandar, the highest point of which towers 4,564
feet above sea-level and more than 2,500 feet above the plain at
its foot. It is really a double fort, with an independent and very
strong sister enclosure, named Vajragarh, on a ridge running
out east of it. Purandar consists of an upper fort or citadel with
precipitous sides all around, and a lower fort or machi, 500
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feet or more below it. The latter is a ledge running round
the waist of the hill with many a winding, the enfire circuit
being four miles. On the north side the ledge widens out
into a broad terrace, containing the barracks and offices of
the garrison. This terrace is bounded on the east by the high
spur named DBhairav Khind, which starts from the base of the
stecp overhanging north-eastern tower (called Kfad-fala or the
Sky-scraper) of the wupper fort, and runs for about a mile
eastwards in a narrow ridge, ending in a small table-land
(3,618 feet above sea-level), crowned with the fort of
Rudramal (now called Vajragarh). This Vajragarh commands
the machi or lower fort of Purandar on its northernn and most
important face, as the garrison has to live here. Jai Singh,
like a true general, decided to aftack Vajragarh first.

The incessant bombardment of the Mughals demolished the
bases of the tlower in front of Vajragarh. At midnight, 13th
April, Dilir Khan'’s division stormed the tower and drove the
encmy info an enclosure behind it. Next day, the victorious
Mughals pushed on to the inner enclosure and the garrison,
oppressed by their fire, capitulated in the evening (14th April.

The possession of Vajragarh was the stepping-stone to the
capturc of Purandar. Dilir Khan now furned to the latter
fort, while Jai Singh organized taids into ihe Maratha country,
in order, as he wrole to the Emperor, to convince Shivafi
and the Sultan of Rijapur that the Mughal army was large
enough 1o be able to spare troops from the siege, and also
to prevent any concenfration of forces round Shivaji by

creating constant terror and disturbance in various parts of
" his kingdom. There was also a secret reason for thus sending
away some generals from the siege-camp. He had some
disloyal officers under him, whose presence was worse than
useless, Daud Khan Qureshi was posted fo watch the postern
gate (&6ir€l) of the fort; but after a few, days it became
known that a party of Marathas had entered the fort by that

A A
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gate, without being opposed by him. “Subh-Karn Bundela did
not at all give his heart to the work, bul preferred above
everything else to favour Shival”

The Maratha efforts to raise the siege were many, bul on
the whole they failed to shake Jai Singh.

After the capture of Vajragarh Difir Khan advanced along
the connecting ridge and laid siege to {he macsi or lower forl
of Durandar. His trenches approached the fower of Khad-
kala at the north-eastern angle of the fort.

When, in the course of May, the Mughal trenches reached
the foot of the two White Towers, which had been dismantled
by bombardment, the garrison began to throw down lighted
naphtha oil, leather bags full of gunpowder, bombs and heavy
stones which effectually stopped the further advance of the
Mughals. Jal Singh ordered a high wooden platlorm of logs
and planks to be made, on which guns were to be mounted
and parties of gunnets and musketeers placed, 1o command
the enemy's position. On 30th May, with only two hours of
daylight remaining, some Ruhela soldiers, withoul informing
Dilir Khan, stormed the White Tower. Afler an obstinate
struggle at close quarters, the Marathas lost heavily and retreat-
ed to behind the DBlack Tower, which they were forced to
evacuate after two days. Thus five towers and one slockade
of the lower fort fell into the hands of the Mughals. Purandas™
now seemed doomed.

Early in the siege, the gallant giladar Murar Baji Prabhu,
with seven hundred select men had made a sortic on Dilir Khan,
who was trying fo climb the hill with 5,000 Afghans and some
more troops of other races. Murar Baji with his Mavles slew\
500 Pathans besides many Bafilia infantrymen, and at the head
of sixty desperate followers cul his way to Dilir Khan. The
Khan, in admiration of his matchless courage, called apon
him fo vyield and promised him his life and a high post
under him. Murar indignantly refused, and was going to
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sirike at Dilir when the latter shot him down with an arrow.
Three hundred Mavles fell with him, and the rest retreated
to the fort.

The Mughal victory of 2nd June, and the impending fall
of the lower fort decided Shivaji. The families of the Maratha
officers were sheltered in  Purandar, and its caplure would
mean their captivity and dishonour. He resolved to interview
Jai Singh and make peace with the imperialists.

§ 14. Treaty of Purandar, 1665.

On 11th June at 9 o'clock in the morning, while Jai Singh
was holding court in his tent at the foot of Purandar, Shivaji
came to him and was welcomed with every honour.

Up to midnight the two sides higgled for the terms of a
permanent peace. “Gradually, after much discussion, we
came to this agrecement .—{a) That 23 of his forts,* the lands
of which yielded 4 lakfis of fun as annual revenue should be
annexed to the Empire ; and (h) that 12 of his forts, including
Rajgarh, wilh an annual revenue of | /laffi of Bun, should
be left to Shiva, on conditlion of setvice and lovyally to the
imperial throne” Shivaji, however, begged to be excused from
attending the Cmperor’s Court like other nobles and Rajahs,
and proposed to send his son, as his tepresentalive, with a

J conlingent of 5,000 horse, (to be paid by means of a
jagir), for regular altendance and service under the Emperor
or the Mughal governor of the Deccan.

In addition to the abowe terms, Shivaji made another and
a conditional engagement with the Mughals : “If lands
gielding 4 lakfAs of fiun a year in the lowlands of Konkan

+ The Maratha fotts surrendeced lo the Emperor by the heaty of Purandar
(A, N. 905) were: in tle Deccan: 1. Rudramala or Vajragacrh, (2) Purandar, (3)
Kondana, (4) Rohira, (5) Lohgarh, (6) lIsagarh, (7) Tanki, (s) Tikona, (& Khad-kala
neay Kondlana ; in Konkan : (10) Mahuli, (11) Muranjan, (12) Khirduty, {(13) Bhandar~
durg, (14) Tulsikhul, (16) Nardurg, (16) Khaigarh or Aukola, (17) Marg-gach ar, Atra,
(18) Kohaij, (19) Basant, (%) Nang, (21) Karnala, (%) Senyarh, and (23} Mangarh,
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and 5 lakfis of fun a year in the uplands (Balaghat Bijapuri)
are granled to me by the Emperor and [ am assured by an
imperial farman that the possession of these lands will be
confirmed in me after the expec'ted Mughal conquest of
Bijapur, then 1 agree to pay to the Emperor 40 lakfis of fAun
in 13 vyearly instalments” He was expected to wrest these
lands from the Bijapuri officers by means of his own lroops.
Here we detect lhe shrewdness of Jai Singh's policy in throw-
ing a bone of perpetual contention between Shivaji and the
Sultan of Bijapur. Next day (12th June), according to the
agreement, 7,000 men and women, (of whom 4,000 were
combatants), left Purandar, and the Mughals entered into
possession of it; all the stores, weapons, artillery, and other
property found within were attached by the Government.
Mughal officers were sent with Shivaji’s men to take charge
of five other forts to be surrendered by the Marathas.

8 15, Shivaji visits Aurangzib at Agta, 1666.

Jai Singh at the end of the Bijapur campaign, had under-
taken to send Shivaji to the imperial Couwt He plied Shivaji
with hopes of high reward and “used a thousand
devices” 1o induce him to go fo Agra. In spite of these
temptations,  Shivaji  hesitated long. Both he and his
ftiends were as much alarmed al the idea of his
going to the Mughal Court as at the prospect of his
interview with Afzal Khan, But Jai Singh fook the most solemn
oaths possible for a Hindu that Shivaji would not be harmed
duting his visit. Shivaji's arrangements for the administration
of his Ringdom during his expecled absence in Northern India,
were a masterpiece of forethought and organizalion. His plan
was to make his local representatives absolutely independent
of any need for his orders or guidance during his absence,
His mother lija Bal was left as Regent. He began his journey
to Northern India on the 5th of March, 1666, with his eldest
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son Shambhuji, seven trusty chief officers, and 4,000 troops.
On 9th May he arrived in the outskirts of Agra, where the
Emperor was then holding Court.

The 12th of the month was appointed as the day of his
audience. It was the 50th lunar birthday of the Emperor. The
Hall of Dublic Audience in Agra Fort was splendidly decorated
for the occasion. Info this Divan-i~-am, Kumar Ram Singh
ushered Shivaji with his son Shambhuji and ten of his officers.
On behalf of lhe Maratha chief, 1,500 gold pieces were laid
before the Emperor as present (nazar) and Rs. 6,000 as offer-
ing (nisar). Aurangzib graciously cried out, “Come up, Shivaji
Rajah " Shivaji was led to the foot of the throne and made
three saloms. Then, at a signal from the Emperor, he was
conducted back to the place reserved for him among the
third-grade nobles, the work of the darbar proceeded, and
Shivaji seemed to have been forgotten.

This was not the kind of reception he had so long been
picturing to himself and expecling as almost a cerfainty from
his many conversalions with Jai Singh. He learnt from Ram
Singh that he was among the commanders of 5000, “What
he exclaimed, “my liftle son of seven years was created a ’
5-hazari without having had fo come to the Emperot’s presence.
My servant Netajl is a 5-hazari. And am |, after rendering all
these setvices and coming all the way {o the Court, to get the
same low rank 9" Then he asked, who the noble standing in
front of him was. Ram Singh replied that it was Maharajah
Jaswant Singh. At this Shivaji cried out, “Jaswant, whose back
my soldiers have seen! 1 to stand behind him ? What does
it mean 9 Stung to fury by what he considered a public
humiliation, Shivaji expostulated with Ram Singh in a high fone,
and even wanted to tommit suicide rather than outlive such a
shame. Ram Singh tried his best to pacify him, but in vain.
Swelling with suppressed anger and fretting within himself in
bitterness of morfification, Shivaji fell down in a swoon, There
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was a stir among the courtiers, ~ The Emperor asked what the
matter was. Ram Singh diplomatically replied, “The tiger is a
wild beast of the forest. He feels oppressed by heat in a place
like this and has been taken ill.” He also apologized for the
Rajal's rude conduct by saying that he was a Deccani un-
familiar with Courts and polished manners. Aurangzib eraciously
ordered the sick Rajah to be removed to an ante-room and
sprinkled with rose-water, and, on his restoralion to his senscs,
gave him leave to go to his quarters without waiting for the
close of the darbar.

On retwning from the Court, Shivaji openly taxed the
Emperor with breach of faitlh towards him, and asked to be
put to death as a lesser evil ; it only increased the Emperor’s
dislike and distrust of the Maratha chief. Ram Singh was
ordered to lodge him in the Jaipur House outside {he city~walls,
and be responsible for his cuslody, Shivaji was forbidden the
Cowrt, and he found himself a prisoner in facl. [is appeals
to the Emperor and the prime minister {or release only met
with evasive replies, like “Wait a little and I shall do what you
ask for,” Al the same time his position became worse than
before. Fulad Khan, the police chief of Agra, by imperial
order placed a iarge guard with artiflery round Shivaji's mansion
and he now became a prisoner in appearance as well as
in reality.

Jai Singh was placed in a dilemma by this unexpecied
result of Shivaji's visit to the Court. He confinued to write
to his Court agent, Ram Singh, to see to it thal Shivaji’s life

was safe and the solemn assurances of the Rajput father and
son remained inviolate.

§ 16. Shivaji's escape from Agra.

Shivaji turned to his own inner resources to effect his
liberation. He succeeded in gefting permission for his Maratha
escort to return to the Deccan. Being thus freed from anxiety
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about his followers, Shivaji set about devising plans for his
own escape. He feigned illness and began to send out of his
house cvery evening sweetmeats for Brahmans, religious
mendicanls and courtiers. These were carried in huge baskets
slung from a pole which was borne by two men on their
shoulders. The guards searched the baskets for some days and
then allowed them 1o pass out unchallenged. This was the
opportunity for which Shivaji had been waiting. In the after-
noon of 19th  August, he sent word to his guards that he was
very il and had taken to his bed and that they should not
disturb him. [is hali~brother Hiraji Farzand, who looked
somewhat like him, lay down on his cot, with a quilt covering
all his body except the outsireiched right arm adorned with
Shivaji's gold wristlet,—while Shivaji and his son crouched
down in two bashets, which were safely sent out shortly after
sunset through the line of unsuspecting guards, being preceded
and followed by baskels of real sweets.

The baskets were deposited at a lonely spot outside the
city ; the porters were dismissed ; and then Shivaji and his
son isswed forth and made their way to a village six miles
from Agra, where the frusty Niraji Ravji (his Chief Justice) was
waiting for them wilh horses. After a hurried consultation in
a jungle the party divided; Shivaji with his son and three
oflicers, Niraji Raoji, Datta Trimbak and Raghu-mitra, a low
caste Maratha, smeared themselves with ashes like Hindu
ascelics, and hastened towards Mathura, while the others took
their own way homewards.

Meanwhile, at Agra, Hiraji lay in bed all that night and
well into the afternoon of the next day. The guards who
peeped in in the motning were satisfied when they saw Shivaji’s
gold bracelet on the sleeper’s wrist, and a servant sitting on
the floor massaging fhe patients feet. Aboul 3 p. w. Hiraji
quietly walked out of the house with the setvani, warning the
seniries at the gate, “Make less noise ; Shivaji is il and gnder
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treatment.” Gradually the guards’ suspicion was aroused ; the
house seemed strangely deserled ; no crowd of visitors came
to see Shivaji as usual ; and there was no sound, no stir in
the house. They enlered his room and found that the bird
had flown away ! They at once ran with {he astounding news to
their chief Fulad Khan, who reported it to the Emperor,
ascribing  Shivajis flight to wilcheralt and saving himself from
all blame. But by this time Shivaji had had twenty-four hours'
clear start over his pursuers. The Emperor suspected that Shivali
had fled with the connivance of Ram Singh. The Rajput
ptince was punished, first by being forbidden the Court and
then by being deprived of his rank and pay.

With consummate cunning Shivaji threw his pursuers off
the scent, by following a route exactly opposite to that which
leads to Maharashira. Instead of moving due south-west from
Agra, through Malwa and Khandesh or Gujrat, he travelled
east-trards to Mathura, Allahabad, Benares, and Gaya, and
then south-westwards through Gondwana and  Golkonda.
After going through many romantic adventures and making
many hairbreacth escapes, Shivaji reached Rajgarh on 20th
November, 1666.

On returning home from Agra Shivaji found the political
situation in the Deccan entirely changed. The Mughal viceroy,
Jai Singh, was no longer in a position o repeat his former
success over the Marathas. Worn out by age, toil, disappoint-
ment and domestic anxieties, discredited in his mastet’s eyes
by the failure of his invasion of Bijapur, Mirza Rajah Jai Singh
died at Burhanpur on 2nd July 1667, after having been
relieved of the viceroyalty by Prince Muaszam in  the
preceding May.

The return of the weak and indolent Muazzam and the
friendly Jaswant to power in the Deccan (May 1667) relieved
Shivaji of all fear from the Mughal side. I is true that
Dilir Khan refurned to the side of Prince Muazzam in October
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1667, but the coming of this famous warrior brought no
accession of strenglh {o the imperialists. The prince was
jealous of Dilir’s influence and prestige at his father's Court,
resented his insubordinate spiril, and regarded him as a spy
on behalf of the Emperor. The proud Ruhela general, on
his part, publicly slighted Maharajah Jaswant Singh, the
right-hand man and trusted confidant of the prince, so that
for some time to come a «civil war raged in the Mughal
camp in the Deccan, and no step could be taken against
Shivaji, DBut even if the viceroy of the Deccan had been a
man of greater spitit and enterprise, it would have been
impossible for him for some vyears from this time to get
adequate men and money for an attempt to crush Shivaji.
The resources of the empire had to be concentrated elsewhere
to meet more pressing dangets: in March 1667, the Yusufzai
rising in Peshawar broke oul, which taxed the imperial strength
for more than a year afterwards.

The Maratha chief, on his part, was not eager for a war
with the imperialists. For three vyears after his return home
from Agra, he lived very quictly, and avoided giving any
fresh provocation 1o the Mughals. He wanted peace for a
fime to organize his government, repair and provision his
forts, and consolidate and extend his power on the weslern
coast al the expense of Bijapur and the Siddis of Janjira. IHe
enlreated Jaswant Singh to be his intermediary in making peace
with the empire. He wrote to the Maharajah, “Mirza Rajah, my
patron, is dead. If through your intercession I am pardoned, I
shall send Shambhu fo wait on the prince and setve as a
mansabdar at the head of my followers wherever ardered.”

Jaswant Singh and Prince. Muazzam jumped at the offer
and recommended Shivaji to Aurangzib, who accepted the
proposal. The Emperor recognized Shivaji's tifle of Rajah
{eatly in 1668), but did not restore any of his forts except
Chakan. Thus a peace was made which lasted for two years,



CHAPTER XI
SHIVAJI, 1670-1680.

§ 1. Sbivafi's rupture with the Mugfials and
recovery of forts.

In terms of his new agreement with the Mughals, Shivaji
sent a Maratha contingent to Aurangabad under Pratap Rao
and Niraji Raoji (Aug. 1668). Shambhuji was created a
Commander of Five Thousand again and presented with an
elephant and a jewelled sword. Jagirs were assigned to him in
Berar. During 1667, 1668 and 1669, Shivaji remained very
quiet, as a vassal of the Mughal Government. His relations with
Bijapur also were pacific. In facl, during these threc years
(1667-69), he was busy framing a set of very wise regulations,
which laid the foundations of his Government broad and deep.

But the peace was essentially a hollow ltruce on both sides.
Aurangzib, ever suspicious of his sons, looked upon Muazzam's
friendship with Shivaji as a possible menace to his throne, and
he secretly planned to enfrap Shivaji a second fime, or al least
to seize his son and general as hostages. Another illudged
measure of imperial parsimony was lo attach a part of Shivaji's
new jagir in Berar in order to recover 1he /lakfi of Rupees
advanced to him in 1666 {or his journey to the Court. The
news of it reached Shivaji and he broke with the Mughals at
thg: end of the year 1669. ’

' Shivaji opened his offensive with great vigour and immediate
success. His roving bands looted Mughal territory, and he
recovered several of the forts which he had ceded to
Aurangzib by the Treaty of DPurandar. His most conspicuous
success was the captute of Kondana from Udai-bhan, its
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Rajput  giladar, (4th Feb. 1670). Assisted by some Koli
guides who knew the place well, one dark night Tanaji
Malusare, with 300 picked Mavle infantrymen, scaled the
less abrupt hill-side near the Kalian gate by means of rope-
ladders. The garrison fought desperately, but the Mavles
with their war cry of Hara { Hara /! Mafiader ! carried havoc
into their ranks. The two chiefs challenged each other and
both fell down dead, after a single combat. Twelve hundred
Rajputs were slain, and many others perished in trying o
escape down lhe hill-side. Shivaji named the fott Singfi-garh
after the lon~heart that had won it

Ludi Khan, the faujdar of Konkan, was wounded in a
battle with the Maratha forces, defeated in a second encounier
and expelled from his district, The Mughal faujdar of Nander
fled away, deserting his post. The only officer who made
an aftempt to uphold the imperial prestige in  the Deccan
was Daund Khan Qureshi, who sucecessfully held Parnir and
Junnar.

By the end of April 1670 Shivaji had looted 51 villages
near Ahmadnagar, Junnar and Parenda.

§ o Quarrel befween Muazzam and Dilir.

The Mughal administration of the Deccan was during
half of the year 1670 passing through a civil war between
the viceroy Shah Alam and his general Dilir Khan. The latter
refused to wait on the ptince, fearing that he might be
treacherously killed or imprisoned by his chief | At this act
of insubordination, the prince and his favourite lieutenant
Jaswant wrote to the Emperor accusing Dilir Khan of rebellion.
The Khan had already denounced the prince to the Emperor,
saying that he was in collusion with Shivaji. Aurangzib was
at this time filled with serious anxiety at Muazzam’s wilful
conduct, neglect of the imperial business, and failure to carry
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out orders. Dopular voice in the Deccan could account for
the open audacity and easy stuccess of Shivaji's raids and
the prince’s inactivity, only by asctibing to Muaszam a
treasonable design to attempt his father’s throne in alliance
with the Marathas.

So, at the end of March 1670 the Emperor had sent his
Chamberlain (Kfan~-i-saman), Iftikhar Khan, to Aurangabad
to investigate how matters really stood,—whether Muazzam
was teally bent on treason and what his relations with
Shivaji were. This officer was now instructed to inqguire into
the prince's charges against Dilir Khan.

Dilir, finding his position in the Deccan intolerable, wanted
to go back to the iriperial Court without waiting for Shah
Alam's permission ; but the prince ascribed this course to a
wicked desire of creating disorder in Northern India. Imperial
orders reached him to force Dilic Khan back to the path of
obedience. Though it was the height of the rainy season
(August), the rivers swollen and the roads miry, Dilir burnt his
tents and stores and fled northwards to Ujjain with his army.
As soon as he started from the south, Prince Muazzam and
Jaswant gave him chase with all the available Mughal troops.
But on the frontier of Khandesh a letler came from the
Emperor ordering Muazzam back to Aurangabad (September).
For, in the meantime, Bahadur Khan, the governor of Guijrat,
had taken Dilir Khan under his protection and written lo the
Emperor praising Dilit’s loyally and  past services, and
recommending that Dilir might be permitted to serve under
him as fawjdar of Kathiawad, The Empetor agreed, Muazzam
promptly obeyed his father’s order and returned to Avrangabad
at the end of September, 1670,

These internal troubles paralysed the Mughal arms, and
Shivaji made the most of this golden opportunity. In March
the English factors at Surat wrote, “Shivaji marches now not
as before as a thief, but in gross wwith an army of 30,000
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men conquering as  he goes, and is not disturbed though the
prince (Shah Alam) lies near him.” On 3rd October he
plundered Sural for the second time.

§ 3. Second loot of Surat

On 2nd  October came successive reports of Shivajis
arrival  wilh 15,000 horse and foot within 20 miles of Surat.
All  the Indian merchants of the city, and even the officers of
Government had fled away in the course of the preceding
day and night. On the 3rd, Shivaji attacked the cily, which
had recently been walled round by order of Aurangsib. Afier
a slight resistance the defenders fled to the fort, and the
Maralhas possessed themselves of the whole fown except only
the English, Dutch and French factories, the large New Serar
of the Persian and Turkish merchants, and the Tactar Seras
midway between the English and French houses, which was
occupied by Abdullah Khan, ex-king of Kashghar, just refurned
from a pilgrimage to Mecca. The French bought off the
raiders by means of “valuable preseals.” The English factory,
though it was an open house, was defended by Streynsham
Master with 50 sailors.

The Tartars made a stout resistance all the day, but finding
the post untenable they fled with their king to the fort at
night, giving up to plunder their house with its valuable pro-
perty. The Turks in the New Jerai successfully defended
themselyes, inflicting some loss on the raiders, The Marathas
plundered the large houses of the cily at leisure, and burnt
down neatly half the town, reftreating on the 5th

An officfal inquiry ascertained that Shivaji had cartied off
66 lakfis of Rupees worth of booty from Surat But the
real loss of Surat was not to be estimated by the plunder
which the Maralhas carried off. The trade of this, the tichest
port of India, was practically destroved. For several years
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after Shivaji's withdrawal from if, the town used to throb
with panic every now and then, whenever any Maratha {orce
came within a few days march of it, or even at false alarms
of their coming. On every such occasion the merchants
would quickly remove their goods to ships, the citizens would
flee to the villages, and the LCuropeans would hasten to Swally,
Business was effectually scared away from Surat.

8§ 4. Shivaji defeats Daud Khan al Dindori, 1716 October
1670 ; raids Berar.

After this second sack of Suraf, Shivaji entered Baglana
and plundered the villages al lhe foot of Mulhir fort. Daud
Khan, who had been called away from Burhanpur to go
against the Maratha raicders, reached the fown of Chandor,
where the road from Baglana to Nasik crosses the hill range.
At ihe midnight following 16th October, his spies reported
that Shivaji had already issued from the pass and was rapidly
following the road to Nasik with half his forces, while the otlher
half of his army was holding the pass to pick up stragglers.
Daud Khan at once resumed his march. Ikhlas Khan Miana,
leading the Mughal vanguard, sighted the enemy in the early
morning, and without waiting for his lroops to come up,
recklessly charged the enemy, The Maratha rear-guard,
which had faced about, was 10,000 strong and commanded
by distinguished generals like Pratap Rao Gujar, the Master
of the Horse, Vyankaji Daito, and Makaji Anand Rao (a
natural son of Shahji Bhonsle). Ikhlas Khan was very soon
wounded and unhorsed. After a time Daud artived and
reinforced his van. For hours together an obstinate and
bloody batle raged. The Marathas, “like the Bargis of the
Deccan, fought hovering round the imperialists.” But the
Bundela infantry of the Mughal army with their abundant
fire-arms hept the enemy back, There was a lull in the fight
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at noon, In the evening the Marathas charged again, but .
were driven back, evidently by the artillery. At night the
Mughals bivouacked under the autumn shy, thelr camp was
entrenched, and they endaged in burying the dead. and
tending the wounded. The Marathas: retreated to Konkan
without further opposition.  About a week later the Peshwa
captured the fort of Trimbak (Nasik district). This batile
neutralized the Mughal power for more than a month
afterwards. The day after the fight, Daud Khan marched
with the broken remnant of his army {o Nasik, and halted
there for one month, evidently to recoup his strenath. Late
in November, he removed to Ahmadnagar, Early in December
a Maratha force under Pratap Rao made a raid into Khandesh,
after capturing Ahivant and - three. other forts in Baglana on
the way., Advancing by rapid - marches, he - plundered
Bahadurpura, a village - two- miles' from. Burhanpur. Passing
into Berar, he fell, when, least expected, -upon the rich and
flourishing city of = Karinja,  and looted it compfete!y. Four
* thousand' oxen and donkéys were. loaded. ‘with ~the booty—.
consisting of fine cloth, silver avnd " gold, to the value of a
Frore of Rupees, cap’ruted here. All the . rich ‘men of the
place were carried.  off for 1ansom The other towns also
vielded vast sums of - money. That rlch prdﬁnce, with ifs
accurhulated wealth of more  than = half . a century - of peace
and pmspeli‘t\z, afforded a virgin soil -to -the D[ﬁﬂdelels in tlus
theit -first raid. ‘ B R RO
While Platap Rao " had’ bccn sacking - Karinja 'in Berar, :
another . Matatha - band undet Moro Trimbak Dingle. had been
. loqﬁng West ‘Khandesh and - Baglana,. and . now these - iwo
divisions . dnited i the 11eughbou1hood of %alhn,‘ and " 1aid .

“siege - o ’that fort. aud Khan' arrived nem Muthir- at about

S8ip My but could - advance no fm’rher as mos{ of his : camp i
and. ann\z were: lagging behmd And so he could not c,ome 10
ihe lEllﬁ‘f of Salhlr pxompﬂy TR
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Shivaji had invested Salhir with a [orce of 20,000 horse
and foot, and one day finding the garrison oft their guard he
scaled the wail by means of rope-adders. The qiladar
Fathullah Khan fell fighting, and his wile's brother then gave
up the fort to the enemy (c. 5th Jan. 1671). The success of the
Marathas continued. Their roving bands cut off the grain
supply of Neknam Khan, the faujdar of Baglana. ’

§ 5. Campaigns of Mughal generals, 1671-72.

These reverses roused Aurangzib to a sense of the yravity
of the situation. He appointed Mahabat Khan 1o the supreme
command in the Deccan. Reinforcements in men, money and
provisions were poured into Baglana (Jan. 1671).

Late in January 1671, Mahabat Khan joined Daud Khan
near Chandor and the two laid siege to Ahivant, which Shivaji
had recently taken. After a month the garrison capitulaled.
Leaving a force to hold Ahivant, Mahabat spent three months
at Nasik and then went to Parnir (20 miles west of Ahmad-
nagar) to pass the rainy season (June to September) there.

The Emperor was dissatisfied with Mahabat Khan for the
poor result of his campaign and his long spell of inactivity
afterwards, and suspected him of having formed a secret
understanding with Shivaji. Se, he sent Bahadur Khan and
Dilir Khan to the Deccan next winter, They marched from
Gujrat into Baglana, laid siege to Salhir (now in Maratha
hands), and leaving Ikhlas Khan Miana, Rao Amar Singh
Chandawat and some other officers to continue the siege,
proceeded {owards Ahmadnagar. Dilir Khan with a flying
column recovered Puna, massacting all the inhabilants above
the age of 9@ years, (end of December 1671). But (he
division left to besiege Salhir was attacked by a large force
of Marathas under Pratap Rao, Anand Rao and the Peshwa,
After an obsfinate battle, Ikhlas Khan ‘and Muhakam Singh
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(the son of Rao Amar Singh Chandawat) were wounded
and caplured, with 30 of their principal officers, while Rao
Amar Singh and many other commanders as well as several
thousand common soldiers were slain, and the enfire sicge-
camp was taken by the enemy. Shottly afterwards Moro
Pant captured Mulhic. This took place at the end of January
and the first weck of February, 1672. Shivaji's prestige and
confidence in his own power were imnensely increased by
these successes.

About the middle of 1672, Mahabal and Shah Alam were
recalled to Hindustan, and Bahadur Khan was appdinted
commander-in-chief and acting viceroy of the Deccan, in the
place of these two, becoming substantive subafidar in January
1673 and holding that office till August 1677,

§ 6. Maratha occupation of the Koli country and
demrand of chauth from Sural, 1673

On 5th June, a large Maratha army under Moro Trimbak
Pingle captured Jawhar from its Koli Rajah, Vikram Shah,
and seized there treasure amounting to 17 laffAs of Rupees.
Advancing further north, he look the -other Koli State of
Ramnagar in the first week of July.

The annexation of Jawhar and Ramnagar gave the
Marathas a short, safe and easy route from Kalian up
Northern Konkan to Surat, and laid that port helplessly open
lo invasion from the south. The city became subject to
chronic alarm from the Marathas,

From the neighbourhood of Ramnagar, Moro Trimbak
Pingle sent three successive letters on behalf of his master
{o the governor and leading traders of Surat demanding
four laghs of Rupees as blachmail, and threatening a vist to
fhe city in the event of their refusal

From their base in the Koli country, a Maratha {orce undet
Moro Trimbak easily crossed the Western Ghats info the Nasike

15
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district (middle of July 1672) and plundered it, defeating Jaday
Rao and Siddi Halal, the Mughal f#hanafidars in charge of the
southern and northern sub-divisions of the district. For this
failure, these two officers were sharply censured by Bahadur
Kha and they went over to the Marathas in anger |

§ 7. Maratfa activities during 1673.

In November next Shivaji sent his cavairy to make a
lightning raid info Berar and Telingana. The Mughal general
was baffled in his aftempt to come up with them. The Marathas
from Ramgir divided into two bodies, one escaping south inlo
the Golkonda State and the other turning northwards to Chanda
and thence westwards into Berar. The first division was
headed off into Bijapur territory by Dilir Khan who captured
much of their booty. The second band was opposed by
Bahadur Khan near Anfur (38 miles north of Aurangabad) and
nmuch plunder was recovered from them and restored to the
owners. Another ballle was fought six miles from Aurangabad,
in which the Marathas were repulsed, with a loss of 400 dead,
by the Bundelas under Subh-Karn (Dec.).

This Maralha raid into Khandesh and Berar, unlike heir
first incursion in December 1670, was completely foiled by the
commendable activity of the Mughals,

In 1673 Bahadur Khan encamped at Pedgaon, on the north
bank of the Bhima, eight miles due south of Chamargunda.
This place became the rtesidence of his army for many years
afterwards, and here a fort and town grew up from their
cantonment, which the Emperor permitted him to name
Bahadur-garh.

Pedgaon occupies a position of great strategic  importance,
Il stands on fhe plain just clear of the long mounlain spur
running eastwards from Puna. From this place the Mughal
general could at will move westwarcls along the north of the
range to protect the valleys of the Mula and the Bhima (the
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North Puna district), or along the south of it to guard the
valleys of the Nira and the Baramati (the southern portion of
the district). Northwards he could communicate with his great
depot of arms and provisions at Ahmadnagar, without having
fo cross any river (except at the foot of that fort); and south-
wards he could casily invade Bijapur through the Sholapur
clistrict.

This year Shivaji’s attempt to gain  Shivner (he fort of
Junnar) by bribery was foiled by Abdul Aziz Khan, the Mughal
governor of the fort, who was a Brahman convert to Islam
and one of the most faithful and valued servants of Aurangzib.
He received Shivaji's bribe, but at the same time secretly
informed Bahadur Khan of the plot ; the Maratha army fell into
an ambuscade plarmed_ by the Mughals, and retired in  dis-
appointment with heavy loss.

Ali Adif Shah II died on 24th Nov, 1679, and in a few
months the government of Bijapur (with a boy of four on the
throne) fell into disorder and weakness. This was Shivaji’s
opportunity.  On 6th March 1673, he got possession of Panhala
a second time, by bribery, and on 27th July he secured the
hitb-forl of Satara by the same means. In May his men under
Pratap Rao Gujar burst into the inland.parts of Bijapuri Kanara,
looting Hubli and many other rich cities. But they received a
great chech from the Bijapuri general Bahlol Khan.

On Dasafiara day (10th Oct. 1673), an army 25,000 strong,
led by Shivaji in person, burst info Bifapuri ferritory, plundering
meny tich towns, and then passed into Kanara for more
plunder, Here they remained busy till the middle of
December,

Late in January 1674, a Mughal army ftried to descend
imo Konkan and cause a diversion in that quarter
simultaneously with the Bijapuri invasion of the Panhala
region. But Shivaji stopped the paths by breaking the roads
and mountain passes and heeping a constant guard at varfous
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points where the roule was most difficult ; and the Mughals
had to return baffled,

Soon afterwards, the Mughal power in the Deccan
was ctippled. The rising of the Khaibar Afghans became
so serious that Aurangsib had to leave Delhi (7th Aprill) for
Hasan Abdal, in order to direct the wat from the rear, and
next month Dilir Khan was called to the north-western frontier.
Pahadur Khan was left alone in the Deccan with a greatly
weakened force. This lull in the war was utilized by Shivaji
to crown himself with the greatest pomp and ceremony, on
6th June, 1674, at Raigarh.

§ 8. Loot of Bafiadur Kban’s camp and extensive contest with
the Mugfals, (674

The coronation exhausted Shivaji's treasury and he was in
need of money to pay his troops. Towards the middle of
July, a body of 2,000 Maratha light cavalry, made a false
demonstration and lured Bahadur Khan some 350 miles away
from his cantonments at Peddaon, whan Shivaji himself with
another division, 7,000 strong, swooped down by another
route on his defenceless camp, carried away a Keore of
Rupees in booly and 200 fine horses, Late in  Oclober, a
large army commanded by Shivaji in  person crossed the
Ghats into the Deccan  plateau, skirted Bahadur Khan's
camp, which was “hotly alarmed,” looted several towns near
Aurangabad, and then burst into Baglana and Khandesh,
where they continted for more than a month (Nov. to
middle of Dec). Among other places they pillaged and burnt
Dharangaon, 10 miles north of Erandol, and its English factory.

Shivaji next opened delusive peace negotialions  with
Bahadur Khan, and for nearly three months (March—May)
kept the Mughals in play, by feeding false hopes of a peace.
But by the fime (July 1675) that Phonda was captured,
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Shivaji threw off 1hc mask and dismissed the Mughal envoys
with faunts. -

In January 1676 Shivaji was taken severely ill, and passed the
next three months on the sick-bed at Saiara. The civil war
that had broken out between the Deccani and Afghan parlies
al Bifapur on the usurpation of the regency by Bahlol Khan
{end of 1675) was Shivaji's opportunity. “He ranged up and
down, plundered and robbed without any hindrance or
danger.,” On 31st May DBahadur Khan opened a vigorous
and long campaign against Bijapur, the consequence of which
was to drive the new regent Bahlol Khan info the arms of
Shivaiji.

§ 9. Shivaji’s diplomatic preparations for fiis Karnatak
expedition.

In January next (1677), the Maratha king set oul on the
greatest expedition of his life, the invasion of the Karnatak.
The political situation in the neighbouring’ couniries was
eminently favourable {o Shivaji's design. The Emperor's best
froops were still engaged in controlling the revolled hillmen of
the Afghan frontier, At Bijapur the Mughal viceroy openly
iook the side of the Deccani party and on 31st May opened
a campaign against Bljapur which was to conlinue for
more than a vyear. Shivaji's clever diplomacy won a
complefe triumph over Bahadur Khan, who had already
coquelted with the Maratha king for a friendlly understanding.
And now, on the cve of opening the Mughal campaign
against Bfjapur, (May, 1676), it was as much his interest to
make friends wilh the Marathas on his right flank as it was
Shivail's to secure Mughal neutrality in his rear during his
invasion of the Karnatak. Shivaji seni his Chief Juslice, Niraji
Raoji, to Pahadur Khan, with costly presents and induced him
1o promise neutrality during his projected absence in the
Karnalak, the conquest of which was expected 1o take one year.
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With Golkonda close friendship and co-operation were
secured. Madanna Pandit, the all-powerful wazir of Abul Hasan
Quib Shah, had already made a subsidiary alliance with
Shivaji, promising him an annual tribute of one /lakf of Aun
for the defence of the realm. Prahlad Niraji a shrewd
diplomatist, had been posted at llaidarabad as Maratha envoy.
Shivaji decided to get from Golkonda the expenses of the
campaign and the assistance of an auxiliary force, by promising
to Quitb Shah a share of his conguests.

§ 10. Ssivaji’s alliance with Golkonda and conquest of the
Karnatak.

Shivaji started from Raigarh at the beginning of January
1677, and advanced due east by regutar marches, at the head
of 50,000 armed men, arriving at Haidarabad early in Februacy.
On entering the Quib-Shahi territory he had issued strict
orders to his men not lo rob or molest any inhabitant ol the
country, and had enforced obedience by severe punishment,

The city of Haidarabad was gaily decorated by the people
to give a royval welcome to the great fiiend and protector of
their king, The Maratha army marched through the streets in
perfect order and halted before the Dad Mahal palace, while
Shivaji with five of his officers went upstairs and had a friendly
conversation with the Sultan for three hours. Abul Hasan,
being very favourably impressed by Shivaji's personal charm,
character and ability, and the strenglh and discipline of his
army, bade his waszir grant him whatever he wanted. Alfter
some discussion a secret compact was made regarding the
coming campaign. The Sultan was to pay Shivaji a subsidy of
3,000 Aun a day, or four and a half la£fs of Rupces a month,
and send an army of 5000 men in charge of one of his
generals (sar~i-lasfkar), Mirza Muhammad Amin, to co-operate
in the conquest of the Karnatak. In return for this aid,
Shivaji promised his ally such parts of his conguests in the
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Karnatak as had not belonged to his father Shahji. The
defensive alliance against the Mughals was strengthened anew
with solemn oaths. Qutb Shah promised to pay his annual
subsidy of one lakh of fun resularly and to keep a Maratha
ambassador at his Courl, as the price of his protection against
the Mughals.

The dominions of the vassals of the fallen Vijaynagar
empire had been mostly seized by Adil Shah and Qutb Shah.
Bijapur now possessed northern and eastern Mysore and the
Madras plain (or Karnatak lowlands) from the Dalar river
southwards to the Kolerun (branch of the Kaveri), 7. e, the
country from Vellore to near Tanjore, while Golkonda had
annexed the region north of the Palar, namely from Chicacole
to Sadras. In the Karnatak plain the local governors of
Bijapur were Nasir Muhammad Khan {(a son of the ex-wazir
Khan Muhammad) with his seat at Jinji, and south of him
Sher Khan Lodi (an Afghan profege of Bahlol Khan) with his
capital at Vali-kanda-puram (in the north of the Trichinopoly
district). Further south were the Hindu kingdoms of Tanjore
(conquered by Shivaji's half-brother Vyankaji in 1675) and
Madura, All these powsrs were ever bent on fighting with
and annexing one another’s ferritories. Taking advantage of
these infernal dissensions, the Qutb-Shahi minister Madanna
planned to reconquer Bijapuri Karnatak with the help of
Shivaji and restore Hindu rule there.

Leaving Haidarabad after a month, Shivaji hastened south-
wards by way of Xarnul, Shri Shailam, Anantpur, Tirupati,
Kalahastri and DPeddapolam (seven miles west of Madras, first
week of May). He then took the strong fort of Jinji by treaty
with its owner and laid siege to Vellore, whose governot
ultimately yielded it fora price after a heroic defence of fourteen
months, on 21 Aug. 1678,

The flood of Maratha invasion swept over the Karnatak
plains. Only a few fortified places offered resistance, the rich
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men fleeing to the shelter of the woods or the European forts
on the coast at the news of their approach. Sher Khan Lodi
was defeated at Tiruvadi (13 miles west of Cuddalore) on 26th
June and forced to give up all his territories. Then marching
io Tirumala-vadi, on the north bank of the Kolerun river,
Shivaji invited Vyankaji to meet him and iried to wrest from
him three-fourths of what their father had left at his death.
But Vyankaji cleverly escaped (Q3rd July) to Tanjore, and
Shivaji set out on his return, visiting many holy places on the
way. The whole of the Karnatak was “peeled to the bones”
by his system of organized plunder and exaction.

The ferritory annexed by Shivaji in the Karnatak in the
course of 1677 and 1678 was sixty leagues by forty and
estimated to yield 20 lakhs of fun a year, and it included a
hundred forts.

Shivaji lef{ the Madras plains early in November 1677 and
entered the Mysore plateau, conquering its eastern and ceniral
parts. From Sera in the heart of the Mysore kingdom, he
marched home by way of Kopal, Gadag, DBankapur, Belvadi
(in the Belgaum district) and Turgal, and returned to  his own
sironghold of Panhala in the first week of April, 1678.

§ 11, The Mughals, Bijapur, and Shivaji, 1678~79.

In May 1678 the Marathas made a second attempt lo get
possession of Shivner. They invested the village (of Junnar)
at its foot, and at night tried to scale the fort. “Three
hundred Marathas climbed the fort-walls at night by means
of nooses and rope-ladders. But Abdul Aziz Khan was an
expert gifadar; he slew all the infantry of Shivaji who had
entered the fort, and sent a message fo Shivaji {o the effect,
'So long as I am giladar, you will never take this fort’

A rupture now took place between Shivajl and Qulb
Shah, and the diplomatic system so patiently built up by
Madanna Pandit fell to the ground. Quib Shah’s indignation
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had been rising as he found himself made a mere cat’s paw
of Shivaji in the Karnatak adventure. He had borne all the
expenses of the expedition and supplied artillery and an
auxiliary force for it. But not one of the conquered forts
was given to him, not one pice of his coniribution was repaid
out of the fabulous booly carrfed away by Shivaji from that
land of gold, So, Abul lasan arranged for a peace belween
the new Bijapuri regent, Siddi Masaud, and his rivals
{especially Sharza Khan), helped him with money to pacify
the unpaid mulinous soldiery, and bound him to wage war
against Shivaji and “confine him to Konkan.” But Dilir Khan
spoiled the whole plan by an aflack on Bijapur.

Shivaji's eldest son Shambhuji was the curse of his old age.
This yoully of twenty-one was violent, capricious, unsteady,
thoughtless and notoriously depraved in his morals, For his
outrage on a married Brahman woman he had been confined
in Danhala fort, but escaped with his wife Yesu Bai and a
few comrades to join Dilir Khan (13 Dec. 1678). The Khan
with his valuable new ally halted at Aklyj (50 miles south
of Bahadurgarh) for some time to prepare for the invasion
of Bijapur.

In this danger Siddi Masaud immediately asked for help
from Shivaji, as agreed upon. The Rajah sent six fo seven
thousand well-armed cavalry to guard Bijfapur. Masaud
could not fully trust his ally, Then Shivaji threw off the
mask, e began to plunder and devastate Adil-Shahi territory
again, Masaud now made peace with Dilir Khan. A Mughal
force was invited to Bijapur and royally welcomed.

Dilir Khan next marched to the fort of DBhupalgarh,
{90 miles n. w. of Jath and 45 miles s. w. of Pandharpur),
which Shivajl had built as a storchouse of his property and
the refuge of the families of his subjects in the neighbourhood
daring his wars with the Mughals, The assault was launched
‘about 9 A, 2nd April, 1679, and the Mughals fought
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with vigour till noon, when they captured the fort, after
heavy slaughter on both sides. Vast quantities of grain and
other property and large unumbers of people were capturad
by the victors. Seven hundred survivors of the garrison were
déprived of one hand and then set [ree; the other captives
were evidenily sold into slavery. The fall of Bhupalgarh
was followed by a period of puzzling intrigue and counter-
intrigue between the Mughal viceroy and the Bijapur nobility,
and also quarrels between Masaud and Sharza Khan,
Masaud and Dilir, and Masaud and his favourite Venkatadri
Murari, About the middle of this year Shivaji sent to
Aurangzib a well-reasoned and spirited letter of protest
against the Jjaziya, which was drafted by Nila Prabhu in
eloquent Persian. (Hist. of Aurangzib, iii. ch. 34 Appendix.)

§ 19. Last campaign of Skivaji.

On 18th August, Dilir crossed the Bhima at Dhulkhed,
40 m. due north of Bijapur, and opened a new campaign
against Masaud. That helpless regenl begged aid from
Shivafi, who undertook the defence of Bijapur with great
promptitude.  Shambhuji, who bhad fled from Dilir, returned
to Panhala about the 4th of December.

On 4th November, 1679 Shivajl matched out of Selgur
(55 m. w. of DBijapur). His cavalry, 18,000 strong, rapidly
moved northwards in two parallel divisions under Shivaji
and Anand Rao, and poured like a flood through the
districts of Mughal Deccan, plundering and burning all the
places in  their track and taking an immense booty
in cash and kind. In the middle of the month, Jalna,
a populous trading town, 40 miles east of Aurangabad,
was captured and plundered. Here the godly saint,
Sayyid Jan Muhammad, had his hermitage in a garden
in the suburbs. Most of the wealthy men of Jalna
had taken refuge in this hermitage with their money and
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jewcls. The raiders, finding very litle booty in the town
and learning of the concealment of the wealth in the saint's
abode, entered it and robbed the refugees, wounding many
of them. The holy man appealed to them to desist, but they
only abused and threatened him for his pains. Then the
man of God, “who had marvellous efficacy of prayer,”
cursed  Shivaji, and popular belief ascribed the Rajal’s death
five months afterwards to these curses.

After having thoroughly plundered and devastated Jalna
for four days, as the Marathas, loaded with booly consisting
of “countless gold, silver, jewels, cloths, hotses, elephants,
and camels,” were reftreating, an  enterprising Mughal  officer
Ranmast Khan, attacked their rear-guard. Shidhoji Nimbalkar
with 5,000 men held him in check for three days, but was at
last slain with many of his men. In the meantime, very
large reinforcements were hastening up to the Mughals from
Aurangabad under Kesari Singh and Sardar Khan. When
these came to a halt six miles from the fighters, Kesari Singh
at night sent a sccret message to Shivaji as a brother Hindy,
advising him to run away at once before the Mughals could
complete their circle and cut him off. Shivaji trusted to his chief
spy, Dahirji, under whose skilful guidance the Maratha army
escaped by an obscure path afler lhree days and nighis of
anxious and ceaseless marching. But they had to sacrifice
much of their booty, besides losing 4,000 horsemen killed
and Hambir Rao wounded. From this disastrous expedition,
Shivaji returned to Patta-gach (about 99nd November) and
rested his exhausted and stricken army for some days, and
then, at the beginning of December, went to Raigarh.
A Maratha division raided Khandesh, in the last week of
November, burming aud plundering Dhatangaon, Chopra, and
many other considerable towns acjacent o it

The character of his eldest son filled Shivaji with the
gloomiest anficipations of the future. A profligate, capricious
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and cruel vouth, devoid of every spark of honour,
pairioism or religious fervour, could not be left sole
master of Maharashira. Shivaji frled hard to conciliate
and reason with Shambhuji. But a born judge of character
like Shivaji must have soon perceived that his sermons
were fallng on deaf ears, and hence his last days were
clouded by despair. On 23rd March, 1680, the Rajah was
seized with fever and blood dysentery. The illness continued
for twelve days, and finally the maker of the Maratha nation
passed away at noon on Sunday, 4th April, 1680, the
full moon of the month of Chaitra. He had not yet
completed the 53rd year of his age.

§ 13, Shivaji's fingdom, army and revenue.

At the lime of his death Shivaji's kingdom included all
the countty (except the Portuguese possessions) steetching
from Ramnagar (modern Dharamput State in the Sural
Agency) in the north, to Karwar or the Gangavali tiver in
the Bombay district of Kanara, in the south. Its castern
boundary embraced Baglana in lhe north, then ran
southwards along an irregular shifting line through  the
middle of the Nasik and Puna districls, and encircled the
whole of the Satara and much of the Kolhapur districts, A
recent but permanent acquisition was the western Karnatak
or the Kanarese-speaking counfry extending from Belgaum
to the bank of the Tungabhadra opposite the Bellary
district  of the Madras Presidency.

Shivaji’s latest annexation was the country extending from
the Tungabhadra opposite Kopal to Vellore and Jinji, 7 e,
the nosthern, cenfral and eastern parts of the present
kingdom of Mysore and porlions of the Madras districts of
Bellarg, Chittur and Arcot This province was really held
by an army of occupation and remained unsettled in 1680.
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Qutside these settled or half-settled parts of his kingdom,
there was a wide and very fluctuating belt of land, subject
to his power but not owning his sovereignty. In
these he levied blackmail (£Bandani, i e, ransom, in Marathi),
as regularly as his army could repeat ils annual visit to them.
The money paid was popularly called chautf, because it
amounted to one-fourlfi of the standard assessment of the
land revenue of a place. The payment of the chauth merely
saved a place from the unwelcome presence of the Maratha
soldiers and civil underlings, but did not impose on Shivaji any
corresponding  obligation to guard the district from foreign
invasion or internal disorder. His revenue is put by his courtier
Sabhasad at the round figure of one £rore of Hun, while the
chautfr when collected in full brought in another 80 lakfs.

It was Shivaji's setfled policy to use his army to draw
supplies from foreign domitions every yvear. "‘The troops were
to go into cantonments in the home territory during the rainy
season (fune~—September).  On the day of Dasafiara (early in
Qctober) the army should set out from the camp for the
couniry selected by the Rajah. The ftroops were to
subsist in  foreign parts for eight months and also levy
contributions.  No woman, female slave or  dancing-gir!
was to be allowed to accompany the army. A soldier
keeping any of these was fo be beheaded. No woman
or child was to be taken captive, but men only. Brahmans
were nol to be molested, nor taken as hostages for ransom.
On return home the booty of every soldier was fo be handed
over lo the State,

§ 14. Shivaji's central administration.

Shivaji governed by the advice and assistance of a council
of eight ministers (dsfita Pradfian), composed of (1) the Pesfiwa
or Mukfiya Pradfian, i e, the prime minister, (2) the Majmuadar
(Sanskrit title Amafya) or accountant-general, (3) the Wagia-navis
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(Sansk. Mantel) who compiled a daily record of the Ring’s
doings and Court incidents, (4) the Suenis (Sansk. Sachiiv) or
superintendent of correspondence, (5) the Dabir (Sansk. Sumant)
or toreign secretary and head of the intelligence department,
(6) the Sar~i-naqubat {(Sansk. Senapati) or commander-in-chief,
(7) the Pandit Rao (corresponding lo the Persian Sadr and
Mubtasibin one), whose duty it was to decide theological questions
and caste disputes, to punish heresy and impiety, and to
reward learned Brahmans out of the roval alms fund, and (8)
the Nyayadhisfi or chief justice. All these ministers with the
axception of the Senapati were of the Brahman caste, and all
the first six of them had to take command of armies when
necessary. The actual work of Stale correspondence was
conducted by members of the Prabhu (Kayastha) caste, most of
whom knew Persian well. The pay-accounts of the aimy were
kept by a class of officers called sabrises (Persian Bakfisfii).

But this Council of Eight Ministers was is no sense a Cabinet,
They merely acted as the king's secrelaties ; they had np
initiative, no power to dictate any policy to him by the threat
of resignation, Their funcion was purely advisory when the
king was in a mood to listen to advice, and at other times
they merely carried out his general inslructions and  supervised
the detfails of their respective departrments. The Deshwa was
more honoured than the other seven Pradfians, but they were
in no sense subordinate to him. The solidarity of the Britith
Cahinet, as well as ils power, was wanting in the Maratha
Council of Eight. Shivaji kept all the strings of the administra-
fion in his own hands, like Louis XIV or Federick the
Greal. ’

§ 15, Shivajis character and place in fistory.

N .
« But whatever might be the moral qualily of the means he
employed, his success was a dazzling reality. This jagirdar's
son  proved himself the irrepressible opponent of the Mughal
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empite and all its resources. Aurangzib was in despair as to
how he could subdue Shivaji, afler seeing that nearly all his
great generals had failed in the Deccan.

To the Hindu world in that age of renewed persecution,
Shivaji appeared as the star of a new hope, the profector of
iheir religion.

§ Shivaji’s private life was marked by a high standard of
morality. He was a devoted son, a loving father and an
attentive husband. Intensely religious trom his very bovhood,
by instinct and training alike, he remained throughout life
abstemious, free from vice, and respectful to holy men. The
liberality of his faith is proved by his impartial respect for
the holy men of all sects (Muslim as much as Hindu) and
{oleration of all creeds. His chivalry to women and strict
enforcement of morality in his camp was a wonder in that
age and has extorfed the admiration of hostile crifics like
Khafi Khan.

S He had the born leader's personal magnetism and threw
a spell over all who knew him, drawing the best elements of
the country to his side and winning the most devoted service
from his officers, while his dazzling victories and ever ready
smile made him the idol of his soldiery. His roval gift of
judging character was one of the main causes of his success,
as his sclection of generals and governors, diplomalists and
secrelaries was never at fault. His army organization was a
model of efficiency ; everything was provided beforchand and
hept in ils proper place under a proper care-taker; an
excellent spy system  supplied him in advance with the most
minute information about the theatre of his infended campaign ;
divisions of his army were combined or dispersed at will over
long distances without failure ; the enemy’s pursuit or obstruc-
fion was successfully met, and yet the booly was rapidly and
safely conveved home without any loss. His inborn military
genjus  is proved by his instinctively adopiing that system of
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warfare which was most suited to the racial character of his
soldiers, the nature of the country, the weapons of the age, and
the internal condition of his enemies. His light cavalry,
stifened with swift-footed infantry, was irresistible in the aye
of Aurangzib

Shivaji's real greatness lay in  his character and practical
ability, rather than in originality of conception or length of
political vision, Unfailing insight into the character of others,
efficiency of arrangements, and instinctive perception of what
was practicable and most profitable under the circumstances
(tact des chioses possibles)—these were the causes of his
success in life. @h\e imperishable achievement of his life was
the welding of the scattered Marathas into a nation, and his
most precious legacy was the spiril that he breathed into his
people. }i&nci he achieved this in the feeth of the opposition
of four mighty DPowers like the Mughal empire, Bijapur,
DPartuguese India, and the Abyssinians of Janjira.

No other Hindu has shown such constructive genius in
modern times. He has proved by his example that the Hindu
race can build a nation, found a Stale, defeat enemies ; lhey
can conduct their own defence ; they can orotect and promote
literature  and  arl, commerce and industry ; they can
maintain navies and ocean-trading fleets of their own, and
conduct naval baftles on egual terms with forciguers. He
taught the modern Hindus to rise to the {ull stature of their
growih.



CHAPTER XiI

DECLINE AND FALL OF BIAPUR .

§ 1. Jai Singh's invasion of Bijaput, 1665-1666.

Aurangzib had reason to be displeased with the Sultan of
Rijapur. Adil Shah had taken advantage of the war of Mughal
succession to evade the fulfilment of the promises made by
him in the trealy of Augusl 1657. During Jai Singh's campaign
against Shivaji he found out that the Bijapur Government had
made a secret alliance with the Maratha chief and helped him
with lands, money and other requisites. Above all, the war
with Shivaji being over in June 1663, the vast army assembled
in the Deccan under Jai Singh’s command was slanding idly,
and profitable employment had to be found for it An
invasion of Bijapur offered the best means of doing it.

In the treaty of Purandar, Jai Singh's clever diplomacy had
delached Shivaji from Bijapur and, indeed, thrown a bone of
perpetual contention between the two.  The Maratha chief had
promised to assist the Mughals in their intended invasion of
Bijapur by furnishing 2,000 cavalty of his son Shambhuji’s
contingent as a mansabdar and 7,000 expert infaniry under his
personal command.

Jai Singh also intrigued with many of the feuwdatories of
Bijapur and sent them letters offering them service umler the
Delhi empire. The old Mughal policy of seducing the ministers
and generals of Bijapur was pursued vigorously and with a
lavish disregard of expenditure. The most eminent of these
deserters was Mulla Ahmad, an Arab of the Navaiyat clan
seftled in Konkan, who held the second place among the
Bijapur nobility. He joined Jai Singh on 29th September, i665,

16



049 SHORT HISTORY OF AURANGZIB [en. XII

and was at once created a 6-fazaei in the Mughal peerage ;
but he fell ill on the way to Delhi and died aboul 18th

December.

Before opening the campaign Jai Singh employed diplomatic
irickery, of which he was a past master, to throw Adil Shah
into a sense of false security by pretending that he had received
no order to invade Bijapur. He also made conciliatory over-
jures to Qutb Shah to induce him to stand aloof from Bijapur
in the coming war.

f\At last, all his preparations being complete, Jai Singh set
out on 19th November 1665 from the foot of fort Durandar,
at the head of 40,000 imperial troopers, besides 2,000 Maratha
cavaley and 7,000 infantry under Netaji Dalhar.\ During the
first month of the campaign, Jai Singh's march was an
uninterrupted friumph.  The Bijapuri forts on the way,—DPhaltan,
Thathvada, Khatav, and finally Mangalvide (only 32 miles north
of Bijapur)—were either evacuated or surrendered at call. The
first battle with the enemy took place on 25th December, That
day a detachment under Dilir Khan and Shivaji marched ten miles
from the imperial camp and fought a Bijapuri army of 12,000
men under the famous denerals Sharza Khan and Khawas
Khan and theit Maratha allies, Jadav Rao of Kaliani and
Vvankaji the half-brother of Shivaji. The Deccanis evaded
the charges of the heavy cavalry of Detlhi, but harassed
them by their “cossack” tactics, forming four divisions and
fighting loosely. After a long contest, Dilir Khan's tireless
energy and courage broke the enemy by repeated charges,
and they retired in the evening. But as soon as the victors
began their return march, the elusive enemy reappeared and
galled them severely from the iwo wings and rear. At daws,
24th December, Sharza Khan with 6,000 cavalty came to
the fort of Mangalvide by forced matches, The Mughal faujdar
Sarfaraz Khan, disobeying Jai Singh’s instructions, sallied out
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fo fight him and was slain. The remnanl of his force fled
back to the fort.

After a two days' stay, Jai Singh resumed his march and
on 98th December, fought another battle. The Deccani
horsemen, as usual, tried to envelop the Mughals, breaking
into several loose Dbodies, each of which attacked iis
immediate opponent at the first sign of any weakness or
disorder in the ranks of the latter. Finally the Mughals
charged and the Deccanis gave way, but they kept up a
Parthian fight for the six miles they were chased. Next day,
99th December, Jai Singh arrived within 12 miles of Bijapur.
This was destined to be the furthest point of his advance,
because by this time Ali Adil Shah Il's milifary preparations
had been completed, and his capital and its environs had
been rendered impregnable fto altack; ifs regular garrison
was strengthened by 30,000 Karnataki infantry,—renowned
for their fighting qualily. In addition to this, the country
round, for a radius of six miles, had been remorselessly laid
waste ; the two large tanks of Nauraspur and Shahpur had
been drained dry; all ihe wells in the environs had
been filled up with earth ; every building had been
razed to the ground and every trec cut down, so that “not
a green branch or shade-giving wall was left standing” to
afford shelter to the invaders. At the same time a picked
farce under the noted generals Sharza Khan and Siddi
 Masaud  had been sent off to invade the imperial
dominions and create a diversion in Jai Singh's rear, while
fhe main Bijapuri army hovered round thal general's
camp.

Jai Singh, in his eagerness to grasp the golden chance of
attacking Bijapur while undefended and torn by domestic
factions had not summoned big artillery and siege material
from Parenda fort but had artived near Mangalvide by rapid
marches. And now his position was critical. A large army
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was coming from Golkonda to the help of Adil Shah, And
the invaders were faced with slarvation.

§ o Jai Singh forced to retreat from Bijapur, 1666,

56, the Mughal general began his retreat on 3th January,
1666, the Bijapuris hanging on his rear. He reached Sultanpur
{on the Sina), 16 miles south of DParenda on the 27th and
halted there for 24 days.

In this month of January, four great misfortunes befell
the Mughals. First, about the 12th, a brave Afghan captain
named Sikandar ( the brother of Fath Jang Khan) when
convoying provisions, material and munitions fo the army
of Jai Singh, was surprised by a superior Bijapuri force
under Sharza Khan eight miles south of Parenda ; he was cut
down, and all his rich convoy was plundered.

Then, on the 16th, Shiva who had at his own request
been detached to make a diversion in  the west by
attacking Panhala, met with a dismal failure in assaulting
that fort, and lost a thousand men. About the 20th came
the evil news that Netaji, Shivaji’s chief officer, who was
dissatisfled with his master probably at the inadequate
recognition of his valuable services and gallant feals of arms,
had deserted to Bijapur for a bribe of four /akfis of Aun
and led raiding parties into Mughal tertitory. Jai Singh lured
him back (20th March) with many persuasive letters and the
acceptance of all his high demands. The fourth misfortune
of the Mughals was the sending of 12,000 cavalry and 40,000
infantry by the Sultan of Golkonda {o assist Adil Shah.

In his telreat from the environs of Bijapur Jai Singh had
o fight two severe baftles (on 11th and 92nd January) besides
almost  daily skirmishes by his foraging parties. The ralding
parties of Bijapur, under Bahlol Khan and Nelaji, in the lately
annexed Bidar-Kaliani districts could no longer be ignored.
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And, therefore, on 20th Feb. Jai Singh issued from his camp
at Sultanpur and marched duc east into the disturbed area.

The third stage of the war now began, which was to
end with his refreat to Bhum, 18 m. n. e. of Parenda, early
in June next. During these three months and a half Jai
Singh moved about in the small guadrilateral formed by the
Bhima on the west and the Manjira on the easi, the cities
of Dharur in the north and Tuljapur in the south. In the
course of this campaign, he fought four more bloody but
fruilless battles like those described * before; each time the
Bijapuris were repulsed in the field and driven some distance
off, but they were not crushed, and continued as before to
hover round the Mughal camp, cut off stragglers and weak
foraging parties, and stop the arrival of supplies.

Mangalvide was too far from the Mughal frontier and loo
isolated a post 1o be held easily ; Jai Singh, therefore, detached
(24th May) Dilir Khan to remove the guns and material from
fhe fort, distribute the grain and other property, burn whatever
could nol be carried away, and dismantle the fortifications,
This was done. Phaltan had been deemed untenable and
its Mughal gartison withdrawn as carly as February last
So, not a single place temained to the Mughals out of the
gains of the first campaign.

Jai Singh's return march northwards began on 31ist May.
Reaching Bhum (about 10th June), he halted there for 32
months, and then, on 28th September, started for the environs
of Bir (37 m. n. of Bhum) where he stayed till 17th November,
finally rcaching Aurangabad on the 26th of that month,
Both the combatants were sick of the war, and longed for
peace ; and negotiations were reopened. The Bijaputis rctired
within their own fronfiers when the Mughals did the same.

§ 3. Jai Singf’s failure and deaft.
((Iai Singh's invasion of Bijapur was a milifary failure.
Nof an inch of ferritory, not a stone of a fortress,
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not a pice of indemnity was gained by it. As a financial
speculation it was even more disastrous.) In addifion to
thirty la&hs of Rupees from the impetial treasury, Jai Singh
had spent more than a #rore out of his own pocket.
Profuse as Jai Singh's pavments were, they were exceeded by
the engagements he made on behalf of his master. Every
petty Muslim captain  or Maratha chieftain, who offered to
desert from Bijapur, was promised a fitle and a high mansab
in the Mughal service, besides a large cash bounty for
equipping his retainers.

The Emperor was highly displeased with Jai Singh for the
military  failure and money losses of the invasion of Bijapur.
The unhappy general received (Oct 1666) orders to return
to Aurangabad, and on the 23rd March following (1667) he
was recalled to Court and the vicerovalty of the Deccan was
given to Prince Muazzam, assisted by Jaswant Singh. The
Rajput veteran of a hundred fighls made over charge to his
successor at  Aurangabad in May 1667, and bent his way
towards Northern India in  humiliaion and disappointment,
Not a pice of the #£rore of Rupees of his own money that
he had spenl in the Bijapur war would be repaid by his
master. Broken-hearted from disgrace and disappointment
and labouring under disease and old age, Jai Singh sank in
death on reaching Burhanpur, on 2nd July, 1667.

But the Rajah had never a fair chance in this war. His
army was hopelessly inadequate for the conquest of so
large and rich a kingdom ; his war material and food supply
were sufficient for a month or two only, and he had no
siege~guns. At the same time the power of the Bijapur
State was unimpaired in conlrast with its exhausted condition
when Aurangzib himself captured its capital 20 years later.
Small as Jai Singh’s army was relatively to the task laid upon
it, he was badly served by his subordinates. Many of his
officers were unreliable, and refused or delayed in carrying
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out his orders. And the imperial officers at the base did
not Reep his army regularly supplied with grain. Success
under these conditions was not humanly possible.

§ 4. Military aristocracy governing Bijapur
provinces, thefr character.

Military revolt was the curse of the Bijapur sullanate,
and the decline of its royal power was attended by the
dismemberment of the kingdom into a number of military
fiefs. The government was a pure militacy occupation, and
its power was upheld by a number of mercenary generals
among whom all offices of power and trust were divided.
The chief races who formed the dominant aristocracy were
the Afghans (with their fiefs in the western parls, from
Kopal to Bankapur), the Abyssinians {(ruling over the eastern
province, vig, the Karnul disttict and a part of the Raichur
Doab), the Sayyids who headed the Mahdavi sect, and the
Arab Mullas of the Navaiyat clan of Konkan. The Hindus,
both public servants and wvassal Ra}ahs, were a depressed
class. The official body that had made the Stale its own
was alien in origin ; but it had sefiled in the soil with no
idea of returning to its original homes, and it had practically
converted itself info a heredifary feudal baronage, each race
of which married within #s own {ribe and thus could not
become assimilated to the native population. This alien
aristocracy of office naturally formed no integral part of the
State. Its aim was purely personal gain, and so long as the
pay and pension of its members were secure they did not
care who was the sovereign of the country of which they
were nominally a part; they had no patriotism because they
had no pafria; they were truly political Bedouins, “orphans
of the heart” nomads who lived in India but were not
of it
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The State founded on the lovalty of such public servants
is an edifice built on sand. At each foreign conquest the
people merely changed masters. Their life was untouched
by the political change, and they, therefore, could not be
expected to rally round the crown in its hour of need, as
{he cifizens of a national  State are sure to do. The decline
of the Adil-Shahi monarchy merely illustrates this well-known
principle,

§ 5. Decline of the Adil-Sfahi kings ;
struggles for the regency.

Under Muhammad Adil Shah the kingdom of Bijapur
reached its grealest expansion, and siretched from the Arabian
Sea fo the Bay of Bengal, across the entire Indian peninsula.
1lis realm had an annual revenue of 7 £rores and 84 laffis
of Rupees, besides 5Ys+ frores of tribute due from vassal
Rajahs and zamindars. The strength of .the army esiablishment
was 80,000 cavalry and 250,000 infaniry, besides 530 war
elephants,

The storm of Mughal invasion (1657) having blown over,
the Bijapur State next showed a revival of power for some
fime. Ali Adil Shah I developed great capacity and
enterprising spirit from 1661 to 1666. He took the field in
person, curbed the dJrowing power of Shivaji, forced the
refractory Abyssinian officers of the N. E. province (Karnul)
back into submission, humbled the rebel Rajah of Bednur, and
finally rolled back the flood of Mughal invasion under Jai
Singh. Thereafter the Sultan gave himself up to the BI;‘;;HE;
of the harem and the wine-cup, for the rest of his life ; but
his able wasir, Abdul Muhammad, continued to carry on the
administration with great stuccess. Wilh the death of Ali Adil
Shah Il on 24th Nov. 1672, the glory of Bijapur departed.
His son Sikandar, a boy of four, was placed on the throne,
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and the reign of sclfish regents commenced which finally
ruined the monarchy.

The history of Bijapur [rom 1672 to the extinction of the
dynasty in 1686 is really the history of its wazirs. It was a
period marked by chronic civil war among the factious
nobles, independence of the provincial governors, paralysis
of the cenfral administration in the capital ilself, occasional but
indecisive Mughal invasions, and a secret alliance but pretended
hostility with the Marathas.

Ali Adil Shah 1L died on 24th Nov. 1672, and immediately
afterwards Khawas Khan, the Abyssinian leader of the Deccani
Musalman party, seized the supreme power and crowned the
boy Sikandat, the last of the Adil-Shahis. The new prime
minister broke his word to the other nobles and refused to
vield to them the forts "he had promised. At this, the able
and experienced ex-waszir Abdul Muhammad left the Court
in disgust, (’”l‘he infancy of the king and the incapacity of the
regent threw the monarchy into a decline. Disturbances broke
out on all sides,”

“The Emperor began to send Bahadur Khan repeated
orders for invading Bijapur.” Bul the tfask was obviously
impossible for Bahadur Khan with the ordinary contingent of
a provincial governor. What the Khan did was to advance
from the seat of his governmeni lo Pedgaon (afterwards
named by him Bafiadur-garh), a stralegic point on the Bhima
river 55 miles due east of Puna and nearly midvway between
Burangabad and Bijapur. His aim was to direct his main
forces against Shivaji and win ferritory from Bijapur by
corrupting its nobles and threatening war, rather than by
actual invasion.

The Afghans formed “more than half the Bijapuri army.”
Their leader was Abdul Karim, surnamed Bahlol Khan I,
whose fief lay at Bankapur. Their harsh demand {or artears
of pay and open opposition to his administration had driven
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the regent to secretly beg the aid of the Mughal viceroy in
“pacifying the Afghans or extirpating them.” So, the latter
advanced to the bank of fm;éﬂriver, met Khawas Khan
(19th October), and arranged terms for suppressing the Afghan

faction at Bijapur and making war on Shiva.

§ 6. Regency of Babilol Kian, (675— (677,

Sure of Mughal support, the regent formed plans for over-
throwing Bahlol Khan, who was commander-in-chief and “used
often to disobey and oppose Khawas Khan.” The Afghan
chief, getting scent of the matter, forestalled the blow. Inviting
Khawas to a dinner, he plied him with wine, seized him,
(11th Novembet), and sent him off as a prisoner to Bankapur.
He then entered the citadel of Bijapur and made himsalf wazir
without a blow. “Khawas Khan had been prime minister and
virtual king for three years, during which, owing to the Khan's
indolence and incompetence, affairs went from bad to worse.
But bad as this Abyssinian’s regency had been, the rule of
Bahlol Khan and his Afghans was even worse, After seizing
the regency he began to place his Afghan followers and
relatives in power and removed the Deccanis from office, one
by one, and even expelled them from the city. Great disorder
broke out throughout the kingdom. The Deccani parly was
up in arms against Bahlol. '

Bahlol Khan's administration rested on the ability and
vigour of one man, his chief counsellor Khizr Khan Pani.
On 12th January 1676, this man was stabbed to death by a
Deceani. Bahlol immedialely murdered the helpless captive
Khawas Khan (18th Jan), and then set out from Bijapur o
punish Minhaj and other Deccanis. On 21st March a bloody
battle was fought between the men of Sharza Khan and the
army of the regent near Mokah, in which the Afghans tium-
phed. Sharza took refuge with Babadur Khan at Sholapur,

i
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who now sided with the Deccani party and denounced Afghan
rule at Bijapur. He marched southwards from Sholapur, crossinig
the Bhima near Halsangi on 31st May: his cavalry began
lo ravage the environs of Bijapur city. On 13th June, on a
plain between Aliabad and Indi (30 miles north-cast of Bijapur},
Bahlo] Khan offered him battle, The bruntof the Deccani attach
fell on the Mughal right wing under Islam Khan (goveinot
of Malwa) and his Turks, who repelled two onsets. But his
clephant  slampeded into the enemy's ranks during a gun-
powder explosion and Islam Khan and his son were slain.
The Mughal base camp on the other side of the Bhima was
looted by the Afghans and its guards put to the sword, while
the flooded river preventéd DBabadur Khan from sending
succour to il

Bahadur Khan's position was further endangered by the
arrival of a vast Golkonda army, under the premier Madanna
Pandit, to reinforce the Bijapuris. But the new-comers were
bribed by the Mughal general, and had also (as [ suspeci}
some difference with Bahlol Khan, and therefore reireated
without doing anything. Bahadur Khan marched on to
Halsangi, where he assembled a vast force. This huge demon-
stration of strength cowed Bahlol Khan, who then secured
safety for himself by agrecing not to hinder the Mughal
conquest of cerfain Bijapuri districts. DBahadur Khan now tool
easy possession of Naldurg (14th May 1677) and Kulbarga
(7th July) by bribery. But the viceroy's position was rendered
untenable by a conflict of policy between him and his second
in command, Dilir Khan, (arrived in June 1676), who as an
Afghan became the bosom friend of Bahlol Khan and the
patron  of the Afghan faction at Bifapur. Dilir and Bahlol
wrote 1o the Bmperor accusing Bahadur Khan of having
formed a secret understanding with the three Deccani Powerts
and of being really hostile to the success of lhe imperial
enterprises there.
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8 7. Dilir Kfan and Baflol invade Golkonda, 1677.

Aurangzib recalled Bahadur, who left the province early
in September 1677, and Dilir continued tfo officiate as viceroy
of the Deccan till October 1678, Looking collectively at the
Mughal gains in the Deccan during the first lwenty years of
Burangzil’s reien, we find that he had in 1657 annexed
Kaliani and Bidar in the north-eastern corner of the kingdom
of Bijapur ; the fort and district of Parenda in the exireme
north had been gained by bribery in November 1660; Sholapur
had been acquired by ireaty in July 1668 ; and now Naldurg
and Kulbarga were annexed. Thus, the vast tract of land
enclosed by the Bhima and the Manjira eastwards up to an
imaginary line joining Kulbarga lo Bidar (77" E. longitude)
passed into Musghal hands, and the imperial boundary on the
south reached the north bank of the Bhima, opposite Halsangi,
within striking distance of Bijapur city,~—while south-gastwards
it touched Mallthed, the fortress of the western border of the
kingdom of Golkonda.

After the Mughals had effected thejr conquests in this
corner of Bijapur, they turned to seftle accounts with Golkonda.
They threatened (middle of August) Quib Shah with invasion
unless he seized and delivered up to them Shivaji and
Shaikh Minhaj,—the last of whom had faken much money from
the Mughal viceroy by promising to join him, but had ended
by going over to Golkonda. Dilir and Bahlol invaded Golkonda
in September. From Kulbarga, the last Mughal oulpost, they
advanced to Malkhed, 24 miles eastwards, the first fort on the
Golkonda frontler, which they took in one day. Bui near
Malkhed, 80 miles from the Qutb-Shahi capital, the tide of
invasion was arrested by vast enemy forces. The Qutb-
Shahis were posted at Mangalgi, 7 m. north of Malkhed, the
Mughal encampment (Oclober). For two months there was
constant but indecisive fighting. The Qutb-Shahis penetrated
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far within Bijapuri and Mughal territories and cut off grain
convoys coming lo the invaders. The Afghans and Rajputs
in the allied army suffered terrible hardships from excess of
rain  and the scarcity of grain caused by the enemv hovering
around. Bahlol Khan was struck down by a mortal iflness,
and his relaincrs dispersed o save themsclres from starvalion,
Then Dilir made a disastrous retreat fo Kulbarga, the enemy
hemining him round and making daily abiacks. His bageage
was looted, and the famished imperialists had to eat the seeds
of the toddy-palm and the date-palm. .

At Kulbarga Masaud met Dilir Khan and made peace with
the Mughals : he was to act as wasir at Bijapur, but must obey
the orders of Aurangzib, make no alliance with Shivaji, and
always help ihe Mughals in wresting the Maratha chief's
usurpec territory ; Adil Shalb's sister, Shahar Banu Begam
(popularly called Padishah Bibi) was to be sent to the Mughal
Court 0 marry a son of the Emperor. Dilir then refived
northwards,

S 8 Masaud becomes regent ; Afghan muting ;
Rebellions in provinces of Bijaput.

Bahlol died on 23rd Dec. 1677. Masaud, escorted by a
Golkonda army, was installed as regeni in February next. Buf
the freasury was empty. He failed to pay up the arrears of the
Afghan mercenaries, and then the exasperated Afghans broke
out in lawless fury. They seized the houses of Bahlol Khan's
orphans, widows and other relatives, publicly insulting them to
compel paymenl of their dues, All citizens believed to be rich
wete caugh’t' and fortured by them. “Chintu Chimna, a
Brahman robber, oppressed the people of the city, while the
Aighans oppressed those outside the fortwalls...All the time
Masaud sat down in helplesstiess, shutting the doors of his own
house. . . . .. .Many people emigrated to the Karnatak in fear.”

Nor was the new regent better obeyed in the provinces.
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To crown his misfortunes, he provoked (he wrath of the
Muchals by trying to sirengthen himself by a secret alliance
vwith Shivaji. This breach of faith on the part of Masaud
absolved Dilir Khan from the treaty of Kulbarga, “respect
for which alone had so long kept him back from the invasion
of Bijapur.,” At the end of the rainy season {October 1678)
Dilir Khan moved out of Pedgaon and halted at Akluj.

Meantime, Shivaji, according to treaty, sent six thousand
sieel-clad troopers to guard Bijapur and reinforce Masaud.
But hearty co-operation belween the two allies was impossible :
Shiva f{ried to seize Bijapur by treachery. The ill-feeling
between them daily increased and finally broke ouf in open
quarrel. Then Shivaji resumed plundering the Bijapur territory.
The Maratha troops approached ihe city, and looted the
suburbs of Daulaipur (7 e, Khawaspur), Khusraupur, and
Zuhrapur, Masaud, in greater fear of his pretended ally
than of his open enemy, sought the protection of Dilir Khan
and welcomed’ a Mughal force at Bijapur.

Dilir Khan wmade a successful diversion in favour of
Bijapur by capturing and destroying Shivaji's stronghold of
Bhupal-garh (2 April 1679) and defeating the relieving army of
16,000 Marathas with heavy slaughter. But Masaud’s duplicity
at last wore out his patience, and he crosscd the Bhima at
Dhulkhed and marched fo Halsangi, only 35 miles norlh of
Bijapur. The Adil-Shahi Government had been dissolved
and there was ulter anarchy in the country and c:élpital iy
consequence of the feud between Masaud and Sharza Khan,
The Mughal viceroy of the Deccan had how become the sole
arbiter among the warring factions of Bijapur. “About
10,000 troopers of Adil Shah, consisting of Deccani Muslims,
Aighans and Marathas, entered the Mughal service and
gathered round Dilir, while only three or four thousand
sfarving men remained with Masaud in Bijapur, and even
fhese hankered for Mughal pay.”
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Aurangzib demanded that the Sullan's sister Shahar Bany,
surnamed Padishah Bibi, should be sent to the Mughal harem.
This princess was the beloved idol of the roval family and the
citizens alike. On 1st July 1679 she left the cily of her birth,
amidst the tears and wailings of the Court and the populace,
to enter a bigoted Sunni’s house for the rest of her life,

S 9. Dilir Kfan invades Bijapur ; Shivaji assists
Adit Shan, 1679.

But the sacrifice of the royal maiden was of no avail to
the doomed dynasty. Mughal greed was insatiable; Dilir
Khan now demanded that Masaud should resign the regency
and retire to his own fief, while the DBijapur government
would be carried on by a creature of the Mughals, Masaud
wisely rejected the proposal. The Mughal general, being
thus openly defied, at once declared war against Bijapur.
But his own position was really weak ; his treasure-chest was
empty, while his soldiers’ pay was in arrears. Secondly, the
new viceroy of the Deccan, Prince Shah Alam, was his
sworn enemy, and tried his best to foil his undertakings and
cover him with discredit. Dilir Khan was thus brought to a
halt at the very oulset of the campaign, and wrole enirealing
the prince for money. Masaud ulilized the delay in
strengthening the defences of Bfjapur; he sent an envoy to
Shivaji appealing to him to come to the rescue of Adil Shah
in his supreme neced. Shivaji's response was prompt. He
told off 10,000 Maratha cavalry to aid Masaud, and despatched
9,000 ox-loads of provisions to Bijapur.

The Mughals took possession of Mangalvide (52 miles
north of Bijapur) and the country between the Bhima and the
former fort, in September 1679. They also raided Salotyi,
Kasigdon, and Almala, and besieged Akluj, but without success.
Dilir Khan reached Baralgi (6 m. n. e. of the capital) on 7th
Qctaber. But  distracted by the opposition of Shah
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Alam, the censure of the Emperar for his delay in effecting
the conquest, and quarrels among his counsellors and allies,
he saw failure staring him in the face. Shivaji had arrived
at Selour (midway between Danhala and DBijapur) with a new
division 10,000 strong, and had been joined by his advanced
division, of the same sirength, under Anand Rao, (3! Ocl
1679). On 4th November he divided his army inlo two
bodies : one, 8,500 strong, under his own command, marched
notth-east by way of Muslah and Almala, while the second,
10,000 men led by Anand Rao, entered Mughal territory by
the Sangula route (north-westwards.)

With an army swollen to 30,000 horse, he spread a fan
of freebooters and raided the imperial dominions in all
directions from the Bhima northwards fo the Narmada,
plundering, burning, and slaying.

§ 10. Dilir ravages tfe country round Bijapur and
attacks the capital,

Stung by the Emperor's reproaches, Dilir Khan resumed the
campaign, Despairing of taking Bijapur by siege or coup’ de
main, and afraid of being attacked by Shivaji in the rear if
he opened siege-trenches, the Mughal general left the environs
of the city on 14th November and marched weslwards, intend-
ingto invade the Miraj-Panhala region. His first work was
to ravage the DBijapuri territory with insane cruelty. The
villages in his path were utterly sacked; all their men, both
Hindus and Muslims, were taken prisoner for being sold into
slavery ; and the women committed suicide by jumping down
into the wells with their children. On 90th November,
Shambhuji fled away from Dilir's camp to Bfjapur, and
thence arrived at DPanhala about the 4th of December.,

From Ainapur Dilir Khan had faced round. Making a
wide detour round the south side of Bifapur city, he raided
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the fertile and flourishing valleys of ihe Don and the
Krishna,—the former of which was known as the granary
of Bijapur,—laid waste all the gardens, fields, and villages
on the way, took all their inhabitants prisoner, and then
reached Aliabad (6 miles 1. e. of the city) on 4th December.
From this place he wused to march out daily with his guns
and men and exhaust his ammunition soldiers and horses by
wildly firing at lhe impregnable fort-walls from one point
or ano ther every day.

The quarrel between Shah Alam and Diliy Khan daily
grew bitterer ; the Emperor wrote a strong letter of censure
lo the general. Dilir’s position before Bijapur was no longer
tenable. Iis army refused to obey him. So, on 29th January
1680, he broke up his camp at Degam Hauz and began his
refreat, after having wasted 56 days before the fort of Bijapur.
He next roamed about like a mad dog, slaying and looting
with fiendish cruelty, needlessly inflicting unspeakable misery
on the innocent peasants, and turning into a barren wilderness
the region from Bijapur cily southwards to the Krishna and
eastwards to the fork beiween the Krishna and the Bhima.
Practising his usual brigandage all the way, Dilir Khan next
invaded the Berad country whose capital was Sagar, then
ruled over by Pam Nayak, and reached Gogi (20th Feb., 1680).
He met with a crushing defeat when he tried to assault Sagar
(8 miles south of Gogi). The Berad infantry, sheltered behind
the parapet of the fort, hillocks and even boulders, plied
their matchlocks with deadly effect on the Mughal troops
densely crowded in the village.

The impetial cavalry galloped away in a panic, assailed
in their backs by the fleet-footed Berads and piteously erying
for mercy. The Mughal casuallies mounted up to 1,700 men
on that day. The spirit of his soldiers was ufferly broken and
they even declined his offer of Rs. 5000 as bounty for facing
the enemy again.

17
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§ 11, Dilir Kfan is disgraced and recalled, 1680.

At last utterly disgraced he set out on his return journey,
on 93rd Feb, moving northwards along the ecast side of
Bijapur, burning the villages on the route and seizing the population
for ransom. His officiating viceroyalty of the Deccan had
ended in  October 1678, when Shah Alam had arrived at
Aurangabad to fill that office for the fourth time. The prince
continued in  the Deccan till May, 1680. His supine
administration was rendered more than usually barten of
success. The Emperor was displeased and recalled both Shah
Alam and Dilir, appointing Khan-i-Jahan (Bahadur Khan) as
subahdar of the Deccan for the second time. This general took
over charge from Shah Alam at Aurangabad in May, 1680.

8 19, Aurangzib’s policy towards Bijapur
from 1680 fo 1684.

For four vears after Dilir Khan's failure and reireal
(February 1680), nothing decisive was done by the
Mughals against Bijapur, as they were harrfed and distracted
by the fertile audacity of Shambhuji, Aurangzib wrole a
friendly lefter to Sharza Khan, the leading general
of Bijapur, (13th July, 1681), pressing him to co-operate
with the Mughal generals in crushing Shambhuji and
recovering the DBijapur territory he had wusurped ; Shahar
Bany, the Bijapuri princess recently martied to Azam, also sent
a personal appeal to Sharza (18th July) to the same effect,
But no response came from any Adil-Shahi officer to the
Emperor’'s appeal for co-operafion. The Emperor received
repeated and clear proofs of the help that the Marathas used
to get from the Bijaputri Government. So, Aurangzib decided
to increase the pressure on Shambhuji by making a diversion
against the Bijapuris and compelling them to concentrate their
resources on the defence of their own realm. In April 1682,
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a large force was sent under DPrince Azam io enter Bijapur
territory. lle ravaged the {rontier, took the fort of Dharur
{about 140 miles north of Bijapur). The campaign languished
for many months, and the prince had not advanced further
south than the Nira river when he was recalled to Court
(June 1683). A few months later these desultory atlacks on
Bijapur ceased for a lime.

The condition of Bijapur was now hopeless. Five years’
wazir-ship at the decadent Court of Adil Shah had thoroughly
disgusted Siddi Masaud. “With all his efforls he fafied to
reform the government or restore order in the administrafion.
No man from peasant to chieftain ate his bread in peace of
mind for a single day ;. none from Rking to beggar slept in
happiness for a single night” Despairing of improving the
administration, he left the Court on 2ist November 1683 and
formally resigned his post on reaching his fort of Adoni. Aga
Khusrau was invested with the robe of wazir on 19th March
1684, but died in six months ({1th October). At this time
vigorous steps were taken for the defence of the realm :
Sikandar entrusted this task (3rd March 1684) to his bravest
general Sayyid Makhdum, surnamed Sharza Khan; his vassal
Pam Nayak of Wagingera was inviled to come to the capital
with his Berad clansmen, who were the best shols in the
country. .

On 30th March, a letter was received from Aurangzib,
calling upon Adil Shah as a vassal, to supply provisions to
the imperial army prompily, allow the Mugha! troops a free
passage through his territory, supply a contingent of 5 or 6
thousand cavalry for the Emperor’s war with the Marathas,
abstain  from helping or harbouring Shambhuji, and expel
Sharza Khan from his country ! In the meantime the Mughals
continued to appropriate bits of the Adil-Shahi kingdom and
establish their own outposts in it. At the end of May, Khan-
Jahan took possession of Mangalvide and Sangola and their
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a Golkonda force, and finally on 10th December a second
army from Shambhuji under Hambir Rao.\

Prince Azam had arrived close to the fort of Bijapur on
29th June, 1685, but in less than a month he had to fight three
severe battles with the enemy. On 1st July his {renches were
assailed by Abdur Rauf and Sharza Khan, and several Mughal
officers were wounded and slain, Next day the Deccanis
fell on the supplies coming to the siege-camp and evidently
cut them off.

§ 14. Prince dzam in danger, is rvelieved by Firuz Jang.

A famine broke out in his camp; the oft-ravaged
neighbourhood of Bijapur could vyield no food supply, the
roads from the north were closed by the aclivity of the
Marathas and the flooded streams, as the rainy season had
now set in. “Grain sold at Rs. 15 a seer, and thal oo in
small quantities.”

For lack of men the Mughal outpost at Indi, midway
between Sholapur and Bijapur, had been withdrawn, and thus
the road from the imperial base to the sicge~-camp was
now closed.  Aurangzib saw no other means of saving
his son than by ordering him to relire [rom Bijapur with
his army. The prince held a council of war ; they all voted
for a retreat. Bul the prince’s spirit  had been roused ; he
would not reduce himself to the level of his rival Shah Alam,
who had recenly come back from Konkan covered with
dismal failure. Turning to his officers, Azam exclaimed, “You
have spoken for yourselves, Now listen 1o me, Muhammad
Azam with his two sons and Begam will not refreal from
this post of danger so long as he has life. After my duath,
His Majesty may come and order my cotpse to be removed
for burial. You, my followers, may stay or go away as
\zou like” Then the council of war cried out with one volce,
“Our opinion is the same as your Highness's I”
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When this Spartan resolution of his son was reported to
Aurangzib, he at once took steps to send relief, 5,000 pack-
oxen wete despaiched to convey food, with freasure loaded
on many hundred spave remounts, and much munifion to the
prince. A strong escort under Ghagi-ud-din Khan Bahadur
Firue Jang left the imperial camp with the party on 4th
October, 1685, and fought its way to the famished army,
after repulsing Sharza Khan at Indi. The arvival of Firuz
Jang “turned scarcity into plenty in the Mughal camp, and
the famished soldiers revived” Ilis next success was the
cutting off of a force of 6,000 Berad infantry, each man
carrying a bag of provisions on his head, which Dam Navak
fried to smuggle inlo the fort at night Early in  October,
Haidarabad, the capital of Quib Shah, was entered by Shah
Alam unopposed, its ruler having shut himself up in Golkonda.
Many of his officers deserted to Shah Alam. The Mughal
control over the Qutb-Shahi State was confirmed in Mareh,
1686, when the prime minister Madanna Pandit—who had
pursued a policy of alliance with Bijapur and the Marathas,—
was murdered.

§ 135. Suflerings and difficulties of MugBals
at siege of Bijagpur,

By this time (June 1686) the sicge of Bijjapur had dragged
on for 15 months with no decisive result,

Discord and mutual jealousy had broken out among
the Mughal commanders. The Emperor realized that unless
he took the command in person, the fort would nol fall. On
i4th June 1686 he left Sholapur and on 3rd July reached
the Rasulpur suburb west of the fort. Orders were at once
issued to press the siege vigorously. The city was completely
beleaguered. Prince Shah Alam, now the eldest living, com-
manded the sector opposite the north-western or  Shahpur
gate and wanted fo steal a march over his brother Asam,

i
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the general in charge of the siege. lle opened a correspon-
dence with Sikandar Adil Shah and his officers to  effect the
peaceful surrender of the fort and thus rob Azam of the
credit of being called the captor of Bijapur. One of his con-
fidential officers, Shah Quli, even used to enter the fort in
sceret to negotiate with the garrison. The matter became the
talk  of the camp and reached the ears of Mubammad Azam
Shah and of the Emperor. Shah Alam was censured; some
of the officers incriminated were thrown into prison and the
others were expelled from the camp. The sufferings of the
besiegers were aggravated by a scarcitg which was raging in
the Deccan on account of the failure of rain that year. But
the sufferings of the besieged were ten limes worse.
“Countless men and horses died within the fort” and from
lack of horses the Deccanis could not follow their favourite
tactics of hovering round their enemy and culting off siragglers
and {ransport. In the exiremily of the siege, a deputation of
Muslim theologians issued from the city and waited upon
Aurangzib in his camp, pleading, ¢ “You are an orthodox
believer, versed in Canon Law, and doing nothing without the
warrant of the Quran and the decrees of theologians. Tell
us, how you justify this unholy war against brother Muslims
like us.” Aurangzib was ready with his reply. “Cvery word
you have spoken is frue. [ do not covet your territory.
But the infidel son of the infernal infidel (meaning Shambhuji)
stands al vour elbow and has found refuge with you, He
is troubling Muslims from here to the gates of Delhi, and their
complaints reach me day and night. Sutrender him to me
and the next moment I shall raise the siege” The scholars
were then reduced to silence.

Shortly after Aurangzib's arrival the sap had been carried
lo the edge of the moat, bul the filling up of the dilch seemed
an impossible task. “From the fort walls the arlillety struck
down whosoever reached the edge of the ditch. None durst
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show his head.” For three months the broad and deep moat
remained unfilled.

Aurangzib on 4th September advanced his tent from two
miles in the rear to a place Immediately behind: the irenches.
Thither he rode fully armed, by a covered lane, and received
the salule of the investing officers. Next he rode to the
edge of the moat to inspect the baftery raised to command
the fort bastion and to learn for himself why the conguest
was delayed.

§ 16. The fall of the last king of Bijapur.

Bijapur fell a week after this date, but not to assault.
The garrison now lost heart. Qhe cause of the Adil-Shahi
monarchy was hopeless : the king was a plaything in the
hands of selfish nobles; all hope of help from oulkside was
gone, The future was absolufely darle.\ The garrison had
by this fime shrunk to 2,000 men. In the night of 9th
September the secretaries of the two Bijapuri leaders, Nawab
Abdur Rauf and Sharza Khan, waited on Firuz Jang and
opened negofiations for surrender. Aurangsib received them
with favour.

@unday, 19th Seplember, 1686, saw the downfall of the
Bijapur monarchy. Amidst the tears and lamentations of his
subjects who lined the slreets, Sikandar, the last of the
Adil-Shahi Sultans, gave up his ancesfors’ throne)and issued
from the capital of his house, at one o'clock in the afterncon,
in charge of Rao Dalpat Bundela and went to Aurangzib's
camp in Rasulpur.

Meanfime the large fent which served as the Hall of
Public Audicnce in Aurangzib’'s camp, had been tichly
decorated for this historic scene. When Sikandar atrived, a
train of high officets welcomed him and ushered him into
the Presence. The fallen monarch made his bow at the foot
of the conqueror’s throne. His extreme beauty and combined
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grace of youth and rovally excited universal admiration and
pity for his fate. Even Aurangzib was touched: he spoke
soothingly to Sikandar. The deposed Sultan was enrolled
among the Mughal peers with the title of Kfian (lord), and
a pension of one [laki of Rupees a year was seitled on
him. All the Bijapuri officers were taken over into Mughal
service. On 19th September, the victor, seated on a portable
throne, rode into the fort by way of the trenches of Saf
Shikan Khan and the southern or Mangali gate, which had
once been chosen for the assault. Along the roads of the
city he marched, scattering handfuls of gold and silver coins
right and left, and viewed the fort walls and baslions and the
palaces within the citadel. Then he went to the Jama Masjid
and rendered two-fold prayers to God for His favours. In
Sikandar’s palace he rested for some hours and received
congratulatory offerings from his couwrtiers, All painfings on
the walls drawn in violation of the Quranic law that man
should not presumptuously vie with his Crealor by depicting
living beings, were otdered to be erased, and an inscription
recording Aurangzib’'s victory was placed on the famous
cannon Malik~i~-maidan.

Complete desolation  seftled on the city of Bijapur
after the fall of ils independent dynaslty. Two  years
after its  conguest, a fterrible plague swept away more
than half its population. A few years later, Bhimsen noticed
how the city and its equally large suburb Nauraspur looked
deserted and rcuined ; the population was scattered, and
even the abundant water-supply in the city wells had suddenly
grown scanty ! Bijapur henceforth conlinued as a dismal
example of departed greatness—a vast city covered with
“long lines of fallen houses, ruined mansions and lonely
patches of jungle” ’

The last Adil-Shahi Sultan was {or sometime lodged in the
State-prison of Daulatabad, Later, he was again carried about
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with the camp of Aurangzib, as a captive. In this condition
he died outside Satara fort on 3rd April 1700; he had not
yet completed 32 years of age, According to his last wishes,
his mortal remains were carried to Bijapur and there buried
at the foot of the sepulchre of his spiritual guide Shaikh
Fahimullah, in a roofless enclosure.



CHAPTER X1l
THE DECLINE AND FALL OF TIE QUTB SHAHS.

S 1. dccession of Abul Hasan Quib Shaf, 1672.

Abdullah Quib Shah, the 6th king of Golkonda, | had
succeeded his father in 1626, at the age of twelve, and
reioned for 46 vears, during the whole of which he was a
mere puppet on the throne. The actual administration was
conducted for more than 40 years by his mother, Hayat
Bakhsh Begam, a lady of strong character, and after her
death (1667) by Abdullah’s eldest son-in-law Sayyid Ahmad.
Abdullah was, throughout his life, indolent and almost imbecile ;
he never appeared in public to give audience and administer
justice according to the custom of the country, nor did he
venture oulside the walls of the fortress Golkonda. Confusion
and misrule were the natural and unavoidable consequences
of this state of things.

Abdullah had no son, but three daughters, the second of
whom had been married to Aurangzib’s son Muhammad
Sultan, and the first to Sayyid Ahmad, who claimed descent
from one of the noblest {amilies of Mecca and who rose
by his ability to the position of prime minister and de facto
raler of the State. It was proposed to marry the third
princess 1o Sayyid Sultan; but on the day fixed for the
marriage, Sayyid Ahmad 1old Abdullah that if he gave his
daughter to Sayyid Sultan, he would at once leave the kingdom.
A hurried search was made for another match for the princess.
The choice of the palace agents fell on Abul Hasan, a youth
descended on his father's side from the Qutb-Shahi family,
who had spent the last 16 years in the lazy pampered life
of a monk by entering himself as a disciple of the saint
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Sayvid Raju Qattal. This man was led to the palace and
forthwith married to the princess,

On 21st April, 1672, Abdullah died, and at once there
arose a dispute for the succession. After some confusion
and fighting, Sayyid Muzaffar, a leading general of high
Persian origin, supported by Musa Khan mafialdar and several
other officers of the harcm, overpowered Savyid Ahmad and
forced him into prison. Abul Hasan was ciowned king,
Muzaflar Dbecoming his prime minister, But within a few
months, Abul Hasan bought over WMadanna, the Brahman
factotum of Muzaffar, and throush him corvupted most of the
captains of lis personal followers, so that one day Muzaffar
was quietly deprived of his wazir-ship, which was conferred
on Madanna, with the fitle 6f Surya Prakash Rao. This
change of ministers took place about 1673 and Madanna's
rule continued {ill his own assassination in 1686, on the
eve of the fall of the kingdom. His brother Akkanna became
commandet~in-chief and his nephew, the gallant and learned
Yengana surnamed Rustam Rao, was given a high command.
Muhammad Ibrahim, a crealure of Madanna, was at first created
premier peer.

During the bwelve years of Madanna's ministry the internal
administration of the counfry was marked by the same
disorder and tyranny as in the refgn of Abdulfah, and matters
nalurally declined from bad to worse, “and nothing is thought
of but peeling and squeesing the people.” Madanna continued
the same foreign policy as before, but with a necessary
variation. There was no estrangement from the Adil-Shahi
Government, but that Court was now the scene of chaos,
faction-fights and changes of regency. Madanna, therefore,
built his hopes of national defence chiefly on a close alliance
with the ever-victorious Maratha king, and promised him a
regular subsidy of one /lakfi of FBun for the defence of
Golkonda.
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8 9. MugBal policy towards the Golfonda fing.

f:_So long as Bijapur stood, Golkonda was safe. Aurangzib
knew it, and therefore did not try fo annex the latter first,
Nor was it necessary for him to do so, as he found it more
profitable and cheaper to fleece and terrorize the Qutb-Shahi
Government than to extinguish it.‘:\ The Mughal “Resident” at
Haidarabad domineered over the king and the people, insulted
and taxed them, bul without provoking armed protest.

Resigning his royal functions to his wazir Madanna, Sultan
Abul Hasan shut himself up in his palace with a host of
concubines and dancing-girls, Under his predecessor, Haidarabad
had become the Indian Babylon, with its twenty thousand
public women (who had fo dance before the king in the
public square every Priday) and its countless taverns, close to
these women's quarters, where 1,200 large leather boltles of
fermented palm-juice were consumed daily. But he also
promoted several fine arts contributory fo luxury ; he settied
in his capital and suppotied by his bounty skilled craftsmen of
various hkinds whose exquisite manufactures were {amous
throughout India. The king's own shkill in music was of no
mean order. He was rightly called Tana Shah or “the dainty
king.”

The enormous wealth of the country was derived from ils
well-watered fields which at once arrest the eye by their
greenness and  abundance of tropical fruits as the traveller
enters the State from the arid and sterile region round Bijapur,
its rich mines of diamond and iron, and ils prosperous poris
on the east coast from Chicacole southwards to St Thome.
The Ring had a secure income of 28/s Krores of Rupees, For
nearly thirty vears after Aurangzib’s accession o the throne,
the kingdom of Golkonda had enjoyed respite from Mughal
aftack ; the pre-occupation of the Mughals with Shivaji and
his patron Adil Shah had prevented them from turning to
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Golkonda. Qutb Shah had also paid tribule to the

Government more regularly than the Sultan of Bijapur.
During the Mughal invasions

imperial

of Bijapur wunder Jai Singh in
1665~66, under Dilir Khan in 1679 and under Prince Muhammad
Azam in 1685, the Sultan of Golkonda had openly sent his
troops to assist his brother in  distress. The first two of these
acts had been condoned, or atoned for by the payment of
tribute. The last brought ruin on him. But, in the eyes of
Aurangzib his worst offence was his fraternizing with infidels.
He had effectively helped Shivaji with the sinews of war after
his flight from Agra in 1666 and thus enabled him to recover
his fotts from the Mughals. Again Qutb Shah had rapturously
welcomed Shivaji on his visit to Haidarabad in 1677 and
behaved like a humble vassal of the Maratha king, placing a
necklace of gems round his horse’s neck and promising him
an annual subsidy of one laff of Aun for the defence of his
terrifory. Above all, he had made the Brahmans Madanna and

Akkanna, his chief ministers, and thus allowed Hindu influence
to predominate in his administration.”

§ 3. War wilh ife Mughals and caplfure of
Huaidarabad, 1685.

CAurangzib had begun his atack on Bijapur (in March
1685) by warning Abul Hasan not to assist Sikandar Adil
Shah in any way. )Buf at the end of June, a letter from Abul

* As the Emperor wrote to his envoy at the Golkonda Cowrt, “This luckless
wretch (meaning Abul Hasan Quib Shah) has given the supreme power in his
State {o a fafir and made Sayyids, Shaikhs and scholars subject to that man. He
has publicly allowed (in his realm) all kinds of sin and vice (wiz, taverns, brothefs,
and gambling houses). e himsclf is day and night sunk in the deadly sins, through
the intoxication of hingship, and fails o distingulsh between Islam and infidelity,
justice and oppression, sin and piety. By refusing 1o respect God's commands
and prohibitions, by sending aid to infide! Powers, ... and by recently paying one

lakh of funt {o the Fafir Shambhn, he has made himself acenrsed before Gad and
mant' (K. K,, ji, 328).
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Hasan to his agents was intercepted, in which he had written,
“The Emperor is a great man, and has acted magnanimously
up to this time, but now, finding Sikandar a helpless orphan,
he has laid siege to Bifapur and pressed him hard. It s,
therefore, necessary thal while the Bijapur army and Shambhy,
with his couniless hordes, are offering resistance from one
side, [ should, trom this side, send 40,000 men under Khalilullah
Khan to enter into the war. We shall then see on which
front the Bmperor can meet and repe!l his enemies.”

At this Aurangzib at once delached DPrince Shah Alam with
a vast army to march on Haidarabad. But when the imperial
vanguard approached Serum, 8 miles east of Malkhed, it {ound
its path barred by a Golkonda army; the Mughal advance
was stopped and the {roops fell back on Malkhed. Every day
there were skirmishes with the enemy. Khan-i-Jahan ran up
walls round his camp at Malkhed and practically stood a
siege there.

After a time the prince arrived with reinforcements and the
Mughals, depositing their baggage at Malkhed, sent their
vanguard again undet Khan-i-Jahan to hack a way towards
Haidarabad. The Deecanis outnumbered this force as threc
to one, and there were frequent fights. Each such cncounter
was followed by a halt of three or four days on the Mughal
side. 1t was already August, and the heavy rain caused great
hardship to the Mughal troops and impeded their advance.
Their daily losses at last took the heart out of the Mughal
soldiery. So, the imperial ¢enerals halted and wasted Iwo
months in the neighbourhood of Malkhed without fighting.
Then a stinging rebuke from the Emperor and an unusually
audacious act of sniping on the prince’s camp, roused him to
seeh batfle again, After a very bloody contest the Deccanis
were pushed back to their camp. Next morning it was learnt
that they had fled towards Ilaidarabad. The cause of this
sudden breakdown of the Deccani resistance was dissension
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beiween the commander-in-chief Mir Muhammad [brahim,
and his second in command Shaikh Minhaj, and the seduction
of the former by the Mughals. The prince, being now
unopposed, rapidly marched towards Haidarabad.

The flight of the commander-in-chief paralvsed the defence
of Haidarabad. Qutb Shah did not know whom to frust; he
fled to Golkonda fort. The king's flight to Golkonda was so
precipitate that all his property was left behind. When the
people of Haidarabad learnt that the city had been abandoned
by the Government and that the enemy were athand, there was
a mad scramble to flee to the fort. The confusion was
aggravated by the indiscriminale looting which  began
immediately. The cily presented the spectacle of a sack
after assault by an enemy. In every ward, street, and market-
place, there were lakhs of Rupees worth in cash, propetty,
China-warte of the nobles and {radesmen, and carpets of the
hing and the aristocracy, besides horses and elephants. These
were looted in the midst of a tertible uproar. Many Hindu
and Muslim wives and children were kidnapped and some of
them outraged.

Next day Shah Alam sent a party of his soldiers to protect
the citizens, but these men themselves joined in the plunder !
After two days the prince appointed Khan-i-Jahan to police
the city, and he succeeded in restoring order o some extent
The Mughal army made 1his ifs second enfry into Haidarabad
about 8th October 1685. Qutb Shah continued fo send agents
to the prince, helplessly appealing to him to make peace. At
the prinee’s recommendation, which reached the Court on
18ih October, the Emperor consented to pardon Abul Hasan
on the following conditions: (1) He must pay one £rore and
90 lakfis of Rupees in setflement of all past dues, and in
addition a fribute of 9 lafhs ol fun every vear. (2) He must
dismiss Madanna and Akkanna. (3) He must give up all claim to
Malkhed and Serum, which the imperialists had already occupied,

)



274 SHORT HISTORY OF AURANGZIB len. X

§ 4. Murder of Madanna, 1686.

Shah Alam stayed for some months, first close 1o
Golkonda, and afterwards at Qutb Shah’s request he withdrew to
Kuhir, (48 miles n. w. of it), waiting for the collection of the
wat-indemnity. Abul Hasan put off the dismissal of Madanna
as long as he could. At this his discontented nobles lost all
patience. They regarded Madanna as the cause of all their
sufferings at the hands of the Mughals. A plot was formed
against Madanna by the discontented Muslim nobles, whose
leader was Shaikh Minhaj, and by Saruma and Jaui Sahiba,
the widows of Abdullah Qutb Shah, who now ruled over the
king’s hatem with despofic powers. One night, early in March,
1686, just after Madanna had left his master's presence, he
was set upon and murdered in the streeis of Golkonda by
Jamshid and other slaves. Akkanna shared his brother's fate
on the spot. Their brave and accomplished nephew, Rustam
Rao, was pursued to his house and there slabbed to death.
The minister's family residences were plundered. Next, a
general attack was made by the mob on the Hindu quarter
of the fort and “many other Brahmans lost their lives sanid
property in  that night” The Dowager Sultana now sqzﬁ the
heads of the obnoxious ministers to Aurangzib as the éf&st of
peace-offerings. The Emperor recalled Shah Alam fo/d;},is side
at Sholapur, where the prince arrived on 7th Iun"é?ﬁ 1686,
Golkonda territory was now completely evacuated pb*’g the
Mugchals. Bijapur feli on the 19th September of that year,
and its fall set the Mughal forces free lo deal finally willt the
Quib-Shahi Government. K

§ 5. Aurangszib besieges Golfonda, 1687,

On the 28th of January, 1687, the BEmperor arrived within
two miles of Golkonda. Meantime, Abul Hasan had again
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fled from his capital lo this fort, and the city of Haidarabad
was occupied for the third and last time by the Mughals.

Two miles due west of the stone bridde over the Musi
river which connects the two parts of the city of Haidarabad,
lies the fort of Golkonda. It is an irregular rhombus, with
a rough pentagon (the Naya Qila) annexed to ils north-eastern
face. A strong crenellated wall of granite, over four miles in
length and of great thickness, surrounds the fort, which is
further defended by 87 semi-circular bastions, each from 50
fo 60 feet high and built of solid blocks of granite cemented
together, some of them weighing more than a ton. The eight
massive gates could have safely defied any ariillery known to
the 17th century, Outside is a deep ditch, 50 feet broad,
with stone retaining walls. Bul Golkonda really consists of
four distinct forts joined to each other and included within
the same lines of circumvallation. The lowest of these is the
outermost enclosure into which we enter by the Fath Darwaza
near the soulh-easlern corner; it is a vasl fract covered with
mansions of the nobles, bazars, temples, mosques, soldiers’
barrachks, powder magazines, stables and even culfivated fields,
Here the whole population of Haidarabad used to live in
fimes of danger. Proceeding inside along the grand main
road for some 1,250 vyards from the FPFath Darwaza, and
[eaving a set of rather laler palaces, harems and offices on
a low sile on the right, we arrive at the Bala Hisar gate,
which leads us, over a flight of steps, to a higher area with
exceedingly lofty and strong walls and containing a capacious
three-storfed armoury, magasines, stables, mosques, audience
chambers, harems, gardens, large wells with sleps, and even
two serais and a temple of the monkey-god | Further west,
some 900 steps cul in the solid rock lead the traveller up fo
the very apex of the fortress, the Bala Hisar (or Upper
Fort), standing on a bed of solid granite, its walls being
formed by huge boulders with here and there connecting
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curtains  and  parapets that tower far overhead. This is the
citadel of the ciladel, the hkernel of the whole fort,
At the north-eastern corner of the fort stands a mound
commanding parts of G_ollzonda; but it was enclosed by a
wall and added to the forl, under the name of the Naya Qila
or New Fort, by king Abdullah as a defensive precaution after
Aurangzib’s first siege in 1656. North, south and even west
of this last area are large tanks, and the water-supply of
the fort was unfailing. North of the forl at a distance of a
mile and a quarter, runs a low range of bare fantastically
piled up hills skirted by the great old road from Sholapur and
the west. Here Aurangzib is said jkeé“have established his own
guarters at the last siege.

The Mughal attack was directed on the south-eastern and
southern faces of the fort, their soldiers moving along both the
north and south banks of the Musi, while the n. w. gate was
bombarded only as a feint.

Arrived within view of Golkonda, Aurangzib at once
ordered his generals to assail and drive away the enemy’s
troops who - had assembled in  the dry ditch under
shelter of the fort walls. One charge of the imperialisis
swept them away, or as the Mughal official history
puts it, “the wind came and the gnats fled away;” and
their  property, wives and children were  captured.
Qalich Khan (the grandfather of the first Nizam) tried
to enter the fort pell-mell with the fugitives and capture
it by one stroke. Bul he was hil on the shoulder-blade by a
zamburak bullet {rom the fort walls, and in spitc of all the
remedies {ried by the doctors, he died after three days. Regular
siege operations were therefore begun, on 7th February.

§ 6. Shab Alam imprisoned.

But at the very outset the Emperor’s arms were paralysed
by bilter personal jealousies in his camp. Prince Shah Alam
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was of a soft pleasure-loving nature, and constitutionally averse
fo strenuous cxerlion and heroic enterprise. He did not wish
to see a brother sovereign like Abul Hasan utterly ruined.
This generous impulse was mingled with a more sordid feeling :
it he could induce Abul Hasan to sue for peace throuch his
mediation, then he himself would be proclaimed in the official
reports as the captor of Golkonda. Abul Ifasan’s agents
secretly visited Shah Alam with costly presents, begging him
to use his influence with the Emperor to save Abul Hasan'’s
throne and dynasty. The prince gave encouraging replies.
In thus negotiating behind the Emperor's back and with an
enemy beyond hope of the Emperor’s pardon, Shah Alam
was playing a dangerous game. And he had enemies in the
camp ever on the look oul for a chance to ruin him. His
vival Azam’s parfisans revealed {o the Emperor the secret
of the communications passing between Shah Alam and Abul
Hasan. An order of Shah Alam fo bring his women's tents
closer to his headquarters, really as a precaution against
surprise by the enemy, strengthened Aurangzib's suspicion that
the prince was meditating flight to the enemy’s fort with his
family. All doubls were set at rest when Firuz Jang infercepled
and showed to the Emperor one night some letters which the
prince had been trying fo send o the fort.

Aurangzib acted prompily :  imperial {roops were at once
posted as guards round the prince’s camp. Next morning
(21st February), Shah Alam with his four sons was invited to
the Emperor's tent for consultation. After a few minutes’
falk wilh him, they were asked by the wazirto step into a
side-room (the chapel) with him to hear some secret instruc-
fions of the Emperor. There they were politely asked to
consider themselves as prisoners and surrender their swords.
The prince’s entive family was imprisoned, his property aftached,
his iroops distributed among other commands, and his trusted
eunuchs tortured 1o make them divulge  their master’s
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treasonable plots. The more the prince profested his innocence,
the more did the Emperor's anger flame up; he increased the
rigours of Shah Alam’s caplivity and ordered that he should
not be allowed fo cut his hair or pare his nails, notr be
supplied with delicate food, cooling drinks or his customary
dress. It was seven vyears before Shah Alam recovered his
liberty. After the arrest of the prince, the Emperor hurriedly
broke up his Court, ran to his wife Aurangabadi Mahal, and
kept slapping his knees and moaning, “Alas! Alas! [ have
razecl to the ground what I had been rearing up for the last
forty years.”

§ 7. Adurangzib’s difficulties at Golkonda siege.

But Shah Alam was not the only discordant element in the
sicae-camp. The many Shias n the imperial service heartily
disliked the prospecl of the extinction of the last Shia kingdom
in India. Aparl from the Shias, this war of cxtermination
against Abul Hasan was condemned by many orthodox Sunnis
even, as an unprovoked “war between Muslims” and therefore
sinful. The upright and saintly Chief [ustice, Shaikh-ul-lslam,
had counselled the Emperor not to invade the two Decanni
sultanates, and on his advice being rejected he had resigned
his high post and retired to Mecca., His successor in office,
Qazi Abdullah, tendetred the same unpalatable advice and was
packed off to the Base camp !

This natural distrust of Shias hindered the Emperotr’s
business. At fitst the only high and distinguished officer at
the siege was Firuz Jang, Saf Shikan Khan, the Chief of
Artillery, was a Persian and jealous of the superior position
and favour enjoyed by Firuz Jang, a Turk. After working
strenuously for some tfime, he resigned “in order to spite
Firuz Jang.” Salabat Khan succeeded him, but failed to do his
work well, and resigned in a short time. The next Chief of
Artillery was Ghairat Khan, who was surprised by the enemy
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in a state of gross carelessness and carried off as a prisoner.
Then the post went abegging for some time to the ruin of the
siege  operations. Then at last, Saf Shikan Khan was taken
out of prison and restored to this office (92 June 1687). But
by that time the field-works constructed after five months of
toil, had been demolished by the enemy, and the investment had
to be begun anew. The siege had been started on 7th February.
But the %ort had an inexhaustible supply of munitions and ils
walls bristled with guns of large calibre. Day and night the
garrison kept up an incessant fire on the approaching Mughals.
Every day some men were slain or wounded on the Mughal
side. But the dauntless courage and fireless perseverance of
the troops under Saf Shikan carried the sap to the edge of
the ditch in about six weeks. The next step was to fill the
ditch and make a path for the assaulting column.

While these slow operations for breaching and assault were
going on, the commander-in-chief, Firuz Jang, made an atlempt
to fake the fort by an escalade, on 16th May. He stole out
of his camp at 9 p.M, and on reaching a bastion where the
enemy's seniries were asleep, he planted a ladder against the
wall and sent two men up to the rampart. The two other
fadders he had taken with him prbved too short, and so a
rope-ladder was fastened fo the top of the gate, By chance
a pariah dog was standing on the wall, seeking a path for
descending to the moat and feeding on the corpses lying there.
Alarmed bythe appearance of strangers, it set up a loud bark, which
roused the garrison, and they drove away the Mughals. To
the Muslims the dog is an unclean animal. But this dog had
saved the capital, Abul Hasan rewarded his canine deliverer
by giving it a gold chain, a collar set with jewels, and a gold
embroidered coat, and slyling it Sefifabga ot “Peer of three
degrees,’—in mockery of Firuz Jang's three fitles of Kfan,
Bdfadur, and Jang,—and remarking wittily “This creature has
done 1o less a deed (than Firuz Jang) 1"



280 SHORT HISTORY OF AURANGZIB fcn. X

The garrison promplly retaliated for the surprise that had failed,
by making a sortie onthe raised battery and slaying the arlillery-
men. The siege operations had ceased to wmake any progress
for some time past,on account of the confusion in the artillery
branch. The enemy's fire was still unsubdued, and the ditch
far from filled up. The Mughals also now fell into the grip
of famine, The Deccanis and their Maratha allies infesied
the roads and prevented the transport of grain to the Musghal
camp. Then, in June, the rain descended in torrents, the
swollen water-courses and rivers became impassable, the
roads were turned into quagmires. No provisions could
reach the besiegers. The incessant rain  of the middle of
June completely spoiled the siege-works. The raised pun-
platforms collapsed into mud-heaps ; the walls of the trenches
fell down and blocked the passages ; the camp became a
sheet of water out of which the white fents stood up like
bubbles of {oam.

8§ 8. Sorties of the gartison ; freavy Mughal losses.

The enemy seized the opportunity. In the night of 15th
June, amidst a deluge of rain, they raided the Mughal
advanced baiteries and trenches, slew the carcless artillerymen,
drove nails inio the port-holes of the guns, destroyved the
stores of sapping and gun material, then fell onthe officers, and
carried off info captivity Ghairat Khan (the Chief of Artillery),
Sarbarah Khan (a trusty old servant of the EBEmpevor)
and twelve other high officers, It was only after three
days of siruggle and with the assistance of a fresh
division that the enemy <could be expelled and .the
ruined baltery re-occupied by the Mughals, Abul Hasan
ireated the captive Mughal officers very hkindly, gave them
rich presents and sent them back to the Emperor, Vigorous
measures were taken to retrieve the late disaster and
press the attack home. Three mines had been cartied
from the siege-trenches o under the bastions, and they were
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ready by {9th June, ecach chamber stored with 300 maunds
of gunpowder and the fuses laid.

The next day was fixed for the explosion of the mines
and the delivery of the assault, which the Emperor went to
superyvise in person from Firuz Jang's frenches. The Mughal
froops, as ordered, rushed out of their trenches and made a
nofsy feint against the undermined bastion in order to induce
the enemy to crowd at this point and then to kill vast
numbers of them by the explosion! Eatly at dawn the first
mine was fired, but the force of the explosion was directed
outwards ; a vast mass of rock and earth from the glacis
was hurled upon the Mughal ranks crowded below: “In a
lwinkle of the eye the flying splinters killed 1,100y imperialists,
while the fort walls remained intact.”

The enemy seized the opportunity by making a sally and
attacking the confounded Mughals, and then seized the
renches and oufposts which it had taken the Mughals four
months to make and occupy. A force sent by the Emperor
drove them out and recovered the position after a long
contest and heavy loss. This had been hardly effected 'When
the second mine was fired with the same disastrous conse-
quences. Again the splinters of the blown-up tower fell on
the Mughals, and killed more than a thousand of them.
The enemy then made a second sortie and took possession
of the Mughal field-works and shelters, A severe struggle
for them now took place; Firuz Jang was wounded with
two ofher generals, Rustam Khan and Dalpat Rao Bundela,
while vast numbers of his men were slain.

Al the news of this serfous check, Aurangeib himself, girt
round by his staff, advanced from his station in Firuz Jang's
‘enl to aid his hard-pressed  troops. Cannon-balls began to
fall near his portable throne (fokfit-i-rawan), and one of them
carried away an arm of his bodyuservém (#fiawas). But he
coolly kept his position and cheered his soldiers by his example,

4 \



282 SHORT HISTORY OF AURANGZIB few, X

While the  battle was raging, a lropical storm burst
on the plain with all the violence of wind rain and
thunder. The rain continued to  descend in  forrents;
the dey nalafis and cven low paths  became rushing
streams.  The Mughals, assailed by men and the gods, gave
way ; and then the Deccanis made their third sortic of the
day. They seized the trenches further off and the elevated
gun-platforms, carried off as many guns as they could and
destroved the others. The big planks, beams and thousands
of bags filled with earth which the Mughals had thrown into
the ditch were quickly removed into the fort and used in
repairing the breach caused by the explosion ! By this Hme
the plain of batile had been turned into a lake of mud. At
sunsel the defeated Mughals retired to lheir quarters ; the
Emperor spent the night in Firuz Jang's camp.

§ 9. Mugfal failure ; famine and pestilence.

Next morning (21st June) he issued forth again to fire
the third mine and try his fortune by another assault under
his own eyes. The mine did not explode at all. It was then
learnt that the enemy had discovered it and flooded lhe chamber
with water. The baffled Emperor stole back to his own
tent “without ceremony.” “Various other plans were tried,
immense wealth was spent, but the sicue  dragged on” The
morale of the imperial army was utterly done. The famine
grew worse than before, and peslilence appeared as its in-
separable companion. The cily of Haidarabad was ulterly
depopulated ; houses, river, and plain were all filled with
corpses. The same condition prevailed in the Mughal camp.
At night piles of the dead used {o accumulate. After some
months, when the rains ceased, the white piles of skeletons
looked from a distance like hillocks of snow. ‘

Aurangzib with grim fenacily sat down to starve the fort
into surrender. “The Emperor decided to build a wall of



1687 HOW MUGHALS CADPTURED GOLKONDA 935

wood and earth round the fort of Golkonda. In a short
time it was completed and guards were placed at ifs doors.
ingress and egress being forbidden except on the production
of passports.” At the same time, lo prevent the garrison
from getting fresh supplies, Aurangzib issued a proclamation
annexing the kingdom of Haidarabad. Ile appointed his own
magistrates  and revenue-collectors for all places in it
The k£hutba was read in  the Emperor's name and a
Censor ol DPublic Morals (mufitasib) was posted by him
at Haidarabad.

§10. Golkonda surrendered by freachersy.

On 21st September, after the siege had lasted nearly
ejght months, Gollkonda was captured by bribery, An Afghan
soldier of fortune, named Abdullah Pani, surnamed Sardar
Khan, who had deserted Bijapur service for the Mughal and
then left the Mughals to join Abul Hasan, now sold
his master to the enemy. He left the £Air#f or postern gale
of the fort open, and at his invitation a party of Mughal
soldiers under Ruhullah Khan entered the fort unchallenged,
at about 3 o'clock in the morning of @1st September, 1687,
They posted some men within to  hold the ground and then
opened the main  gate through which the flood of Mughal
invasion now poured into the fort. Prince Azam with the
supports advanced from the river to the foot of the wall

One last feal of the purest heroism cast its radiance on
the fall of (Golkonda and redeemed its infamy. When the
cxullant Mughals were swarming into the fort and making
their way to the palace, a single tider who had had no time lo
gird his belt on or put saddle on his horse’s back, fell like a
lunatic on that myriad of enemies, 1t was Abdur Razzag
Laxi, surnamed Mustafa Khan, the one faithful man among
that faithless crew of Golkonda. Throughoul the siege he
had rejected with scorn all the bribes of Aurangzid, including

+
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a command of 5ix Thousand Cavalry in the Mughal army,
saying thal “he would rather be ranked among the 72 faithtul
companions who perished with the Iman tusain al Karbala
than with the 92,000 ftraitors who overcame him.” Alone
he rushed against the flood of invaders, shouting, “Wiule [
live, lhere will be at least one life sacrificed in delence ot
Abul Hasan.” But covered with 70 distinet wounds, one
eye badly damaged, and his horse reeling from wounds and
loss of blood,—Abdur Razrag no longer saw lhe path berote
hum, but did his best merely to keep his seat and gave his
horse the loose rein. The animal escaped Irom the press
and dropped him near an old cocoa-nut free in the Nagina
Bagh garden near the citadel. Thence he was removed to
the Mughal camp and nursed back to life by arder of the
Emperor,

§ 11. Adbul Hasan made captive.

it the meantime, when the roar of the advancing Mughals
reached the cars of Abul Hasan, he came out {o the audience
chamber and sat down on the throne calmly waiting for his
unbidden guesls. When at last Ruhullah Khan and his party
entered, Abul Hasan greeted them kindly, and behaved with
royal dignity throughout the  painful scene. Then, atter
bidding his caplors to breakfast with him, he finished his
meal and left the palace. In the evening he was prosented
by Azam to the Emperor. After a time he was sent to
Daulatabad, and there sighed out his captive life on a pension
of Rs. 50,000 a year. At the moment of leaving his throne
and passing into the rigours of caplivity under a sworn enewmy,
Abul Hasan showed a self-contral and a dignity whiclh surprised
his captors. To their cries of admiring surprise he replied
that though born of royalty he had been trained in yvouth in
the school of poverty, and knew how to take pleasure and
pain with equal indifference as qifts of God, “who had made
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me a beggar, and then a king, and now a beggar again, and
who never withdraws His gracious care from His slaves, but
sends to each man his allotted share of food.”

The spoils taken at Golkonda amounted to nearly seven
trores of Rupees in cash, besides gold and silver plate, jewels
and jewelled ware. The revenue of the conquered kingdoin
was 2 krores and 87 lakfs of Rupees.

w . K, i, 363—364, But Dr. Careri (in Churchill's Vogages, iv. 219) and Manucei
(ii. 306—"8) speak of his being insulted and beaten when taken to Aurangzib, Ishwardas
tells the charvacteristic story that at the time of his capture Abul [asan was merry-
making with his dancing-girls and musicians and, when the yirls stopped their dance
in alarm at the enirance of the ecpemy, he cried out to them, “Go on dancing as
befure. Bwery minuwte that [ can spend in pleasure is a great gain.” Piruz Jang
raisedd him from his throne and led him, mounied on a horse, to the BEmperar's
presenee.  Abul Hasan, without making furnisdA or salam walked in erect. The
Emperor asked, “How are you 9 1le replied, *I neither rejoice....nor grieve, Bul
1 am delighted to gaze at what has made itself visible from behind the sereen of
the imscrutable.” (93 @ and b.)

The repott entered in the Fort Sh George Diary on 12th Now. (687 is more reliable
than Manucci’s account. If runs thus: “...News from fhe French, Duich and other
nations ihat the Mughal had taken Golkonda fort by treachery on the 2nd of last
month [New Siylel about midnight....Upon the king of Golkontda’s prosteation
the Mughal had made a large discourse to him for his cotrupt government, wherein
he had been very unfaithful, in the charge he had commitled fo him, in cacouraging
the Hrahmans and discouraging the Moars, to the dishonour of their religion and
couniry, wheteby lte had jusily broyght these troubles upon bimself ; and ardered
him o be put in chains, of which it is reported he was next day veleased.”



CHAPTER XIV

REIGN OF SHAMBHUIL, 1680-1689.

§ 1. Tne disputed succession ; Shambhujfi
makes himself King.

The death of Shivaji left the newly created Maratha
kingdom utterly divided and distracted, while the future looked
very uncertain.  His eldest son Shambhuijl’s licentious character
promised an unhappy reign to his subjects, while his recent
desertion to the mortal enemy of his faith and latherland
had discredited him in the eyes of all rightdhinking men.
Indeed, his wise father in his last days, after vainly trying to
reform Shambhuji, had been constrained to keep him under
surveillance in the fort of Panhala. Therefore, after Shivaiji's
funeral, Rajaram (his younger son, a boy of ten) was
proclaimed as king by the ministers present in Raigarh, on
the lead of Annaji Datto.

This change in the natural order of succession was effected
by a party only at the capital. The people in general and
the troops outside had not been consulted, and they naturally
murmuyed.

The crowning of Rajaram gave the signal for a  division
among the Marathas. A faction for Shambhuji was soon
formed. The army, gorded with plunder in Shivaji's tfime,
seems to have received no bounty at this change of masters
and was eager to transfer ils venal sword to Shambhuji,
whose helpless condition made him reckless in his promises
for gaining adherenis. The council of regency as constituted
at Raigarh meant Brahman rule, and the commander-in-chiot
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(a Maratha by caste) was not prepared 1o take his orders
from a priestly Mayor of the Palace.

The result was that within a week of Shivaji's decath.
parties of soldiers began to flock daily to Shambhuji at
Panhala, and he openly assumed royal powers, ignoring the
Government at Raigarh.

Shambhuiji's first measures displaved a degree of saecacity
and fimely energy which was quite unexpected from a man
of his character. He first made himself master of Panhala
and then consolidated his possession of the South Maratha
country and South Konkan before venturing on a contest
with the forces of his rival at the capital in the north.

In the meantime, Annaji Datto had placed Rajaram on the
throne at Raigarh, on 21st April, and shorily afterwards
started for Panhala with the Peshwa, ostensibly for the
purpose of recovering that fort and imprisoning Shambhuiji.
But the news of the successful coups of Shambhuji  dis-
heartened them and ihey hesitated to atlack him. Soon, the
hands of the selfish double-dealing minislers were forced by
the ariny. At the end of May the commander-in-chief,
flambir Rao Mphité, arrested Annaji and Moro Pant and took
them as caplives to Shambhuji at Panhala. There all the
army chiefs assembled and recognized Shambhuji as their king.

Annaji was cast into prison, loaded with chains; the
Deshwa made a timely recantation and thus gained Shambhuii’s
favour without his trust. The new king then set out for
Raigarh, his army swelling to 20,000 men during the march.
The capital opened its gates to him (18th June). Rajaram
made no opposition, because he was incapable of making any.

Though deposed, he was lreated “with all hkindness,”
because he had been a mere {ool in the hands of morte
designing men.

Shambhuji first sat on the throne on 20th July., The
formal coronation was performed with full ceremony and
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splendour on 16th January 1681. A son and heir was born
to him on i18th May 1682, who was destined to revive the
Maratha kingship about 30 vyears later. [t was Shivaji I,
popularly known as Raja Shahu.

§ 9. Shambhuji renews war wilh the Mughals.

The 'new monarch ¢ained a long respite from foreign
attacks, All the military resources of the Mughal empire
werc then concentrated for the war with the Rajputs under
the Emperor’s own cves. At the end of October the Maratha
armies were ouf, as usual, after Dasfafara. One division,
both horse and foot, was designed to march towards Surat
and another fowards Burhanpur, while a third kept Bahadur
Khan (recently created IKKhan-i-Jahan) in check by forming a
screen before his encampment near Aurangabad. The news
of the raids, however, quickly drew the Mughal general into
Khandesh (about 25th Nov.) and the Marathas retreated from
the province, but it was for a time only.

At the end of January next (1681) the raiders were back
again, evidently emboldened by lhe news of Prince Akbar's
rebellion, which rumour had exaggeraled into the downfall
of Aurangzib. One band under Hambir Rao sacked
Dharangaon, and other towns in North Khandesh, and,
passing further east, fell on the Bahadurpura suburb of
Burhanpur, (30th Jan.) before their approach was even
known, and there gathered an immense quantity of booty
from the numerous shops and houses in it  Seventeen other
wards {puras) outside the city-walls were similarly plundered.
The surprise was so complele that none could conceal or
remove a penny worth of property, or save his wife and
children. The smoke of the burning houses first informed
the governor of the enemy's presence, but he was powerless
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Lakhs of Rupees worth of booty was taken in every pura
Many respectable men slew their wives and daaghters and
then fell desperately fighting the Dbrigands, rather than
their family honour outraged.

to do anything and merely shut himself up in the fort.

5eC

For |hree davs the Marathas looted the suburbs to their
tearts’ content, without the least interruption, and dug up the
floor of every house, thus discovering the buried treasure of
manv generations past. Khan-i-Jahan was too slow in coming
up and misjudged the route of the raiders, so that they escape:i
with all their prisoners and booty. Popular voice in the
Deccan charged the Mughal viceroy with having been bribed
by Shambhu to follow this wrong sirategy. The citizens of
Burhanpur complained to the Bmperor to this effect and the
Muslims threatened to stop their Friday prayers unless they
were assured of the safety of their life and honour in future. *

At Babulgaon, some 26 miles west of the city, Khan-i-Jahan
learnt that another Maratha band was coming up from the
south, by way of Ahmadnagar and Mungi-Pattan to loot
Aurangabad. He took horse immediately and set off with his
cavalry at 3 o'clock in the morning, arriving near the city at
noon, jusl in time to save it. The city was in the wildest
terror.  All houses were closed, the men sitting armed and
{rembling and the women weeping within doors. As soon as
the Khan artived, the enemy fled without fighting.

As usual, after the Dasfafiara day in Oclober 1681, the
Maratha light horse set out to rove in different directions. An
attack on Ahmadnagar was actually aftempted, as two Maratha
princesses (a wife and a sister of Shambhuji) captured by
Dilir Khan were lodged in that fort and the Marathas wished
to rescue them, Some Maratha soldiers who had secretly
entered the fort in disguise were detected and killed by the
qgiladar and the rest driven away after a fight, (end of
Qctober).

19
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§ 3. Prince Akbar seeks refuge witfi ShambBuyji.

Prince Muhammad Akbar, the rebel son of Aurangzib,
crossed the Narmada near Akbarpur (9th May) under the
guidance of the faithful Durgadas Rathor and made his way to
Maharashtra. On crossing the Mughal frontier he was
welcomed by several high officers of Shambhuji and conducted
with honour to Pali (1st June).

The prince was accompanied by 400 cavalry, a small body
of infantry (mostly Rajputs with a few Muhammadans) and 30
camels for transport.

Three hundred Maratha foot soldiers were told off to form
his body-guard, and Shambhuji's subafidars (collectors) near
about waited on him to pay their respects. Netafi Palkar was
left in attendance upon him as Shambhuji's representative.

§ 4. Conspiracy against Shambfiuji ; Kavikalash
becomes fis favourite,

After gaining Raigarh (I8 June 1680), Shambhuji imprisoned
his chief enemies, including their leaders, Annaji Datto and
Nilkanth Moreshwar DPinglé (the son of the Peshwa Moreshwar
Trimbak). Early in QOctober Moreshwar died, and Shambhuji
set his son Nilkanth free and bestowed the vacant prime
ministership on him. He also released the arch-traitor Annaji
Datio from prison and appointed him to the post of
Accountant-General (Majmuadar).

But in August 1681, Annaji Datio formed a conspiracy
with Soyra Bai, Hiraji Farzand, and some other leading men
to murder Shambhuji and give the throne to Rajarath, under
the prolection of DPrince Akbar. They intended to kill
Shambhuji by pulting poison in his food.

But the plot was revealed, and Shambhuji immediately
seized the traitors, flung them into prison, and put them to
torture. Annaji Datto his brother Somaji, Hiraji Farzand,.



1682} KAVIKALASH, SHAMBHUI'S FAVOURITE 201

Balaji Avji Drabhu, and Mahadev Anant, with three others
were killed by being flung in chains under the feel of
elephants. Twenty more culprits were sentenced to death
later. Rajaram’s mother, Soyra Bai, was charged with having
poisoned her husband (a vear and a half earlier), and was
put by Shambhuji to & painful death, through poison or by
starvation. All this happened in October 1681. Her fathet’s
family, the Shirkés, fell under Shambhuji's persecution ; many
of their members were killed, and the rest fled to the Mughals.

Shambhuiji’s character and conduct made it impossible for
any of the old servants of the State to regard him with that
love and devotion which Shivajl had inspired. On his part, he
could never forget that practically all the notable ministers
and generals had at first given their assent to removing him
from the line of succession. He, therefore, felt that he stood
absolutely alone and friendless in his native country ; and his
whole reign was in fact dishirbed by frequent conspiracies and
desertions among his officers and rebellions among his vassals.

In this forlorn situation he seemed to have gained a truly
devoted servant. A  Kanauji Brahman, who had been the
hereditary priest of the Bhonslé family al Allahabad, arrived
at Raigarh shortly before Shambhuji’s grand coronation. He
soon made his way into the Rajah's heart, and monopolized
his trust and the supreme control of the administration, with
the title of Kuvi-kalasfi or Pinnacle of Poets, while Shambhuji
rapidly became a fainegnt Ring, blindly following the minister's
advice, and devoting all his time to wine and women, with
fitiul outbursts of martial vigour.

In his obscure village refuge Drince Akbar kept up the
pageant of an Emperor as far as hig reduced means allowed.
Metrcenary horsemen were constantly joining him, and by the
month of August he had collected about 2,000 cavalry in his
pay. On 13th November, 1681, Shambhuji interviewed Prince
Akbar at Dadishahpur (==DPali), faking the entire army and



209 SIIORT HISTORY OF AURANGZIB len. XV

retinue with him, Durgadas was with Abkbar. But Akbar’s
sole chance of success by invading the Mughal empire
was now gdone, The  crisis of the Rajput war had ended
in June, when the Maharana made a definite peace with
the Emperor. The Mughal forces were now free to hunt
Akbar down, and the Emperor himself arrived at Burhanpur on
15th  November. Thus, by the middle of November
all  the military resources of the empire were concentrated
in the Deccan under the Emperor himself, three of his sons
and all his best generals. At first he contented himself with
following a watchful and waiting policy.

§ 5. Aurvangzib’s stralegic dispositions, 1652,

Shambhuji was busy during the whole month of January

1682 in making a furious aftack on Janjira under his own
eyes., This was Aurangzib’s opportunity. Sayyid Hasan Ali
Khan descended from Junnar into North Konkan at the head
of 14,000 horsc and took possession of Kalian (about 30 Jan.
1682) burning all the Maratha villages on the way.
In May next he withdrew from the province, in order to save
his hotses from the effect of the heavy rainfall of the west
coast. .
Aurangzib arrived at  Aurangabad on 22nd March 1682
and sent off Azam Shah and Dilir Khan to Ahmadnagar in
the south, while Shihab-ud-din Khan with Dalpat Rao was
sent fo Nasik on the western frontier. The latter general
took some small forts in this region and then (in April)
laid siege to Ramsej, 7 miles north of Nasik. But it was
defended by a qallant Maratha garrison under an expert
qiladar, and the Mughals could make no impression on it
The Emperor sent Khan-i-Jahan to reinforce the siege. Bat
even this oreat general could achieve uo better success ; two
assaults failed with heavy losses.
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Aurangzib's spirit was now up. He decided on extensive
operations  against Shambhujii. As the English at Karwar
write, “He is so inveterate against the Rajah that he hath
thrown off his pagri and sworn never to put it on again,
till he hath either killed, taken, or routed him out of his
couniry.” (30th July 1689). Ile sent Ruhullah Khan (23rd
May) and later Muizz-ud-din (28th Sep.) fto defend the
Ahmadnagar district, while Prince Azam was sent towards
Bijapur (14th June) to overawe that State and prevent it from
aiding or shellering Maratha bands. From Nasik Shihab-ud-din
Khan was transferred to Junnar (June), while Ranmast Khan,
the able lieutenant of Khan-i-Jahan, was promoted to the
command of an independent army corps (Sep.) and ordered
to invade Konkan.

Khan-i-Jahan continued the siege of Ramsej for some
months more, delivered another assault which failed, and then
gave up the siege, (October 16892).

Ranmast Khan entered Konkan and occupied Kalian, late
in Noy. 1682 Rupaji Bhonslé and the Peshwa opposed him
o no eflec], though they fought many batfles with heavy
slaughter.

Khan-i-Jahan united with the prince's force at Ramdoo, on
the Godavari, 25 miles s. of Aurangabad, and pushed on
eastwards to Nander. Thence the division went to Bidar, 86
m. due south. Next he pursued the raiders in a long running
fight, which carried him to the frontiers of Chanda and
Gollkonda. It was a highly creditable feat. During this cam-
paign his troops had 1o bear great hardship.

Prince Azam in June 1682 marched out of Ahmadnagar to
invade Adil-Shahi terrifory. In the course of this campaign
he took Dharur. Then he entered Shambhuji's territory and
Jeaving his wife Jahanzeb Banu (populatly called Jani Begam)
behind in his camp, with Rac Anurudh Singh Hada and his
Rajputs to  guard her, he advanced with his army further into
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the enemy’s country. The Marathas, sending off one division
to heep Azam engaged, suddenly threatened the Begam’s
camp in overwhelming force. The heroic daughter of Dara
Shukoh mounted her covered litter on an elephant, and advanced
two miles from her camp to oppose the enemy.

Calling Anurudh Singh near her elephant she spoke to
him in Ber own voice, ‘The honour of the Chaghtais is to
the Rajputs the same as their own honour. [ call vou my
son. If God gives us victory with this small force, well
Otherwise, you may rest assured about me; [ shall sit down
after doing my work (fe, committing suicide, in order to
avoid capture).” Then a great battle was fought. Nine
hundred Rajputs fell on Anurudh’s side, and many of the
Marathas too. At last Anutudh dained the victory, though he
was wounded. After some time spent on the bank of the Nira,
Azam was recalled to Court in June 1683.

8 6. Failure of Mugfial efforts : Fmperot’s
distraction and suspicions.

In March 1683, all the Mughal divisions operating against
Abkbar were recalled to the Emperor’s side. Ruhullah and
Ranmast Khan evacuated Kalian on 23rd March, after burning
and razing the ground the fortifications they had built
round the <city. The refreal was opposed by a Maratha
army under Rupaji Bhonsle, who aftacked the Mughal rear
at Titvala (seven miles n. e, of Kalian), killing many men and
carrying off a large number of horses,

Thus we see that for more than a year after his arrival
in the Deccan, from November 1681 {o April 1683, the
Emperor accomplished nothing nofable, in spite of his immensa
resources. In fruth, he was at this time passing through a
domestic and mental crisis; his faith in his family had been
totally shaken and he did not know whom to trust or where
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he would be safe, Hence his policy for some time after
was hesitating, suspicious, watchful and seemingly capticious
or self-contradictory. On 2nd  October 1683, the Surat
factors write, “lHow the king’s mind may alter we cannot tell.
It is continually wavering and he is extraordinarily peevish
and uneasy because of Sultan Akbar. Sultan Azam, Begam
[i. e, Jahanzeb Banu] and Dilir Khan degraded for even
nothing bul only suspected, without any grounds, of being
Rind to Akbar, that all persons of quality stand on ticklish
terms, are mighty careful.”

§7. The Maratfia navy and wars witf the
Siddis, 1680-82,

There could be no amity between the English and
Shambhuji, because the Siddi fleet, as well as occasional
Mughal squadrons from Suraf, used fo pass the stormy
monsoen  months (Ma:g to October) in the safe shelter of
Bombay harbour every vyeat, and the Siddis settled in the
Masagaon quarter of the island, from which they frequently
ravaged the Kurlas or rich low-lying fracts of Maratha
ferritory on the mainland east of Bombay., Shambhuji by
furns threatened the English and offered them his alliance
if they would only exclude the Siddis {from their harbour ;
but the President and Council of Surat instructed Bombay,
“You must use all contrivances to keep fair with them; as
we would by no means quarrel with Shambhuji Rajah, so
upon no account can we with prudence fall out with the
Siddi at present, it being a very unfit time.”

The Maratha vessels being smaller it size and armament
than the Siddi's, lay sheltered wup the Nagothna creek and
in Khanderi barbour during the monsoons, without venturing
on pitched battles. But occasional skirmishes took place
between the rival gallivats (jalbas) in which the Siddis had
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the advantage, and these seas were often closed to the
Maratha trading vessels.

On  7th December, 1681, the Siddis burnt the town ot
Apta, on the Datalganga, ten miles south of Panvel. (They
had first sacked it in 1673). “On fhis provocalion Shambhuij,
accompanied by Sultan Akbar, came down from Raigarh, with
90,000 men and a vast train of cannon, fo Danda, [ 18 Dec. |...
and from the hill opposite to Janjira” bombarded that island
incessantly for 30 days. But the Mughal invasion of N.
Konkan and capture of Kalian (c 30 Jan.) forced him to
hasten back to Raigarh.

In July 1682, the Marathas getting some boats together
delivered an assault on fanjira, but they could gain no fooling
on the storm-beaten rocky coast and had to retire with heavy
loss. On 4th Qctober, Siddi i\’Iisri (in Maratha service) with
30 gallivats gave baitle to Siddi Qasim’s squadron of 16
vessels, crowded with his best men, ofl Kalgaon, 8 miles south
of Kolaba Point. But he was defeated after a brief, fight, his
other vessels fled away, and he was carvied a prisoner,
mortally wounded, with seven of his vessels to Bombay.

§ 8. Shambfujl's war with |he Portuguese, 1683,

Shambhu's wrath fell on the Portuguese. They had given
him provocation by seizing and fortifying Anjidiv, an island
just south of Karwar, which the Maratha king had intended
to malke his naval base, to counteract.the Siddi stronghold
of Janjira (Apr. 1682). In December 1682, the viceroy of
Goa had allowed the Mughal ships to pass under the
Portuguese fort of Thana up the creck to Kalian, with provi-
sions for the Mughal army under Ranmast Khan, then ravaging
that district. e had also allowed the Mughal army a free
passage  through  the DPorfuguese province of Daman
(“the North”) io the Maratha district of North Konkan.
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For these breaches of neulrality Shambhuiji vowed vengeance
on the Porluguese. On 5th April 1683, he launched his attack
on them. With 1,000 horse and 2,000 foot he raided the
open town of Tarapur and burnt it and all other towns from
Daman to Basein. On 31st July, his Peshwa, with 6,000 infantry
and 2,000 cavalry, laid siege to Chaul. Early in the morning
of 8th August the Marathas made an assault on the city,
but were repulsed with heavy loss. At midnight following
20th  August, the Porluguese Viceroy sent a large body of
the Indians of Goa across the river to the mainland of Savant-
vadi, with a general licence to plunder and burn the villages
of Shambhuji. This attempt to imitate the Maratha policy of
mulkgirl was a failure. But Chaul remained unconquered
by the Marathas after a siege of many months,

The Viceroy of Goa planned to make a diversion by
laying siege to Phonda; with 800 white troops and 8,000
Kanarese, and five pieces of heavy artillery, he arrived (on
oond Oct) in the vicinity of Phonda and opened fire on  that
fort immediately.

The 30th of October had been fixed for scaling the
breach of the inner wall. But that very day a relieving force
under Shambhuji was sighted, the Porluguese army was com-
. pletely outflanked and lost heart, and decided to raise the
siece, Next day they began to retreat, and on the 1ist of
November reached Durbata, where they were to embark for
return to Goa.

The retreat from Durbata was disastrous for the Portuguese,
The Maratha cavalry aftacked the Goa infantry with greal
determination. “The Kanarese [ie, the nalive ircops of
Goal. ..threw down their muskets and fled. Finally, nearly
all the Portuguese did the same, but in vain, for the blacks
rode over them, trampling most of our men, Al our men
fled i ubller disorder, each one lrying to save himself... Of
ihe Portuguese infantty nearly a whole company of seanmen
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were hkilled, the dead and wounded amounting to two
hundred.”

§ 9. Shambfuji invades Goa.

From the walls of Phonda Shambhuji marched with 7,000
cavalry and 15,000 infantry against Goa city. At 10 o'clock in the
night of 14th November, forly Marathas entered the island of
Santo Fstevao, two miles north-east of Goa, by crossing a
channel which is fordable at low tide. Then they scaled the
fort on the top of the hil, and were soon reinforced by
four thousand men from their main army from the other
side of the river. :

. Next morning at 7. o'clock, the Viceroy with 400 men
disembarked  at the island of = Santo  Estevao, and
vigorously attacked the Maratha -infantry.. But  three hundred
cavalry reinforeing them, “they fell upon our men with great
fury..Our men began a headlong flight down the hill..Besides
the dead, who were said to be more than 150,~—there was
not one who was not wounded by a ball, sword or stone.
The Viceroy had his arm pierced by a ball. At two  oO'clock
in the afternoon ‘he embatked.,The rest of the men,—about
‘190,-ﬂed into  the river..Some stick in the mud, and some
swam off. All those who were in the mud died. - But next
day (16th Nov.) the Marathas  left the island in - great
haste,” ‘ '

On' 1st December one thousand Maratha  horse and 3,000+
foot entered the districts of Salsette and Bardes lying immediately .
south  and . north *respectively - of the island of . Goa and

separaled from the latter by a creek only. - They plundered
everything that they could find, took the - men prisoner; ravished
the women and roamed - over the couniry for a month. Shortly’
afterwards a deliverer ' came to _ fertor-stricken = Goa "in, the "
o person. of Shah' Alam, ‘who ‘olc‘chpiedv Bicholin - (an ‘Ir‘ﬂpo‘i‘t‘aﬁt v
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town belonging to Shambhuji) on 5 Jan. 1684, and three days
later a very powerful Mughal fleet reached the harbour of Goa.
At the news of the prince’s approach Shambhuji fled (23rd
December) to Raigarh, leaving Kavi-kalash with Akbar to
negotiate with the Portuguese for a peace.

In the northern theatre of this war, ie, Daman district, the
Portuguese were severely beaten. Many of their towns were
taken and burnt by the Marathas ; on 22nd December Shambhu
occupied the island of Karinja, only 10 miles south-east of
Bombay. After Shambhuji had hurriedly fled northwards to his
capital, leaving Kavi-kalash as his plenipotentiary for concluding
a peace with the DPorlugusse through the mediation ot
Akbar, these two at first took refuge from the Mughals
in the Jforest of Bhimgarh (27 m. east of Goa) and
then at DPhonda, and made peace with the Porlugucse
envoy, Manuel S, de Albuquerque (about 20 January) on
the basis of the mutual resfitution of conquests and prizes and
neufrality in future.

But this treaty was a hollow truce. The Maratha hking soon
prepared for a second encounter with the Portuguese. On 19th
September the Dortuguese attacked and recovered Katinja
island. Languid hosliliies with the Portuguese confinued il
the end of Shambhuji's reign.

§ 10. Prince Akbar's designs and disappointments
at the Maratfa Court.

Shambhuji was frittering away his strength in small predatory
incursions here and there, or engaging in fruitless wars with
the Siddis and the DPortugdese, having “too many irons in the
fire" to do anything effective, as the Surat factors rightly
remarked in December 1683.

Akbar's one thought was, how to gain the throne of Delhi.
He valued Shambhuji only as an instrument of this design.
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Every day that he spent in Maharashira was a day more of
hope deferred. It was also a day more of unwonted suffering
to him. Only by leaving Maharashtra could he get back to
civilization.

But Shambhuji’s inferests did not exactly coincide with Akbar's,
Why should he go out of the safety of the Deccan hills and
jungles into the broad plains of North India where his troops
would lose their natural advantage ? Why should he denude
his country of its defenders by accompanying Akbar in the
wild project of invading Hindustan, and thus give Aurangzib
an opportunity of conquering Maharashtra in his absence ?

At last after 18 months of heartsich  waiting, hope
deferred, and evasion of promises, Akbar saw  through
Shambhuji's character and policy and despaired of ever being
effectually helped by him. He, therefore, decided to leave
Maharashtra. He issued from his asylum at Pali (Dec. 1689)
with his Rathor confingent, and look up his residence at
Banda in Savant-vadi, which though lying within the Mavatha
kingdom, is only twenty-five miles north of Goa. From this
place Akbar (January 1683) sent an agenl to the Viceroy of
Goa, presenting him with his own jewelled dagger and
begging his permission to sell some jewels in Goa and his
influence with the Portuguese factor at Mangalore (in the
kRingdom of Kanara) 1o assist Akbar in chartering a ship
there {o carry him to Arvabia. Bul by order of the Emperor,
during March and April the Siddi lay with his fleet in the
Rajapur creek, on the watch lo intercept Akbar, if he took
ship at Goa.

In September, Ahkbar remaved from Banda lo Bicholim,
a town in Shambhuji's territory, less than ten miles north of
Goa. Utterly disgusted  with Shambhufi, the poor deluded
Mughal prince, af last (about 8th Nov.) bought a ship and
embarked at Vingurla, wishing to go 1o Persia. But
Kavi-kalash hurriedly arrived from Rajapur and with Durgadas
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visited Akbar on board, and persuaded him to come back
to land with fresh promises of Shambhuji's armed support in
Inclia. Then the Luso-Maratha war broke out, in which Akbar
acted as the mediator of the Marathas.

Akbar spent a whole year from February 1684 in the
Ratnagiri district (at Sakharpen and  Malkapur), inviling
Kavi-kalash repeatedly fo meet him and decide on future
plans of action.

§ 11. Rebellions against Shambbiuji ; Mughal
operations from July 1683,

From July 1683 the prospects of the imperialists in the
Deccan began to brighten. Akbar was esfranged from
Shambhuji ancd meditating flight from India. The Marathas
became plunged into a long war with the Portuguese. The
Mughals profited by these circumstances. The Emperor’s
indecision and cautious inactivity ended, and a vigorous
offensive  was opened in many directions.

Shambhuji's profligacy, capriciousness and violence created a
general discontenl among his officers and vassals. Aurangsib's
bribes aggravated the evil, and there were frequent desertions
from the Maratha service, On 26th July (683, Qazi Haidar,
Shivajl's munspi, came over to Aurangzlb and was created
a S-hazari and a Khan, and later on {(1708) rose to be Chief
Qaszl of the empire.

Khem Savant (ruler of Kudal and a vassal of Shambhuiji)
rebelled  against him and, reinforced by the Portuguese,
roamed over Savant-vadi, burning and robbing many places
in the Maratha kingdom north of Goa, (Feb. 1685). He with
two other rebels, named Dulva Nayak (of Phonda) and Ram
Dalvi, took refuge in Portuguese territory, made it a safe
base for their operations, and kept South Konkan and Kanara
in turmoil, The contagion spread. The whole coast region
was soon up in atms against Shambhuji.
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The Mughal offensive was opened at the end of the rainy
season, about the middle of September, 1683. A few days
after 15th September, Shah Alam marched out of Aurangabad
with a grand army to penetrate into Savant-vadi and South
Konkan by the Ramghat pass, while Shihab~ud-din was sent
to Puna (Oct), from which he made a raid on Nizampur in
the Kolaba district across the Ghats {27 Dec) Prince Azam,
who had been sent against Bijapuri territory (on 20th August),
returned to  Court in October and was transferred to Nasik
(Nov.), to guard the northward road to Baglana and
Khandesh ; the Siddi cruised off Vingurla watching Akbar's
movements (Oct) ; the Emperor himself marched further south
to Ahmadnagar (Nev.) ; and another army corps (under Khan-
i-Jahan) was advanced from Bidar to Akalkot to watch the
Golkonda and Bijapur frontiers and prevent those Powers
from making any diversion in aid of the Marathas.

§ 19. Shafi Alam invades Soutfi Konkan.

From Aurangabad Shah Alam marched (Sep, 1683} due
south  through  Bfjapuri terrifory, entered  the Belgaum
district, and captured the fort of Shahpur, Sampgaon
(18 m. s e of Belgaum) and some other large
cifies and a few forts of that region and much booty. Then
le turned sharply to the west, crossed the Ramghat pass
(26 m. due west of Belgaum and 30 miles north-east of Goa
as the crow flies) and descended into the plains of Savant-vacli,

Shah Alam reached Bicholim on 5th January, 1684, and
there demolished the spacious mansions and pleasure-gardens
of Shambhuji and Akbar. Three days afterwards a large
Mughal fleet rode into Goa harbour with provisions for the
prince’s army.

On arriving near Goa, he demanded a huge fee from
ihe Portuguese for having saved them from being plundered
by Shambhu I He also plotted to seize Goa by freachery..
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This rupture with the Portuguese was the worst mistake that
the prince could have committed, because it ultimately caused
the annihilation of his army through famine.

From the neighbourhood of Goa Shah Alam  marched
northwards to Malvan and there blew up with gunpowder
the famous white temple and other edifices belonging to the
Maratha king. Kudal and Banda (in Savant-vadi) were burnt
and Vingurla sacked by him during this expedition. Turning
south again, he returned to the bank of the Chapora tiver,
(north of Goa), either to establish touch with his provision-
vessels or to make a second attempt on the DPortuguese
capital.

In PFebruary the further progress of the Mughal army was
stopped by famine. Portuguese suspicion prevented the Mughal
provision fleet from sailing up the creek of Goa to the prince’s
camp ; no corn could be secured locally, and famine was raging
in Goa. The prince’s only work in Konkan had been, as the
English merchants remark, “to range to and fro, as he pleases,
with little resistance. He hath taken no stronghold but ruins
the country, lays all waste, and burns all towns he comes
near.” The scarcity in  his camp reached an extreme point
The soldiers through fasting retained only the last breath of
their lives. So, the baffled prince returned io the gfaf on 20th
February.

His difficulties only thickened. In the narrow Ramghat
pass, the air bred a pestilence of such virulence that in a week
one-~third of his men died, none escaping who was atlacked.
The horses, elephants and camels perished in an even larger
proportion and their carcases poisoned the air. This failure of
transport led to a second famine, Many of his men also died
of the great heat and thirst they underwent.

Shah Alam crossed the pass and descended into the
Kanara plains. The enemy hovered round, cut off stragglers
and plundered the baggage and convoys “in all directions.”
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The iniserable remnant of his army reached Almadnagar on
18th May, without having done anylhing except burming  a few
villages and robbing a few towns.

815, Shambhaji's doings atter 1683,

The minor operations of the vears 1683-85 need not
be described here. The Mughal campaign in  the first halt
of 1684 was highly  successful ; many Maratha forts
were taken, their field armies repcatedly defeated, and much
territory  annexed. The crowning feat was the capture of
two wives, one daughter and three slave-gitls of Shambhuji,
who were confined in the fort of Bahadurgarh in July. One
wife and one sister of the Maratha king had been captured
before by Dilr Khan and lodged in Ahmadnagar fort.

Where was Shambhuji all this time ? After the failure o}
his aftack on Goa at the end of 1683, he entirely gave
himself up to pleasure, spendmng his time with women, amuse-
ment, and wine, instead of taking the field and emulating the
example of valour and untiring exertion bequeathed to him by
his father.

Aboul the middle of |anuary 1685, Shihab-ud-din Khan
made a fresh dash into Konkan by the Bhorghat and set fire
to the village (Pachad) at the foot of Raigarh fort, “slew many
of the infidel chiefs, plundered their wealth and property,
made many caplives and gained a great victory,” For his
brilliant success he was created Khan Babadur Firuz Jang.

Many Maralha captains were induced by Firuz Jang to desert
to the imperial side. Early in December Kondana was
captured by Abdul Qadir. While every Maratha soldier was
sorely needed for home defence, they made the mistake of
blindly following their poliey of muf-givi and raiding
Khandesh. But at the end of March 1685 the siege of
Bijapur began, the Mughal forces were concentrated there,
and the pressure upon the Marathas ceased for a Hme.
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Captain  Richard Keigwin, who had seized the fort of
Bombay from the East India Company’s governor, adopted
a vigorous policy and, in April 1684, forced Siddi Qasim,
the Mughal admiral, to respect the neutrality of Bombay by
ceasing to make that island the base of his operations against
the Maratha villages. At the end of April he sent two
ambassadors (Caplain Henry Gary and Li. Thomas Wilkins)
with Ram Shenvi as interpreter, to Shambhuji, to setlle the
long-standing differences about the indemnity claimed by the
English for Shivaji's sach of their Rajapur factory in March
1661 and other matfters and fo make a [riendly alliance with
the Maratha Rajah. The mission was a complete success,
Shambhuiji granted all the demands of the English and signed
two agreements with them containing 30 and 11 articles.

S 14. Mugpal conquest of (e provinces of Bijapur.

After the surrender’ of Bijapur (12th Sep. 1686), Aurangzib
sent his generals to the differeni parts of the newly-annexed
country to make a revenue seftlement, maintain peace, and
take charge of the forts. Bul from next February to Seplember
the Mughal forces were poxlcenit‘ated at the siege of Golkonda,
and it was only after the fall of that fort (21st Sep. 1687)
that the imperialists could renew their activity in the provinces
of the old Adil-Shahi kingdorn.

Their fitst campaign was directed against the DBerad clanm,
who ruled over the land situated in the fork between the
Krishna and the Bhima, with Ihelr capital at Sagar.
The terror of Mughal arms inspired by the Ilall of Bijapur
and Golkonda within one year, did the work., Pam Navaly, the
Berad chieftain submitted, gave up his fort (28th November),
and paid a visit to the Emperor on 27th December 1687, but
suddenly died after five days. MHis country was annexed.

Mughal enterprise was next directed towards the east and
the south of the hwo newly-conquered Deccani Sultanates.

20
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Firuz Jang invaded the district of Karnul and the tort
of Adoni, south of the Tungabhadra, where Siddi Masaud
was now reigning in independence, On 6th  August 1688,
Siddi Masaud was induced to capitulate ; his fort was occupied
and renamed Imtiaz-garh, and he was enrolled in the Mughal
peerage as a 7-fAazarl.

Prince  Azam capiured fhe strong fort of Belgaum after
a siege (about March). In other directions, too, innumerable
forts were captured by the imperialists.

The Emperor left Haidarabad on 25th January 1688, and
arrived at Bijapur on 15th March. Here his attention was
taken up by the necessity of giving relief to the people who
had fallen into want through the ruin of the city and its
environs. The chief want of the cilizens was the lack of
drinking-water, because the aqueducts were damaged during
the siege and the waler suddenly dried up (probably from
this cause). Mukhlis Khan, the Mir Atish, was ordered to
cut a canal for conveving the water of the Krishna to the city.

A terrible epidemic broke outf in the city of Bijapur and
the jmperial camp, at the beginning of November, 1688. “First
a bubo appeared in the arm-pit and the corner of the thigh,
then high fever and unconsciousness supervened; medical
treatment produced no effect; few men lived beyond two
days, but most died in less. Among the victims were the
Emperor’s old wife Aurangabadi Mahal, Maharajah Jaswant's
alleged son Muhammadi-Raj aged 13, Fazil Khan the Sadar,
and many other grandees. The middle class and poor people,
both Hindu and Muhammadan, who died, cannot be counted,
but are conjeclured to have been not less than a lakh. [Firuz
Jang’s eyes were lost.”

The Emperor firmly set out on his campaign on 14th
PDecember, 1688, and a week afterwards the fury of the
epidemic  abated. He marched on to Akluj, 85 miles north
of Bijapur and halied.
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S 15. Last efforts of dkbar in India.

Akbar made a dash into Mughal territory in June 1686,
after the Emperor had left Sholapur to join the siege of
Bijapur and Mughal Deccan was denuded of his forces. The
attempt, however, f{ailed, because the Emperor with his usual
foresight had left Murhamat Khan with a division to guard
Ahmadnagar, who fought a severe baltle with Akbar near
Chakan, and defeated and repulsed him. The prince wenl
back to Shambhuji's dominions and made some futile attempts
to break northwards to Surat through Mahuli and Jawhar.

At last, with Zia-ud-din Muhammad (a former follower of
Shuja) and 45 retainers, Akbar embarked in a ship hired at
Rajapur (commanded by Bendal, an Englishman), and sailed
for Persia (in Feb, 16387), but was driven by stress of weather
to the port of Masgal. After some months’ detention
here he reached the DPersian Court at Isfahan on 24th
January, 1688. After thus safely sending him out of India,
Durgadas returned to his home in Marwar.

§ 16. Internal condition of the Maratfia Kingdom and
Shambfiuji’s doings, 1685~1687.

While Aurangzib was directing the full strength of his empire
against Bijapur and Golkonda, Shambhuji made no adequaie
effort to meet the danger that threatened all the Deccani
Powers alike. His soldiers plundered places in the Mughal
ferrifory as a malter of roufine, bul these raids did not
influence the military situation. Auwrangzib disregarded such
pin-pricks, The Maratha king was not wise enough to follow
any large and well-thought-out plan for diverling the Mughals
from ‘the sieges of Bijapur and Golkonda and averting their
fall ; his Government was also hopelessly weakened by
rebellions among his vassals and plots among his courtfers.
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Within a few vyears of the accession of Shambhuji, nearly all
the ministers and generals who had contributed to the
glory of his father’s reign disappeared. His affairs in
the outlying parts of his dominions suffered from the lack
of competent agents on the spot. The evil was agoravated
by fresh conspiracies against the king, which were inevitably
followed by the execution or at lcast imprisonment of
more Maratha genetals and ministers ol leading positions.
The Madras Karnatal, a kingdom in ifself, had practically
passed out of Shambhuji's control and was ruled by his
brother-in<law  Hatji Mahadik with the ftitle of Maharajah in
semi-independence.

The economic decay of the Maralha kingdom through
Shambhuji's supine rule, the cotruption of his oflicers, and
the disorder caused by the rebels, is graphically described in
the English factory records. “in former vears there was a
quantity of pepper, about 1,500 £aandi, il grew in and near
about Rajapur; but now grows not the tenth part since thai
place hath been in Shivaji's hands; it is a miserable poor
town [now.]”

The causes of this ruin of trade and industry were misrale
and the universal hunger for bribes and presents among the
Maratha State officials. “With the Rajah down to the Plowman
the infection of pesfifasfing is so prevalent thal nothing can
be well done without i, or withstand it.” The weavers that
wsed to come from Thanah and Chaul to DBombay were
about 600 families. But within a year of the Maratha sicge of
Chaul {1683), 400 of these families for want of encouragement
{orsook Bombay, 150 of the remainder were dead; so that
only 50 families were left in 1685.

Near Karwar the ways were molesled by Shambhuji's
revolted vassals. “In his dominions there is little or no safely,
and at Dbest a great deal of hazard : {rade in general
obstructed.”
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S 17, Caplure and execution of ShambBuji,

After the conspiracies against Shambhuji in June 1680
and Oclober 1681 had been crushed, there was a fresh plot
in October 1684, in consequence of which he threw several
leading men into prison, where they remained confined till
his death. Things then continued quiet at his Court for four
years. But in Oclober 1688, the Shirké family again rose
agaipst him; they attacked Kavi-kalash and drove him
into Khelna for refuge. Shambhuji marched from Raigarh
to the rescue of his favourite, defeated and routed the
rebels at Sangameshwar, and then went to Khelna. He
artested Drahlad Niraji and ' many other ministers and leading
people on suspicion of complicity in the late rising, and after
provisioning Khelna fort, started with Kavi-kalash for return-
ing to his capital. On the way he arrived at Sangameshwar,
29 miles n. e. of Ralnagiti cily, and the sacred junction of
the Alak-nanda and Varuna rivers, where Kavi-Ralash had
laid out fine gardens and built nicely-decorated mansions for
his master. Here, after sending his army and family back
to Raigarh, Shambhuji plunged into’  drinking and merry-
making, with a small escort and in ulter carelessness. All
vigilance was abandoned, as he believed the place fo be
" impenetrable lo Mughal arms.

Shaikh Nizam, “chief among the servants of Qutb Shah,”
had been induced to desert to the Mughals during the siege
of Golkonda (28th May, 1687) and created a 6-fazari with
fhe title of Mugarrab Khan, This able and active general
had been detached to lay siege o Panhala (1688).

On hearing from his spies of Shambhuji's unguarded life
of debauchery at Sangameshwar, he lost no time. Taking
with himself only 2,000 picked troopers and 1,000 infantry,
he made a forced march from his camp at Kolhapur. Very
great hardship was undergone in crossing the jungles, broken
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ground and lofty passes of the Western Ghats, al such a
rapid pace. With only 300 troopers he artived at Sangamesh-
war “with the speed of lightning and wind,” covering the
intervening 90 miles in two or three days.

When the invaders entered the town, Kavi-kalash offered
them batile. He was wounded by an arrow in his right
hand, and being unable to fight, dismounted. The Maratha
force that had been hurriedly armed and assembled, being
now without a leader, broke and fled. Shambhuji and his
minister then hid themselves in a hole in the floor of the
latter’s house, but  were dragged out by their long hair, and
taken o the general on his elephant outside. Twenty-
fire of Shambhuji's chief followers wilh their wives and
daughters were capturec al this place, (Ist February 1689).

The news of the capture soon reached the imperial camp
at Aklyj and caused a wild outburst of rejoicing in all parts
of the impetrial dominions.

On 15th February the imperial camp reached Bahadurgarh,
when the captives were brought there. By the Empetor's
order, the oppressor of the Deccan was macde a mark of
public ridicule. Four miles outside the encampment, Sham-
bhuji and Kavi-kalash were dressed as buffoons with long
fool's caps and bells placed on their heads, mounted on
camels, and brought to Bahadurgarh with drums beating and
trumpets pealing. Hundreds of thousands of spectators lined
the roads, to gaze al Shambhuji as at a new kind of wild
beast or demon. Thus degraded, the captives were slowly
paraded through the enfire camp and finally brought to the
Emperor who was sitfing in full darbar {or the occasion,
At the sight of the prisoner, Aurangzib descended from
his throne and kneeling down on the carpet bowed his head
to the ground in double thankiulness to the Giver of this
crowning victory.* The Emperor's counsellors wanted io spare

* K. K. (388) narrates a tradition that when Aurangzib was thus praying, Kavi-



1689 SHAMBHUJI AND KAVIKALASH KILLED 311
Shambhuji’s life and thus induce him fo order his officers to
surrender all his forts peacefully. Ruhullah Khan was sent bv
Aurangzib to learn from Shambhuji where he hept his treasures
hidden and which of the imperial officers used fo correspond
with him. Frefting with bitterness of soul at being publicly
insulted and now driven to despair, Shambhuji spurned at the-:
offer of life, loosened his tongue in abuse of the Emperor and
his Prophet, and scurrilousty asked for one of Aurangzib's
daughters to be given to him as the price of his friendship.

The Maratha Rajah had sinned beyond hope of pardon.
That very night his eyes were blinded and next day the tongue
of Kavi-kalash was cut out. The Muhammadan theologians
proncunced a decree that Shambhuji should be put to death
on account of his having “slain, captured and dishonoured
Muslinis and plundered the cities of Islam.” The Emperot
consented to his death, After undergoing a fortnight of torture
and insult, the captives were removed with the imperial camp
to Koregaon, on the bank of the Bhima, 12 m. n.e. of DPuna
(on 3rd March), and there they were put to. a cruel and
painful death on 11{th March, their limbs being hacked off one
by one, and their flesh thrown to the dogs. Their severed
heads were stuffed with straw and exhibited in all the chief
cities of the Deccan to the accompaniment of drum and
trumpet.

§ 18, The war tn 1689 ; capture of Raigari and Shambhufis
entite family,

After the downfall of Shambhuji his younger brother
Rajaram was taken out of prison and crowned (8th Feb.) by
the Maratha ministers in Raigarh, as Shambhujf's son Shahu

halash addressed imprompty Ilindi verses to Shambhujl saying, “O Rajah ! even
Aurangzib dare not sit on the throne in thy presence, but wust hkneel fo do thee
homage 1" Ishwardas (1558) says that Shambhuji tefused to bow to the Emperor,

though uwrged to do so.
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was too young to be the head of a State endaged in a life
and death struggle with an enemy like Aurangzib. Soon
afferwards an imperial army under Itigad Khan laid siege to
the Maratha capital, but Rajaram escaped from il (5th April)
in the ouise of a yogi Sayyvid Abdullah Khan (of Barha),
the new subahdar of Bijapur, tried to intercept the fugitives,
and came up with them in three days “near the forts of
Subhangarh and Jara on the bank of the Tungabhadra.” The
Marathas who had faken refuge in an island, were atlacked
al night and'a hundred of their chiefs were made prisoner.
But Rajaram contrived to escape with his bare life while his
comrades were carrying on the fight,

For some time he hid himself in the ferritory of the Rani
of Bednur (now the Shimoga district of Mysore). But at last
she let him escape to Jinji (where he arrived on Ist Nov.,
and then made her peace with the Emperor by paying a
small fine. The Maratha captives taken on the island were
confined in the citadel of Bijapur, but in a short time Hindu
Rao, Baharji, and some twenty other chiefs escaped from lhe
stronghold,—a feat “which was impossible except with the
connivance of their guards.’” At this the Emperor pul the
remaining 80 prisoners fo death.

ltigad Khan (a son of the prime minister Asad Khan) after
a long struggle captured the fort of Raigarh on 19th October
1689, anct seized in it Shivaji's surviving widows, and Sham-~
bhujs and Rajaram’s wives, daughters and sons, including
Shahu, a boy of seven. The ladies were lodged in  separate
tents with every respect and privacy. Shahu was given the
rank of a 7-fiazari and the iitle of Rajah, but kept a prisoner
near the imperial tent. "

Thus, by the end of the year 1689, Aurangzib was the
unrivalled lord paramount of Northern India and the Deccan
alike. Adil Shah, Qutb Shah, and Rajah Shambhuji had all
fallen and their dominjons bad been annexed to his empire.
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( “All seemed to have been gained by Aurangzib now ;
but in reality all was lost. It was the beginning of his end.
The Mughal empire had become too large to be ruled by one
man or from one centre....His enemies rose on all sides;
he could defeat but not crush them for ever. Lawlessness
reigned in many parts of Northern and Central India. The
adminisiration grew slack and corrupt. The endless war in
the Deccan exhausted his freasury. Napoleon L used fo say,
‘It was the Spanish ulcer which ruined me.” The Deccan ulcer
ruined Aurangzib.” My Studies in Mugfial India, 50),3



BOOK V.

CHAPTER XV
STRUGGLE WITH THE MARATHAS UP TO 1700

§ 1. Aurangzib's movements duting tfie second Half
of Als reign.

Leaving Rajputana on 8th September (681, Aurangzib
reached Aurangabad on the 922nd March following and
occupied this sitrategic centre, direcling the operations of his
columns in all directions, till 13th November 1683, when he
proceeded further south to Ahmadnagar. From this place he
arrivec] at Sholapur on 24th May (685 so as to be still closer
to Bijapur, which his troops had besieged. [le went o the
Rasulpur suburb of Bijapur on 3rd July 1686 in order lo press
the siege fo a conclusion. Leaving the newly conquered
Adil-Shahi capital on 30th October, he visited Kulbarga and
Bidar and then sat down before Golkonda on 28th January
1687, Here he lay encamped for a year, and then arrived
at Bijfapur {on his second visil) on 15lh March 1688. [n this
city he lived for the next nine months, ftill driven out (on 14th
December) by a terrible outbreak of the plague. By way of
Akluj and Bahadurgarh (on the Bhima) he reached Koregaon
in the Puna district, where he encamped from 3rd: March o
18th December 1689, and then returned to Bijapur (on 11th
Jan. 1690). But he soon left it, and after spending February,
March and April at different places south of that city, near
the bank of the Ktishna, he finally encamped at Galgala, on
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the southern side of that river and 34 miles south-west of
Bifapur, about 21st May 1690. The rest of this vear and the
first two months of the next vear were passed by him here ;
and then he went back to the environs of Bijapur for fourteen
months  (March 169(~—May 16992). Thereafter, Galgala was
again his residence, for nearly three vyears (May 1692—
March 1693),

Finally, after a fifth and last visit to Bijapur for five weeks
(April—May 1695), he settled at Brahmapuri on the southern
bank of ihe Bhima, which he renamed Islampuri Here he
lived for four years and a half (21 May 1695—19 QOct. 1699).
At Ilampuri his encampment was walled round, and here
he left his family in charge of his wazir when he set out on
19th  October, 1699, on that endless campaign against the
Maratha forts which was to wear out the last vears of his life,
and from which he returned to Ahmadnagar (20 Jan. 1708),
only to die a year later (80 Feb, {707).

§ 9 Tfie Maratfia recovery, 1500-93.

The vyears 1688 and 1689 were a period  of
unbroken triumph to the Emperor. His armies took possession
of the forts and provinces of the annexed kingdoms of Bijapur
and Golkonda, eg, Sagar (the Berad capital), Raichur and
Adoni (in the east), Sera and Bangalore (in Mysore), Wandi-
wash and Conjeveram (in the Madras Karnatak), Bankapur
and Belgaum (in the extreme south-wes), besides Raigarh (the
capital) and many other Maratha forts. [n Northern India,
too, signal success attended his arms : the Jat rising under
Rajaram was put down and that leader was slain (on dth
July, 1688).

But at the end of 1689 the new Maratha king Rajaram
was known to have reached the fort of finji, which henceforth
became a centre of Maratha enterprise in the East Coast,
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while their ministers left at home organized resistance to
the Mughals in the west. The difficulties of Aurangzib were
only multiplied by the disappearance of a common head and
a central Government among the Marathas, as every Maratha
captain with his own retainers fought and raided in a different
quarter and on his own account. 1t now became a people’s
war, and Aurangzib could not end it, because there was no
Maratha Government or State-army for him to attack and
destroy. The imperial forces could not be present every-
where in full strength; hence, they suffered reverses here
and there. The enemy forts which the Mughals had caplured
or bought during the first panic following Shambhuiji's down-
fall, now began to be recovered by the Marathas. The tide
firsl turned againsl Auwrangzib in May (690, when his general
Rusiam Khan was captured and his whole camp looled by
the Marathas.

Throughout 1600 and 1691 the DLmperor’s chief concern
still was to lake possession of the almost boundless expanse
of lertile terrvitory in the south and the east, which had legally
fallen to  him as the heir-at-law of Adil Shah and Qutb
Shah. At this stage, he evidently undetrrated the Maratha
danger, as he felt that the State of the Marathas had been
practically annihilated. Ile had vyet to fake a proper measure
of the Maratha people.

In the auntumn of 1691 the Mughal position before Jinji
became so dangerous that the Emperor had to  divert
large  forees to that quarter. In 1692 nothing was
achieved by the imperialists in the western thealre, while
in the east coast the vear ended with crushing disasters to
their arms,—the capture of two high Mughal generals, the
abandonment of the siege lines before Jinfi, and the arrest
of Prince Kam DBakhsh by his colleagues (Dec. 1692—]an.
1693). So, the first thing fo be done in 1693 was lo save
the situation by pouring reinforcements and supplies into the

’
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Eastern Karnatak. In the western thealre, Drince Muizz-ud-din,
who had laid siege to Panhala in Oclober 1699, toiled
unsuccessfully  throughout the next vear, and was finally
expelled by the Marathas in March 1694, In  addition
to this, there were the incessant raids of the Maratha
partisan leaders,—Santa Ghorparé, Dhana Jadav, Nima Sindhia,
Hanumant Rao and others,

Meanlime, over the broad and strategically important tract
from Bidar lo Bijapur and from Raichur to Malkhed, the
activities of the hardy aboriginal tribe of Berads led by their
enterprising chief Pidia Nayak, had become so serious that
a large army under a first-rate general had to be posted at
Sagar from June 1691 fo December 1692. Then the Berad
chieffain made bhis submission, but he renewed his hostility
three vyears later, when another large army had to be sent
against him (1696). During 1694 the war in Western Deccan
continued to be of the same indecisive and straggling character.
Only in the Madras Karnatak the reinforced Muchal general
made many conquests and levied contribution from Tanjore,
bul Jinji remained uncaptured.

At last, by April 1695 Aurangzib came to realize that he
had teally gained nothing by the conquest of the Adil-Shahi
and Qutb-Shahi capitals and the extinction of their roval
lines. He now perceived that the Maratha problem was no
longer what it had been in Shivaji's lime, or even in
Shambhuji's, They were no longer a fribe of banditti or local
rebels, but the one dominating factor of Deccan politics, the
only enemy left to the empire, and vet an enemy all-pervasive
from Bombay to Madras across the Indian Peninsula, elusive as
the wind, without any headman or stronghold whose capture
would naturally result in the extinction of their power. They
had now assumed the alarming character of being the ally
and rallying point of all the enemies of the empire and all
disturbers of public peace and regular adminisiration throughout



31 SHORT HISTORY OF AURANGZIB fcn, XV

[0

the Deccan and even in Malwa, the Central Provinces
and Bundelkhand.

For Aurangzib, then, there was no going back to Delhi; his
work in the Deccan was still unfinished ; indeed, it was only

just beginning.

§ 3. Tfe Emperor's stay at [slampurt, 1695-1699.

Therefore, in May [695 he sent his eldest surviving son
Shah Alam to govern the north-western portion of the empire
(the Panjab, Sindh, and afterwards Afghanistan} and to guard
the western gateway of India, while he himself seftled at
Islampuri for the next 4Ye vears, and thereafier made it the
base (bungaf) at the back of his campaigns. During the
Islampuri period (1695-1699), the Maratha danger came nearer
home and drove the Mughals into lhe defensive in the Marathi
and Kanarese districts of the present Bombay Presidency.
The movements of their roving bands were bewilderingly rapid
and unexpecled. The Mughals could not defend every place ;
their pursuing columns panled helplessly behind the “robbers”
and wore themselyes out in vain. Local represetilalives of the
Emperor werc driven (o make unauthorized terms with the
Marathas by promising them an annual blackmail of one-fourth
of the revenue (cAau/f). Worse than these, many imperialists
made a concerl with the enemy and enriched them-
selves by robbing the Emperor’s own subjects and innocent
traders, as these officers had been slarving at gelting no rent
from their devastated fiefs. The Mughal administration had
really dissolved, and only the presence of the Emperor with
all his troops in the country held it together, but it was now
a delusive phantom.

The chief incidents of this Islampuri period were Santa's
destruction of two great Mughal generals, Qasim Khan (Nov.
1695} and Himmat Khan (Jan. 1696), the murder of Santa in
a domestic feud (June 1697), the Mughal capture of Jinji (7
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Jan. 1698), and the consequenl return of Rajatam to
Maharashtra,

§ 4. Aurangzib’s last campaigns, 1699~1705.

This last event forced a change on Aurangzib's policy. Sate
in the undisputed possession of the east coast, he could now
concentrate all his resources in the western theatre of war.
Now, therefore, bedan the last stage of Aurangzib's career—
the sicges of successive Maratha forts by the Emperor in
person. The rest of his life (1699-1707) is a repefilion of the
same sickening iale : a hill-forl captured by him after a vast
expenditure of time men and money, the fort recovered by
the Marathas from the weak Mughal garrison after a few
months, and ils siege begun again by the Mughals a year oy
wo later | His soldiers and camp-followers suffered unspeak-
able hardships in marching over flooded rivers, muddy roads,
and broken hilly tracks ; porters disappeared ; transport beasts
died of hunger and overwork; scarcity of grain was ever
present in  his camp. His officers wearied of this labour of
Sisyphus ; but Aurangzib would burst into wrath at any
suggestion of return to Northern India and taunt the unlucky
counsellor with cowardice and love of ease. The mulual
jealousies of his generals ruined his affairs as completely as
the Trench cause in the Peninsular War was ruined by the
jealousies of Napoleon’s marshals. Therefore, the Emperor
must conduct every operation in person, or nothing would
be done, The siege of eight forts—Satara, Parli, Panhala,
Khelna, Kondana, Raigarh, Torna and Wagingera,—occupied
him for five years and a half (1699-1705).

The siege of Wagingera (8 Feb.—27 April 1705) was the
last campaign of the old campaigner of eighty-cight. At
Devapur, where he halted (May—Oct. 1705) after the capture
of this fort, a severe illness seized him. The whole camp
was thrown into despair and confusion. At lengih Aurangzib
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yielded to their entreaty and the warning ot approaching
death, and retreated to Ahmadnagar (20 January 1706), to
die there a year afterwards

85 Sorrow and misety of fiis last years.

The last few vears of his life were inexpressibly sad. On
ity public side there was the consciousness that his long
reien of half a century had been a colossal failure. The end-
less war in the Deccan exhausted his treasury ; the Govern-
ment turned  bankrupt ; the soldiers starving from arrvears
of pay (usually three years overdue) mutinied ; and during
the closing years ol his reign the revenue of Bengal, regularly
senl by the honest and able diwan Murshid Quli Khan, was
the sole support of the Emperor’s household and army, and
its  arrival was eagerly [ooked forward f{o. While in the
Deccan the Marathas remained supreme to the end, lawlessness
reigned in many places of Northern and Central India also.
The old Emperor in the far South losl control over his
officers in Hindustan, and lhe administration grew slack and
corrupt ; chiefs and zamindars defied the local authorities and
asserted themselves, filling the country with tumult, and the
greal anarchy in the empirc of Delhi began even before
Aurangzib had closed his cyes.

In the Deccan, the Maratha caplains, each acting on hig
own accouni, incessantly raided Mughal territory and did" the
greatest possible injury to the imperfalists by their guerilla
warfare. They seemed 1{o be ubiquitous and elusive like the
wind. The movable columns frequently sent out from lhe
imperial headquarters to “chasfise the robbers,” only marched
and counter-marched, without being able to crush lhe enemy.
When the Mughal forces had gone back, the scattered Marathas®
like water patted by the oat, closed again and resumed their
altack as before. There was an exultant and menacing
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Maratha army always hanging three or four miles behind the
Emperor’s camp wherever it marched or halted.

The wastage of the Deccan war, which raged intensely
for nearly 20 years, was one hundred thousand soldiers and
followers and thres times that number of horses, elephants,
camels and oxen on the Mughal side every vear. In the
imperfal camp pestilence was always present and the daily
mortality was heavy. The economic exhaustion of the Deccan
was complete; “the fields were left devoid of trees and bare
of crops, their places being taken by the bones of men and
beasts. The country was so entirely desolated and depopula-
ted that neither fire nor light could be found in the course
of a three or four days journey.” (Manucci).

§ 6. The leading Maratfic ministers and generals
at the accession of Rajaram.

In the terrible national ctisis when Shambhuii's sons were
captured and his successor Rajaram was driven into hopeless
flight by the Mughals, the genius of the Maratha people saved
them and secured their liberty. It is, therefore, necessary to
study the leaders of this almost kingless Stale dwring the
period, At this time (end of 1689), the leading persons in
the Maratha State were four: Nilkantha Moereshwar Pinglé
the Pesfwa, Ramchandra Nilkantha Bavdékar the Amalyaq,
Shankaraji Malhar the Sacfiy, and DPrahlad, the son of the
late Chief Justice Niraji Ravii. This Prahlad had been
Maratha ambassador at Golkonda. Three other men, who
had hitherto filled only subordinate posts, now forced their
way by their genius and enterprise to the frst rank of State
servants and popular leaders in this ctisis of Maratha history.
They were Dhana Singh Jjadav and Santaji Ghorparé (the
two rivals for the office of Senapat), and Parashuram
Trimbak, who finally rose to the post of Pratinidfii or Regent
in 1701, )
a1

s
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The able general Zulfigar IKhan invested the Maratha
capital of Raigarh in February 1689. DBut before its fall
(on 19th October) Rajaram, the newly enthroned successor
of the murdered Shambhuji, slipped out of the fort in the
disguise of a Hindu relicious beggar (vogi) on Sth April and
went to Panhala. Ramchandra advised him that it would be a
wise strategy to divide the enemy's forces by fransferring a
part of the Maratha activitics to the far off Eastern Karnatak,
while the Mughals were kept in play on the western
side of the peninsula by his other officers.

The plan of operations for the fulure was thus arranged :
Rajaram was to be escorted o Jinji to make a stand in his
eastern province. The supreme confrol of affairs n the
homeland was vested in  Ramchandra N. DBavdékar, the
Amaiya, who was diven the . new lille of Hafumat-panafi ov
Diclator, with his headquarters first in Vishalgarh and latterly
in Parli, assisted by Shankaraji Malhar (the Sacfiv) and
certain other officers. All officials and captains in the
homeland were to fake their orders from Ramchandra and
obey him like the king himself. Ramchandra had an inborm
genius for command and organization, Ile gathered round
himself the ablest lieutenanls, and managed to make the
mutually  jealous and contentious Maratha guerilla leaders
act in concert,

Arriving at Jinjl on [st November 1689, Rajaram look over
the goveynment from lhe unwilling hands of Harji Mahadik’s
widow and son, formed a full Court and began to teign like a
king, though in exireme poverty. The Peshwa Nilkantha M.
Pingle accompanied his master to Jinji, but there fell completely
into the second place ; the king’s leading counsellor and the
supreme authority in the administration was Prablad Niraji, on
whom the high title of Regent (Pratinidfil) was conferred and
who thus stood outside and above the cabinet of eight
ministers (Asfta-Pradban).
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§ 7. Aurangzib’s successes and policy during 1589.

When Rajaram fled from Mabarashtra, Aurangzib had
already won many of the Maratha forls and was rapidiy
winning others by money or force. In the extreme north,
Salhir (21 Peb. 1687) and Trimbak (8 Jan. 1689) had been
captured, and m the centre Singhgarh (Nov. 1684) and Rajgarh
(May 1689); Raigarh and Panhala were to fall before the year
was over, while in North Konkan his able agent Matabar Khan
gained many places. The inland parts of Central and Southern
Konkan remained in Maratha posse§sion, but the coast was
mostly subject to  Mughal sway, as the Marathas were forced
to lose the port of Chaul, evacuate the island-depot of Underi,
and transfer their naval headquarters further south to Gheria
ot Vifaydurg.

In the year 1689 many Maratha forts fell easily into
Aurangzib’s hands. His one alm now was to occupy the
rich and boundless dominions of the fallen Adil-Shahi and
Qutb-Shahi hkingdoms. Therefore, during (689, 1690 and
1691 Aurangzib was foo busy in the plains of the south
and the east to divert his resources to the barren hill-forts
of the west.

§ 8 Maratfa recovery : capture of Rustam Kfan,
Mayg 1690 ; siege of Panfala

But, in 1690, the Marathas began to show signs of recovery
from the effects of the disastrous fall of their late king. On
95th May 1690 they gained their f{irst signal victory., The
Mughal general Rustam Khan was roving in the neighbout-
hood of Satara with his family and troops, planning how
to capture that fort for the Emperor. The Maratha leaders,—
Ramchandra, Shankaraji, Santa, and Dhana,—fell upon him
in concert. Rustam himself, after receiving many wounds,
fell down from his elephant and was carried off info
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captivity. Fifteen hundred of the Mughals fell on the field.
The Maratha general in Satara forl now sallied out .and
carried off the family of Rustam Khan into the fort. In
addition, the Marathas made prize of 4,000 horses, eight
elephants and the entire camp and baggage of Rustam’s
army. After sixteen days, Rustam  Khan ransomed
himself by promising to pay one lakh of Rupees. Next .
Ramchandra and Shankaraji recovered the great forts of
Pratapgarh, Rohira, Rajgarh and Torna, in the course of the
same vear (1690), After the fall of Raigarh, the Maratha
garrison of Panhala lost heart and sold the fort to the
imperialists (about December). But the Mughal garrison held
# so negligently that the Marathas under Parashuram
afterwards easily recovered it by surprise (about the middle
of 1692).

Prince Muizz-ud-din laid siege to Panhala in October
1602 and sat down Dbefore it {ill 1694 without success. In
Oct. 1693, Dhana Jadav arrived there and effectively spoiled
the work done by Muizz-ud~-din in a year outside Panhala,
reprovisioned the fort, and destroved the siege-works. There-
after the siege was praclically abandoned ; the prince carried
on his operations languidly, merely to deceive the Emperor.

In March 1694 the prince, availing himself of the Emperot's
permission, began to march away from Panhala, while Lutfullah
Khan and many other officers, who had positive orders to
stay below the forf, joined him in the. retreat. Then Bidar
Bakhi (the eldest son of Prince Md. Azam) was given this
task and set out from the Court at Galgala on 5th April

A desultory siege was continued by him till the end of
January 1696, when the disasters to Qasin Khan and Himmat
Khan further south induced the Emperotr to send the prince
to Basavapatan, and fo entrust the siege of Panbala to Firus
lang, who, too, could effect nothing. In fact, the capture of
Panhala was quite beyond the power of any divisional army.
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After the disaster to Rustam Khan (May 1690), the Emperor
found i necessary to occupy the North Satara district in force.
Lutfullah Khan was detached from Court as thanadar of
Khatau (25 m. e. of Satara). On 6th July, fowards the
end of one night, Santa Ghorpare at the head of ten thousand
horse and numberless infantry surprised him ; the camp was
saved from plunder by fiting from a distance, But the Marathas
were only baffled and not crushed. They rallied their forces
and reappeared in the East Satara region in superior force.
Lutfullah was attacked, but beat the enemy back, though
with loss.

There was nothing further to note tll the end of 1620,
when some Maratha auxiliaries of the Mughals,—namely Nima
Sindhia, Mankoji Pandhré and Nagoji Mané—went over fo
Rajaram at Jinji with their contingents.

The vear 1692 witnessed a renewal of Maratha aclivily and
their conspicuous success in many quarters, one of these being
their recovery of Panhala from Mughal hands. Santaji Ghot-
pare’s base was the Mahadev hill to the norih-east of Satara,
and from this refuge he uwsed to make rapid raids far fo the
east, over the rolling plains of Bijapur. At the same time the
Marathas were disturbing the Belgaon and Dharwar districts of
the Western Kanara. On 8th October, Dhana and Sania
with 7,000 men were reported to have seized some forts near
Belgaon and invested the latter town itself, and to be feeding
{heir horses on the growing crops. The Emperor stiffened the
defence of Kanara, by sending Hamid-ud-din Khan o Belgaon
and Matlab Khan to Dharwar, while Qasim Khan the faujdar of
Bijapuri Karnatak or north-west Mysore, was reinforced and
ordeted to guard Bankapur and other places near if. In Decem-
ber both Santa and Dhana went to Madras with large
armies to relieve Jinji, and therefore Maharashira was for a
time denuded of the best national leaders and troops, and the
Mughals in the western theatre enjoyed peace for a time,
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5 9. Struggle wili  Santaji Ghotpare and Dfiana  Jadav,
1693-~94.

Late in 1693 Maratha aclivities revived: in the wesl, Amrit
Rao Nimbalkar crossed the Bhima fo raid Mughal ferritory.
Himmat Khan set out in pursuit of him, but could nol calch the
elusive Maratha horsemen. At the same time Dhana, Shankaraji
and other leaders were altacking the Mughal force before Pan-
hala. Santa Ghorpare had come back from Jinji, and in QOclober
1693 he tesumed his raids in the homeland. I[limmat Khan
went out in pursuit and dained a signal viclory over Santa and
his Berad allies (aboul 14l Nov.) at the village of Vikramhalli.
Then the Mughal generals quartelled ; Hamid-ud-din and Khwaja
Khan gave up the pursuil and returned towards Kulbarga, leav-
ing Himmat alone to follow the cnemy. Santa now safely
divided his force, detaching 4,000 troopers under Amrit Rao to
raid Berar, while he himself marched with 6,000 horscmen to-
wards Malkhed, collecting cfauff. Desullory fighling  with
many fruitless marches followed for many months and the
Mughals could achicve nothing substantial.

Throughout 1694 and 1695, though the Maratha bands were
acltive and the Berads troublesome all over the Western Deccan,
nothing decisive or noteworthy was done on either side il
the end of 1695, when Sanla defeated and hilled two first-rate
Mughal generals, Qasim Khan and Himmat Khan.

Such was the chequered history of the confest with the
Marathas in Western India fill near the end of the year 1695,
It was no longer a simple military problem, but had become a
trial of endurance and resources between the Mughal empire
and the indigenous people ol the Deccan.

§ 10. TAe Eastern Karnatak, its divisions and Bistory.

The Eastern or Madras Karnatak, which must be distinguished
from the Western Karnatak or the Kanarese-speaking division
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of the Bombay Presidency ( called Kanara in this book ),——ex-
tends from near the 15th degree of north latitude to the Kaveri
river in the south. In the late 17th century it was divided in-
fo two halves by the Dalar river, or an imaginary line from
Veliore to Sadras. These two parts were called Haidarabadi
Karnatak and Bijapuri Karnatak respectively, and each of them
was further sub-divided info uplands ( balagfat, in Persian )
and plains (payingfat). The upland of Haidarabadi Karnatak
included Sidhoul, Gandikota, Guti, Garamkonda and Kadapa;
Bijapuri Balaghat included the Sera and Bangalore districts
of Mysore and their dependent zamindaris. In the lowlands,
Haidarabadi Karnalak embraced the sea-coast from Gantur to
Sadras ; Bijapuri Dayinghat extended south from Sadras (12750
degree of north latitude) to Tanjore. But the conquests had
not been consofidated ; much of the couniry was still in the
hands of unsubdued poligars or pelty local chieftains, and
Adil Shah only held certain forts and their environs ; but
even in these his authorily was exercised by his nobles, who
were independent in all but the name. This situation was
further complicated by Shivaii's invasion and condquest of the
countty (1677-78), as the vresult of which a new Maratha
Government  was created in the South Arcot district (capital,
finf). Shivaji had placed Raghunath Narayan Hanumanté as
viceroy over this new conquest. Shambhuji, soon after his
accession, dismissed and imprisoned Raghunath (early in
January 1681), and sent his own sister’s husband Hatji Mahadik
to govern Jinji. But the Maratha king's absorption in vice,
and the increasing Mughal pressure on Maharashira ander
the personal direction of Aurangzib, tended fo exiinguish
Shambhuis authority in the far off province of Jinfi and to
make the local viceroy his own master. Harji assumed the
fitle of Maharajah, and neglected to send the surplus revenue
to his sovereign at Raigarh,

In.October 1686 Shambhuji sent Kesho Trimbak Pingle
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with 12,000 horse, outwardly to sirengthen his garrisons in
the Karnatak, but with secret instructions to seize and depose
the refraclory Harjfi Rajah and assume the government of Jinji
in the kings name. Kesho Trimbak arrived near Jinji
on [(1th February 1687. But his hopes were doomed
to disappointment, Harji had effectually secured Jinji fort
in his own hands and made the local army absolutely
devoted to himself. Kesho, finding the game lost, marched
info Mpysore at the head of 18,000 horse. But here he could
effect nothing, and soon returned to the neighbourhood of
Jinii.

§ 11. Mughal penctration into tfie Lastern
Karnatak, 1687.

After the conquest of Golkonda Aurangszib wisely refained
the former Qutb-Shahi officers at their respective posts for
some time. Muhammad Ibrahim ({(created by him Mahabat
Khan), the highest Golkonda noble to desert to him, was
appointed subahdar of Haidarabad, and the Khan's confidant
Muhammad Ali Beg (now entitled Ali Askar Khan) was
nominated faujdar of the Qutb-Shahi Karnatak,
with subordinate giladars and  magistrates at Chinglepat,
Conjeveram and  Punamali. These officers  submissively
proclaimed Aurangzib as their sovereign, (October 1687)."
Bul the DEmperor changed his mind soon afterwards;
Mahabat Khan was replaced by Ruhullah Khan in  the
stbahdari of MHaidarabad : Qasim Khan supplanted Ali Askar
and was directed to march to the Karnatak and conduct a
vigorous war adainst the Maratha forces there (January, 1688).

Harfi sent out a detachment of  his army to plunder
and conquer on his own account the late territory of

* “The governor of Punamali said that as the world lurned round like o
wheel, he had beaten his drums, .and fired his -guns, for the viclory which the
mighty Alamgit had gained over his old master.” (Oyme’s frag, 157.)
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Golkonda north  of the Palar river, which had recently
submitted to Mughal ownership  without having as vye:
received adequate Mughal garrisons. Marching with 2,000
horse, 5,000 foot, and great numbers of pioneers and scaling
ladders, he took easy possession of several forts
and a hundred towns in this region. On 2dth December
Arcot was captured by assault. The Marathas spread over
the country plundering and tortwring without regard for sex
or creed. Several great PBrahmans of Conjeveram with their
wives and children took refuge in Madras (27th. Dec
1687—10th Jan. 1688), to save their persons and property
from Maratha oufrage. On 1ith Jan. the Marathas burst into
Conjeveram plundering the city, kiling about 300 men,
destroying the houses, and putting the terror-stricken inhabitants
to flight. Kesho Trimbak took to the same profitable business
with his own contingent : after capturing Chitpat and Kaveripak,
he established his camp at Conjeveram, (January 1688).

Dut the Maratha occupation was shortlived. Aurangzib
had ordered four high generals of the late Golkonda
Government—{smail Khan Maka, Yachapa Nayak, Rustam
Khan, and Muhammad Sadig—to haslen to the Karnatak
plains and succour the Emperor's parlisans there. These
officers arrived at Conjeveram on 95th February [688. The
Marathas evacuated that town; the Mughal vanguard pursued
and fought them, sefzed Wandiwash and made it their camp,
while the Marathas encamped at Chitpai, a day’s march
southwards. The main armies on the two sides remained
in this position for a vear, metely walching each other,
but they daily sent out detachments and foraging parties
who plundered the country indiscriminately. The hapless
people, who had not yet recovered from the effects of the
desolating famine of 1686, had now fo endure two sels of
robbers instead of one. The trade of the district was ruined,
induslty ceased, grain and oil seeds became very scarce,
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and multitudes flocked to the fortified European settlements on
fhe coast as their only refuge.

The vear 1689 continued to be as bad {or the Karnatak
as the year before. The roads were unsafe ; Mughal and
Maratha armies daily plundered the couniry. Country-made
cotton and other goods could not be brought to the English
factory at Kunimedu for export, by reason of the constant
warfare and robbery in the resion. Harfi died about 19th
Sept. llis wife Ambika Bai (Shivaji’s daughter) continued to
govern the fort and province on behalf of her minot sons.

§ 12, Rajaram at Jinji.

But the arrival of Rajaram at Jinjfi (I Nov. [689) was
followed by a peaceful revolution. Harji's widow and her
Brahman advisers were reluctant to part with the usurped
authority and local independence they had enjoyed for over
eight vears. [Memoirs of F. Matlinl. But Rajaram’s right
could not be disputed : the government of Jinji passed into
his hands. Hayji's son was placed under confinement, and
money was squeezed out of the lale viceroy's widow by
calling upon her to render accounls for her husband’s long
years of administration of the province, She had to  make
her peace by paying three lakhs of Aun, and Santaji Bhonsle
one lakh. PFor Prahlad Niraji, the king's supreme agent, a
new posi, that of Prafinidhi or Regent, was created, while
Nilo Moreshwar Pinglé continued to hold the title of Pespiva
or nominal prime minister, The Regent, Prahlad Nirvaji, “threw
Rajaram into a life of debauchery” and kept “the young king
constantly intoxicated by the habitual use of ganja and opium.”
Then “seizing the reality of power, he caused the Brahmans
who had entiched themselves under Hartji to disgorge their
money and goods by the stroke of confiscation.”

But this squeezing of its former officials could not fill the
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gaping void of the Maratha Government's tinancial distress,
The ministers af Jinji looked round to raise money from the
European seftlements on the Fast Coast; the richer merchants
were  urged to lend 3,000 or even 1,000 fun each. After
Rajaram’s coming, the French and Dutch agents continued
fo inlrigue against each other among the Maratha ministers,—
the Duich offering a large bribe for a proclamation expelling
the newly founded French factory at Pondicherry. The Jinji
ministers  encouraged the game, “thinking only how to get the
maximum amount of money out of the one or the other.
In January 1690, the Mughal cause suffered a temporary eclipse
from the rebellion of the old Haidarabadi local officers lately
faken over into the Emperot's service, wiz, Muhammad Sadig,
Vachapa Nayak and Ismail Maka, Finding themselves likely to
be replaced by former servants of the Emperor and doomed
to unemployment or humbler offices, they deserted theli new
master, made an allilance with Rajaram, and began to usurp
the counlry and collect the revenue, The imperial represen-
fatives, from Madras 1o Kunimedu, were hopelessly outhum-
bered and defeated and forced to flee to the European
seillements on the coast (April). The rebellion was extmguished
only at the approach of Zulfigar Khan as the supreme Mughat
commander, who reached Conjeveram in August and the
environs of Jinji at the beginning of September.

The military situation was now reversed ; the Maratha
raiding bands were driven back by the Mughals and “invasion
threatened the dominions of Rajaram.” In conslernation, that
king left Jinjil and went to some safer refuge further south in
the Karnalak, nearer his ally the Rajah of Tanjore. The
miscrable counlry from Jinji to the sea-coast confinued to be
pillaged by- the camp-followers and “cowders” of both sides.
The local people fled with their families for safety far to the
south in  Tanjore territory, or to the European factories on
fhe coast,
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§ 13. Siege of Jinji begins.

The rock-fortress of Jinji consists not of one fort, but of
three fortified hillocks, Rajgiri, Krishnagiri, and Chandrayan-
durg,—connected together by strong lines of circumvallation,
and forming a rough triangle neatly three miles in circum-
ference. “These hills are steep, rocky and covered with such
enormous boulders that they are almost unclimbable. [ach
of the three is fortified on all sides with line above line of
stone  walls, flanked with bastions, filled with embrasures for
guns, loopholed for musketry and pierced only by natrow
and strong gateways; and from each to the next, connected
with these delences, runs a great stone-faced rampart nearly
60 feet thick with a ditch over 80 fect wide ouwlside it On
the three hills are the citadels.

The gates are three : one in the northern wall, now called
the Vellore or «Arcot gate, but known in the 17lh century as
the ‘gale towards Trinomali’; a second in lhe eastern face,
now called the Pondicherry gate, which was (he principal
enfrance into the fort in the {7th cenlury ; and due west of
this second gate, stands a small postern gate (in the wall
connecting  Chandrayan  with Rajgird), called by the Indians
Shaitan-dari (or Port du Diable in French).

Zulfiqar Khan had reached linji early in September 1690,
but he merely sat down before it. The investment of such
a vast group of forts with the f{orces under him was out of
the question, and he had no heavy gquns nor enough
munitions for a bombardment Ilc could nhot prevent the
viclualling of the place, as a complete blockade was beyond
his power; and “the Marathas recavering from their first
consternation  began to harass him incessantly.” In the
February following, Rajaram returned to Jinji.

The military superiority of the Mughals was rapidly lost
after  April, while the activity of the Maratha bands roving
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around stopped the supply of grain to Zulfiqar's camp. te
therefore begged urgenily for reinforcements. This general’s
father Asad Khan, the waszir, and Prince Kam Bakhsh, from
Wagingera, were sent with a large force and reached linji on
16th December, 1691,

In the meantime, Zulfiqar had abandoned his futile attacks
on Jinji and turned to the more profitable work of levying
contributions  from the zamindars of South Karnatak, Tanjore
and Trichinopoly. Thus the vyear 1691 passed without any
decisive success for the imperialists.

The next year was equally barren of results for them, in
spite  of ihe great accession to their armed strength brought
by the prince and the waszir. Isinail Khan Maka was induced
to re-enfer the Emperor's service and joined Zulfigar’s camp
with his confingent. With these additions fo his forces,
Zulfigar renewed the siege of Jinji in 1692, After some
changes he selected Chandravan-durg as his objeclive and
ran trenches towards it. Then he began a bombardment of
this hill as well as of the Pondicherry gate. But all his
exertions were a mere show, as the country around knew
well.

The condition of the Mughal camp in the rainy season
of 1692 §s thus described by an eye-witness : “The rain fell
with excessive severity. Grain was dear. The soldiers, having
to spend days and nights together in the trenches, suffered
great hardship ; the entire tract looked like one lake.”

§ 14. Santa Ghorparve and Dhiana Jadav capture Ali
Mardan and Ismail Khan, 1892,

The Mugha! position became absolutely untenable in
winter. Farly in December, a vast Maratha force of more
than 30,000 horse, raised in Western India by Ramchandra
tthe chief agent of Rajaram) arrived in the Eastern Katnatak
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under the celebrated generals Dhana Singh Jaday and Santa
Ghorpare.

The deluge of the newly artived Maratha cavalry  first
burst on  the Conjeveram district. The terror inspired by
these brigands caused a panic flight of the inhabitants far and
near into Madras for refuge. When the division under Santa
arrived near Kaveripak, Ali Mardan Khan, the Mughal faujdar
of Conjeveram, went out to  encounter if, without knowing its
vast numbers. But his small force was hemmed round and
he was captured with 1,500 horses and six elephants. All the
property and malerials of his army were looted (13th Dec.).
The Khan was taken to Jinji and secured his release by paying
the huge ransom of one lakh of Aun.

The other division of the Maratha reinforcements, led by
Dhana Jadav, aftacked the sicge-camps round Jinji. Zulfigar
saw himself hopelessly ouinumbered, and wisely ordered his
outposts to fall in on his main army. But Ismail Khan, posted
west of the fort, had a longer distance to cross : the Marathas
helped by their brethren in the fort infercepted him. The Khan
offered a brave opposition to tenfold odds, but was wounded
and captured with 500 horses and iwo eclephants, and ecarried
off as prisoner to Jinji. The victorfous Marathas immediately
proclaimed theilr authority over the Haldarabadi Karnatah.

§ 15. Prince Kam Baffisf inlrigues
witf Maralfias ; is acrested,

The revival of Maratha activily and precdominance in the
surrounding  country pul a stop to the free and plentiful
supply of grain in the Mughal camp. Il also stopped the
coming of lellers from the Emperot’s Court. The Mughal
army outside Jinji was now Dbesieged in ils turn, and ifs
condition  became  exiremely dangerous by reason of
internal disputes. Prince Kam Bakhsh wasa foolish young
man, the spoilt child of his father’s old age, untaught to
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bridle his passions, and ever swayed by his caprices and the
counsels of young and \orthless favourites, He conirived
{o offend his guardian, the aged and influential wasir Asad
Khan. Through the medium of “some reckless and mad men”
he opened a secret correspondence with Rajaram. The
Marathas flattered the prince’s humouwr and mischievously
instigated him in new evil projects. Zulfigar Khan soon learnt
the prince’s secret. and sccured the Emperor's permission to
keep him  under careful surveillance. As the result of the
arrival of Santa and Dhana in December 1699, for some
weeks  communication  with  the Emperor's Court and  the
Mughal base ceased altogether. Alarming rumours arose
immediately. [t was said that Aurangzib was dead and that
Shah Alam had succeeded to the throne. Kam Bakhsh
considered himself in a most perilous position. Asad and
Zulfigar were his enemies ; they would naturally fry to  win
the favour of the new Emperor by sending Kam Bakhsh in
chains to him. His only hope of safety, so his servants
assured him, lay in his making lerms with Rajaram, escaping
to the tort with his family on a dark night, and then trying
with Maratha aid to win the thtone of Delhi

This project also was rteported to Asad Khan by his
spies. The wazir and his son consulted ’rhei leading officers
of the imperial army ; they urged with one voice that the
prince should be shiclly guarded, the trenches abandoned, and
the entire army concentrated in the rear lines,

The withdrawal from the siege lines was effected only after
severe fighting, Zulfigar burst his big guns by firing  excessive
charges of powder and abandoned them where they stood.
The base-camp was four miles in his rear; the garrison
made a sortie, joihed their brefhren outside under Dhana
Jadav, and hemmed the Mughal army on all sides. The
imperialists Jost 400 froopers, 400 horses and 8 elephants,
and at lhe close of the day they reached Asad Khan's camp,
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Here the prince had plotted with his silly courtiers to arrest
these two generals at their next visit to him and then grasp
the supreme power. Bul this plof, like all others, had leaked
out. Zulfiqar Khan, worn out with his day-long fighting and
anxieties, reached his father’s side at night, learnt of the new
plot, and then the two leaders quickly decided that the safety
of the enfire army and the preservation of the Emperor's
prestige  alike demanded that the prince should be deprived
of the power of creating mischief, They immediately rode to
Kam Bakhsh’'s quarfers for arresting him.

The wazir was in a towering rage., He severely rebuked
the prince, calling him a dancing-gitl’s son, unworthy to rule
over men or fto command in war. Then he continued,
“What is this that you have done? You have disgraced
vourself, and covered my grey hairs with disgrace.” The
prisoner  was taken to Asad Khan's own fent and ireated
with every courtesy. Thus the Mughal army was saved by
establishing unity of conirol.

Santaji Ghorpare, flushed with His signal victory over
Ali Mardan Khan and the unresisted plunder of the Conjeveram
district, now arrived at Jinji and lurned his great talents and
energy against Zulfigar. Fighling took place daily ; “I'he
enemy exceeded 20,000 men, while the imperialists were a
small force and many of them were engaged in guarding the
prince and the camp. Kam Bakhsh’s contingent was unfriendly
and never lefl their tents to co-operate in the defence. The
whole brunt of the fighting fell on Zulfiqar Khan and a few
other mansabdars with only 2,000 horsemen.”

oo

16. Famine in Zulfigar’s army, Ris refreal from
Jinji to Wandiwash,
But the Mughal army was now in a slate of siese and
famine was its worst enemy. In a few days scarcity deepened
into an absolute want of food. “Zulfigar then marched out
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with his own division to bring in grain from Wandiwash, 24
miles north-east of Jinji, When he set out on his return
(5 Jan. 1693), Santa with 20,000 men batrred his path ai
Desur, 10 miles southwards, and then enveloped his army.
The Mughals, after a hard fight, reached the shelter of the
forl of Desur at night. When they resumed their march
next morning, the Marathas brought a large force info the
field and made a most determined aftack. But Dalpat, fighting
with desperate bravery, forced the Marathas to withdraw. The
Bundelas thus saved Zulfigar's division and thereby saved
also the camp before Jinji

But the food brought by Zulfigar at such a heavy cost was
all too little for that huge multitude of soldiers and camp-
followers. The condifion of the starving imperialists became
vworse, “Every day from dawn to sunset the Marathas assem-
bled round our camp and made demonstrations. All the army,
high and low alike, were distracted and depressed.”

Asad Khan now made secret overtures of peace to
Rajaram, offering a heavy bribe if he was allowed to retreat
to Wandiwash unmolested. Rajaram agreed. On the other
side, Dalpat Rao urged Zulfigar not to withdraw, as it would
only bring disgrace on him in the end. But while Zulfiqgar
was hesitating, his hands were forced by his arfillerymen who
loaded their effects, left the camp and sent word to their
general that, as they were dying of hunger there, they were
going away to Wandiwash. Zulfigar had no help but to
start with the prince at noon. Owing fo long continued
starvation, most of the horses, camels and other transport
animals of the army had perished. Most men set fire to
their belongings. Many stores ol the Emperor and nobles
were left behind there. When the Mughal army marched out
of the camp, about a thousand Maratha horse came after them
like a rear-guard, and *plundered the men of the army of
their property. The imperialists reached Wandiwash in three

22
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days, on 22nd or 23rd January 1693. Ten days later,
Qasim Khan, the newly appointed faujdar of Conjeveram
(vice Ali Mardan Khan), was reported to be coming from
Kadapa with abundanl supplies and a strong force. Santa
Ghorpare tried to intercept him ; he attacked Qasim and
pressed him so hard that he had to shal himself up in the
great temple enclosure of Conjeveram. Next day Zulfigar
arrived fo his aid, drove away the Marathas and escorted
Qasim Khan 1o Wandiwash (7th February). lPood again
became abundant in the Mughal camp, and the troops were
further reassured by geiting the latest news and letters from
the imperial Court felling them that the Emperor was alive
and well. Zulfigar made his camp at Wandiwash for four
months (February—May, 1693), abandoning the attack on
Jinfi for the present. He had to wait for the Emperor's orders
about Kam Bakhsh. Escorted by Asad Khan, that prince
arrived at the imperial camp at Galgala on 11 June, and
was presented to his father in the haremn through the
intercession of his sister Zinat-un-nisa.

§ 17. Operations in Karnatak duving 1605-94.

The Eastern Karnatak from the latitude of Madras to that
of Porto Novo, was at this lime occupied by three sets of
authorities, often in conflict with onc another,~-namely, the
representatives of the old Hindu local chieftains and Vijaynagar
viceroys, whom ihe conquering armies of the Bijapur and
Golkonda Sultans had  imperfectly subdued ; the officers of
the lately subverted Bijapur and Golkonda Governments, who
were loath to recognize thelr new Mughal master ; and the
Maratha infruders rtepresenting the houses of Shivaji and
Vyankaji. To the first of these classes belonged Yachapa
Nayak, whose anceslors had obtained the fort of Satgarh
(26 miles west of Vellore) from the ministers of Rajah Prafap
Rudra of Warangal, and who once commanded the local
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levies (sefbandi) of Golkonda. When Rajaram reached Jinji,
Yachapa joined him. In March 1693 he left Rajaram, reco-
vered Satgarh, and began to extend his territory eastwards.
At the close of the year Zulfigar Khan won him over, by
securing for him a mansab of 6-hazari.

Ismail Khan Maka, an ex-general of Golkonda and a local
=amindar, joined the Mughals whole-heartedly. Santaji Ghor-
pare besieged Trichinopoly in March ; Rajaram himself arrived
there soon afterwards, and then went to visit his first cousin
and friend Shahji 1l at Tanjore (May 1693). But a quarrel
now broke out in the Maratha ranks; Santaji’s temper was
found intolerable and he left for Maharashtra in anger,
Dhanaji being appointed Senapati in his place.

Zulfigar set out in February 1694 to conquer the South
Arcot district. The fort of Peru-mukkal, 18 miles north of
Pondicherry, was stormed for him by Dalpat Rac’s Bundelas.
Then he marched down the East Coast, towards Tanjore, by
way of Pondicherry and other European factories, capturing
many forts in the South Arcot district, and skirting Cuddalore
at the end of Pebruary. When (in March 1694) the Mughal
gencral with his army arrived near Tanjore, Maharajah Shahji
I found resistance vain, especially as his ever-hostile
neighbour, the Nayak of Trichinopoly, joined the Mughals.
So, Shahji had to yield; on 22nd May he signed a letter of
submission, promising to obey the Emperor's orders like a
faithful vassal in fatute, to cease from assisting Rajaram in
any way, to pay the Mughal Government a fribute of 30
lakhs of Rupees annually, and to cede the forts of Palamkota,
Sittanur and Tunganur with their dependent districis as  well
as several other places.

But Rajaram, who had moritgaged Palamkota o Vyankaji,
ceized that fort for himself, so that Zulfigar had fo lay siege
to it.  After six days the garrison capitulated. Then the
Mughal army returned to its Dbase at Wandiwash and made
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inother atlack on Jinji in  September. In this month Zulfigar
uddenly arrested Yachapa at a darbar and had him beheaded
»n the charge of treason.”

S 18. Zulfigar's movemenis and difficulties, 1695.

Zulfigar Khan renewed the siege of Jinji towards lhe close
i the year 1694, but it was a mere show intended to deceive
1e Emperor. The fact of his treasonable collusion with the
larathas was notorious in the country. lle had, during the
ourse and particularly at the end, of the siege of Jinji, an
nderstanding with Rajaram, in expectation of the death of the
ery old Aurangzib and the civil wars thal would surely
sllow among his sons. “lt is the practice of generals to
rolong operations for their own profit and easc.”

Nothing was achieved by the Mughals during 1695, while
e scarcity of grain which raged there for the entire year
wensified their sufferings. Siege was laid to Vellore in
detober, but it held oul for many years, (falling on 14 Aug.
702).

§ 19. Operations of Zulfiqar during 1696.

Dhana Jadav arrived near Vellore at the end of December.
ulfigar immediately raised the sicge, sent ofl his camp
aggage and family to Arcotl, and prepared for action. In
larch 1696, Santa Ghorpare too arrived on the scene, The
laratha bands spread fo several parls of lhe country, the
wperialists  with their depleled numbers could not defend so
any places. Zulfigar wisely concentrated his forees ; but

+ Manucei (iil. 274—23) gives horrible details of the suicide of his wives and children
d also asserts that Zulligar folsely aceused Yachapa of treason and killed him,
cause the Nayak had written a letler lo the Emperor exposing Zulfigar's treasonable
lluslon with the Marathas and deliberate prolongation of the siege of Jinji, and
ering to caplure the forl in eight days by his own {roops alone, but ihe telter had
en mtercepted by Asad Khan.
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throughout this year 1696 he was hampered by his exireme
want of money. He therefore confined himself solely to the
defensive in  the fort of Arcol, as his strength was still weal.
The Marathas, as wusual, hovered round him, there being a
secrel  understanding  between  the two sides 1o spare
each olher. In November and December Santa  entered
Central Mysore, and Zulfigar, under orders of the Emperor,
pursued him there and co-operated with Drince Bidar Bakht,
who had reached that province from the north-west for
expelling the Marathas {rom bevond the Tungabhadra. These
two Mughal forces united near Penu-konda (75 miles norih
of Bangalore). The elusive Marathas disappeared without
offering balfle, and Zulfigar returned to Arcot in February
1697,

§ 90. Siege of Jinji renewed ; fall of the fort.

He again left Arcot to collect tribute from Tanjore and
other places in the south. Then he returned to Wandiwash to
canton for the rainy scason of 1697. [lappily for him, the
Marathas were now  very much weakened by a  bilter and
final rupture between Dhana and Sanlaji, Rajaram had sided
with Dhana, an inlernecine war raged among the Maratlias,
and finally Dhana bhad been defeated by his rival and
driven back fo Maharashtra (May 1696). Early in November
1697 Zulfigar venewed the siepe of Jinji in right earnest.

He himself took post opposite the notthern gate, Ram
Singh Hada against the Shaitandari, and Daud Khan Pani
before Chikkali-durg, half a mile souwth of Jinjl. Daud Khan
caplared Chikkali-lurg in one day by a rechless assault at
close quarters, and then, coming to Jinji itself, enitenched
opposite  Chandrayangarh, the southern fort. If Zulfigar
had wished it, he could have taken the entire fort the next
day, DBut his secret policy was fo  prolong the siege in order
to keep his army together, enjoy his emoluments, and escape
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the hardships of active duly on some new expedition.
He let the Marathas know that his attacks ,were for show only,
and thus the siege dragged on for two months more.

At last it became necessary for  Zulfigar to  capture the
fort if he wished to avoid diserace and punishinent by his
master. Rajaram received ftimely warning, and escaped to
Vellore with his chiel officers, but leaving his family behind.
Then Zulfiqgar gave the order {or the assaull. Dalpat Rao
scaled the northern walls of Krishna-giri and captured lhe
outer fort after a severe struggle, The garrison relreated to
an inner fort called Kalafot, which Dalpat's Bundelas entered
pell-mell  with  them and occupied. The surviving Marathas
took refuge in Rajgiri or the highest fort. Meantime Daud
Khan had made his way into Chandrayan-garh and advanced
through the city or the low inner plain of Jinji iowards
Krishna-giri. The inhabitants fled to the lop of Krishna-giri,
but finding no safety there, capitulated. A vast amount of
booty in horses, camels and things fell info the hands of the
impetialists (8th January, 1698). Rajaram’s family was now
invested in Rajgiri, but their situation was hopeless. Ram
Singh Hada made his way to the summil of Rajgiri by
crossing the chasm at its fool by means of a wooden
gangway, The Maratha roval family was promised safety ;
four wives, three sons and two daughlers of Rajaram now
came out of the citadel and were kept v honourable
caplivity. Another wife of the Rajah avoided surrender
by death ; she flung herself down from the summit of the
fort info the sheer depths below. Nearly 4,000 men, women
and children were found in the forl, bul very few combatanis.

* Wilkes (i. 133),~To preserve appéarances il was necessaty  to repott (to the
Empciot) frequent attacks and repulses. On the other side, Daud Khan, second
in command of the Mughal army, dreank largely of the best Luropean liguors, and
when full of the god would perpefually volunteer the oxtirpation of the infidels,
Zulfigar necessarily assented to these cnterprises, bul always gave secret infelligence
to the enemy of the time and place of atlack; and the troops of Daud Khan were
as offen 1epulsed with slanghtey.”
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From linfi Zulfigar (now honoured with the title of Nusrat
Jang) returned to his base at Wandiwash, and then pursucd
Rajaram from Vellore to  Garambkonda. But the Maratha king
had a dood start of him and escaped to Vishalgarh in safcty
(Feb). Thus the cntire work of the Emperor's long sicge
of Jinji was undone. The bird had flown away.

o~

§ 21. Qasim Kfian defeated by Santa Gforpare, dies
al Dodderi, 1695.

The Maratha captains infested various parts of Mughal
Deccan in the usual manner throughout Qctober and November
1695. Farly in November, Santa, who had been looting the
Bijapur district, wvainly pursued by an imperial detachment
under Himmat Khan south of the Krishna, now turned south-
wards to convey his rich slore of plunder fo  his own eslate
in N. W. Mysore,

Aurangzib, then encamped af Islampuri, ordered Qasim
Khan to intercept the raiders. To reinforce Qasim Khan, he
senl a  detachment from his own camp under some of his
highest younger officers, including Khanazad Khan (afterwards
Lovd High Sleward), Though 4,800 {roopers in  actual muster,
it was a very choicc corps, being composed of men
from (he ECmperot's guards and personal tefinue and the
contingents of the nobles who had to patrol round his tent on
different days of the week, They joined Qasim Khan about
12 miles from the Marathas' expected {rack. Santa, who had
been roving at a dislance, heard of his enemy’s position and
movements, came up with them by swift marches, and skilfully
matured a plan  for their destruction, which the luxury and
{houghtlessness  of the Mughal generals crowned with the mosl
complete success imaginable, Qasim Khan rose to  the height
of hospitality and ostentation in order 1o receive worthily the
noble guests coming to him from Court, and discarded the simple
andd light Rit of a yeneral who would wade war with the
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Marathas wisely. Santa Ghorpare showed the highest tactical
power in making his disposilions and moving his three distinct
and scaltered divisions so as lo ensure the perfect timing ot
their movements and exact co-operation among them. He
divided his army inlo three Dbodics, of which one was sent
to plunder the Mughal camp, another to fighl lhe soldiers,
and the third was held in reserve ready for action wherever
required. Barmappa Nayak, the zamindar of the Chiltaldury
district, now sicded with the Marathas in lhe hope of a share
of the spoils, and thus the Mughals were ringed round by
enemies and cut off from all information.

An hour and a half after sunrise, (about 20th November)
the first Maratha division fell upon Qasim Khan's advanced lents
{six miles to the front), stew and wounded the guards and servants,
catried off everything they could, andset fite o lhe heavy tents.
On the news of it reaching Qasim Khan, he husried towards
the poinl of attack. Before he had gone two miles, the second
body of the enemy appeared in (ront and the baitle began.
The enemy’s numbers were overwhelming, and (hey had a
very large body of Kala-piada mushketecrs,—the best marksmen
and bravest infantty of the Deccan,—~in addilion to their
numberless mobile light cavalty. A great baltle was fought
and many were slain on both sides. Then the reserve division
of Santa lell upon the camp and baggage left behind by the
Mughals and looted everylhing. This news reached Qasim and
Khanazad [n lhe heat of the battle and shook their firmness.
They took counsel logether and fell back on Dodderi” The
fort of Dodderi was small and the food-store in it limited. So
its imperial garrison shut its gales upon their newly arrived
comrades, The two Kbhans had lo encamp outside. As the
night closed, the enemy completely encircled them ; for three

* Dodderi, 14° 20 N, 75° 46' I, in the Chitlaldurg division of Mysore, 22 miles
east of Chiftaldurg, and 96 miles In a stralght live south of Adoni. South of it stands
a large reservoir of water.
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days the Marathas only appeared in sight without fighting,
till some thousands of inraniry sent by Barmappa Nayak,
joined them. Then they seized the opportunity and made an
attack  on  the fourth day. The imperial artillery munitions
had been plundered in their camp and what litlle was carried
wilh  the soldiers was now exhausted ; so afler vain exertions
for some  hours, they sat down in despair, a helpless targel
for the Kanarese musketeers. Tully one-third of the Mughal
army had been slain  at the two camps, during the relreat,
and on the banks of the lank of Dodderi.

Then the chiefs saved their own lives by sneaking into the
fort, abandoning their soldiers. The Muslim soldiety now
faced utfer starvation. Qasim Khan was a great eater of
opium, and the lack of {he drug caused his death on the third
day. [But many people suspected that he committed suicide
to escape disyrace at lhe hands of the cnemy and censure
by the Bmperor.]

When {he food supply was absolutely exhausted and the
water in the fort became scanty and  unwholesome, Khanazad
Khan, in despair of relief, sent his diwan and a Deccani
captain  of the imperial army {o Santa to beg for terms of
capitulation ; the ransom was fixed at 20 lakhs of rupees ;
and all the cash, atlicles, jewels, horses and elephants of the
doomed army were o be given up. The lean woe-begone
and bedraggled remnant of the Imperial army flled out of the
forl 13 days after enlering it. The enemy gave them bread
from one side and water from the other. After resting for
hwo days, Khanazad slarted for the Court with a Maratha
escort. Ile had lost everything.

§ 99. Santa slays Himmat Kfan at Basavapatan,

In less than a month from this siroke, Santa achieved
another and equally famous victory by killing Himmat Khan
Bahadur, who had been deputed to co-operate with Qasim

]
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Khan and had taken refuge in Basavapatan (40 miles west
of Dodder) on account of the smallness of his force. On
90th January 1696, Santa appeared belore Himmat Khan's
position at the head of ten thousand cavalry and nearly the
same number of wmfantry. Ihis Karnataki {oot-iusketecrs—the
best marksmen in lhe Deccan, took post on a hill. [limmat
Khan, with a very small force, advanced to the aitack and
dislodged them from 1, but as hc was driving his elephant
towards the place where Santa was standing, he was suddenly
shot by a bullet in the forehead. After some days the
Marathas withdrew with the captured baggage of the Khan.

On the 28th of January the Emperor learnt ol [limmat
Khan's death and the blockade of his troops in the fort of
Basavapatan by Santa ; and a great effort was made to qather
troops and reirieve the position in N. W. Mysore. Hamid-ud-
din Khan started on 1st February for the relief of Dasavapalan.
Some twenly miles before his destination he was altacked by
Santa (26th February). But the Marathas were defeated and
driven oul of thal region, and Dasavapatan was relieved,

S 23. Mililary avcangements of e imperialists
during [696.

Prince Bidar Bakht had been ordered (end of January) to
march from Panhala to Basavapatan. Arriving at this place in
a few weeks, he stayed lhere for some time, sending oul
detachments to punish the rebel zamindars of the district.
Barmappa Nayak of Chiftaldurg made a humble submission
and promise of loyalty, on [6th May. DPrince Muhammad
Azam had been sent from the Empetot’s camp at Islamputi
to Pedgaon (Bahadurgarh) 90 miles north of it in  February
1696, and this place remained his headquarters till he was
recalled to the Emperot's side at Miraj three years later.

In March 1697, Santa Ghorpare returned from the Easl
Coast fo the Satara district, and [iruz Jang was despalched
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against him,  But a civil war among the Maratha generals
weakened their power during the first half of the year 1697.

§ 24. Civil war between Sanla Ghorpare and
Déana fadayv ; deatfi of Santa.

Flushed wilh his far-resounding victories over these hwo
first-rate Mughal generals in the west, Santa went to Jinji o
wait on Rajaram (March 1698). He seems to have claimed
the office of Senapali contrasting his own brilliant per-
formances with Dhana’s poor record of victories. But
his vanity, imperious temper and spirit of insubordination
gave greaf offence to the Cowrt at Jinji and the result was
an open rupture near Conjeveramy (May 1696). Rajaram
sided with Dhana and placing Amrit Rao Nimbalkar in the
van of his army, attacked his refractory general, But Santa’s
genius  again  friumphed ; Dhana was defeated and driven
precipitately to his home in  Western India ; Amrit Rao fell
on the field.

After ranging through the Eastern Karnatak for many months
Santa finally relurned fo the homeland in March 1697, lere an
infernecine war now taged between him and Dhana, all the other
captains being ranged on the two sides. They fought together
in the Satara districl in March 1697, But fortunc now
deserfed Santaji;  his severily and  insolence had disgusted his
officers, and most of them deserted lo Dhana, while the rest
were  hilled or  wounded. Santa, despoiled of all and
deserted by his army, fled from the fleld with only a few
followers to Mhaswad, lhe home of Nagoji Mané whose
wife’s brother Amrit Rao he had kifled. Nagoji gave Santa
shelter and food for some days, and then dismissed him in
safely. But his wifc Radha Baj, wilh a woman's uhquenchable
vindicliveness, sent her surviving brother affer him. The pursaer
came upon Santaji when, exhausted by fast travel, he was
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bathing in a nale near the Shambhu Mahadev hill, in the
Satara district. The party [from Mhaswad surprised him in
this helpless situation and cul off his head, (June, 1897).

Santaji had an inborn genius for handling large  bodics ot
froops spread over a wide area, changing his tfactics so  as
to take prampt advantage of every change in  the coemy's
plans and condilion, and orgenizing combined movements,
The success of his tactics depended on  the rapid movement
of his troops and on his subordinales carrying out his  orders
punctually to the minute. TIle, therefore, insisted on implicit
obedience from his officers and enforced the striclest discipline
in his army by draconic punishments ; and, hence naturally
“most of the Maratha nobles became his enemies.”

The two lifelong rivals, Santa and Dhana, were both
army leaders and organizers of the highest ability, courage
and activity, bul with coatrasted chatacters. Dhana made
war like a genlleman. lle was moderale in viclory,
generous to the vanquished, polife in his address, practised
in self-control, and capable of taking long views and
making slatesmanly arrangements.  His inborn courtesy to the
Mughal generals who had the misforlune to encounter him, is
noticed with praise by the Muslim historians. Moreover, he
served his counbry’s Government unsellishly for many years,

Santaji Ghorpare, on the other hand, was in comparison
with Dhana, a barbarian devoid of cullure or generosily,
unable fo restrain his passions or to take lhought of the distant
futare. Ile loved to hustle all whom he met with, not
excepling his king. e showed no mercy and expected none.
By his temperament, Santa was incapable of co-operating
with others, and he had not the patriotism to subordinate his
own will to the needs of his nation. He exercised no
influence on the political history of the Marathas ot even on
the general effect of Aurangsib’s campaigns. [le merely
flashed through the Deccan sky like a-lonely meteot,
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§ 95. Rajaram’s return fiome and doings in 1698-99,

Nothing remarkable seems to have happened in the second
half of 1697, except a heavy flood of the Bhima river which
washed away the Mughal camps af  Pedgaon and
Islampuri (19 July) and spread universal misery and ruin.
But in January next, linji fell to the Mughals, Rajaram fled
from it and rcached Vishalgarh in Mahatashtra in the following
month. It is not probable that any unusual activity was
shown by the Marathas immedialely after Rajaram’s return
home. lle seems to have taken time to recover irom the
effects of the loss of Jinji. Somc of his followers at this {ime
deserled his service in despair and joined the Mughals.

Barly in 1699 Rajaram sef oul on a tour of inspection in
Konkan, visiting all his forts, and returned to Satara at the
end of June. Porming plans for an extensive raid through
Khandesh  and DBerar, he sallied out of Satara, about 26th
Oclober.

Bvidenfly Aurangsib’s intenlion to besiege this fort first
had leaked oul, for, immediately after his sftarling {rom
Islampuri ({9th  Oct), Rajatam removed his family from
Satara lo Khelna and himself left it on 26th Oclober in order
to ecscape falling inlo the Emperor's hands, Dhana Jadav,
Ramchandra, Dade Malhar and other generals, with 7,000
cavalry escorted him fo Chandan-Wandan, whence, after a
three days’ halt, he toolk the route to Surat.

The Emperot immediately sent uwrgent orders to Bidar
Bakhi to pursue and defeat this hostile force. Four miles
beyond the fort of Parenda, Bidar Bakht came upon the
Maralhas. After o bloody fight, they were broken and driven
towards Ahmadnagar, (15th or 14th November). On 26th
December, Rajaram was reporfed as having  dismounted some
30 miles from the imperial camp below Satara fort and
infending fo go lo Vishalgarh. The Maratha king's raid inio
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Berar had been nipped in the bud. But one division undler
Krishna Savant plundered some places near Dhamuni and
returned. This was the ficst time that a Maratha force crossed
the Narmada.

Meantime, batiles had been foughi with the other Maratha
bands too. On 9th fanwvary (700 Nusrat Jang (Zulfigar) fought
Dhana, Ranuji Ghorpare, and Hanumant Rao beyond Masur, and
defeated them, killing 500 of their men. A few days later
Dhana attacked the oulpost of Khanapur and carried off its
Mughal officer, Avji Adhal.

In the meantime the Emperor’s siege of Salara continued
and baltles took place in its environs between the Mughal
invaders and the Maratha ficld armies.

§ 96. Death of Rajaram ; Tara Bai's policy.

On 9nd March 1700, Rajaram died at Singhgarh, of a
fever which was most probably caused by the hardships of
his raid and the vehement pursuit by the Mughals. [is
family was then in the fort of Vishalgarh. His favourite
natural son Karna was immediately afterwacrds crowned as
king by his ministers, with the help of Dhana jadav, but died
of small-pox in three weeks, Then his legitimate son by his
wife Tara Bai was placed on the throne as Shivaji Ill, with
the suppotl of Ramchandra, ‘the Redent of the West!
An infernecine quarrel now broke oul in the Maratha Court
between Rajaram’s surviving widows, Tara Bal and Rajas Bai
{the mothers of Shivaji I and Shambhuji I respectively), each
standing up for her own son and supported by a faction
among the officers and gencrals. Bul the ability and energy
of Tara Bai, the elder wife, gave her the supreme power in
the State, ’

Immediately after learning of her husband’s death, Tara
Bai oflered submission to the Emperor, asking for a 7-hazari
mansab  and the deshmubkhi rights over the Deccan for
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Rajaram’s legitimate son, and proposing to supply a contingent
of 5000 men for service under the imperial viceroy of the
Deccan, and to cede seven forts, Aurangzib refused this offer.
Towards the end of May, Ramchandra’s agent Ramaji Pandit
and Parashuram’s agenl Ambaji visited DPrince Azam and
begged him to intercede with the Emperor for spating Rajaram’s
young son in return for the swrrender of the Maratha forts.
These overlures seem to have been insincere and came to
nothing,

§ 97. Ific war in Konfan, 1689-1704.

Going  southwards from  Surat, the {raveller meets
successively  with  the following divisions of the long coast-
strip between the Western Ghat range and the Arabian Sea:—
first, Kolvan or the broken country inhabited by the wild
Koli tribe (forming the Jawhatr and Dharampur Slates), then
North  Konfan (or the modern Thana and Kolaba districts,
parallel lo the Nasik and Puna districls which lie east of the
Ghats), and lastly Soutf Konfan (or the modern Ralnagiri
district, which runs parallel to the Satara and Kolhapur districts
of the Deccan platcaun across fhe mountain range). At the
southernmost point of Ralnagiri, the coast is broken, near
Vingurla, by the territory of the ancienl Maratha family of
Savants of Vadi (popularly known as the Desais of Kudal’ in
in the 17th century), and immediately south of it, by the
Dorluguese province of Goa. Still further south begins Kanara,
with the Karwar district afong the coast, and the States of
Sunda and Bednur in the interior, far fo the easl, leading
into the Mysore plaleau.

Through a gap in the Western Chats near the cily of
Nandurbar, some dislance north of Dharampur, an invading
force from the coastal region could easily enter the rich
provinces of Khandesh and Berar,—while Kolvan afforded
a convenient base for the plundering either of Sural in the
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north or of Baglana in the cast, and from Baglana, south-
wards across the Chandor range, for incursions into the Nasik
district,

Shivaji had conquered Konkan between 1637 and 1669
and the Koli country in (670-1673. After his death the
Mughals had made descents info N. Konkan in 1682 and 1685
and temporarily occupied its capilal Kalian, but more to ravage
and burn the places than to hold them. In December 1683
the Marathas reoccupied Kalian and remained in  undisturbed
possession of Konkan for the next five years, though their
» coast-villages lay subject to depredation by the Siddis. Mughal
progtess in this region began only in [689 and under a
very able local officer.

Matabar Khan, a Sayyid of the Navaiyat clan of Acabs
long setfled in Kalian, when cmploved as thanadar of the
Nasik district, first distinguished himselt (1688) by his enterprising
spirit and farsighledness. e enlisted a stronyg infaniry  force
of the local hill-men, won over many of the zamindars in {he
neighbourhood  and captured many Maratha forls by force
or bribery, e.g, Patta (Vishramgarh), Kulang, Trimbak {on
8 January 1689), and several smaller ones. The (riumphant
Mugshal general crossed the Ghats and descended into Konkan
after the fall of Shambhuji. In this province he took Kalian
(27 March), Prabal, Karnala, Dugad, Manikgarh, and finally
Mahuli (in August). Thus all North Konkan from the Koli
couniry southwards to the lalitude of Bombay passed inlo
imperial possession. Most parls of the district had been
ruined by twenty years of Maratha predominance and frequent
warfare. Ie established Imperial rule over them, restored
order, and planted colonies of peasants so as {0 revive their
cultivation and prosperity.

" After these successful campaigns Matabar Khan returned
to Kalian (1690) and lived there in comparative peace for
some years, beaufifying that city with a governor's mansion,
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a hall of public audience, a mosque, a Turkish bath, a portico,
a garden and a ferrace with a tank and fountains, and other
structures, The magnificent tomb of his wife in Kalian was
built at the cost of one lakh of Rupees.

But early in 1693, the Marathas recovered their power
and ihe Mughals lost their dominant position and were driven
to assume the defensive. Roving Maratha bands began to
raid Mughal territory and tecover the forts recently acquired
by the imperialisis. Konkan served the Marathas as an
excellenl base for organizing these opetalions, as the Weslern
Ghats formed a screen in  their fronf, while the possessions
of the {riendly Portuguese along the western coast afforded
a safe refuge to the wives and children of their fighters even
when the enemy descended inlo the castern belt of Konkan.
The local Portuguese governor was bribed by them to give
them sheller and to supply provisions to their forts and villages
in North Konkan.

Matabar Khan, therefore, invaded the Portuguese lerritory
of “lhe North” {f.c, Bassein and Daman), making prisoners of
the cnemy's subjects, and defeating their armies, The viceroy
of Goa at last made peace by humble submission to the
Emperor and the ofler of presents,

The newslet ters of Aurangzib's Courl confain many
examples of Matabar's vigilant care for his charge, his strict
majntenance of efficiency in {he administration, and his
agsistance to the Siddi chief of Janjica in the military operations
further south for upholding the imperial power. Death overtook
this able and failhful secvant at the end of February 1704.



CHAPTER XVI
THE LAST PHASE OF AURANGZID'S CAREER.

.§ 1. Policy of the Maratfa Government, 1689-1699.

When Rajaram, the newly crowned king of {lie Marathas,
fled away to the Madras coast (July, 1689), affairs in the
Maharashira country were left to  his ministers. Ramchandra
Nilkanth was created Regent of the West, with the fitle of
Hakumat-panafi, and he guided the fortunes of this virtually
hingless State with remarkable wisdom and tact. lle checked
the progress of the Mughals, organized raids into imperial
tervitory, sent succour repealedly to his master in infi, and
kept peace among the infractable and mutually jealous
Maratha gencrals.

Rajaram, in addition to being plunged into debauchery
in the Karnatak, was naturally weak-minded. [lis position
made him powerless. He was a hing without an army or
treasury of his own, or subjecls under his undisputed yule.
Any Maratha capfain who could get togelher a thousand or
even five hundred wen of his own, could dictale the torms
of his obedience to his nominal king. Rajaram was, lharefore,
profuse in his gifts of titles and unconquered lands. All the
Maratha sardars went to the hing at Jinji, and he gave them
fitles, army commands, and grants for the diferent districts
where they were to go, loot the country, and impose the
chautf. Rajaram's political impotence is best illusirated by
‘his duplication of offices and files at a time when his Ring-
dom was shrinking to nothing. Ile could not afford lo
disoblige any of his p'roud and selfish chiefs. The office of
Senapati (commander-in-chief) was changed five times in
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Rajaram's short reign of cleven years ; and, in addition, five
officers at one lime enjoyed titles varying in terminology but
all meaning “leader ot the army” and all being entitied to
the rank banner and other paraphernalia of the Senapati !
But this decenlralization of authority was exacily suiled
{o the situation in Maharashira. The Maratha captains, each
acting on his own account, carried on a guerilla warfare
and caused the greatest loss and disturbance to the Mughal
territovies. The imperialists did not know what point to
Jdefend, nor where to find a vital enemy position for their
attack. The exiremely mobile Maratha bands covered long
distances and delivered attacks at the mosl unexpected
quarters ; and such roving bands were countless, The result
was universal unrest throughout the Deccan. At this stage
the Marathas avoided pitched baltles. Their encampments
during the rainy monlhs were in  obscure and inaccessible
places. Their bands did not hold tlogether all the vear
round but dispersed to their several homes after the cam-
paighing season of six months (October {o April) was over.
There was mutual jealousy among the ministers left in
Maharashtra as well as at the Court of Jinji. Parashuram
Trimbak formed a faction of his own and drew Santaji
Ghorpare into it. The npalural consequence was thai Dhana
Singh Jadav was backed by Ramchandra. Santa’s insubordi-
nation proved unbearable; he would not obey the Regent
of the West, nor co-operale In any national enterprise {like
{he relief of Parhala in 1693) planned by him, preferring to
conquer an independent estate for himself, Ramchandra had,
therefore, lo secure the hking’s consent to Santa’s dismissal,
Then another minister Shankaraji Malhar ook Santa under
his wing. Another refraclory and selfish general of great
power was Nima Sindhia. Ramchandra struggled against
fhese difficultics as best he could, and on the whole he
succecded fairly well. The rivalty between Santa Ghorpard
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and Dhana Jadav precipitated a civil war in 1696, and three
battles were foughl between them. The murder of Santa
(June 1697) created a blood-feud between his son Ranuji and
his brother Bahatji (swnamed Hindu Rao) on the one hand
and Dhana’s parly on the other, which took long to heal.
But this internal discord among the Marathas vave the Mughals
only a brief respite,

Ramchandra cleverly provided shelters for the families of
the Maratha combatants in South Konkan and the Portuguese
terrifory of Daman, which had not yet been penetrated by
Mughal armies, and also in the Berad country and the norih-
western corner of Mysore, which the Emperor was not  yet
{ree to invade.

& 9. Tara Bai rules as queen-molficr ; infecnal
dissensions in the Maralba Slate.

When Rajaram died, on ¢nd March 1700, and then his
natural son Karna after a three weeks' reign, Tara Bai
crowned her own (legifimate) son  Shivaji, a boy under ten
years, and ruled with the help of Patashuram Trimbak., Thus
a second regency enstued in the Maratha kingdom. The
supreme guiding force in Maharashita now was not any
minister but the dowager queen Tara Bai Mohité. [er
administrative genius and strength of character saved the
nafion in the awful crisis (hat {hreatened it in  consequence of
Rajaram’s death, the disputed succession to his throne, and
Aurangzit's unbroken victories from 1699 lo 1701, The
hostile Muslim  historian Khafi Khan is conslrained to call her
wise, enferptising, expert in administration and popular with
the army. “Under Tara Bai's guidance, Maratha activity
began to Increase daily. She fook into her owh hands the
control of all affairs,~such as the appointment and change of
generals, the cultivation of the country and the planning of
raids into Mughal territory. She made such arrangements for
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sending troops to ravage the six subahs of the Deccan, nay
even up to Sironj and Mandesor in Malwa,—and winning the

hearts of her officers, that all the efforts of Aurangsib against
the Maralhas down to the end of his reign failed.”

Immediately after the death of Rajaram, Parashuram
Trimbak, out of jealousy for the other ministers then in Satara,
came out of his own fort of Parli and offered {o join the
Mughals. But Tarabai won this supremely able officer over
to her interests by creating him Pratinidfi and giving him het
full frust. Bul it was only after a hard slruggle that Tara
Bai's supremacy was established. Some of the genetals
obeyed ler, some did not. Rajas Bai, the junior wife of
Rajaram and the mother of Shambhuji I, whom she set up
as a rival king, began to quarrvel with Tara Bai and form her
own faction. There was a third party among the Maratha
leaders, who ywanted to secure national unily by placing
Shahu on the throne, as he represented the clder branch of
Shivail's descendants, These dynastic quarrels wete complicated
by the cross-currents of personal rivalry among the Maratha
cencrals, especially Dhana Jadav and Santa Ghorpare and
thelr partisans,

§ 5. Shafi’s captive life, 1689-1707 ;
Maratfia pactisans of the Mugfials.

Shahu, the eldest son of Shambhuji, had become a prisoner
of the Mughals at the age of seven, when Raigarh surrendered
in Oclober 1689, and he was hept under strict watch, though
kindly f{rcaled, close {o lhe Emperor’s fent and within  the
cirele of the red canvas screen (gulal-bar) of the imperial
quarters, With him were his mother Yesu Bai and his half-
brothers Madan Singh and Madhu Singh.

In 1700 Shabu had a severe aitack of illness, which seems
1o have left his body and mind shattered for the rest of his
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life, The Court news-letter gives the following account of it :—
Rajah Shahu came to the audience on 26th August and made
his bow. The Emperor afler looking at him remarked that
his colour had turned entirely vellow, and asked the reason
for it. Hafiz= Ambar (eunuch) replied that lhe rajah did not
eat any cooked dal, bread or rice, but only sweets (pagwan),
on the ground that Hindus must not eal cooked food in
prison, and he regarded himsell as a ptisoner.

As difficulties thickened round Aurangzib and the Deccan
fangle seemed insoluble, he began to form plans for
setfling the contest with the Maratha denerals through Shahu.
First, on 9th May 1703, he sent Hamid-ud-din Khan to
urge Shahu to become a Muslim, as the heirs to some other
Hindu thrones had already been fempted to do in  this
reign. But Shahu refused {o apostatize. Next the Emperor
lried to create a division among the Marathas by relcasing
Shahu. The terms of his release were to be séliled by frealy
with the leading Maratha gencrals, through the mediation of
Prince Kam Bakhsh. TFor apptoaching the national leaders
and winning them over, Raibhan, the son of Vyanhaji
Bhonsle of Tanjore, was laken into the Bmperots service,
created a 6-flazari, and sent to visit Shahu (10th July 1703).
But the move failed. As Bhimsen blunfly puls it ;—"The
prince repeatedly sent his men to Dhana. Bual, as the
Marathas had not been vanquished and the ontire Deccan
had come into their possession like a deliciously cooked
pudding, why should they make peace ?...The envoys of
the prince refurned in disappointment, and Rajah Shahu was
again placed under sutveillance in the gnlal-bar.”

Aurangzib felt himself utterly helpless. In the last yéar
of his life (1707) he decided to make another attempt at
peace with the Marathas, Shahu was transferred from his
own camp to that of Nusrat Jang (25 Jan). Raibhan, too, was
posted under him in the hope of his being able to persuade
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the Maratha generals to make terms with the Emperot as the
price of the release of Shahu. Nusrat Jang wrote conciliatory
letters to the Maratha generals and invited them to come and
join Rajah Shahu. But it was to no cffect. A civil war had
indecd broken oul among the Marathas, Rajas Bai lrying to
seize Tara Bai and thwarting all her plans ; but the Emperor’s
hope of taking advantage of il and creating a further division
by bringing Shahu into i, failed. It was only after Aurangzib’s
death thal Prince Azam, then marching towards Agra, connived
at the escape of Shahu to the Deccan.

It is not frue that all the leading Maratha families were on
the national side during the struggle with Aurangzib. Many of
them served the Mughal Government, and for various reasons.
The noble house of Jadav Rao of Sindhkhed, in which the
great Shivaji's mother had been botn, entered the Mughal army
early in Shah Jahan's rcign (1630), after the murder of Lakbiji
Jadav Rao, and they remained on the imperial side for
several generalions. Kanhoji Shirk€é and his sons, to whose
family Rajaram’s tmother befonged, had been persecuted by
Shambhuji and had fled for refuge to the Mughal Emperor,
who gave them high posts. The Shirkés as well ad Nagojis
Mané (the thanadar of Mhasvad and a Mughal partisan from
1694) remained consistently loval and rendered long and
metitorious service to the Mughals, Three other devoled
Matatha servants ol the Bmperor were Avji Adhal (thanadar
of Khanapur) who was made captive by the Marathas on
93¢rd Jan. 1700, Ramchandra (thanadar of Khataw) who died
fighting at his post on, 18th August 1700, and Baharji Pandhté,
sometimes thanadar of Kashigaon.

Another Maratha chief in Mughal pay was Satvaji Dafld,
who had a more chequered career. This family had been
barons under the Adil-Shahi kings. On the fall of that
monatchy they took service with the Mughal conqueror. [Satva's
son, Baji Chavan Daflé gave up his life most heroically in
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leading the storming parly al the siege of Satara (13th April
1700). Satva himself had deserted the Mughals before
1695 and continied to raid the imperial tertitory, but came
over to the Emperor in August 1701, when he was crcaled a
5-fazari, and given the jagir of Jath in reward of his late
son's gallantry.

Several thousands of Mavlés, or Maratha hill infantry,
served under Aurangzib. But on the whole the presence of
hired Maratha auxiliaries on the Mughal side had merely the
effect of keeping them out of mischief, and did not add much
to the sirength of the imperial army. For one thing, their
equipment and armament were far inferior o those of the
reqular Mughal troops. Then, they fought half<hearledly for
their paymaster, and their caplains frequently changed sides,

§ 4. durangzil’s siege of Satara.

On 19th October 1699, Aurangzib slarted front Islampuri on
that campaign againsl the great Maratha strongholds which was o
occupy the next six years of his life.  One by one the famous
*hill-forts ‘of Satara, Parli, Panhala, Vishalgarh (Khelna), Kondana
{Singhgarh), Rajgarh, and Torna were captured by him, besides
five places of lesser note. But it should be remembered thal
with the sole exception of Torna, none of these was faken by
assault ; all capitulated after a Hme and for a price; their
garrisons were permitted to march out with their personal
effects, and their commandants were  given costly rewards for
ceasing resistance, ' .

At Islampuri Aurangzib left his wife Udipuri and her  son
Kam DBakhsh, and his daughter Zinal-un-nisa, with all the
surplus baggage and unnecessary officials, and the families of
bis soldiers and camp-followers. The wazir Asad Khan
remained in charge of them with a suitable force. Zulfiqar,
surnamed Nusrat Jang, was given a roving commission for
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fighting the Maratha field armies that hovered round the siege
camp or threatened the Basc at Islamputi.

Marching from Islampuri the Emperor reached Masur (21
miles south of Satara) on 21st November. Basanigarh, a fort
6 miles south-west of Masur, was evacuated by ils garrison
in terror, and the imperialists entered it on the 25th and named
it the “Key to Victory” (Kilid-i-Fath), as a happy omen of
their success in the ensuing campaign.

Marching thence, the imperialists arrived before Satara on
8th December. Aurangzib took up his quarters at the village
of Karanja, a mile and a half fo the north of the fort-walls.
The Mughal army with its followers and transport animals was
concentrated in one spot, five miles round, and this encamp-
ment was walled round fo heep out the Maratha raiders. Siege
operations began on 9th  December.  The rocky soil made
digging a very slow and  difficult work. The garrison fired
upon the Mughals day and night withoul cessation with every
hind of missile. But the lines of investment were not complete.
The enemy enlered and issued from  Satara almos! to the end
of the siege.

The garrison made frequent sorlies, all of which were
repulsed with more or less loss. But the greatest danger to
the Mughals came from the Maratha fizld forces, which practi-
cally reduced the besiegers to the position of a  beleaguered
city.  Toraging parlies could leave the Mughal camp only
wrler very strong escorts, led by the foremost nobles. Dhana,
Shankara, and other enemy leaders spread through the Mughal
possessions, raiding villages, culling off outposts and  closing
{he roads to the grain-dealers (banfaras).

Tarbival Khan by hacd labour dug a mine 24 vards long
and carried it under the fortwall, But assault by breaching
was decmed  inadvisable, Then, a surprise escalade was
attempted by 2,000 Mavlés in  Mughal pay, on 23rd January,
but the attempt failed. On (3th April iwo mines were fired.
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The first killed many of the garvison and buried the havladar
Dragji Prabhu under the debris of the wall, but he was dug
out alive. The second exploded outwards; a tower was
blown up and fell upon the Mughal lroops  densely assetubled
at the foot ol the wall for the assault; ncarly lwo thousand
of them perished. This explosion made a breach in the wall,
90 vards wide. Sowe brave imperialists, notably Baji Chavan
Daflé, the son of Satva Daflé (the founder of the State of
Jath in the Bijapur district), ran up to the lop of the wall,
shouting to their comrades, “Come up | there is no enemy
here?”” But none followed them; the men in the Mughal
trenches who survived were too dazed and alarmed by the
catastrophe to stir oulside.  The garrison now recovered from
their  surprise, and rushing up to the breach, slew {he gallant
forlorn hope.

Meantime Rajaram had died (March) and his tninister
Parashuram proposed subimnission to  the Mughals, Tarbiyat
Khan had demolished 70 yards of the fort walls, 400 of the
garrison had been killed by the mines, Considering all these
facts, Subhanji, the giladar of Salara, losl heart and made tering
with the Emperor through DPrince Azam, On 2ist April
he hoisted the imperial flag on his forl and vacated il with
the ogarrison the nexl day. The fort was renamed Adzamiara
in honour of Prince Md. Azam.

8 5, Parli fort captured,

The Mughals soon afterwards opened siege trenches  before
Parli, six miles west of Satara, This fort had been the seat
of Shivajl's gury Ramdas Swami and it was serving as the
headquarters of the Maratha Government while Satara was
invested by the enemy. Patashuram, the chief revenue officer
of 1the Maratha Government, being disheartened by the dealh
of Rajaram and the fall of Safara, escaped from Parli, but
that fort continued its resistance under his subordinates.
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The invaders suffered terribly from excessive rain and the
scarcity of grain and fodder. DBut Aurangzib held grimly on.
Terms were at last made with the giladar of Parli, and he
evacuated the fort (on 9th June) fdr a bribe,

These two sieges had caused an cnormous waste of men,
horses and transport animals in the (mperial army. The
treasury was emply, the soldiers were starving at their pay
being in atrears for threc years. [eavy and unprecedented
rain began to fall early in May and conlinued till the end of
July. On 91st June the retwrn march towards Bhushangarh
commenced, but the suflerings of the miserable soldiers were
only aggravated by the change. Most of the fransport animals
had perished during the sicge. The few cart-oxen and
elephants that survived had nothing  but  their  shins
and bones feft. Only a small parl of the property of the
Emperor and the nobles could be carried away by these weal
animals and porters. Mueh had (o be left in the forts or
burnt, Many persons of noble birth had to walk on foot
through the mud for mile after mile. One march was followed
by two days  halt, in order to allow the stragglers time to
come up. OQuly three miles were covered by a day's march,
The Krishna was in such high flood that the opposite bank
could nol be seen from this. Great difficulty was felt in
crossing such a huge army over the swollen river. Only
seven  halfbroken and clumsily-patched up boals were
available for ferrying the men across, and the people often
fought lo get seals in lhem. Bhushangarh was reached on
25th July, the army having taken 33 days to cover 45 miles!
Hete a montl’s halt was made. Then the imperial camp was
shifted (on 30th August 1700), fo Khawaspur, on the Man
river, 36 miles off, The imperialisls lay encamped on both
fts banks and even its dry bed, But in the night of 1sf
October, while the men were fast asleep, a high flood caused
by heavy and untimely rainfall on the hills, came suddenly
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sweeping through the river bed, overlopped its banks and
spread over the plains beyond. Many men and animals
perished ; many more, including cven the nobles, were left
absolutely poor and naked ; ncarly all the fents and property
were damaged.

When the flood first struck the camp, a liltle before
midnight, a loud cry arose throughoul the army. The Emperor,
imagining that the Marathas had burst into the camp, rose in
alarm, bul stumbled and dislocated his right knee. The doclors
failed to set it properly, and he remaincd a little lame for the
rest of his life. The Court Natterers used to console him by
saving that it was the heritage of his ancestor, the world-
conqueror Timur the Lame !

But vigorous efforls were made {o replenish his army.
Orders were sent fo  the governors of Northern India to
enlist strong men and buy good horses in every province
and send them to the Deccan. Two thousand horses were
bought in Kabul, and 92,000 mares locally, besides the
remounts purchased in other provinces,

The Marathas put the misforlunes of the impetialists lo the
best  account. In  addiion tfo their normal raids, Hanumanl
Rao plundered the #Hiana of Khatau and hkilled its Mughal
officet Ramchandra (a Maralha), 18 August, 1700. The Berad
chicf, Didia Nayak, posted his infantey all over the Bijapur
district levying cfiauf, while the Marathas plundered up to
the very tank of Shahpur, oulside Bijapur cily, (¢ 15th Nov.).
Ranuji Ghorparé killed the Mughal thanadar of Bagehwari
(30 m. s e. of Bijapur) and looted that outpost as well as Indi
{(north~zast of Bijapur city).

§ 6. Siege of Panfialy, 1701,

Panhala was the next point of attack. The Emperor
avrived there on Oth March 170{ and formed a complete circle
of investment, fourleen miles «in length, round Panhala anc
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its sister fort of Pavangarh. A mobile force under Nusrat
Jang was sent out to  “chastise the robbers wherever they
should vaise their heads.” But in that stony region the
progress  of mining was  necessarily very slow, and the
dreaded rainy scason was approaching. In addifion to the
nototious rivalry between lhe Emperot’s two highest generals—
Nusrat Jang and Firuz Jang,-—which made it impossible to employ
both al the same place, there now broke out a bitter jealousy
between Tarbiyat Khan and Fathullah Khan and another
belween the older officers n general and a very able upstart
from Gujral named Mubhammad Murad. The mutual jealousies
of the generals made frue co-operation among them impossible.
They secretly  thwarted one another, and thus spoiled their
master’s business and prolonged the siege. When Tarbiyat
Khan was urged to deliver an  assault, he ironically
replied, “The preparations {or an assault are complete.
Please order Md. Murad, who has done such hecroic deeds,
{o support us on the day of storming” With this spirit
animafing  Aurangzib’'s generals, it was only natural that all
his cflorts came to nothing, and the siege dragged on for
two months, without success seeming fo come any nearer.
To gain Panhala before lhe rains began, a large bribe was
paid to Trimbak, the dqiladar, and he delivered the fort on
28t May, 1701. The efforts of the Marathas to relieve ihe
siege of Panhala were many, Their generals, Dhana [adav,
Ranuji Ghorpare, Ramchandra and Krishna Malhar constantly
hovered round the siege camp, cutling off foraging parties
and convoys of provisions. Nusral Jang and Hamid-ud-din
with movable columns toiled in vain after the fleet Maratha
rovers and fought many a bloody battle without decisive
result,

Afler the fall of Panhala, Aurangzib (on 29th May, 1701)
refreated from it to encamp in the safer and more fertile
region of Khatau (25 miles east of Satara and on the left
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bank of the Verla river). Quick as his departure was, it
had not been made soon ecnough, A cyclone passed over
the camp “blowing away fents and sheds like paper. Kings
and beggars had to sil down in the sun.  Veiled laclies
became exposed to the public gaze)”

Fathullah Khan, highly promoted and created a Bahadur,
was sent ahead to take Wardhangarh (& m. n. w. of Khataw)
and three other forts in the neighbourhood —Chandan,
Nandgir and Wandan.

§ 7. Siege of Khelna.

The Bmperor next set oul for the conquest of Khelna
{or Vishalgarh). This fort stands thirly miles west of Panhala,
on the crest of the Sahyadri hill, 3,350 feet above the sca
and overlooking the Konkan plain lying on its west. The
district is wet and cool, and the hills were {hichly covered
with trees and dense underwood in the 17th century, The
easiest means of reaching the fort is by the Amba pass, five
miles north of it, and some 35 miles n. w. of Kolhapur
The eight miles leading to the defile were very diflicult
ground, There was in that age no road here for wheeled
iraffic, and the ups and downs wete so sharp and the path
so narcow that even harses could nol use it with ease or
safety.

Leaving Wardhangarh on 7th Nov. 1701, the Emperor
arvived near Malkapur in 12 marches. Jlere he halted {or
a week, while pioneers were set {o make a road ahead, But
the Amba pass itself had get to be made it for the passage of
an army. This formidable fask was accomplished by
Fathullah Khan after one week's incessanl toil with ar host
of pioneers and stone-cutters. Then Asad Khan was detached
on 26th December to .begin the siecge. On  16th January
1702, the Emperot's lent was pitched a mile from Khelna,
His followers suffered lerrible hardship and loss in crossing



1702 | MUGIIALS BI'SIEGE KIELNA 367

the pass and bringing his camp and equipage to the fool of
the fort.

The siege dragged on for five months (January—June 1709).
During this year Nusrat Jang with his mobile division marched
in pursuil of the Maratha field forces uncarly 6,000 miles in
Berar and Telingana and fought {9 greal battles wilh them,
besides numberless skirmishes, The Mughal artillery beat in
vain adgainst the solid rock of the walls of Khelna; only a
few stones were loosened from the fower, and success seemed
as far off as ever. On the other band, the catapulls of the
garrison showered huge stones upon the advancing siege-
works. They also raided the trenches al night. All the
valiant exertions of Fathullah Khan Turani on the notth side
were thrown away against that impregnable rock. No belter
success was achieved at the Konkani (or western) gate of the
forl, Ilere Muhammad Amin Khan had stormed the fortfified
hillock opposile this gate and commanding its fausse brave
(rauni) on 4th March. Bidar Bakhi, who replaced the Khan,
delivered an assault led by Jai Singh, the young Rajah of
Amber, on 27ih Aptil, and captured the rquni, in spite of
heaey losses, The next step was to drag big guns up to  the
position and batter down the Konkani gate with them.

Bul the terrible monsoon of the Bombay Coast now burst
on the heads of the devoled Mughal army. The giladar
Parashuram accepted a large bribe from Bidar Bakht and on 4th
June planled the prince’s banner on the ramparts, and in  the
night of the 7th the garrison evacuated the fort,

The sufferings of the Mughal army during its refurn from
Khelna were terrible. The Emperor beat a hasty retreat from its
neighbourhood, on 10th June, only three days affer the fall of
the fort.  But the rain had already begun with fropical fury and
the Mughal army underwent terrible hardships in crossing the
dreadful Amba pass again in this weather, “The camels
refused to set foot on this path. The elephants sank inte
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the mud lke donkeys. The ounly goods caricd weie on  the
heads of porters” A sudden rise of a nala on the way,
“running like a race~horse,” cut the imperial army inlo  iwo,
and many were drowned. Nalas in a similar condition
intersecled the path of retreat at three places. Grain sold at
one Rupee a seer, “Fodder and firewood appeated in  the
Many men also  perished of

]

isolated camp only by mistake.
cold amidst the incessant rain, from having no tenl or change
of clothing left to them. Al some slages only a small canvas
cover was all that could be pitched for the BEmpesor himself.
In this condition, after covering 30 miles in 38 days, the
miserable atmy arrived near DPanhala (17 July 1709).

The Mughals finally reached Bahaclurgarh or Pedgaon on the
nosthern bank of the Bhima, on 13th November, 1702,

§ 8. Sieges of Kondana (Singhgars), Rojgars and Totna,

After a stay of only 18 days, the Emperor sel oul on
9nd December o capture Kondana (Singhgarh), which was
reached on the 27th. The imperial family, oftices, and heavy
baggage were removed [rom the Base Camp at Islampuri to
Bahadurgarh, and the former post was made Nusrat Jang's
cantonment. Bidar Pakht was sent to  Aurangabad as viceroy
and later (Feb. 1703) given the subahdari of Khandesh in
addition. The siege began, but there was no life in the work
of the besiegers, and three months were wasted in this way.
The rainy scason was now approaching. So, the Emperot’s
servants secured the fort on 8th April 1703, by heavily
bribing the qiladar,

From Kondana the army marched back fo Puna in a
week (I May), in the neighbourhood of which it spent nearly
seven months. The excessive rainfall of 1702 had been
followed by a drought in 17034, and there was famine
throughout Maharashtra, with its natural companion, peslilence.
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Large numbers of the poorer classes perished,~—two millions,
according to Manucci.

From the neighbourhood of Puna, the Mughal army reached
Rajearh in 18 days, and began its siege on 2nd December,
1703, They bombarded it for two months, and then caplured
the firsl gale by assaull on 6th Feb. 1704, The garrison
under their chiefs Firangjii and Hamanji tetived lo the inner
citadel, and Rept up the resistance for ten days more, At
last the giladar made terms, hoisted the imperial flag on his
tower, and fled away at night {16 Feb.).

Aurangzib next laid siege to Torna, eight miles from
Rajgarh, on 23rd February. In the nighl of 10th March
Amanullah Khan with only 23 Mavle infantry silently scaled
the fort-wall by means of rope-ladders, blew his trumpets, and
charged the enemy. Those of the garrison who resisted were
put 1o the sword, the rest fled to the citadel and cried for
mercy. This was the only Maratha fort that Aurangzib
captured by foree without resort to bribery.

From Torna the imperial camp arrived af Khed (7 miles
north  of Chakan) and encamped there for six months, from
17 April o 21 October, 1704, From this place the Emperor
started on 29nd  Qciober for Wagingera, the Berad capital,
which was reached after a slow march of three-and-a-half
months, on 8th February 1705, and immediately besieged.
This was the lasl campaign of Aurangzib.

§ 9, The Berad people and tfieit couniry and chieftain,

The couniry exlending east of Bijapur city, and enclosed
by the Dhima and the Krishna rivers, is the home of the
Berads, a race of aboriginal Kanarese, also called Dheds, and
regarded as one of the lowesl in the scale of Hindu castes.
They are a virile and hardy people, not much advanced from
sayagery, but at the same time not toned down like the over-
refined uppet castes of Hindu society, They eat mutton,

24
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beef, pork, domestic fowls, cte, and drink lo excess. Dark,
muscular, and of middle height, with round faces, flal cheelzs,
thin lips and lank or frizzled hair, the Berads can bear faligue
and hardship, but have no laste for settled industvy or peaceful
arts, Their tribal organizalion under the heads of {amilies and
the judicial authority of their heteditary headmen cusured
discipline and solidarity among them, and they supplied Ihe
most steady and accurale muskeleers ol South India in the
seventeenth and  eighteenth centuries. Their gallantry in war
and contempt for wounds and death were as conspicuous as
their  skill in making night-aitacks and surprises, - which we
might naturally expect from such  expert  caitle-slealers.
Contemporary Persian historians call them Be-dar (fearfess), by
a play on theilr name.

The cradle-land of the DBerads was Mysore, {rom which
they advanced into the Raichur doab and then further north
into the country beyond the Krishpa and even the Bhima.
The DBerad Nayaks or chieftaing of Shorapur, lying in the
fork between the Krishna and the Bhima, had their earliost
capital at Sagar, some 72 miles casl of Bijapur cily. When
this was lost to the Mughals (1687), the Nayak built a new
capital at Wagingera, twelve miles south-west of Sagar. Al
the close of Aurangzil’s reign even this forl was {aken from
him, and the Nayak removed his seat to Shorapur, on the
eastern face of the same  hill-mass as Wagingera and
four miles from it llaving losi their dominion 1o the
Mughals at the surrender of 1687, the Berad chiefs had now
no resource left excepl to rebel, build new sirongholds amons
the hilis, and rob the Mughal territory around in imitation
of the Marathas and  alterwards in coumcert wilh them. The
Kulbarga district was kept in constant disturbance and the roads
were closed fo caravans by persistent but elusive bands of
Berad horsemen for many years alter the fall of Sagar,

Pidia Nayalk, the nephew and adopted heir of Pam Nayals,
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had waited on  Aurangzib as early as 1683 and been given
a post in the imperial army. After the Mughal conquest of
Sagar and the death of his uncle, he busied himself in fortify-
ine Wagingera and raising an army. lle collected twelve
thousand excellent muskeleers  of his  tribesmen and steadily
increased his artillery and munitions of war.

Pidia's robberies in the Kulbarga district became oo serious
fo be neglected any longer. At last, on 27th May 1691 ihe
Emperor sent his son Kam Bakhsh {rom Bijapur, in charge
of Bahramand Khan, to attack Wagingera. On 20th July the
prince was sent off to the Madras Karnatak, and the operafions
against the Berads were entrusted to Ruhullah Khan. The
latter could not achicve the task; the Berads twice fell
on his entrenchment and  destroyed il; many on the Mughal
side were slain, including the celebrated Ranmast Khan, So
Ruhullah Khan opened ncgotiations with the enemy, who bribed
and lulled him into inactivity. Azam was sent to trelieve Ruhullah
(18th December 1691). The prince stayed there for a  vyear,
ravaging the country and checking Berad aclivifies. Pidia then
submmitted, appealed to the prince’s mercy, presented him  with
two lakhs of Rupees and made peace with the Emperor by
paying an indemnily of seven lakhs, But in December 1692
the Bmperor removed Azam from Sagar, and Pidia soon
afterwards resumed his old brigandage and usurpation of land.
When Ficuz Jang was sent against him (April (696), he “plaged
the same jackal's trick on him” and escaped destruction by
promising a fribule of nine lakhs.

§ 10. Aurangzib captures Wagingera, 1705,

Al last, towards the close of the year 1704, after the greal
Maratha forts had all been captured, the Emperor furned o
Wagingera and began its siege on 8th February 1705,

On the plain in the south, facing fhe fort gate, there is a
village called Tolwargera, enclosed by a mud wall and
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containing the marketl for the supply of the cartison. Close
to it was Dfedpura, a hamlel of grass huls, where the families
ol the common Berads lived and from which they filled the
surrounding lands. These three wete the only inhabited places
there ; but close fo the forl in the east and north were a
numober of hillocks which would be of great service to besiegers,
QOne of these, called Lal Tikei from ils red soil, slighlly
commanded a portion of Wagingera itself and had a very
important bearing on the defence of that fort. The Derads had
not thought of protecting any of these oullying eminences by
redoubt or outpost.

The strength of Wagingera lay not so much in its naiural
position or artificial defences, as in the courage and number
of its garrison, the deadly accuracy of thelr muskelry fire,
and its ample supply of guns, rockets and attillery munilions,

For many weeks after the commencement of the siege,
the Mughals could do nothing. Every day the enemy sallied
forth and attacked the imperialists. The bombardment from
the fort walls continued incessantly and made the advance of
the Mughal trenches, or even (heir maintenance within range
of the fort guns, impossible.

One morning while the Mughal generals were out reconnoi-
tring for weak points in lhe defences, they suddenly charged
up Lal Tikti, drove away the Berad musheteers on its top and
seized the position. Bub It was impossible for them to dig
themselves in on that rocky heighl, ‘The Betads immedialely
sent thete large bodies of their infantry, who swarmed up
the hillside “numberless like ants and locusls,” and plied their
muskets and hurled stones with deadly accuracy on the
imperialists crowded helplessly on the top. The position had
at last to be abandoned after heavy losses,

The Mughal trenches slarted from a spot between Lal
Tikri and the hillock opposite Talwargera, while an outpost
was established under Mubammad Amin Khan between Lal



1705| AURANGZIB'S SICOE OF WAGINGLRA 373

Tikei and these trenches, to guard against enemy allachs
from thal hill. The hillock facing Talwargera was occupicd
by Kam DBakhsh's troops and another mound near by was
held by Bagar Khan.

But on 96th March a Maratha force of five to six
thousand horse under Dhana Jaday and Hindu Rao (brother
of Santa Ghorparé) arvived near the fort to support their
Berad allies, because the families of many Maratha generals
had taken retuge there. The first task of the Marathas was
to remove their families safely {rom this fort. While the
main body of the new-comers hkept the imperialists i play
by a noisy feint against the sicge lines in front of the fort
assisted by a heavy fire from the walls, another body of
2,000 picked troopers brought their women and children out
by the back-door of Wagingera, mounted them on swift
mares, and escaped, their rear being guarded by a body of
infaniry that sallied out of the fort ‘

Pidia had promised the Marathas a daily subsidy of
several thousand Rupees as long  as they would assist in the
defence of his capital. They halted in the neighbourhood
and made frequent atlacks on the Mughals, The Mughal
army itself was now thrown info a slate of siege. is
activifies ceased and it was confined to its own lines, Grain
and fodder became exiremely scarce in the camp, The
Emperor censured his generals, but it had no effect,

Pidia now made proposals of submission to the Emperot,
but his real object was to gain time and call up heavy
reinforcements from far and near.

Abdul Ghani, a glib-tongued lying Kashmiti pedlar, one
day brought to Hedayet-kesh (the chief of the imperial
Intelligenice Department) a letter from Pidia proposing peace.
Aurangzib gave a favourable reply io the lefter. Pidia next
sent his brother Som Singh to the Mughal camp, offering
fo give up the fort and asking that the zamindari, the
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headship of the clan, and a mansal might be granted to his
brother. Som Singh stayed in the camp and spread the
lale that Pidia had turned mad and fled willh the Marathas.
The Kashmiri next brought 'a message  trom the Berad chicf's
mother repeating ihis story and begging thal Som Singh
might now be allowed to return as the fort would be vacated
in seven days. The Bmperor agreed and slopped the fighling,

And then the bubble burst. The whole thing was a fraud.
Pidia was alive and sane and still within the fort ; he refused
{o surrender it and renewed his attacks. The Ewmperor almost
went mad with rage and shame.

Meanwhile, he had summoned his ablest generals from all
sides. Nusrab Jang arrived on 27th March and the next day
he galloped up to the hillock of Lal Tikri from which the
Mughals had been dislodged in the eatly days of the siege.
He climbed the hill, and drove out the enemy, who ran inlo
the village of Talwargera at its fool, and began lo ply their
muskels from behind ils mud wall, Many Rajputs fell in the
altack on Lal Tikri and oulside the village. But Nusral Jang
directed Dalpat Bundela lo a neighbouring  hillock which was
still in the enemy’s hands. The Derads fled from the second
mound {oo and hid in the village of I“)lledpurz{. On this
day twenty-one bullels and one rockel hil Dalpat Rao's
elephant. The banners of Nusrat Jang were pilled with shot-
holes like a crocodile’s hide, and two of his elephant drivers
were wounded and one Rilled, Similatly, (here were heavy
casualties in the centre and rcar of the Mughal sgenerals
force, but Nustat Jang kept hold of the posiion he had
gained with so much blood near the wall A few days later
the Khan captured some wells siluated on the skicl of the
hill whence lhe enemy used to draw iheir water. On  27th
April he delivered an assault on Talwargera, The imperialists
entered the peffi (walled village), slaying all who resisted, and
the rest fled.
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The Berads now lound that further struggle was hopeless.
Pidia fled out of the back-door at night, “with the Maratha
companions of his day of adversily.” When night came and
the sound of musketry from  within died down, some Mughal
soldiers  enlered the fort and found the place entirely
deserted.  Then  began a wild scene of confusion, rapine and
burning. At the news of the fort being vacated, there was
a wild rush of  camp-followers, common soldiers and all the
ruffifans of the camp, in the hope of plunder before the
Government  agents  should come and altach the property.
The Gre from the burning roofs spread to a powder magazine,
and there was a terrible  explosion, many  people  being
blown up. After two or three days, a second magazine
exploded.  Wagingera was captured, but its chieflain had
escaped and lived to give trouble lo the victors. Thus, all
Auvrangzib’s labours for these three months were lost

Ll
§ (1. Desolation of the country caused by Aurangzib’s
waes s universal disordee.,

Al the end of the 17ih century the greal empire founded
by Ahkbar and raised to world-famed prosperity and splendour
by Shah fahan, was in a slate of hopeless decay ; administra-
tion, culture, economic life, militaty strenglh and social
organization,—all secmed to be hastening fo after ruin and
dissolution. The material waste caused lo the empire by {his
quarter century of warface was frightful. The desolation of
the Decean was complete. As a contemporary European
observer, Manuccl, notes,—"Aurangzib withdrew to Ahmadnagar
leaving behind him  the fields' of these provinces devoid of
ltees and bare of ctops, their place being taken by the bones
of men and beasts. Ihstead of verdure all is blank and
barren. There have died in his armies over a hundred
thousand souls yearly, and of animals, pack-oxen, camels,
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elephants, elc, over three hundred thousand...In the Deccan
provinces from 1702 to 1704 plague [ and famine } prevailed,
In these lwo years there expired over two millions of souls.”

As he began his retreat norfhwards from the environs of
Wagingera, the exultant Marathas in a vast horde of 50 to
60 thousand men followed his artny a few miles in the rear,
cutting off his grain supplics and stragglers and even threatening
to breal into his camp.

The eye-witness Bhimsen writes,—“The Marathas becate
completely dominant over (he whole kingdom and closed the
roads. By means of robbery they escaped from poverly
and gained great wealth. [ have heard that cvery weehk
they gave away sweets and money in  charily, praying
for the long life of the Emperor who had proved
Ho them] the Teeder of the Universe ! The price of grain
grew higher and higher ; in the imperial camp in patlicular
vast numbers perished (of hunger), and many kinds of illegal
exactions and practices appeared. Lver since [lis Majesty had
come to the throne he had not lived in a cily but clected
all these wars and hard marching, so that the inmales of his
camp, sick of Jong separalion, summoned lheir  families to
the camp and lived there. A new generation was  {hus  born
funder canvas] ; they passed from infancy 1o youlh, from
youih to old age, and passing beyond old age girt up their
loins for the journey fo the world of the angels, and yel
never once saw  the look of a house, bul only hnew that in
this world therc is no  other sheller than a lent, .. When the
Marathas invade a province they take [rom every pargana as
much money as they desire and make their hotses eal the
standing craops or fread them underfoot. The imperial
army that comes in pursuit can subsist only when the fields
are cultivated [anew], All administration has disappeared, ., The
realm has been desolated. The ryols have given up cultiva-
tion ; the jagirdars do not gel a penny from their fiefs. The
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system of the Maratha Government paying salaries to is
officials disappeared. So, the Maratha State servants suppor-
ted themselves by plundering on all sides, and paying a
small part of their booty to the king” The effect of the
enemy'’s robbery and stoppage of rent {rom the Mughal
officer’s jagirs was aggravated by a long-conlinued {famive.
Henee, “the condition of the Mughal army drew worse from
the high price of grain and the devastation of jagirs, while the
resources of the Marathas inereased through robbery. They even
attacked walled citics like Haidarabad, Bijapur, Aurangabad,
and Burhanpur.”

The break-down of the administration and of public peace
created a  vicious circle aggravaling the evil, as Bhimsen has
clearly pointed oul: "“The mansabdars, on account of the
small forces under them, cannot gain confrol over the
ferrilorics  granled fo  them in jagir.  The local zamindars,
growing stronger, have joincd the Marathas, levied troops,
and stretched the hand of  oppression over the realm....As
the impetial dominions have been given out in fangfia (fief)
o the jagirdars, so too the Marallias have made a distribulion
of the whole cmpire among their gencrals, and thus one
hingdom has o maintain two sefs of jagirdars L..The peasants
subjected 1o this double exaction have collecled arms and
horses and joined the Marathas.” Many of the Mughal
mansabdars, goaded by poverty, began to plunder the innocent
and loyal peasants fo support themselves, and some went inio
shares with the Maratha raideys. '

S 19, Maratfa systems of spollation and warfare.,

The Marathas had reduced spolialion {o a syslem. “Where-
ever these raiders arrvived they engaged in a revemnue collection
of the place and passed months and years there with their
wives and children in peace of mind, They divided the pargarias
among themselves and in initation of the impetial Goverament

f
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they appointed their own subafidars, famavisfh-dars (revenue
collectors) and rafdars (road-guards). Their subahdar was a
leader of troops: whenever he heard of a large caravan
coming, he overtook il at the head of [some] seven  thousand
cavalry and looted it. Everywhere &amavish-dars were posted
for collecting {he cAautf. When a kamavish-dar was opposed
by a strong zamindar or imperial faujdar and could not levy
the blactunail, the Maratha subahdar came to his aid, besieged
and desolated the habitations there. The duty of the Maratha
rafdar was this—when lraders wanted to travel unmolested
by these people, the rahdar took a sum of money {tom each
cart or bullock (thrce or fourfold the imperial faujdar’s transit
duly), and left the road open to them. In each subah the
Marathas built one or two small forts (garfiis), which they
made their place of refuge and from which they issued to
raid the country around.” (Kfafi Kfian)

Alfter (703 the Marathas were masters of the situation all
over the Deccan and even in parts of Northern India. The
Mughal officers became helpless and reduced  to the defensive.
A change now came over the Maralha ftactics with this growth
of thelr power: they were no longer, as in Shivaji’s and
Shambhuji’s times, light forayers who “cut and ran” or mervely
looted defenceless fraders and villages and dispersed al the
first report of the Mughal army’s approach, On ihe contrary,
as Manucel noticed in 1704, “These [Maratha] leaders and
their troops move in these days with much confidence, because
they bave cowed the Mughal commanders and inspited them
with fear. Al the present fime lhey possess arlillery, mushelry,
bows and arrows, with elephants and camels for all their
baggage and tents, In shorl, they are equipped and nove
about just like the armies of the Mughal.”

In the internal administration the break-down of Aurangzib’s
Government was equally conspicuous. The officials became
incorrigibly cotrapt and inefficient, all the forbidden exaclions
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(abwabs) were revived by the local governors in violation ot
his orders, the Emperor in his old age was disobeyed
by his dislant officials, and the administration lost its cfficiency.

§ 13, duranyzib retreats to Abmadnagar, 1705,

Iinmediately after the capture of Wagingera (97th April,
1708), the Emperor removed his camp to Devapur, a quiet
green village near the Krishna, eight miles south of the fort,
Here he fell very ill on account of his age (ninely lunar years)
and incessant labour,

Despair seized all men in his camp. Al first he had
courageously  struggled  with  disease, and had through sheer
strength of mind continued for some days to transact business
as usual and cven to peep out of his bedroom window to
reassure the public that he was alive. But the slrain of this
work only Increased his malady, {ill he was seized with great
paiy, which al fimes made him senseless. The wildest rumours
spread about his death and wars among his sons.

fle lay in this stale for fen or twclve days, and then he
began to tally, but slowly, and still feeling very weak. A&t this
time, one day in exitreme agony he muttered these  verses of
Shaikh Ganja:

“By e time you Bave reuched wour 806
ot POl year,
You mus! fave met with many a fard blow
trom the fiand of Time;

And wihien from that point you veacl e
stage of a Aundred,

Deatf will put on the garb of your life”

Amir Khan, who was in attendance by the sick-bed, tried to
console the sdfferer by saying, “Peace be on your Majesty!
Shaikh (Ganja composed those verses merely as infroductory
to the following couplel :
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Then, it fs better for you lo be cheorful,
Because, being cficertul you can temember God 1”7
On 23¢d October, 1705, Aurangzib broke up lhe encamp-
ment at Devapur and set out northwards in  a peli
Travelling slowly by ecasy slages, he reached Ahmadnagar,
on 20th January 1706, after an interval of 23 years since the
day when he had started from it to begin his Deccan

'

conquests.  This place he declared to be his ‘journey’s end.

§ 14. Sorrow and despair of Aurangzib’s last yeacs.

The last yvearsof Aurangzib's life were unspeakably gloomy,
In " the political sphere he found that his lifelong endeavour to
govern India justly and strongly had cnded in anarchy and ’
disruption throughout the empire. A sense  of unutferable
lonefiness haunted the heart of Aurangzib in his old age,
One by one all the older nobles had died oul, and the sole
ﬁersonal friend and swvivor of the gencralion in which his
vouth had been nurtared that was now lefl to him  was
Asad Khan the wasir, and oven he was some five years
Aurangsib’s junior. As the aged monarch looked round his
Court citele he only found on all sides yvounger men,  timid
sycophanls, afraid of responsibility, afraid fo el the teuth,
and eternally intriguing in a mean spiril of personal greed
and mutual jealousy. llis Puritan auslerily had, at all limes,
chilled the advances of other men lowards him. Men shrank
in almost supernatural dread from onc who was above he
jogs and sorrows, weakness and pity of mortals, one who
seemed to have hardly any element of common humanity in
him, who lived in ihe world but did not seem o be of it
His sole companions, when free from the cver-engrossing
State affairs, were his daughter Zinat-un-nisa, already an old
maid, and his last wife Udipus, a low animal type of partner,
whose son Kam Bakhsh broke his imperial father's heart by
his {reaks of insane folly and passion.
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His domestic life was darkened, as bereavements thickened
round  his  closing eyes. s best-loved daughter-in-law,
Jahanzeb DBanu, died in Gujrat in March 1705. His rebel son
Akbar had died in exile in a foreign soil in 1704, Still earlier,
his gifted daughler, the poctess Zeb-un-itisa, had ended het
days in the prison of Delhi (1702). And now CGauhar-ara
Begam, the sole survivor among his numerous brothers and
sisters, died in (706, and the news of it dragged out of his
heart the pathelic cry, which he repealed again and again,
“She and I'alone were left among Shah Jahan's children.” In
May 1706, his daughter Mihr-un-nisa and her husband [zid
Bakhsh (Murad's son) both died together in Delhi, and next
month  Buland Akhtar, the son of Akbar. Two of his grand-
children died shortly before his own death (1707), but his
ministers mercifully withheld the news from the sinking man.

§ 15. [mperial dominions fiarassed by Marathas, 1706-1707.

Aurangzib had left desolation and anarchy behind him
when he set out for Ahmadnagar. But his refreat to this
city did not bring rest to his army ot peace to his empire.
In April or May 1706, a vast Maratha army under all their
great generals, appeared four miles from the imperial encamp-
ment and threatened il. Aurangzib sent Khan-i-Alam and
olher officers who succeeded after a long and severe contest
in repulsing the Marathas from the neighbourhood.

In Gujral, a terrible disaster befell the fmperialists. Inu
Mand, a former brewer of Khandesh, who had taken to highway
robbery, made a league with the Maratha generals, Inviting
Dhana Jadav and his army, he sacked the large and tich trading
cenlre of Baroda (Mar, 1706). Nazar Ali, the faujdar of the
place, was defeated by the Marathas and captured with his men.

Similarly, the province of Aurangabad was frequently
ravaged by the Maratha bands under Dhana Jaday and other
leaders.
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In July Maratha activity near Wagingera forced the Emperor
{o detach Tarbiyat Khan to that region to punish them. Pidia
Berad, in alliance with Hindu Rao, gained Penu-konda, “the
key to both the Karnataks,” by bribing its Mughal qiladar,
who had been starving from lis salary being left In  arrears,
Flushed with their gain of such a fort, (he Marathas turned fo
Sera, the capital of Bijapuri Karnalak Uplands, the district round
which they had plundered before, in June 1704, Daud Khan,
the faujdar of Karnatak, afterwards recovered DPenu-konda.
Siadat Khan, an oflicer of the Cowrt, was wounded in both
eyes by musketshot, captured, and held {o ransom by the
enemy. They also recovered Dasanigarh from the imperialists
about this time.

When the rainy season ended (Sep. 1706), Maratha
activity was. renewed with tenfold intensity. Dhana Jadav
now made a dash for the old dominjions, Berar and
Khandesh ; but Nusrat Jang, leaving his camp near Miraj,
headed him off into DBijapur and thence beyond the Krishna.
A long train of caravans coming from Aurangabad to the
mmperial camp was plundered of evergthing near Chanda,
24 n. from Ahmadnagar.

8 16. last dags of Aurangzib,

While dangers were lhus thickening round Aurangzib’s
forces, the internal troubles of his camp became even more
ominots. Mubammad Azam's inordinate vanity and ambition
utged him {o secure the succession for himself, by removing
all rivals from his path, So, he poisoned the ears of the
Emperor against Azim-ush-shan, the able third son of Shah
Alam, and had thim recalled from the government of Patna.
He also drew over lo his side the prime  minister Asad Khan
and some other nobles. Then he looked oul for an opporlunity
to make a sudden attack on Kam Bakhsh and kill him.

-
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Byery day Azam's hostile designs against Kam Bakhsh became
more evideni, and thercfore the Emperor appointed the braye
and faithful Sultan Husain  (Mir Malang) paymaster of Kam
Bakhsh's {orces, and charged him with that prince’s defence,

Barly in February 1707, Aurangzib had one more of the
attacks of languor and ill-health  which had become rathey
frequent of late, e recovered for a time and began once
more 1o hold public darbars and do business of the Stale.
Bat he felt that this ime the inevilable could not be far off,
and ihat the peace of his camp and the safety of the vasl
host assembled there were threatened by Aszam’s growing
impatience and violent ambition which might break bounds
any day. So, he appointed Kam Bakhsh subahdar of Bijapur
and sent him away with a large force fo his charge on 9t
February, VFour days later, (13th Feb) Md, Azam was Jes-
patched to Malwa as its  governor; but that cunning  prince,
knowing his father’s death fo be very near, marched slowly,
halting cvery other day.

Four days after sending away the last of his sons from his
gide, the aged and worn-out onarch was seized with a
severe fever ; bul for three days he obstinately insisted on
coming to the Courtroom and saying the five daily prayers
in full congregation. In these days he often reciled the couplet
of foreboding—

“In a twinkle, in « minate, in a breall,

The condition of tfic world changes.”
During this lasl period he dictated two  pathelic letters (see
nexl appendix) 1o his sons Aszam and Kam Bakhsh, entrealing
them lo cullivate brotherly lowe, peace and moderation, and
illustrating the vanity of all earthly things.

In the morning of Friday, 20th February, 1707, Aurangzib
came oul of his bedroom, went through his morning prayer,
and began to count his beads and repeat the Islamic
confession of faith in the oneness of the Godhead and the
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prophetship of Muhanumad. Gradually  unconsciousness  crept
on, his breathing became harder and harder; but such was
the mastery of that indomitable spirit over the natural wealkness
of the body that his fingers conlinued to move over his
rosary and lis lips to gasp out the Kalimaf, till about eight
o'clock when all was over. [le had ever wished 1o die on
the Muslim Sabbath Friday, and thal prayer had been granted
by a gracious Decity to one of Ilis fruesl servants.

Muhammad Azam arrived in the camp on the 22nd  and
after mourning for his father and consoling his sister Zinat-un.
nisa Begam, he tocle part in carrying the corpse a short
distance, and then sent it away to Khuldabad near Daulatabad,
for burial in the enclosure hallowed by the carthly rvemains of
the saint Shaikh Zain-ud-din.

A low simple tomb, withoul any marble platform below or
dome over it, but having the trough in ils covering slab filled
with earth for growing green herbs (in Imitalion of his  sister
Jahanara’s fomb outside Delhi),—now covers all lhal cemains
of the greatest of the Great Mughals save one,

APPENDIX

Aurangzib’s last letter to Azam.

“Peace be on you !

“Old age has atrived and weakness has grown strong ;
strength has left my limbs. [ came alone and am going away
alone. I know not who I am and what I have been doing.
The days that have been spent except In  austerities have left
only regret behind them. [ have nol at all done any (true)
government of the realm or cherishing of the peasantey.

“Life, so valuablc:a, has gone away for nothing. The Master
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has been in wmy house, but my darkened eyes cannot see His
splendour.  Life lasts not; no trace is left of {he days that are
no more ; and of the future there is no hope,

“My fever has departed, leaving only the skin  and hushks
behind il My son Kam Bakhsh, who has gone to  Bijapur,
is near me, And you are ne